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Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains  “forward-looking” statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (the “Exchange Act”), about us and our industry that involve substantial risks and uncertainties. All statements other than statements of historical facts in this Annual Report on the Form 10-K are forward-looking statements. In
some cases, forward-looking statements can be identified by terms such as “anticipates,” “believes,” “could,” “seeks,” “estimates,” “expects,” “intends,” “may,” “plans,” “potential,” “predicts, “projects,” “should,” “will,” “would” or similar
expressions and the negatives of those terms. These forward-looking statements are contained principally in Part I, Item 1, Business; Part I, Item 1A, Risk Factors; Part II, Item 7, Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations; and other sections of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Such statements include, but are not limited to, statements concerning the following:

• our expectations as to our future financial performance, including revenue, cost of revenue, expenses, liquidity, cash requirements and our ability to maintain and grow our profitability;

• the capabilities, performance and competitive advantage of our technology and products and planned changes;

• timing of new product releases, and the anticipated marketing adoption of our current and future products;

• our expectations regarding, and our ability to meet, demand for our products;

• our business strategies, including anticipating trends and operating conditions;

• growth of and development in markets in which we target; and our expansion into new and existing markets;

• our performance in operations, including component supply management and manufacturing timelines;

• our product quality and customer service;

• our expectations regarding the effects on our business and financial performance of compliance with applicable laws and regulations;

• the impact of changes to tax incentives and tax laws;

• our expectations regarding qualification of our products for domestic content credit under U.S. tax laws;

• our expectations about the number of microinverter units that can be produced per quarter;

• our expectations regarding macroeconomic events, geopolitical developments, supply chain disruptions and inflationary pressures and their impact on our business operations, financial performance and the markets in which we,
our supplier, manufacturers and installers operate;

• market risks associated with financial instruments and foreign currency exchange rates; and

• the anticipated benefits and risks relating to acquisitions and investments.

Our actual results or experience could differ significantly from the forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause or contribute to these differences include those discussed in Part I, Item 1A, Risk Factors and Part II, Item 7,
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, as well as those discussed elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Forward-looking statements are inherently uncertain, and you should not place undue reliance on these statements, which speak only as of the date that they were made. These cautionary statements should be considered in
connection with any written or oral forward-looking statements that we may issue in the future. We do not undertake any obligation to release publicly any revisions to these forward-looking statements after completion of the filing of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K to reflect later events or circumstances or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events. The forward-looking statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are intended to be subject to protection afforded
by the safe harbor for forward-looking statements contained in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995.

In this Annual Report on Form 10-K, unless otherwise indicated or the context otherwise requires, “Enphase Energy,” “Enphase,” “the Company,” “we,” “us,” and “our” refer to Enphase Energy, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and its
subsidiaries.
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Risk Factors Summary

Investing in our securities involves a high degree of risk. The following is a summary of the principal factors that make an investment in our securities speculative or risky, as more fully described below in the section titled “Risk
Factors.” This summary should be read in conjunction with the “Risk Factors” section and should not be relied upon as an exhaustive summary of the material risks facing our business. In addition to this summary, you should consider the
information set forth in the “Risk Factors” section and the other information contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K before investing in our securities:

Risk Related to our Business, Operations and Our Industry

• The reduction, elimination or expiration of government subsidies and economic incentives for on-grid solar electricity applications could reduce demand for solar photovoltaic systems and harm our business.

• Unfavorable macroeconomic and market conditions may adversely affect our industry, business and financial results.

• If demand for solar energy solutions does not grow or grows at a slower rate than we anticipate, our business will suffer.

• The solar industry is highly competitive, and we expect to face increased competition as new and existing competitors introduce products or develop alternative technologies.

• Our recent and planned expansion into existing and new markets could subject us to additional business, financial and competitive risks.

• We may fail to capture customers as we design and develop new products, and update existing products.

• We depend upon a small number of outside contract manufacturers, and our business and operations could be disrupted if we encounter problems with these contract manufacturers.

• We rely primarily on distributors, installers and providers of solar financing to assist in selling our products to customers, and the failure of these customers to perform at the expected level, or at all, would have an adverse effect on
our business, financial condition and results of our operations.

• We depend on limited-source suppliers for key components and products. If we are unable to source these components and products on a timely basis, we will not be able to deliver our products to our customers.

• If we or our contract manufacturers are unable to obtain raw materials in a timely manner or if the price of raw materials increases significantly, production time and product costs could increase, which may adversely affect our
business.

• Manufacturing problems could result in delays in product shipments, which would adversely affect our revenue, competitive position and reputation.

• Challenges relating to supply chain constraints, including with respect to raw materials, semiconductors and integrated circuits, could adversely impact our revenue, gross margins and results of operations.

• The loss of, or events affecting, one of our major customers could reduce our sales and have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

• If our products contain manufacturing or software defects, our business and financial results could be harmed.

• If we fail to retain our key personnel or if we fail to attract additional qualified personnel, we may not be able to achieve our anticipated level of growth and our business could suffer.

• Restructuring activities could disrupt our business and adversely affect our results of operations.

Enphase Energy, Inc. | 2024 Form 10-K | 5
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Risk Related to our Intellectual Property and Technology

• We are dependent on information technology systems, infrastructure and data. We or third parties upon which we rely could be subject to breaches of our information technology systems caused by system security risks, failure of
our data protection, cyber-attacks and erroneous or non-malicious actions or failures to act by our employees or others with authorized access to our networks, which could cause significant reputational, legal and financial damages.

• The software we use in providing system configuration recommendations or potential energy savings estimates to customers relies in part on third-party information that may not be accurate or up-to-date; this may therefore
generate inaccurate recommendations or estimates, resulting in a loss of reputation and customer confidence.

• We are subject to stringent and evolving data privacy and security laws, contractual obligations, information security policies and other obligations governing the use, processing and transfer of personal information and any
unauthorized access to, or disclosure or theft of personal information we gather, store or use could harm our reputation and subject us to claims or litigation.

• If we fail to protect, or incur significant costs in enforcing, our intellectual property and other proprietary rights, our business and results of operations could be materially harmed.

• We may be subject to disruptions or failures in information technology systems and network infrastructures that could have a material adverse effect on our business and financial condition.

• Third parties may assert that we are infringing upon their intellectual property rights, which could divert management’s attention, cause us to incur significant costs, and prevent us from selling or using the technology to which such
rights relate.

Risk Related to Legal Proceedings and Regulations

• Changes in current laws or regulations or the imposition of new laws or regulations, or new interpretations thereof, in the solar energy sector, by federal or state agencies in the United States or foreign jurisdictions could impair our
ability to compete, and could materially harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.

• Changes in the United States trade environment, including the recent imposition of import tariffs, could adversely affect the amount or timing of our revenue, results of operations or cash flows.

• Our significant international operations subject us to additional risks that could adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Risk Related to our Financial Condition and Liquidity

• Our gross profit may fluctuate over time, which could impair our ability to achieve or maintain profitability.

• We are under continuous pressure to reduce the prices of our products, which has adversely affected, and may continue to adversely affect, our gross margins.

• If we do not forecast demand for our products accurately, we may experience product shortages, delays in product shipment or excess product inventory, any of which will adversely affect our business and financial condition.

• A drop in the retail price of electricity derived from the utility grid or from alternative energy sources, or a change in utility pricing structures, may harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Risk Related to our Acquisition Activity

• As part of growing our business, we have made and expect to continue to make acquisitions. If we fail to successfully select, execute or integrate our acquisitions, then our business and operating results could be harmed.

Risk Related to our Debt and Equity Securities

• Our financial results may vary significantly from quarter to quarter due to a number of factors.

• Conversion of our Convertible Notes may dilute the ownership interest of existing stockholders or may adversely affect our financial condition and operating results.

Enphase Energy, Inc. | 2024 Form 10-K | 6
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PART I

Item 1.    Business

Our Company

We are a global energy technology company originally founded in March 2006. We deliver smart, easy-to-use solutions that manage solar generation, storage and communication on one platform. Our intelligent microinverters work
with virtually every solar panel made, and when paired with our smart technology, result in one of the industry’s best-performing clean energy systems.

For the first time in the evolution of our centuries-old grid, people can get paid for the clean energy they produce and share with their communities, helping to build a new energy future that harnesses the sun. This clean, free,
abundant source of energy can power our lives and ultimately help greatly reduce our dependence on fossil fuels. As of December 31 , 2024 , we have shipped approximately 80.0 million microinverters, and approximately 4.7 million
Enphase residential and commercial systems have been deployed in more than 160 countries.

We design, develop, manufacture and sell home energy solutions that manage energy generation, energy storage, and control and communications on one intelligent platform. We have revolutionized the solar industry by bringing a
systems approach to solar technology and by pioneering a semiconductor-based microinverter that converts energy at the individual solar module level and, combined with our proprietary networking and software technologies, provides
advanced energy monitoring and control. This is vastly different than a string inverter system using string modules, whether with or without an optimizer, which only converts the energy of the entire array of solar modules from a single high
voltage electrical unit and lacks intelligence about the energy producing capacity of the solar array.

The Enphase  Energy System brings a high technology, networked approach to solar generation plus energy storage, by leveraging our design expertise across power electronics, semiconductors and cloud-based software
technologies. Our integrated approach to energy solutions maximizes a home’s energy potential while providing advanced monitoring and remote maintenance capabilities. The Enphase Energy System uses a single technology platform for
seamless management of the whole solution, including IQ  Microinverters, IQ  Batteries, IQ  EV Chargers, IQ  Combiner (with embedded IQ  Gateway), and other hardware. Installers use the Enphase Installer App to rapidly commission
system components, and system owners may use the Enlighten cloud-based monitoring services provided through Enphase App to monitor their energy production, consumption, and storage. We have a built-in system redundancy in both
photovoltaic (“PV”) generation and energy storage, eliminating the risk that comes with a single-point of failure. Further, the nature of our cloud-based, monitored system allows for remote firmware and software updates, that allows cost-
effective remote maintenance and ongoing utility compliance.

We have transitioned from solar only systems to complete energy management solutions, which consist of solar, batteries, load control, electrical vehicle (“EV”) charging, compatibility with third-party generators, and grid services. This
transition has contributed to the rising global interest in the full electrification of homes and businesses through renewable sources of energy.

Our Strategy

Our objective is to build best-in-class home energy systems and deliver them to homeowners through our installer and distribution partners, enabled by a comprehensive digital platform. Key elements of our strategy include:

• Best-in-class customer experience. Our value proposition is to deliver products that are productive, reliable, smart, simple and safe, with superior customer service, to enable homeowners’ storage and energy independence. On the
service front, our installer, distributor and module partners are our first line of association with our ultimate customer, the homeowner and business user. Our goals are to partner better with these service providers so that we can
provide exceptional, high quality service to homeowners who have installed our products. We are convinced that continued reinforcement of customer experience improvements by providing 24x7 support can be a competitive
advantage for us.

®

® ® ® ® ® ® 

® 
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• Grow market share worldwide. We intend to capitalize on our market leadership in the microinverter category and our momentum with installers and homeowners to expand our market share position in our core markets. In addition,
we hope to further increase our market share in the Europe, Asia Pacific and Latin America regions. Further, we intend to continue our expansion into new markets, including emerging markets, with new and existing products and
local go-to-market capabilities.

• Expand our product offerings. We distinguish ourselves from other inverter companies with our systems-based and high technology approach, as we continue to invest in research and development to develop all components of our
home energy management systems and remain committed to providing our customers and partners with best-in-class power electronics, storage solutions, communications and load control, all managed by a cloud-based home
energy management system.

• Increase power and efficiency and reduce cost per watt. Our engineering team is focused on continuing to increase average power conversion efficiency and alternating current (“AC”) output power in order to pair with higher rated
direct current (“DC”) modules while reducing costs per watt.

• Increase storage energy density and reduce installation time and cost per kWh . Our engineering team is focused on increasing the energy density of our battery capacity, quality and reducing installation time and cost per kilowatt
hour (“kWh”) to make solar-plus-storage resilient, sustainable and affordable for the masses.

• Focus on the homeowner, distributor and installer partners. We are focused on making it easier for our distributors, installers and customers to do business and generating revenue through digitalization of the business-to-business
and business-to-customer process of the distributor, installer and customer journey. Our key focus is to expand our digital presence through enhancing our array of tools on our digital platform to keep us continually connected with
our installers and homeowners, as well as increasing the use of the online store significantly.

Products

The Enphase Energy System, powered by IQ Microinverters, IQ Batteries and other products and services, is an integrated solar, storage and energy management offering that enables self-consumption and delivers our core value
proposition of yielding more energy, simplifying design and installation, and improving system uptime and reliability.

IQ Microinverters . We ship IQ8™ series microinverters into 57 countries worldwide. We are also shipping IQ8 Microinverters with peak output power of 480 watts (“W”) AC for the small-commercial market in North America, and grid-
tied applications in South Africa, Mexico, Brazil, India, Thailand, the Philippines, France, Spain, Columbia, Panama, Costa Rica, Vietnam, Malaysia and 13 Caribbean countries. The new IQ8 Microinverters are designed to maximize energy
production and can manage a continuous DC current of 14 amperes, supporting higher powered solar modules through increased energy harvesting.

Our new IQ8 Microinverter, the IQ8P-3P for the small commercial solar market in North America, enables a peak output power of up to 480 W, supporting small three-phase commercial applications and newer, high-powered solar
panels.

We now ship the IQ8HC™ Microinverters, IQ8X™ Microinverters, IQ8P-3P Commercial Microinverters and IQ  Battery 5Ps supplied from our contract manufacturing facilities in the United States with higher domestic content than
previous models that, when paired with other U.S.-made solar equipment, are expected to help certain solar projects qualify for the domestic content bonus tax credit under the Inflation Reduction Act of 2022 (“IRA”).

The Enphase IQ8 microinverter-based system has been certified by UL, a global safety science leader, to a UL certification that meets the new North American safety and grid interconnection standards for connecting solar inverters,
energy storage systems and distributed energy resources to the grid in compliance with IEEE 1547-2018 and IEEE 1547-1 2020.

IQ Batteries. Our Enphase IQ Battery storage systems, with usable and scalable capacity of 10.1 kWh and 3.4 kWh for the United States, and 10.5 kWh and 3.5 kWh for Europe and other international countries, are based on our
Ensemble OS™ software, which powers our grid-independent microinverter-based storage systems. We currently ship our Enphase IQ Battery storage systems to customers in the United States, Puerto Rico, Canada, Mexico, Australia,
New Zealand, Belgium, Germany, the United Kingdom, Italy, Austria, France, the Netherlands, Luxembourg, Finland, Switzerland, Spain, Portugal, Sweden, Denmark and Greece. Enphase IQ Batteries in

®
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Europe can be installed with both single-phase and three-phase third-party solar energy inverters, enabling homeowners to upgrade their existing home solar systems with a residential battery storage solution that reduces costs while
providing increased self-reliance.

Our latest Enphase Energy System features the IQ Battery 5P, IQ8 Microinverters, IQ™ System Controller 3/3G and IQ™ Combiner 5/5G, is designed to offer an improved experience for homeowners and installers as a result of more
power, resilient wired communication, and an improved commissioning experience. The IQ Battery 5P is modular by design and is designed to deliver 3.84 kW continuous power and 7.68 kW peak power, which allows homeowners to start
heavy loads like air conditioners easily during power outages. The IQ Battery 5P is available for customers in Australia, New Zealand, India, the United States, Puerto Rico, Mexico, Canada, the United Kingdom, Italy, France, Germany,
Austria, Switzerland, the Netherlands, Luxembourg, Belgium and Romania.

The IQ™ Gateway is embedded in the IQ Combiner, which can be connected to the internet to enable over-the-air updates and connect to the Enphase  App monitoring platform. The IQ Gateway and IQ  Microinverters enable
industry-leading monitoring capabilities at the solar module level, supporting critical insights for ongoing system operations and maintenance for homeowners and small businesses.

Our IQ  Load Controller for our Enphase IQ Battery storage systems allow homeowners to decide what gets power in their home in the event of a grid outage, with the ability to choose up to four loads. These loads will be on when the
grid is present and shed automatically in the event of a grid failure. This product makes installation simpler and saves time for installers.

In January 2025, we introduced IQ  Battery 5P with FlexPhase, for customers in Germany, Austria and Switzerland. The IQ Battery 5P with FlexPhase is an all-in-one AC-coupled system that delivers reliable backup power and
supports both single-phase and three-phase applications.

EV Chargers. The increasing penetration of EVs has implications for home energy management, as households not only consume significantly more power with an EV, but also have a large battery that can be used for both backup
and grid service.

Our EV Chargers are compatible with most EVs sold in North America. Customers are able to purchase Enphase-branded EV chargers, which support both J1772 and North American Charging Standard (“NACS”) connectors with a
charging power range between 32 amperes and 64 amperes.

Our smart IQ  EV Chargers sold in the United States and Canada are Wi-Fi-equipped and include smart control and monitoring capabilities. The IQ EV Charger is designed to seamlessly integrate into our solar and battery system to
help homeowners maximize electricity cost savings by charging directly from solar energy.

The CS-100™ EV Charger, our most powerful EV charger to date providing up to 19.2 kW of continuous power, is available for customers with commercial fleet EVs in the United States.

In January 2025, we introduced our newest EV charger, the IQ  EV Charger 2, in 14 European markets. The IQ EV Charger 2 is a next-generation smart charger designed to work seamlessly with our solar and battery systems or as a
powerful standalone charger.

Our team is developing a bi-directional EV charger that is designed to enable vehicle-to-home and vehicle-to-grid capabilities as part of the Enphase Energy System.

Home Energy Management . We have introduced the IQ  Energy Router™ family of devices in Germany and Austria to enable the integration of select third-party EV chargers and heat pumps into Enphase solar and battery
systems. The IQ Energy Router family of devices monitors and controls energy usage between an Enphase solar and battery system, EV chargers and heat pumps. The devices work in coordination with the Enphase Energy System and
deploy artificial intelligence-based solar production forecasting, consumption forecasting, and an optimization engine to maximize self-consumption.

IQ  PowerPack 1500 . In November 2024, we announced the availability of our new portable energy system, the IQ PowerPack 1500 in the United States and Canada. This product is a 1,500 Wh smart, go-anywhere portable energy
system that can power most small appliances in the home, at work, or outdoors. It is designed to provide battery backup, helping to ensure essential electronics stay up and running during power outages.

® ®

®

®

®

®

®

®
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Grid Services. Grid services programs are managed by regional utilities and use energy stored in home batteries to help power communities when it is needed most, like during periods of peak electricity demand. This reduces reliance
on costly and polluting power plants for electricity and, in return, provides incentives to homeowners from their own utilities. Incentive programs may serve as a discount on the purchase of an Enphase Energy System with IQ Batteries or as
ongoing payments to participating homeowners. We are currently participating in incentive programs across the United States, Canada and Europe.

Solargraf. We are now offering our Solargraf  platform, our cloud-based solar and battery design, proposal software and permitting services for both residential and commercial customers. Solargraf is offered in the United States,
Canada, Brazil, Germany, Austria and the Netherlands for residential customers and in select regions for commercial customers.

We also offer a predictive software platform dedicated to simplifying the cleantech service landscape by matching cleantech asset owners to a local and on-demand workforce of service providers. In addition, we offer another software
platform designed to provide high quality leads to solar installers, with the objective of increasing lead volumes and conversion rates to help drive down the customer acquisition costs for installers.

Customers and Sales

We currently offer solutions targeting the residential and commercial markets in the United States, Canada, Mexico, Europe, Australia, New Zealand, India, Brazil, the Philippines, Thailand, South Africa, Central America, the
Caribbean and certain Asian countries. We sell primarily to solar distributors who combine our products with others, including solar module products and racking systems, and resell to installers in each target region. In addition to our solar
distributors, we sell directly to select large installers, original equipment manufacturers (“OEM”) and strategic partners. Our OEM customers include solar module manufacturers who integrate our microinverters with their solar module
products and resell to both distributors and installers. Strategic partners include a variety of companies, including industrial equipment suppliers and providers of solar financing solutions. We also sell certain products and services to
homeowners, primarily in support of our warranty services and legacy product upgrade programs, via our online store. In the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, one customer accounted for approximately 48%, 40% and 37%,
respectively, of our net revenues. Our revenue generated from the United States market has represented 70%, 64% and 76% of our net revenues for the annual periods ended on December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Competition

The markets for our products are highly competitive and we compete with central and string inverter manufacturers, storage system manufacturers and new technologies that compete with our business. The principal areas in which
we compete with other companies include:

• product performance and features;

• total cost of ownership;

• breadth of product line;

• local sales and distribution capabilities;

• module compatibility and interoperability;

• reliability and duration of product warranty;

• technological expertise;

• brand recognition;

• customer service and support;

• compliance with industry standards and certifications;

• compliance with current and planned local electrical codes;

• integration with storage offerings;

• size and financial stability of operations;

• size of installed base; and

®
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• local manufacturing and product content.

In an installation consisting of a traditional central inverter, the solar PV modules are connected in series strings. In a large installation, there are multiple series strings connected in parallel. The aggregated voltage from each of these
strings is then fed into a large central inverter. We believe that traditional string inverters have a number of design and performance challenges limiting innovation and their ability to reduce the cost of solar power systems, including the
following:

• Productivity limits. If solar modules are wired using a traditional central inverter—a group or “string” of modules are wired in series, and an entire string’s output is limited by the output of the lowest-performing module. Because of its
string design, there is a single point of failure risk with the traditional string inverter approach.

• Reliability issues. Traditional string inverters are the single most common component of solar installations to fail, resulting in system downtime and adversely impacting total energy output. As a result, string inverters typically carry
warranties of only 5 to 12 years.

• Complex design and installation requirements . The string inverter-based solar PV installation requires greater effort on the part of the installer, both in terms of design and on-site labor. String inverter installations require string
design and calculations for safe and reliable operation, as well as specialized equipment such as DC combiners, conduits and disconnects. In addition, the use of high-voltage DC requires specialized knowledge and training and
safety precautions to install string inverter technology.

• Safety issues. String inverter solar PV installations have a wide distribution of high-voltage (600 volts to 1,000 volts) DC wiring. If damaged, DC wires can generate sustained electrical arcs, reaching temperatures of more than
5,000°F. This creates the risk of fire for solar PV installation owners and injury for installers and maintenance personnel.

These challenges of traditional string inverters have a direct impact on the cost and expected return on investment of solar installations to both installers and system owners:

• Installer. Solar PV installers aim for simple installation design, fast installation times and maximum system performance and predictability. The installation of high-voltage DC string inverter technology, however, requires significant
preparation, precautionary safety measures, time-consuming string calculations, extensive design expertise and specialized installation equipment, training and knowledge. Together, these factors significantly increase complexity
and cost of installation and limit overall productivity for the installer.

• System owner. Solar power system owners aim for high energy production, low cost, high reliability, and low maintenance requirements, as well as reduced fire risks. With traditional string inverters, owners often are unable to
optimize the size or shape of their solar PV installations due to string design limitations. As such, they experience performance loss from shading and other obstructions, can face frequent system failures and lack the ability to
effectively monitor the performance of their solar PV installation. In addition, string inverter installations operate at high-voltage DC, which bears significant fire risks. Further, due to their large size, string inverter installations can
affect architectural aesthetics of the house or commercial building.

Several of our existing and potential competitors are significantly larger than us and may have greater financial, marketing, distribution and customer support resources and may have significantly broader brand recognition, especially
in certain markets. In addition, some of our competitors have more resources and experience in developing or acquiring new products and technologies and in creating market awareness for these offerings.

Competitors in the inverter market include, among others, SolarEdge Technologies, Inc. (“SolarEdge”), Huawei Technologies Co. Ltd., (“Huawei”), Tesla, Inc. (“Tesla”), Sungrow Power Supply Co., Ltd., Growatt New Energy Co., Ltd
and other companies offering microinverters and/or string inverters with and without solar optimizers. We believe that our microinverter solutions offer significant advantages and competitive differentiation relative to traditional central or
string inverter technology, even when supplemented by DC-to-DC optimizers on the roof.

Competitors in the storage market include Tesla, SolarEdge, Huawei, BYD, Franklin Solar Battery and other producers of battery cells and integrated storage systems. Competitors in the EV charger market include Wallbox,
ChargePoint Holdings, Inc., Tesla, JuiceBox and EVBox, among others.
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Manufacturing, Quality Control and Supply Chain Management

We utilize a sourcing strategy that emphasizes global procurement of materials and product manufacturing in lower cost regions. We outsource the manufacturing of our products to third-party contract manufacturers. Flex Ltd. and
affiliates (“Flex”), Salcomp Plc. and affiliates (“Salcomp”), and Sunwoda Electric Co. Ltd. (“Sunwoda”) to assemble and test our IQ microinverters, IQ Battery storage systems, EV chargers and IQ Gateway products. Prices for such services
are agreed to by the parties on a quarterly basis, and we are obligated to purchase manufactured products and raw materials that cannot be resold upon the termination of the corresponding agreement. Flex also provides receiving, kitting,
storage, transportation, inventory visibility and other value-added logistics services at locations managed by Flex. In addition, we rely on several unaffiliated companies to supply certain components used in the fabrication of our products.

Our relationships with Flex and Salcomp provide us with strategic manufacturing capabilities and flexibility in the United States. We are now shipping IQ Microinverters from our U.S.-based contract manufacturing facilities in South
Carolina and Texas, offering several new production lines across the two sites. Moving manufacturing to the United States allows us to take advantage of the benefits of the IRA as well as help us better serve our customers by cutting down
delivery times and diversifying our supply chain. During the year ended December 31, 2024, we also began shipping residential and commercial microinverters, and batteries, with higher domestic content from our United States contract
manufacturers, which are expected to help certain solar projects qualify for the Domestic Content Bonus Credit.

In the fourth quarter of 2024, we implemented a restructuring plan (the “2024 Restructuring Plan”) to better align our workforce and cost structure with our business needs, strategic priorities and ongoing commitment to profitable
growth, while increasing operational efficiencies and reducing operating costs, which included the plan to cease operations at our contract manufacturing location in Mexico in the first half of 2025.

Customer Service

We continue to cultivate an organizational focus on customer satisfaction and are committed to providing a best-in-class customer experience. We maintain high levels of customer engagement through our customer support group,
Enphase community, and the Enphase App. We continue to provide 24/7 support for installers and Enphase system owners globally across our phone, online chat and email communications channel. We continue to train our customer
service agents with a goal of reducing average customer wait times to under two minutes, and we continue to expand our network of field service technicians in the United States, Europe and Australia to provide direct homeowner
assistance. Our Net Promoter Score (commonly referred to as “NPS”) improved to 78% in 2024 from 76% in 2023 as a result of multiple customer service initiatives.

Research and Development

We plan to continue to devote substantial resources to research and development with the objective of developing new products and systems and increasing the value or reducing the cost of existing products and systems. Our
research and development roadmap identifies new product features and defines improvement targets for existing products that enhance the benefit of our energy management solutions to our customers and support our growth plans. We
measure the effectiveness of our research and development using metrics that include product cost, performance and reliability, homeowner and installer experience, as well as development cost and performance to schedule.

Intellectual Property

We operate in an industry in which innovation, investment in new ideas and protection of our intellectual property rights are critical for success. We protect our technology through a variety of means, including through patent,
trademark, copyright and trade secrets laws in the United States and similar laws in other countries, confidentiality agreements and other contractual arrangements. As of December 31, 2024, we have approximately 406 global patents and
255 pending patent applications. Our patents are expiring on an ongoing basis between the present and approximately 2045, but there is not a material portion of our patent portfolio expiring in the near future.
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We have licensed certain technologies for application in hardware and software in our products. Such licenses are generally fully-paid, royalty-free licenses. Given the volume and pace of new patents worldwide, it may become
necessary in the future to license intellectual property on terms that are yet unknown to us, and that may be less favorable than licenses in the past. In addition, we license open source software from various third parties for use in hardware
and software. Such open source software is licensed under open source licenses, and we take efforts to maintain compliance with such licenses.

We continually assess the need for patent protection for those aspects of our technology that we believe provide significant competitive advantages. A majority of our patents relate to DC to AC power conversion, energy storage
devices and related energy environments.

With respect to proprietary know-how that is not patentable and processes for which patents are difficult to enforce, we rely on trade secret protection and confidentiality agreements to safeguard our interests. We believe that many
elements of our microinverter and storage manufacturing processes involve proprietary know-how, technology or data that are not covered by patents or patent applications, including technical processes, test equipment designs, algorithms
and procedures.

We own or have rights to various trademarks and service marks in the United States and in other countries, including Enphase, the Enphase “e”, IQ, and many other marks. We rely on both registration of our marks as well as common
law protection where available.

All of our research and development personnel have entered into confidentiality and proprietary information agreements with us. These agreements address intellectual property protection and require our employees to assign to us all
of the inventions, designs and technologies they develop during the course of employment with us.

We also require our customers and business partners to enter into confidentiality agreements before we disclose any sensitive aspects of our technology or business plans.

As part of our overall strategy to protect our intellectual property, we may take legal actions to prevent third parties from infringing or misappropriating our intellectual property or from otherwise gaining access to our technology.

Government Regulations

Our business activities are subject to a changing patchwork of laws and regulations that prevail at the federal, state, regional and local levels as well as in foreign jurisdictions. For example, substantially all of our import operations are
subject to complex trade and customs laws, regulations and tax requirements such as sanctions orders or tariffs set by governments through mutual agreements or unilateral actions. In addition, countries may from time to time adversely
modify or impose additional duties, tariffs or other restrictions on the import or export of our fully manufactured products or the material components needed to make our products. Changes in tax policies or trade regulations, the
disallowance of tax deductions on imported merchandise, or the imposition of new tariffs on imported products, could have an adverse effect on our business and results of operations.

We are also subject to other complex foreign and U.S. laws and regulations related to anti-bribery and corruption, antitrust or competition, and data privacy and security, such as the EU General Data Protection Regulation, among
others. In addition, our business and operations are currently subject to environmental laws in various jurisdictions around the world, including the Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment and Restriction of the Use of Certain Hazardous
Substances in Electrical and Electronic Equipment regulations adopted by the EU. We are also subject to disclosure and related requirements that apply to the presence of “conflict minerals” in our products or supply chain. We have policies
and procedures in place to promote compliance with these laws and regulations. To date, our compliance actions and costs relating to these laws, rules and regulations have not resulted in a material cost or effect on our capital
expenditures, earnings or competitive position. Government regulations are subject to change, and accordingly we are unable to assess the possible effect of compliance with future requirements or whether our compliance with existing
regulations will materially impact our business in the future.
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Government Incentives

U.S. federal, state and local government bodies, as well as non-U.S. government bodies provide supportive policies and incentives to owners, distributors, system integrators and manufacturers of solar energy and battery storage
systems to promote the use of these resources in the form of rebates, tax credits, lower VAT rate and other financial incentives, such as system performance payments, payments for renewable energy credits associated with renewable
energy generation and exclusion of solar energy systems from property tax assessments. The market for on‑grid rooftop solar applications, where solar power, possibly coupled with battery storage, is used to supplement a customer’s
electricity purchased from the utility network or sold to a utility under tariff, often depends in large part on the availability and size of these government-issued subsidies and economic incentives, which help to catalyze customer acceptance
of solar energy as an alternative to utility-provisioned power. The modifications to, or disallowance of, government subsidies or economic incentives could have an adverse effect on our business and results of operations. Among other
government-established incentives, net energy metering (“NEM”) and related policies have supported the growth of on-grid rooftop solar and storage products, and changes to such policies may significantly reduce demand for electricity
from our solar and storage service offerings. NEM tariffs provide customers with compensation for exporting excess solar generation to the electrical grid.

In August 2022, the investment tax credit (“ITC”) was extended and a new advanced manufacturing production tax credit (“AMPTC”) was created, to incentivize clean energy component sourcing and production, including for the
production of microinverters. This included a 10% ITC adder for solar system components that are manufactured with a minimum threshold of domestic content. The IRA provides an AMPTC of 11 cents per alternating current watt for
microinverters, which has favorably impacted our results of operations in the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023. The AMPTC for microinverters decreases by 25% each year beginning in 2030 through the end of 2032. Under the
IRA, the ITC was also extended until 2032 to allow a qualifying homeowner to deduct 30% of the cost of installing residential solar and battery systems from their U.S. federal income taxes, thereby returning a material portion of the system’s
purchase price to homeowners. Under the terms of the IRA’s extension, the ITC for residential solar systems will remain at 30% through the end of 2032, reduce to 26% for 2033, reduce to 22% for 2034, and further reduce to 0% after the
end of 2034, unless it is extended before that time. We believe the enactment of the IRA is favorable to our overall business.

In December 2022, the California Public Utilities Commission (“CPUC”) approved a NEM policy, called Net Energy Metering 3.0 (“NEM 3.0”), which went into effect starting April 15, 2023. The new policy substantially reduces the
compensation that solar customers can earn by selling excess solar energy to the electric grid. The average hourly export rate in California under NEM 3.0 is approximately $0.05/kWh to $0.08/kWh compared to the prior average of
$0.25/kWh to $0.35/kWh under Net Energy Metering 2.0 (“NEM 2.0”). In November 2023, the CPUC also adopted changes to its “Virtual NEM” and “NEM Aggregation” programs that prohibit multi-meter commercial or agricultural property
owners from netting solar energy generated at or adjacent to those properties against import charges recorded on the meters at the property, except for residential account holders in a multi-family residential property. Both of these policy
changes in California reduced demand for solar PV systems in the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 and may continue to do so. However, the reduction in export compensation under NEM 3.0, coupled with rising utility rates, may
encourage deployment of battery energy storage with solar PV systems and mitigate some of the demand reductions.

Seasonality

Historically, the majority of our revenue are from the North American and European regions which experience higher sales of our products in the second, third and fourth quarters and have been affected by seasonal customer demand
trends, including weather patterns and construction cycles. The first quarter historically has had softer customer demand in our industry, due to these same factors. Although these seasonal factors are common in the solar sector, historical
patterns should not be considered a reliable indicator of our future sales activity or performance.

Environment and Climate Change

We have understood the climate change threat from the beginning and have been creating clean energy technologies needed to directly combat it, protect our environment and enable sustainable development. We recognize our
ability to do so rests on our capacity to understand, anticipate and successfully navigate various types of climate risk. Our strategy is advancing solutions to meet any number of climate risk mitigation opportunities – solar energy equipment,
battery storage, EV charging, smart load management and integration with grid modernization efforts.
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We align our risk assessment and climate strategy with the recommendations of the Taskforce for Climate-Related Financial Disclosures (“TCFD”), as all existing and emerging climate risk disclosure regulations are modeled on this
framework. We issued our fourth TCFD aligned Environmental, Social and Governance Report in 2024 and plan to follow up with another aligned report in 2025.

We believe that sound corporate governance is critical to helping us achieve our goals, including with respect to designing products that address both energy generation and consumption. We continue to evolve a governance
framework that exercises appropriate oversight of responsibilities at all levels throughout the company and manages its affairs consistent with high principles of business ethics and advancing a sustainable future for all.

Human Capital Resources

As of December 31, 2024, we had 2,781 full-time employees. Of the full-time employees, 1,171 were engaged in sales and marketing, 1,077 in research and development, 263 in general and administration, 159 in manufacturing and
operations and 111 in solar system configuration design and permitting services. Of these employees, 1,502 were in India, 830 in the United States, 231 in Europe, 119 in New Zealand, 23 in Australia, 23 in China, 21 in Mexico, 16 in
Canada, and 16 in Brazil. In November 2024, we announced the 2024 Restructuring Plan, which includes a reduction of our workforce of full-time employees and contractors by approximately 17 percent, which will continue to be
implemented until the first half of 2025. Refer to Note 12. “Restructuring and Asset Impairment Charges,” of the notes to consolidated financial statements in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information.

None of our employees are represented by a labor union; however, our employees in France are represented by a collective bargaining agreement. We have not experienced any employment-related work stoppages, and we consider
our relations with our employees to be good.

Culture

Supporting our purpose of “Advancing a sustainable future for all,” all employees are expected to uphold the following core values that drive our culture:

• Customer First

• Integrity

• Innovation

• Teamwork

• Quality

These core values are represented by how we work together, how we perform and how we all get rewarded. Values are reinforced in new hire training, culture workshops and everyday interactions.

Talent

Our talent and culture are critical to our success. Our human capital management philosophy and objectives focus on creating a high-performance culture in which our employees deliver, succeed and lead. We achieve our objectives
through various employee engagement and talent development efforts. Our employee engagement efforts include our quarterly all-employee town hall meetings, through which we aim to keep our employees well-informed and to increase
transparency, and employee engagement events, through which we foster teamwork, networking, and enhance our workplace culture. We have established relationships with top universities worldwide, professional associations and
industry groups to build a talent pipeline and established the Enphase Learning Academy to provide employees with regularly scheduled and on demand relevant technical and professional programs.

We are committed to promoting and cultivating an inclusive and diverse culture that welcomes and celebrates everyone without bias. In addition, we look to actively engage within our communities to foster and attain social equity. We
became a corporate sponsor of the non-profit Women in Cleantech and Sustainability and our Chief Executive Officer signed the CEO Action for Diversity & Inclusion pledge. This shows our commitment to advancing diversity and inclusion
in the workplace.

Compensation Philosophy
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Our compensation philosophy creates the framework for our rewards strategy. We have a pay-for-performance culture that ties compensation to the performance of the individual and our company. We provide competitive
compensation programs that focus on the following five key elements:

• Pay-for-performance: Reward and recognize leading contributors and high potential employees by paying market competitive total direct compensation, which includes base salary, quarterly bonus or commission, and stock-based
compensation

• External market-based research: Pay levels that are competitive with respect to the labor markets and industries in which we compete for talent

• Internal equity: Maintaining internally consistent and non-discriminatory pay and pay practices

• Fiscal responsibility: Providing programs in line with economic conditions and our company’s financial health

• Legal compliance: Ensure the organization is legally compliant with employee compensation laws in all states and countries in which we operate

Health and Wellness

We invest in our employees through high-quality benefits and various health and wellness initiatives. Our benefits packages provide a balance of protection along with the flexibility to meet the individual needs of our employees. Our
global flexible workplace policy introduced in response to COVID-19 pandemic allows employees in certain countries and locations to work in a remote or hybrid mode as business necessitates. Our focus remains on the safety of our
employees and business partners, and we strive to protect the health and well-being of the communities in which we operate, in part, by providing technology to our employees, end-customers and business partners to help them do their
best work while remote. We expect these business operating conditions will substantially remain in effect throughout 2025. We will continue to monitor the global workplace practices, and will make further changes to our business
operations as may be permitted by federal, state, or local authorities and that we determine are in the best interests of our employees, end-customers, partners, suppliers and stockholders.

Available Information

We file electronically with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”), our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports filed pursuant to
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act can be accessed on our Investor Relations website at investor.enphase.com. Alternatively, you may access these reports at the SEC’s website at www.sec.gov. We make available, free of charge,
copies of these reports as soon as reasonably practicable after filing these reports with the SEC or otherwise furnishing it to the SEC. The contents of our websites are not incorporated by reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K or
in any other report or document we file with the SEC, and any references to our websites are intended to be inactive textual references only.

Item 1A.    Risk Factors

We have identified the following risks and uncertainties that may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations. The risks described below are not the only ones we face. Additional risks not
presently known to us or that we currently believe are not material may also significantly impair our business operations. Our business could be harmed by any of these risks. The trading price of our common stock could decline due to any
of these risks, and you may lose all or part of your investment. In assessing these risks, you should also refer to the other information contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including our consolidated financial statements and related
notes. See also “Forward-Looking Statements” in the forepart of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Risks Related to our Business, Operations and Our Industry

The reduction, elimination or expiration of government subsidies and economic incentives for on-grid solar electricity applications could reduce demand for solar PV systems and harm our business.

The market for on-grid applications, where solar power, on a standalone basis or paired with energy storage systems, is used to supplement a customer’s electricity purchased from the utility network or sold to a utility under tariff,
depends in large part on the availability and size of government-issued subsidies and economic incentives that vary by geographic market. Because our customers’ sales of solar power are typically into the on-grid market, the reduction,
elimination or expiration of government subsidies and economic incentives for on-grid solar electricity may negatively affect the competitiveness of rooftop solar electricity relative to centralized sources of electricity (including from
conventional thermal or utility-scale renewable generation) and could harm or halt the growth of the solar electricity industry and our business.

National, state and local government bodies in many countries, including the United States, have provided incentives in the form of feed-in tariffs (“FiTs”), NEM tariffs and related policies, rebates, tax credits, tax incentives and others
to system owners, distributors, system integrators and manufacturers of solar PV systems and battery energy storage systems to bolster the cost competitiveness of solar electricity in on-grid applications relative to the cost of utility power,
and to reduce dependency on other forms of energy. Many of these government incentives expire, phase out over time, have limited funding allocations, that require renewal by the applicable jurisdictional authority, or are being changed by
governments due to changing market circumstances or changes to national, state or local energy policy. Further, if the ITC, AMPTC, or any other existing tax credits or incentives are reduced or eliminated as part of futures changes to the
U.S. Internal Revenue Code, or changes to state law or regulatory reform initiatives by subsequent legislative or executive actions, sales of our products in North America and other markets could be adversely affected.

In addition, several European countries, including Germany, Belgium, Italy, the Netherlands and the United Kingdom, have adopted reductions in or ended their NEM or FiT programs. Certain countries have proposed or enacted
taxes levied on renewable energy. These and related developments have significantly impacted the solar industry in Europe and may adversely affect the future demand for solar energy solutions in Europe, which could adversely impact
our results of operations.

Among other government-established incentives, NEM and related policies have supported the growth of on-grid rooftop solar products, and changes to such policies may reduce demand for electricity from our solar service offerings.
NEM is a tariffed utility rate program that permits a consumer to sell the excess solar energy that the consumer’s solar panels produce to the electric utility company at a predetermined price. The most basic type of NEM tariff pays
consumers the retail rate for electricity that their solar panels export to the grid, less certain “non-bypassable” fees paid by the consumer. However, certain states have sought to move away from retail rate NEM crediting for compensating
excess solar generation. For example, in December 2022, the CPUC adopted a “NEM 3.0” policy, also known as the Net Billing Tariff, that unbundles export compensation from retail rates and instead bases it on a tool called the Avoided
Cost Calculator (“ACC”), which estimates the utility costs that are avoided by exports from distributed generation for each hour of the year. The CPUC did seek to ease the transition for the solar market by adopting small “adders” to the
hourly ACC export values for the first several years of the tariff. Nevertheless, these ACC-based export compensation values are significantly lower than retail rates for most hours of the year and may therefore increase payback periods,
and thereby reduce demand, for solar-only systems. Similarly, in November 2023, the CPUC adopted changes to its “Virtual NEM” and “NEM Aggregation” programs that prohibit multi-meter commercial or agricultural property owners from
netting solar energy generated at or adjacent to those properties against import charges recorded on the meters at the property, except for residential account holders in a multi-family residential property. These types of modifications to
NEM policies have impacted and could further harm our business, both in California, where we have derived a significant portion of historical revenues in the United States, and in other state and national jurisdictions, if pursued there.

Reductions in, or eliminations or expirations of, governmental incentives (including the ITC) or NEM policies in regions where we focus our sales efforts could result in decreased demand for and lower revenue from solar PV systems,
which would adversely affect sales of our products. In addition, our ability to successfully penetrate new geographic markets may depend on new countries adopting and maintaining tax credits, tax incentives, NEM policies, or other
programs to promote solar electricity and storage, to the extent such incentives or programs are not currently in place. Furthermore, electric utility companies may establish rate structures or interconnection requirements that could be
harmful to the solar industry and adversely affect our sales.
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Unfavorable macroeconomic and market conditions may adversely affect our industry, business and financial results.

Our business depends on the overall demand for our solar energy products and on the economic health and willingness of our customers and potential customers to make capital commitments to purchase our products and services.
As we have a growing global footprint, we are subject to risk and exposure from the evolving macroeconomic environment, including the effects of increased global inflationary pressures, tariffs and interest rates, fluctuations in foreign
currency exchange rates, potential economic slowdowns or recessions, geopolitical pressures and potential regulatory changes through future legislative or executive action, which may cause, and has caused, customers to delay
purchasing our products and services or to not purchase at all. In addition, a number of the risks associated with our business, which are disclosed in these risk factors, may increase in likelihood, magnitude or duration, and we may face
new risks that we have not yet identified.

Unfavorable macroeconomic and market conditions can result and have previously resulted in sustained periods of decreased demand. Macroeconomic and market conditions could be adversely affected by a variety of political,
economic or other factors in the United States and international markets, which could, in turn, adversely affect spending levels of installers and end users and could create volatility or deteriorating conditions in the markets in which we
operate. Macroeconomic uncertainty or weakness could result in:

• reduced demand for our products as a result of constraints on capital spending for residential solar energy systems by our customers;

• increased price competition for our products that may adversely affect revenue, gross margin and profitability;

• decreased ability to forecast operating results and make decisions about budgeting, planning and future investments;

• business and financial difficulties faced by our suppliers, distributors or other partners, including impacts to material costs, sales, liquidity levels, ability to continue investing in their businesses, ability to import or export goods, ability
to meet development commitments and manufacturing capability; and

• increased overhead and production costs as a percentage of revenue.

Reductions in customer spending in response to unfavorable or uncertain macroeconomic and market conditions, globally or in a particular region where we operate, as well as uncertainty in the regulatory landscape, would adversely
affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

If demand for solar energy solutions does not grow or grows at a slower rate than we anticipate, our business will suffer.

Our IQ Microinverters and IQ Battery storage systems are utilized in solar PV installations, which provide on-site distributed power generation. As a result, our future success depends on continued demand for solar energy solutions
and the ability of solar equipment vendors to meet this demand. The solar industry is an evolving industry that has experienced substantial changes over the years, and we cannot be certain that consumers and businesses will adopt solar
PV systems as an alternative energy source at levels sufficient to continue to grow our business. Traditional electricity distribution is based on the regulated industry model under which businesses and consumers obtain their electricity from
a government regulated utility. For alternative methods of distributed power to succeed, businesses and consumers must adopt new purchasing practices. The viability and continued growth in demand for solar energy solutions and, in turn,
our products, may be impacted by many factors outside of our control, including:

• market acceptance of solar PV systems based on our product platform;

• availability and amount of government subsidies and incentives to support the development and deployment of solar energy solutions;

• cost competitiveness, reliability and performance of solar PV systems compared to conventional and non-solar renewable energy sources and products;

• our ability to timely introduce and complete new designs and timely qualify and certify our products;

• the extent to which the electric power industry and broader energy industries are deregulated to permit broader adoption of solar electricity generation;
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• the cost and availability of key raw materials and components used in the production of solar PV systems;

• prices of traditional utility-provided energy sources;

• whether installers, system owners and solar financing providers will adopt our solutions;

• the ability of prospective system owners to obtain long-term financing for solar PV installations based on our product platform on acceptable terms or at all;

• levels of investment by end-users of solar energy products, which tend to decrease when economic growth slows; and

• the emergence, continuance or success of, or increased government support for, other alternative energy generation technologies and products.

If demand for solar energy solutions does not grow, demand for our customers’ products from residential homeowners and commercial businesses will decrease, which would have an adverse impact on our ability to increase our
revenue and grow our business.

Further, our success depends on continued demand for solar energy solutions and the ability of solar equipment vendors to meet this demand. Supply chain disruptions, increased interest rates and higher inflation, have caused and
may continue to cause various negative effects, including an inability to meet the needs of our existing or potential end customers. If demand for solar energy solutions decreases or does not grow, demand for our customers’ products as
well as demand for our products will decrease, which would have an adverse impact on our ability to increase our revenue and grow our business.

The solar industry is highly competitive, and we expect to face increased competition as new and existing competitors introduce products or develop alternative technologies, which could negatively impact our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

We compete primarily against central and string inverter manufacturers, as well as against new solutions and emerging technologies that directly compete with our business. A number of companies have developed or are developing
microinverters and other products that will compete directly with our solutions in the module-level power electronics market. We also compete against manufacturers of energy storage systems and EV chargers for our solutions in these
markets.

Competitors in the inverter market include, among others, SolarEdge, Huawei, Tesla, Sungrow Power Supply Co., Ltd., Growatt New Energy Co., Ltd and other companies offering string inverters with and without solar optimizers.
Competitors in the storage market include Tesla, SolarEdge, Huawei, BYD, Franklin Solar Battery, and other producers of battery cells and integrated storage systems market. Competitors in the EV charger market include Wallbox,
ChargePoint, Tesla, JuiceBox and EVBox, among others.

Several of our existing and potential competitors are significantly larger than we are and may have greater financial, marketing, distribution and customer support resources and may have significantly broader brand recognition,
especially in certain markets. In addition, some of our competitors have more resources and experience in developing or acquiring new products and technologies and creating market awareness for these offerings. Further, certain
competitors may be able to develop new products more quickly than we can and may be able to develop products that are more reliable or that provide more functionality than ours. In addition, some of our competitors have the financial
resources to offer competitive products at aggressive or below-market pricing levels, which could cause us to lose sales or market share or require us to lower prices of our products in order to compete effectively. Suppliers of solar products,
particularly solar modules, have experienced eroding prices over the last several years and as a result many have faced margin compression and declining revenues. If we have to reduce our prices, or if we are unable to offset any future
reductions in our average selling prices (“ASPs”) by increasing our sales volume, reducing our costs and expenses or introducing new products, our revenue and gross profit would suffer.

Significant developments in alternative technologies, such as advances in other forms of distributed solar PV power generation, storage solutions such as batteries, the widespread use or adoption of fuel cells for residential or
commercial properties or improvements in other forms of centralized power production may have a material adverse effect on our business and prospects. Any failure by us to adopt new or enhanced technologies or processes, or to react to
changes in existing technologies, could result in product obsolescence, the loss of competitiveness of our products, decreased revenue and a loss of market share to competitors.
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We also may face competition from some of our customers or potential customers who evaluate our capabilities against the merits of manufacturing products internally. Other solar module manufacturers could also develop or acquire
competing inverter technology or attempt to develop components that directly perform DC-to-AC conversion in the module itself. Due to the fact that such customers may not seek to make a profit directly from the manufacture of these
products, they may have the ability to manufacture competitive products at a lower cost than we would charge such customers. As a result, these customers or potential customers may purchase fewer of our systems or sell products that
compete with our systems, which would negatively impact our revenue and gross profit.

Our recent and planned expansion into existing and new markets could subject us to additional business, financial and competitive risks.

We currently offer solar energy systems targeting the residential and commercial markets throughout the world, and we intend to expand into other international markets. Our success in new geographic and product markets will
depend on a number of factors, such as:

• acceptance of microinverters, batteries and EV chargers in markets in which they have not traditionally been used;

• our ability to compete in new product markets to which we are not accustomed;

• availability of government subsidies and economic incentives for solar energy solutions;

• accurate forecasting and effective management of inventory levels in line with anticipated product demand;

• our ability to manage manufacturing capacity and production;

• willingness of our potential customers to incur a higher upfront capital investment than may be required for competing solutions;

• timely qualification and certification of new products, and ability to comply with local regulations;

• our ability to reduce production costs in order to price our products competitively;

• our customer service capabilities and responsiveness; and

• timely hiring of skilled employees and the efficient execution of our project plan.

Failure to address these new markets successfully, to generate sufficient revenue from these markets to offset associated research and development, marketing, and manufacturing and regulatory costs, or to otherwise effectively
anticipate and manage the risks and challenges associated with our potential expansion into new product and geographic markets, could adversely affect our revenue and our ability to achieve or sustain profitability.

We may fail to capture customers as we design and develop new products and update existing products.

We are pursuing opportunities in energy management and energy storage that are highly competitive markets. We have made investments in our infrastructure, increased our operating costs and forgone other business opportunities
in order to seek opportunities in these areas and will continue to do so. Any new product is subject to certain risks, including component sourcing, strategic partner selection and execution, customer acceptance, competition, product
differentiation, market timing, challenges relating to economies of scale in component sourcing and the ability to attract and retain qualified personnel. There can be no assurance that we will be able to develop and grow these or any other
new concepts to a point where they will become profitable or generate positive cash flow. If we fail to execute on our plan with respect to new product introductions, or fail to adequately update our legacy products, we may fail to generate
revenue in the quantities or timeline projected, thus, having a materially adverse impact on our operating results and financial stability.

We continue to develop new generations of our IQ Microinverters, IQ Batteries and EV charging products. Developing new products or next generation products is complex and requires significant preparation, precautionary safety
measures, time-consuming string calculations, extensive design expertise and specialized installation equipment, training and knowledge. Together, these factors significantly increase complexity and cost of installation and limit overall
productivity for the installer. Our installers may not have sufficient resources or expertise necessary to sell our products at the prices, in the volumes and within the time frames that we expect, which could hinder our ability to expand our
operations and harm our revenue and operating results.
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We depend upon a small number of outside contract manufacturers, and our business and operations could be disrupted if we encounter problems with these contract manufacturers.

We do not have internal manufacturing capabilities and rely upon a small number of contract manufacturers to build our products. In particular, we outsource the manufacturing of our products to third-party contract manufacturers.
Flex, Salcomp and Sunwoda assemble and test our IQ Microinverter, IQ Battery storage systems, EV chargers and IQ Gateway products. Prices for such services are agreed to by the parties on a quarterly basis, and we are obligated to
purchase manufactured products and raw materials that cannot be resold upon the termination of the related agreement. As of December 31, 2024, our related purchase obligations (including amounts related to component inventory
procured by our primary contract manufacturers on our behalf) were approximately $130.9 million. The timing of purchases in future periods could differ materially from our estimates due to fluctuations in demand requirements related to
varying sales levels as well as changes in economic conditions.

Flex also provides receiving, kitting, storage, transportation, inventory visibility and other value-added logistics services at locations managed by Flex. In addition, we rely on several unaffiliated companies to supply certain components
used in the fabrication of our products.

Our reliance on a small number of contract manufacturers makes us vulnerable to possible capacity constraints and reduced control over component availability, delivery schedules, manufacturing yields and costs. We do not have
long-term supply contracts with our contract manufacturing partners. Consequently, these manufacturers are not obligated to supply products to us for any period, in any specified quantity or at any certain price. If any of these suppliers
reduce or eliminate the supply of the components to us in the future, our revenue, business, financial condition and results of operations would be adversely impacted.

Further, the revenue that our contract manufacturers generate from our orders may represent a relatively small percentage of their overall revenue. As a result, fulfilling our orders may not be considered a priority in the event of
constrained ability to fulfill all of their customer obligations in a timely manner. In addition, some of our products continue to be manufactured outside of the United States. We believe that the location of these facilities outside of the United
States increases our supply risk, including the risk of supply interruptions or reductions in manufacturing quality or controls.

If any of our contract manufacturers were unable or unwilling to manufacture our products in required volumes and at high quality levels or renew existing terms under supply agreements, we would have to identify, qualify and select
acceptable alternative contract manufacturers, which may not be available to us on favorable terms, if at all. An alternative contract manufacturer may not be available to us when needed or may not be in a position to satisfy our quality or
production requirements on commercially reasonable terms. Any significant interruption in manufacturing would require us to reduce our supply of products to our customers, which in turn would reduce our revenue, harm our relationships
with our customers and cause us to forgo potential revenue opportunities.

We rely primarily on distributors, installers and providers of solar financing to assist in selling our products to customers, and the failure of these customers to perform at the expected level, or at all, would have an adverse
effect on our business, financial condition and results of our operations.

We sell our solutions primarily through distributors, as well as through direct sales to solar equipment installers and developers of third-party solar finance offerings. We do not have exclusive arrangements with these third parties. As
a result, many of these third parties, or customers, also use or market and sell products from our competitors, which may reduce our sales. These customers may generally terminate their relationships with us at any time, or with short
notice, and further may fail to devote the resources necessary to sell our products at the prices, in the volumes and within the time frames that we expect, or may focus their marketing and sales efforts on products of our competitors. In
addition, participants in the solar industry are becoming increasingly focused on vertical integration of the solar financing and installation process, which may lead to an overall reduction in the number of potential parties who may purchase
and install our products.

We typically provide our distributors and installers with training and other programs, including accreditations and certifications; however, these programs may not be effective or utilized consistently. Further, newer distributors and
installers may require extensive training and may take significant time and resources to achieve productivity. Our distributors and installers may subject us to lawsuits, potential liability and reputational harm if, for example, any were to
misrepresent the functionality of our platform or products to customers, fail to perform services to our customers’ expectations, or violate laws or our policies. In addition, our distributors and installers may utilize our platform to develop
products and services that could potentially compete with products and services that we offer
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currently or in the future. Concerns over competitive matters or intellectual property ownership could constrain the growth and development of these relationships or result in the termination of one or more relationships. If we fail to effectively
manage and grow our network of distributors and installers, or properly monitor the quality and efficacy of their service delivery, our ability to sell our products and efficiently provide our services may be impacted, and our operating results
may be harmed.

Our future performance depends on our ability to effectively manage our relationships with our existing customers, as well as to attract additional customers that will be able to market and support our products effectively, especially in
markets in which we have not previously distributed our products. Termination of agreements with current customers, failure by customers to perform as expected, bankruptcies of our customers or their installer customers, or failure by us to
cultivate new customer relationships, could hinder our ability to expand our operations and harm our revenue and operating results.

We depend on limited-source suppliers for key components and products. If we are unable to source these components and products on a timely basis, we will not be able to deliver our products to our customers.

We depend on sole-source and limited-source suppliers for key components of our products, such as our ASICs and lithium-ion batteries. Any of the sole-source and limited-source suppliers upon whom we rely could experience
quality and reliability issues, stop producing our components, cease operations, face climate-related disruptions, or be acquired by, or enter into exclusive arrangements with, our competitors. We generally do not have long-term supply
agreements with our suppliers, and our purchase volumes may currently be too low for us to be considered a priority customer by most of our suppliers. As a result, most of these suppliers could stop selling to us at commercially reasonable
prices, or at all. Any such quality or reliability issue, or interruption or delay may force us to seek similar components or products from alternative sources, which may not be available on commercially reasonable terms, in a timely manner, or
at all. Switching suppliers may require that we redesign our products to accommodate new components and may potentially require us to re-qualify our products, which would be costly and time-consuming. Any interruption in the quality or
supply of sole-source or limited-source components for our products would adversely affect our ability to meet scheduled product deliveries to our customers and could result in lost revenue or higher expenses and would harm our business.

If we or our contract manufacturers are unable to obtain raw materials in a timely manner or if the price of raw materials increases significantly, production time and product costs could increase, which may adversely
affect our business.

The manufacturing and packaging processes used by our contract manufacturers depend on raw materials such as copper, aluminum, silicon and petroleum-based products. From time to time, suppliers may extend lead times, limit
supplies or increase prices due to capacity constraints or other factors. Certain of our suppliers have the ability to pass along to us directly or through our contract manufacturers any increases in the price of raw materials. If the prices of
these raw materials rise significantly, we may be unable to pass on the increased cost to our customers. While we may from time to time enter into hedging transactions to reduce our exposure to wide fluctuations in the cost of raw materials,
the availability and effectiveness of these hedging transactions may be limited. Due to all these factors, our results of operations could be adversely affected if we or our contract manufacturers are unable to obtain adequate supplies of raw
materials in a timely manner or at reasonable cost. In addition, from time to time, we or our contract manufacturers may need to reject raw materials that do not meet our specifications, resulting in potential delays or declines in output.
Furthermore, problems with our raw materials may give rise to compatibility or performance issues in our products, which could lead to an increase in product warranty claims. Errors or defects may arise from raw materials supplied by third
parties that are beyond our detection or control, which could lead to additional product warranty claims that may adversely affect our business and results of operations.
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Manufacturing problems could result in delays in product shipments, which would adversely affect our revenue, competitive position and reputation.

We have in the past and may in the future experience delays, disruptions or quality control problems in our manufacturing operations. Our product development, manufacturing and testing processes are complex and require
significant technological and production process expertise. Such processes involve a number of precise steps from design to production. Any change in our processes could cause one or more production errors, requiring a temporary
suspension or delay in our production line until the errors can be researched, identified and properly addressed and rectified. This may occur particularly as we introduce new products, modify our engineering and production techniques and
expand our capacity. In addition, our failure to maintain appropriate quality assurance processes could result in increased product failures, loss of customers, increased production costs and delays. Any of these developments could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

A disruption could also occur in one of our contract manufacturers’ facilities due to any number of reasons, such as equipment failure contaminated materials, process deviations, the effects of climate change and related extreme
weather events, or social, geopolitical or health factors, including pandemics or widespread health epidemics such as the COVID-19 pandemic, which could adversely impact manufacturing yields or delay product shipments. As a result, we
could incur additional costs that would adversely affect our gross profit, and product shipments to our customers could be delayed beyond the schedules requested, which would negatively affect our revenue, competitive position and
reputation.

Additionally, manufacturing yields depend on a number of factors, including the stability and manufacturability of the product design, manufacturing improvements gained over cumulative production volumes, and the quality and
consistency of component parts. Capacity constraints, raw materials shortages, logistics issues, labor shortages and changes in customer requirements, manufacturing facilities or processes have historically caused, and may in the future
cause, reduced manufacturing yields, negatively impacting the gross profit on, and our production capacity for, those products. Moreover, an increase in the rejection and rework rate of products during the quality control process before,
during or after manufacture would result in our experiencing lower yields, gross profit and production capacity. Furthermore, counterfeit parts in our supply chain have been and continue to be a concern, since any counterfeit part can be a
lower quality product, which may affect our system reliability.

The risks of these types of manufacturing problems are further increased during the introduction of new product lines, which has from time to time caused, and may in the future cause, temporary suspension of product lines while
problems are addressed or corrected. Since our business is substantially dependent on a limited number of product lines, any prolonged or substantial suspension of an individual product line could result in a material adverse effect on our
revenue, gross profit and competitive position as well as our distributor and customer relationships.

Challenges relating to supply chain constraints, including with respect to raw materials, semiconductors and integrated circuits, could adversely impact our revenue, gross margins and results of operations.

In times of increased demand, the global supply market for certain raw materials and components, including, in particular, semiconductors, integrated circuits and other electronic components used in some of our products, has
experienced significant constraint and disruption. A constrained supply environment could affect component availability, lead times and cost and could increase the likelihood of unexpected cancellations or delays of previously committed
supply of key components. To mitigate these risks, we may in the future and have in the past incurred higher costs to secure available inventory, have extended our purchase commitments and placed non-cancellable, advanced orders with
or through suppliers, particularly for long lead time components. Our efforts to expand our manufacturing capacity and multi-source and pre-order components may fail to reduce the impact of these adverse supply chain conditions on our
business.

Despite any mitigation efforts, constrained supply conditions may adversely impact our revenue and results of operations. At the same time, increased costs associated with supply premiums, labor, expediting fees and freight and
logistics may adversely impact our gross margin, profitability and ability to reduce the cost to manufacture our products in a manner consistent with prior periods. In the past, the COVID-19 pandemic and regional conflicts and wars has also
contributed to and exacerbated the strain on our supply chain, and there can be no assurance that these types of impacts will not continue, or worsen, in the future. Increased supply chain challenges could also result in increased use of
cash, engineering design changes and delays in new product introductions, each of which

Enphase Energy, Inc. | 2024 Form 10-K | 23



Table of Contents

could adversely impact our business and financial results. In the event of any persistent supply chain challenges, these challenges would adversely impact our revenue, gross margins and results of operations.

The loss of, or events affecting, one of our major customers could reduce our sales and have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We sell primarily to solar distributors who combine our products with others, including solar modules products and racking systems, and resell to installers in each target region. In addition to our solar distributors, we sell directly to
select large installers, OEMs and strategic partners.

Our customers’ decisions to purchase our products are influenced by a number of factors outside of our control, including, among others, retail energy prices, the macroeconomic environment, government regulation, incentives and
liquidity constraints of solar installers. Although we have agreements with our customers, these agreements generally do not have long-term purchase commitments and are generally terminable by either party after a relatively short notice
period. In addition, these customers may decide to no longer use, or to reduce the use of, our products and services for other reasons that may be out of our control. We may also be affected by events impacting our large customers that
result in them decreasing their orders with us or impairing their ability to pay for our products, whether due to a decrease in demand from the end markets they serve or the deterioration in the financial condition or bankruptcy of any such
customer or the solar installers they resell to, or a significant decrease in their business. During the year ended December 31, 2024, one of our customers filed for bankruptcy under Chapter 11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code. We
evaluated the carrying amount of a customer intangible asset related to that customer and determined that the carrying amount of the asset as of December 31, 2024 is recoverable. Additionally, net of allowance for credit losses as of
December 31, 2024, included $6.2 million that relates to the one customer. We regularly monitor and evaluate the credit status of our customers and attempt to adjust sales terms as appropriate, which may not be successful. The loss of, or
events affecting, any of our large customers has had from time to time, and could in the future have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

If our products contain manufacturing or software defects, our business and financial results could be harmed.

We design and make complex products and they may contain undetected or latent errors or defects. Complex hardware and software systems, such as our products, can often contain undetected errors when first introduced or as new
versions are released. In the past, we have experienced latent defects only discovered once the microinverters or batteries are deployed in the field. Changes in our supply chain or the failure of our suppliers to otherwise provide our third-
party contract manufacturers with components or materials that meet our specifications could introduce defects into our products. As we grow our product volumes, the chance of manufacturing defects could increase. In addition, new
product introductions or design changes made for the purpose of cost reduction, performance improvement or improved reliability could introduce new design defects that may impact the performance and life of our products. Any design or
manufacturing defects or other failures of our products to perform as expected could cause us to incur significant service and re-engineering costs, divert the attention of our engineering personnel from product development efforts and
significantly and adversely affect installer and customer satisfaction, market acceptance and our business reputation. Furthermore, if we are unable to correct manufacturing defects or other failures of products in a manner satisfactory to our
customers, our results of operations, customer satisfaction and our business reputation could be adversely affected.

Since some of our products are electricity-producing devices, it is possible that our systems could result in injury, whether by product malfunctions, defects, improper installation, or other causes. We rely on third party installers to
install our products according to our installation guides and with local laws. Any significant installation problems could cause us significant harm, including, the occurrence of significant service costs, diverting the attention of our engineering
personnel from product development efforts and adversely affecting installer and customer satisfaction, market acceptance and our business reputation, and could subject us to litigation and regulatory costs.

In addition, due to the high energy density of lithium-ion cells, mishandling, inappropriate storage or delivery, non-compliance with safety instructions or field failures can potentially cause a battery cell to rapidly release its stored
energy, which may in turn cause a thermal event that can ignite nearby materials, including other lithium-ion cells. As the use of lithium-ion batteries becomes more widespread, these events may occur more often, causing damage to
property, injury, lawsuits and adverse publicity, which may adversely affect our reputation, results of operations or financial condition.
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If we fail to retain our key personnel or if we fail to attract additional qualified personnel, we may not be able to achieve our anticipated level of growth and our business could suffer.

Our future success and ability to implement our business strategy depends, in part, on our ability to attract and retain key personnel, and on the continued contributions of members of our senior management team and key personnel
in areas such as engineering, marketing and sales, any of whom would be difficult to replace. For example, we are highly dependent on our president and chief executive officer, Badrinarayanan Kothandaraman. Mr. Kothandaraman
possesses technical knowledge of our business, operations and strategy, and he has substantial experience and contacts that help us implement our goals, strategy and plan. If we lose his services or if he decides to join a competitor or
otherwise compete directly or indirectly with us, our business, operating results and financial condition could be materially harmed.

All of our employees, including our senior management, are free to terminate their employment relationships with us at any time. Competition for highly skilled executives and employees in the technology industry is intense, and our
competitors have targeted individuals in our organization that have desired skills and experience. If we are not able to continue to attract, train and retain our leadership team and our qualified employees necessary for our business, the
progress of our product development programs could be hindered, and we could be materially adversely affected. To help attract, retain and motivate our executives and qualified employees, we use stock-based incentive awards, including
restricted stock units. If the value of such stock awards does not appreciate as measured by the performance of the price of our common stock, or if our share-based compensation otherwise ceases to be viewed as a valuable benefit, our
ability to attract, retain and motivate our executives and employees could be weakened, which could harm our business and results of operations. Also, if the value of our stock awards increases substantially, this could potentially create
substantial personal wealth for our executives and employees and affect our ability to retain our personnel. In addition, any restructuring plans may adversely impact our ability to attract and retain key employees.

Additionally, our ability to attract qualified personnel, including senior management and key technical personnel, is critical to the execution of our growth strategy. Competition for qualified senior management personnel and highly
skilled individuals with technical expertise is extremely intense, and we face challenges identifying, hiring and retaining qualified personnel in all areas of our business. In addition, integrating new employees into our team could prove
disruptive to our operations, require substantial resources and management attention and ultimately prove unsuccessful. Our failure to attract and retain qualified senior management and other key technical personnel could limit or delay our
strategic efforts, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Restructuring activities could disrupt our business and adversely affect our results of operations.

We have taken steps, including reducing our global workforce, streamlining our operations and internal reorganizations, to increase operational efficiencies and execution, reduce operating costs, and better align our workforce and
cost structure with current market condition. We may take similar steps in the future as we seek to realize operating synergies, meet our strategic priorities and profitability objectives, or to reflect more closely changes in our business needs.
These changes could be disruptive to our business, including our research and development efforts, and could result in significant expense, including accounting charges for inventory and technology-related write-offs, workforce reduction
costs and charges relating to consolidation of excess facilities. Substantial expense or charges resulting from restructuring activities could adversely affect our results of operations and use of cash in those periods in which we undertake
such actions.

Any failure by management to properly manage growth could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial condition.

Our business has experienced periods of rapid growth, and in the future, we may continue to grow our business rapidly. Growth in our business could place significant demands on our management, operations, systems, accounting,
internal controls and financial resources, and it may also negatively impact our ability to retain key personnel. If we experience difficulties in any of these or other areas, we may not be able to expand our business successfully or effectively
manage our growth. Any failure by management to manage our growth and to respond to changes in our business could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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Our business has been and could continue to be affected by seasonal trends and construction cycles .

We have been and could continue to be subject to industry-specific seasonal fluctuations. Historically, the majority of our revenue are from the North American and European regions, which experience higher sales of our products in
the second, third and fourth quarters and have been affected by seasonal customer demand trends, including weather patterns and construction cycles. The first quarter historically has had softer customer demand in our industry, due to
these same factors. In the United States, customers will sometimes make purchasing decisions towards the end of the year in order to take advantage of tax credits or for budgetary reasons. In addition, construction levels are typically
slower in colder and wetter months. In European countries with FiTs, the construction of solar PV systems may be concentrated during the second half of the calendar year, largely due to the annual reduction of the applicable minimum FiT
and the fact that the coldest winter months are January through March. Accordingly, our business and quarterly results of operations could be affected by seasonal fluctuations in the future.

If we are unsuccessful in continuing to expand our direct-to-consumer sales channel by driving purchases through our website, our business and results of operation could be harmed.

Although we primarily sell our solutions and products directly to solar distributors, who resell to installers and integrators, who then in turn integrate our products into complete solar PV installations for residential and commercial
system owners, we have recently invested significant resources in our direct-to-consumer sales channel through our website, and our future growth relies, in part, on our ability to attract consumers through this channel. Expanding our
direct-to-consumer sales model will require significant expenditures in marketing, software development and infrastructure. Further, the success of direct-to-consumer sales through our website is also subject to general business regulations
and laws, as well as federal, state, foreign and provincial regulations and laws specifically governing the internet and e-commerce. These regulations and laws may cover taxation, tariffs, privacy, data protection, pricing, distribution,
electronic contracts and other communications, consumer protection and intellectual property. These laws and regulations can be complex, difficult to interpret and may change over time. Continued regulatory limitations and other obstacles
interfering with our ability to sell our products directly to consumers could have a negative and material impact our business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations.

Further, the expansion of our direct-to-consumer channel could alienate some of our existing distributors and installers and cause a reduction in sales from these third parties. Our existing distributors and installers may perceive
themselves to be at a disadvantage based on the direct-to-consumer sales offered through our website. Due to these and other factors, conflicts in our sales channels could arise and cause our existing distributors and installers to divert
resources away from the promotion and sale of our products. If we are unable to successfully continue to drive traffic to, and increase sales through, our website, our business and results of operations could be harmed.

Risks Related to our Intellectual Property and Technology

We are dependent on information technology systems, infrastructure and data. We or third parties upon which we rely could be subject to breaches of our information technology systems caused by system security risks,
failure of our data protection, cyber-attacks and erroneous or non-malicious actions or failures to act by our employees or others with authorized access to our networks, which could cause significant reputational, legal
and financial damages.

Like many companies, in the ordinary course of business we process, use transfer, generate, disclose, secure, transmit and store a wide variety of confidential and proprietary information including personal information and other
sensitive information relating to our business, products and services. The secure maintenance of this information is critical to our business and reputation. Despite our implementation of security measures, our systems are vulnerable to
damages from computer viruses, computer denial-of-service attacks, ransomware, supply chain attacks, worms and other malicious software programs or other attacks, covert introduction of malware to computers and networks,
unauthorized access, including impersonation of authorized users, social-engineering attacks (including through deep fakes, which may be increasingly more difficult to identify as fake, and phishing attacks), efforts to discover and exploit
any security vulnerabilities or securities weaknesses and other similar issues and disruptions. In particular, severe ransomware attacks are becoming increasingly prevalent – particularly for companies like ours that interact with critical
infrastructure or manufacturing – and can lead to significant interruptions in our operations, and ability to provide our products or services. Although we make significant efforts to maintain the security, availability, integrity and confidentiality
of our information technology and related systems
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and have implemented measures to manage the risk of a security breach or disruption, there can be no assurance that our security efforts and measures will be effective, or that attempted security breaches or disruptions would not be
successful or damaging.

Remote work has become more common and has increased risks to our information technology and related systems, as more of our employees utilize network connections, computers and devices outside our premises or network,
including working at home, while in transit and in public locations.

The techniques used in attempted cyber-attacks and intrusions are sophisticated and constantly evolving and may be difficult to detect for long periods of time. We may be unable to anticipate these techniques or implement adequate
preventative measures. Although to date we have not experienced any material breaches of our systems that could have material adverse effect on our business, attacks and intrusions on our systems will continue and we may experience a
breach of our systems that compromises sensitive company information or customer data including personal information. In addition, hardware, software, or applications we develop or procure from third parties may contain defects in design
or manufacture or other problems that could unexpectedly compromise information security. Intentional or non-malicious breaches by employees or others may pose a risk that sensitive data, including our intellectual property, trade secrets
or personal information of our employees, customers or users, or other business partners may be exposed to unauthorized persons or to the public, or that risks of loss or misuse of this information could occur. Furthermore, if we experience
a significant data security breach, we could be exposed to reputational damage and significant costs, including to rebuild our systems, modify our products and services, defend litigation, respond to government enforcement actions, pay
damages or take other remedial steps, any of which could adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition. In addition, we may be required to incur significant costs to protect against damage caused by these
disruptions or security breaches in the future. These risks, as well as the number and frequency of cybersecurity events globally, may also be heightened during times of geopolitical tension or instability.

Future or past business transactions (such as acquisitions or integrations) could expose us to additional cybersecurity risks and vulnerabilities, as our systems could be negatively affected by vulnerabilities present in acquired or
integrated entities’ systems and technologies.

We may also rely on and share information with contractors and third-party providers to conduct our business and provide our products and services. Although such contractors and third-party providers take steps designed to secure
data and prevent security incidents, our ability to monitor these third-parties’ information security practices and potential security incidents is limited, and these third-parties may not have adequate information security measures in place.
These third-party providers may experience a significant data security breach, which may also detrimentally affect our business, ability to provide our products and services, results of operations and financial condition.

The cost and operational consequences of implementing further data protection measures could be significant and theft of our intellectual property or proprietary business information could require substantial expenditures to remedy.
Further, we cannot be certain that (a) our liability insurance will be sufficient in type or amount to cover us against claims related to security breaches, cyberattacks and other related breaches; (b) such coverage will cover any indemnification
claims against us relating to any incident, will continue to be available to us on economically reasonable terms, or at all; and (c) any insurer will not deny coverage as to any future claim. The successful assertion of one or more large claims
against us that exceed available insurance coverage, or the occurrence of changes in our insurance policies, including premium increases or the imposition or large deductible or co-insurance requirements, could adversely affect our
reputation, business, financial condition and results of operations.

Unauthorized use or disclosure of, or access to, any personal information maintained by us or on our behalf, whether through breach of our systems, breach of the systems of our suppliers or vendors by an unauthorized party, or
through employee or contractor error, theft or misuse, or otherwise, could harm our business. If any such unauthorized use or disclosure of, or access to, such personal information was to occur, our operations could be seriously disrupted,
and we could be subject to demands, claims and litigation by private parties and investigations, related actions and penalties by regulatory authorities. In addition, we could incur significant costs in notifying affected persons and entities and
otherwise complying with the multitude of foreign, federal, state and local laws and regulations relating to the unauthorized access to, or use or disclosure of, personal information. Finally, any perceived or actual unauthorized access to, or
use or disclosure of, such information could harm our reputation, substantially impair our ability to attract and retain customers and have an adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Enphase Energy, Inc. | 2024 Form 10-K | 27



Table of Contents

The software we use in providing system configuration recommendations or potential energy savings estimates to customers relies in part on third-party information that may not be accurate or up-to-date; this may
therefore generate inaccurate recommendations or estimates, resulting in a loss of reputation and customer confidence.

We provide our customers online tools to help them determine proper system sizing and configurations, estimates of bill savings and potential revenues resulting from executing a specific curtailment strategy. These estimates are in
turn based on a number of factors such as customer tariff structures, estimated wholesale electricity prices, future economic conditions and estimates of the reduction in electricity usage as a result of a curtailment activity. If the estimates
we provide prove to be significantly different from actual payments or savings received by our customers, it may result in the loss of reputation and/or customer confidence.

We are subject to stringent and evolving data privacy and security laws, contractual obligations, information security policies and other obligations governing the use, processing and transfer of personal information, and
any unauthorized access to, or disclosure or theft of, personal information we gather, store or use could harm our reputation and subject us to claims or litigation.

We receive, store and use certain personal information of our customers, and the end-users of our customers’ energy systems, including names, addresses, e-mail addresses, energy system details and performance information. We
also store and use personal information of our employees. We take steps to protect the security, integrity and confidentiality of the personal information we collect, store and transmit, but there is no guarantee that inadvertent or unauthorized
use or disclosure will not occur or that third parties will not gain unauthorized access to this information despite our efforts. Because techniques used to obtain unauthorized access or sabotage systems change frequently and generally are
not identified until they are launched against a target, we and our suppliers or vendors may be unable to anticipate these techniques or to implement adequate preventative or mitigation measures.

We are subject to a variety of local, state, national and international laws, directives and regulations that apply to the collection, use, retention, protection, disclosure, transfer and other processing of personal data in the different
jurisdictions in which we operate, including, for example, comprehensive regulatory systems in the United States, Europe and Brazil. It remains unclear what additional requirements will be codified in future laws, how those laws will be
enforced, and how these legal shifts impact our operations and risk. We may be required to modify our data practices and policies, at potentially substantial additional costs and expenses. Complying with these forthcoming and future laws,
regulations, amendments to or re-interpretations of existing laws and regulations, and contractual or other obligations relating to privacy, data protection, data transfers, data localization, or information security may require us to make
changes to our services to enable us or our customers to meet new legal requirements, incur substantial operational costs, modify our data practices and policies, and restrict our business operations. Additionally, certain privacy and other
laws impose obligations to provide notification of security breaches of computer databases that contain personal information to affected individuals, state officers and others. Any actual or perceived failure by us to comply with these laws,
regulations or other obligations may lead to significant fines, penalties, regulatory investigations, lawsuits, significant costs for remediation, damage to our reputation, or other liabilities.

If we fail to protect, or incur significant costs in enforcing, our intellectual property and other proprietary rights, our business and results of operations could be materially harmed.

Our success depends to a significant degree on our ability to protect our intellectual property and other proprietary rights. We rely on a combination of patent, trademark, copyright, trade secret and unfair competition laws, as well as
confidentiality and license agreements and other contractual provisions, to establish and protect our intellectual property and other proprietary rights. We have applied for patent and trademark registrations in the United States and in other
countries, many of which have been issued. We cannot guarantee that any of our pending applications will be approved or that our existing and future intellectual property rights will be sufficiently broad to protect our proprietary technology,
and any failure to obtain such approvals or finding that our intellectual property rights are invalid or unenforceable could force us to, among other things, rebrand or re-design our affected products. This includes an inherent risk that our
registered or unregistered trademarks or trade-names that we own or use may be challenged, infringed, circumvented, declared generic, lapsed or determined to be infringing on or dilutive of other marks, and that we may not be able to
protect our rights, all of which may cause material adverse impact on our marketing abilities. Our patent protection depends on compliance with various required procedures, document submissions, fee payments, and other requirements
imposed by national patent offices, and our patent
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protection could be reduced or eliminated for non-compliance with these requirements, despite our engagement of reputable law firms and other professionals to help us comply with such requirements. Even where we do comply with such
requirements and enjoy the full length of patent protection, patent terms are finite in length – generally 20 years from the earliest U.S. non-provisional priority filing date – which may be inadequate to protect our competitive position on our
products. In countries where we have not applied for patent protection or where effective intellectual property protection is not available to the same extent as in the U.S., we may be at greater risk that our proprietary rights will be
misappropriated, infringed or otherwise violated.

To protect our unregistered intellectual property, including our trade secrets and know-how, we rely in part on trade secret laws and confidentiality and invention assignment agreements with our employees and independent
contractors. We also require other third parties who may have access to our proprietary technologies and information to enter into non-disclosure agreements. Such measures, however, provide only limited protection, and we cannot assure
that our confidentiality and non-disclosure agreements will prevent unauthorized disclosure or use of our confidential information, especially after our employees or third parties end their employment or engagement with us, or provide us
with an adequate remedy in the event of such disclosure. Furthermore, competitors or other third parties may independently discover our trade secrets, copy or reverse engineer our products or portions thereof, or develop similar
technology. If we fail to protect our intellectual property and other proprietary rights, or if such intellectual property and proprietary rights are infringed, misappropriated or otherwise violated, our business, results of operations or financial
condition could be materially harmed.

In the future, we may need to take legal action to prevent third parties from infringing upon or misappropriating our intellectual property or from otherwise gaining access to our technology. Protecting and enforcing our intellectual
property rights and determining their validity and scope could result in significant litigation costs and require significant time and attention from our technical and management personnel, which could significantly harm our business. In
addition, we may not prevail in such proceedings. An adverse outcome of any such proceeding may reduce our competitive advantage or otherwise harm our financial condition and our business.

We may be subject to disruptions or failures in information technology systems and network infrastructures that could have a material adverse effect on our business and financial condition.

We rely on the efficient and uninterrupted operation of complex information technology systems and network infrastructures to operate our business. In addition, our cloud-based monitoring service, which our installers and end-user
customers use to track and monitor the performance of their energy systems, is dependent on cloud-based hosting services, along with the availability of internet or cellular data services at end-user premises. Despite testing by us, real or
perceived errors, failures or bugs in our customer solutions, software or technology or the technology or software we license from third parties, including open source software, may not be found until our customers use our products. Real or
perceived errors, failures or bugs in our products could result in negative publicity, loss of or delay in market acceptance of our products, harm to our brand, weakening of our competitive position or claims by customers for losses sustained
by them. A disruption, infiltration or failure of our information technology systems, third-party cloud hosting platforms or end-user data services as a result of software or hardware malfunctions, system implementations or upgrades, computer
viruses, cyber-attacks, third-party security breaches, employee/human error, theft or misuse, malfeasance, power disruptions, natural disasters or accidents could cause breaches of data security, failure of our service, loss of intellectual
property and critical data and the release and misappropriation of sensitive competitive information and partner, customer and employee personal data. We have been and may in the future be subject to fraud attempts from outside parties
through our electronic systems (such as “phishing” e-mail communications to our finance, technical or other personnel), which could put us at risk for harm from fraud, theft or other loss if our internal controls do not operate as intended. Any
such future events could further harm our competitive position, result in a loss of customer confidence, cause us to incur significant costs to remedy any damages and ultimately materially adversely affect our business and financial condition.
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Third parties may assert that we are infringing upon their intellectual property rights, which could divert management’s attention, cause us to incur significant costs, and prevent us from selling or using the technology to
which such rights relate.

Our competitors and other third parties hold numerous patents related to technology used in our industry, and claims of patent or other intellectual property right infringement or violation have been litigated against our competitors. We
may also be subject to such claims and litigation. Regardless of their merit, responding to such claims can be time consuming, divert management’s attention and resources, and may cause us to incur significant expenses. While we believe
that our products and technology do not infringe upon any intellectual property rights of third parties, we cannot be certain that we would be successful in defending against any such claims. Furthermore, patent applications in the United
States and most other countries are confidential for a period of time before being published, so we cannot be certain that we are not infringing third parties’ patent rights or that we were the first to conceive or protect inventions covered by
our patents or patent applications. An adverse outcome with respect to any intellectual property claim could invalidate our proprietary rights and force us to do one or more of the following:

• obtain from a third-party claiming infringement a license to sell or use the relevant technology, which may not be available on reasonable terms, or at all;

• stop manufacturing, selling, incorporating or using products that embody the asserted intellectual property;

• pay substantial monetary damages;

• indemnify our customers under some of our customer contracts; or

• expend significant resources to redesign the products that use the infringing technology, or to develop or acquire non-infringing technology.

Any of these actions could result in a substantial reduction in our revenue and could result in losses over an extended period of time.

Our failure to obtain the right to use necessary third-party intellectual property rights on reasonable terms, or our failure to maintain, and comply with the terms and conditions applicable to these rights, could harm our
business and prospects.

We have licensed, and in the future we may choose or be required to license, technology or intellectual property from third parties in connection with the development and marketing of our products. We cannot assure you that such
licenses will be available to us on commercially reasonable terms, or at all, and our inability to obtain such licenses could require us to substitute technology of lower quality or of greater cost.

Further, such licenses may be non-exclusive, which could result in our competitors gaining access to the same intellectual property. The licensing or acquisition of third-party intellectual property rights is a competitive area, and other
established companies may pursue strategies to license or acquire third-party intellectual property rights that we may consider attractive or necessary. These established companies may have a competitive advantage over us due to their
size, capital resources or greater development or commercialization capabilities. In addition, companies that perceive us to be a competitor may be unwilling to assign or license rights to us. We could encounter delays and incur significant
costs, in product or service introductions while we attempt to develop alternative products or services, or redesign our products or services, to avoid infringing third-party patents or proprietary rights. Failure to obtain any such licenses or to
develop a workaround could prevent us from commercializing products or services, and the prohibition of sale or the threat of the prohibition of sale of any of our products or services could materially affect our business and our ability to gain
market acceptance for our products or services.

In addition, we incorporate open source software code in our proprietary software. Use of open source software can lead to greater risks than use of third-party commercial software, since open source licensors generally do not
provide warranties or controls with respect to origin, functionality or other features of the software. Further, companies that incorporate open source software into their products have, from time to time, faced claims challenging their use of
open source software and compliance with open source license terms. As a result, we could be subject to lawsuits by parties claiming ownership of what we believe to be open source software or claiming noncompliance with open source
licensing terms. Some open source software licenses require users who distribute open source software as part of their products to publicly disclose all or part of the source code in their software and make any derivative works of the open
source code available for limited fees or at no cost. Although we monitor our use of open source software, open source license terms may be ambiguous, and many of the risks associated with

Enphase Energy, Inc. | 2024 Form 10-K | 30



Table of Contents

the use of open source software cannot be eliminated. If we were found to have inappropriately used open source software, we may be required to release our proprietary source code, re-engineer our software, discontinue the sale of
certain products in the event re-engineering cannot be accomplished on a timely basis, or take other remedial action. Furthermore, if we are unable to obtain or maintain licenses from third parties or fail to comply with open source licenses,
we may be subject to costly third-party claims of intellectual property infringement or ownership of our proprietary source code. There is little legal precedent in this area and any actual or claimed requirement to disclose our proprietary
source code or pay damages for breach of contract could harm our business and could help third parties, including our competitors, develop products and services that are similar to or better than ours. Any of the above could harm our
business and put us at a competitive disadvantage.

Emerging issues related to the development and use of artificial intelligence could give rise to legal or regulatory action, damage our reputation, or otherwise materially harm of our business.

Our development and use of artificial intelligence (“AI”) technology in our products and operations remains in the early phases. While we aim to develop and use AI responsibly and attempt to mitigate ethical and legal issues presented
by its use, we may ultimately be unsuccessful in identifying or resolving issues before they arise. AI technologies are complex and rapidly evolving, and the technologies that we develop or use may ultimately be flawed. Moreover, AI
technology is subject to rapidly evolving domestic and international laws and regulations, which could impose significant costs and obligations on us. This includes actual and pending orders and laws by the U.S. federal government, the
European Union and other jurisdictions in which we operate. Emerging regulations may also pertain to data privacy, data protection, and the ethical use of AI, as well as clarifying intellectual property considerations. Our use of AI could give
rise to legal or regulatory action or increased scrutiny or liability, and may damage our reputation or otherwise materially harm our business.

Risks related to Legal Proceedings and Regulations

Changes in current laws or regulations or the imposition of new laws or regulations, or new interpretations thereof, in the solar energy sector, by federal or state agencies in the United States or foreign jurisdictions could
impair our ability to compete and could materially harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.

There has been, and will continue to be, regulatory uncertainty in the clean energy sector generally and the solar energy sector in particular. Changes in current laws or regulations, or the imposition of new laws and regulations in the
United States and around the world, could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, any changes to the laws and implementing regulations affecting the clean energy sector may
create delays in the introduction of new products, prevent our customers from deploying our products or, in some cases, require us to redesign our products.

For example, several states or territories, including California, Hawaii and Queensland, Australia, have either implemented or are considering implementing rules regulating the installation of solar power systems, and we may not be
able to adequately evolve our products and services to accommodate such new policies and regulations, which may result in new rates and tariffs. If we cannot comply with these or other new regulations or implement a solution to such
noncompliance as they arise, the total market available for our microinverter and battery products in such states, and our business as a result, may be adversely impacted.

Additionally, if the federal or state agencies in the United States takes action to eliminate or reduce laws, regulations and incentives supporting solar energy, such actions may result in a decrease in demand for solar energy in the
United States and other geographical markets, it would harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Changes in the United States trade environment, including the imposition of import tariffs, could adversely affect the amount or timing of our revenue, results of operations or cash flows.

Escalating trade tensions between the U.S. and China have led to increased tariffs and trade restrictions, including tariffs applicable to certain of our products. For example, in September 2018, the U.S. began assessing 10% tariffs on
certain solar products manufactured in China, including our microinverter products and related accessories which are manufactured in China. These tariffs increased to 25% in May 2019, and on January 2020, the United States and China
entered into an initial trade deal which preserves the bulk of the tariffs imposed in 2018 and maintains a threat of additional sanctions should China breach the terms of the deal.

It is unknown whether and to what extent additional new tariffs or other new laws or regulations will be adopted that increase the cost of manufacturing in China and/or importing components from China to the United
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States. Further, it is unknown what effect that any such new tariffs or retaliatory actions would have on us or our industry and customers. Our lithium-ion phosphate (“LFP”) battery cells for our storage products are supplied solely via our two
suppliers in China. Although we are in the process of searching for other suppliers outside of China for future supplies, the expertise and industry for the LFP battery cell is primarily in China and we cannot be certain that we will locate
additional qualified suppliers with the right expertise to develop our battery cells outside of China, if at all.

In response to the tensions in U.S.-China trade relations and increased tariffs, we had focused efforts and resources on attaining manufacturers outside of China, primarily in Mexico and India, but more recently have moved a
significant portion of our manufacturing to the United States. However, some components necessary for our products still are required to be imported from outside the United States. Existing tariffs and the possibility of additional tariffs in the
future have created uncertainty in the solar industry. If the price of solar power systems in the United States increases, as well as the cost of manufacturing our products in the United States, the use of solar power systems could become
less economically feasible and could reduce our gross margins or reduce the demand of solar power systems manufactured and sold, which in turn may decrease demand for our products. Additionally, existing or future tariffs may
negatively affect key partners, suppliers, and manufacturers. Such outcomes could adversely affect the amount or timing of our revenue, results of operations or cash flows, and continuing uncertainty could cause sales volatility, price
fluctuations or supply shortages or cause our customers to advance or delay their purchase of our products. It is difficult to predict what further trade-related actions governments may take, which may include additional or increased tariffs
and trade restrictions, and we may be unable to quickly and effectively react to such actions. As additional new tariffs, legislation and/or regulations are implemented, or if existing trade agreements are renegotiated or if China or other
affected countries take retaliatory trade actions, such changes could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

In addition, while we are not aware of any other current or proposed export or import regulations that would materially restrict our ability to sell our products in countries where we offer our products for sale, any change in export or
import regulations or related legislation, shift in approach to the enforcement or scope of existing regulations, or change in the countries, persons or technologies targeted by these regulations, could result in decreased use of our products
by, or in our decreased ability to export or sell our products to, existing or potential customers with international operations. In such event, our business and results of operations could be adversely affected.

Our significant international operations subject us to additional risks that could adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

We have significant international operations, including in emerging markets such as India, and we are continuing to expand our international operations as part of our growth strategy. As of December 31, 2024, approximately 54% of
our total employees were located in India, where we primarily conduct our research and development activities, procurement, customer support services, and other general and administrative support functions.

In addition, during 2024, we continued to expand our operations into Europe, although revenue from our operations in Europe declined year over year, approximately 23% of our net revenues derived from Europe for the year ended
December 31, 2024, as compared to approximately 31% of our net revenues from the same region for the year ended December 31, 2023. Our current international operations and our ongoing plans to expand our international operations
have placed, and will continue to place, a strain on our employees, management systems and other resources.

Our international operations may fail to succeed due to risks inherent in operating businesses internationally, such as:

• adverse social, political and economic conditions, such as inflation and rising interest rates;

• our lack of familiarity with commercial and social norms and customs in countries which may adversely affect our ability to recruit, retain and manage employees in these countries;

• difficulties and costs associated with staffing and managing foreign operations;

• the potential diversion of management’s attention to oversee and direct operations that are geographically distant from our U.S. headquarters;
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• compliance with multiple, conflicting and changing governmental laws and regulations, including environmental, employment, tax, privacy and data protection laws and other regulatory requirements;

• legal systems in which our ability to enforce and protect our rights may be different or less effective than in the United States and in which the ultimate result of dispute resolution is more difficult to predict;

• tariffs, export controls and other non-tariff barriers such as quotas and local content rules;

• more limited protection for intellectual property rights in some countries;

• adverse tax consequences, including as a result of transfer pricing adjustments involving our foreign operations;

• effects of adverse changes in currency exchange rates;

• higher incidence of corruption or unethical business practices;

• restrictions on the transfer of funds;

• natural disasters (including as a result of climate change), acts of war or terrorism, and public health emergencies, including the COVID-19 pandemic; and

• uncertain economic, legal and political conditions in Europe, Asia and other regions where we do business, including, for example, as a result of the ongoing military conflicts in Ukraine, the Gaza Strip and nearby areas, and any
changes in China-Taiwan and U.S.-China relations.

We also rely on some third-party contract manufacturers outside the United States to manufacture, support and ship our products. Physical, regulatory, technological, market, reputational, and legal risks related to climate change in
these regions and globally are increasing in impact and diversity and the magnitude of any short-term or long-term adverse impact on our business or results of operations remains unknown. The physical impacts of climate change,
including as a result of certain types of natural disasters occurring more frequently or with more intensity or changing weather patterns, could disrupt our supply chain, result in damage to or closures of our facilities, and could otherwise have
an adverse impact on our business, operating results, and financial condition.

The success of our international sales and operations will depend, in large part, on our ability to anticipate and manage these risks effectively. Our failure to manage any of these risks could harm our international operations, reduce
our international sales, and could give rise to liabilities, costs or other business difficulties that could adversely affect our operations and financial results.

From time to time we are involved in a number of legal proceedings and, while we cannot predict the outcomes of such proceedings and other contingencies with certainty, some of these outcomes could adversely affect
our business and financial condition.

We are, or may become, involved in legal proceedings, government and agency investigations, and consumer, employment, tort and other litigation. We cannot predict with certainty the outcomes of these legal proceedings. For
example, in 2024 and early 2025, we and certain of our officers and directors were named as defendants in putative securities class action lawsuits purportedly brought on behalf of holders of our common stock as well as related shareholder
derivative lawsuits purportedly filed on our behalf. These lawsuits, which are discussed further in Part I, Item 3 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, are currently pending. We anticipate that we may be a target for lawsuits in the future, as we
have been in the past. Any litigation to which we are a party may result in an onerous or unfavorable judgment that may not be reversed on appeal, or we may decide to settle lawsuits on similarly unfavorable terms. Any such negative
outcome could result in payments of substantial monetary damages and accordingly our business could be seriously harmed. The results of lawsuits and claims cannot be predicted with certainty. Regardless of the final outcome, defending
these claims, and associated indemnification obligations, are costly and can impose a significant burden on management and employees, and we may receive unfavorable preliminary, interim, or final rulings in the course of litigation, which
could seriously harm our business.

Expectations relating to ESG considerations and related reporting obligations may expose the business to potential liabilities, increased costs, and reputational harm.

Many stakeholders including governments, regulators, investors, employees and business partners are increasingly focused on corporate environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) considerations such as greenhouse gas
emissions, natural resource management, human rights and human capital management practices.
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Any failure, perceived or otherwise, to comply with existing and emerging ESG-related laws and regulations in the United States, Europe and elsewhere, or to meet varied and evolving stakeholder expectations or standards with respect to
ESG issues could result in legal and regulatory proceedings and may harm our business, reputation, financial condition and results of operations.

We could be adversely affected by any violations of the FCPA, the U.K. Bribery Act, and other foreign anti-bribery laws.

The U.S. FCPA generally prohibits companies and their intermediaries from making improper payments to non-U.S. government officials for the purpose of obtaining or retaining business. Other countries in which we operate also
have anti-bribery laws and regulations, including the EU and Brazil, some of which prohibit improper payments to government and non-government persons and entities, and others (e.g., the FCPA, the U.K. Bribery Act) extend their
application to activities outside of their country of origin. Our policies mandate compliance with all applicable anti-bribery laws. We currently operate in, and may further expand into, key parts of the world that have experienced governmental
corruption to some degree and, in certain circumstances, strict compliance with anti-bribery laws may conflict with local customs and practices. In addition, due to the level of regulation in our industry, our entry into new jurisdictions through
internal growth or acquisitions requires substantial government contact where norms can differ from U.S. standards. Additionally, the costs of complying with these laws (including the costs of investigations, auditing and monitoring) could
adversely affect our current or future business. Although, we implement policies and procedures and conduct training designed to facilitate compliance with these anti-bribery laws, thereby mitigating the risk of violations of such laws, our
employees, subcontractors, agents and partners may take actions in violation of our policies and anti-bribery laws. Any such violation, even if prohibited by our policies, could subject us to criminal or civil penalties or other sanctions, which
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, cash flows, and reputation.

Risks Related to our Financial Condition and Liquidity

Our gross profit may fluctuate over time, which could impair our ability to achieve or maintain profitability.

Our gross profit has varied in the past and is likely to continue to vary significantly from period to period. Our gross profit may be adversely affected by numerous factors, some of which are beyond our control, including:

• changes in customer, geographic or product mix;

• increased price competition, including the impact of customer and competitor discounts and rebates;

• the impact of inflation and higher interest rates;

• the reduction, elimination or expiration of government subsidies and economic incentives for on-grid solar electricity applications;

• our ability to reduce and control product costs, including our ability to make product cost reductions in a timely manner to offset declines in our product prices;

• warranty costs and reserves, including warranty claim rates, proactive steps to address certain component defects in specific products, and changes resulting from changes in estimates related to the long-term performance of our
products, product replacement costs and warranty claim rates, as well as changes in the discount rates;

• loss of cost savings due to changes in component or raw material pricing or charges incurred due to inventory holding periods if product demand is not correctly anticipated;

• introduction of new products;

• ordering patterns from our distributors;

• price reductions on older products to sell remaining inventory;

• component shortages and related expedited shipping costs;

• our ability to reduce production costs, such as through technology innovations, in order to offset price declines in our products over time;

• changes in shipment volume;

• changes in distribution channels;
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• excess and obsolete inventory and inventory holding charges;

• expediting costs incurred to meet customer delivery requirements;

• tariffs imposed on components imported to the United States and necessary for the manufacture of our products; and

• fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates.

Fluctuations in gross profit may adversely affect our ability to manage our business or achieve or maintain profitability.

We are under continuous pressure to reduce the prices of our products, which has adversely affected, and may continue to adversely affect, our gross margins.

The solar power industry has been characterized by declining product prices over time. We have reduced the prices of our products in the past, and we expect to continue to experience pricing pressure for our products in the future,
including from our major customers. When seeking to maintain or increase their market share, our competitors may also reduce the prices of their products. In addition, our customers may have the ability or seek to internally develop and
manufacture competing products at a lower cost than we would otherwise charge, which would add additional pressure on us to lower our selling prices. If we are unable to offset any future reductions in our ASPs by increasing our sales
volume, reducing our costs and expenses or introducing new products, our gross margins will be adversely affected.

Given the general downward pressure on prices for our products driven by competitive pressure and technological change, a principal component of our business strategy is reducing the costs to manufacture our products to remain
competitive. If our competitors are able to drive down their manufacturing costs faster than we can or increase the efficiency of their products, or decide to lower prices of their products to try to win market share, our products may become
less competitive even when adjusted for efficiency, and we may be forced to sell our products at a price lower than our cost. Further, if raw materials costs and other third-party component costs were to increase, we may not meet our cost
reduction targets. If we cannot effectively remain price competitive, this could result in lost market share and lower gross margins.

If we do not forecast demand for our products accurately, we may experience product shortages, delays in product shipment or excess product inventory, any of which will adversely affect our business and financial
condition.

We manufacture our products according to our estimates of customer demand. This process requires us to make multiple forecasts and assumptions relating to the demand of our distributors, their end customers and general market
conditions. Because we sell most of our products to distributors, who in turn sell to their end customers, we have limited visibility as to end-customer demand. We depend significantly on our distributors to provide us visibility into their end-
customer demand, and we use these forecasts to make our own forecasts and planning decisions. If the information from our distributors turns out to be incorrect, then our own forecasts may also be inaccurate. Furthermore, we do not have
long-term purchase commitments from our distributors, installers or end customers, and our sales are generally made by purchase orders that may be canceled, changed or deferred without notice to us or penalty. As a result, it is difficult to
forecast future customer demand to plan our operations.

If we overestimate demand for our products, or if purchase orders are canceled or shipments are delayed, we may have excess inventory that we cannot sell. We may have to make significant provisions for inventory write-downs
based on events that are currently not known, and such provisions or any adjustments to such provisions could be material. We may also become involved in disputes with our suppliers who may claim that we failed to fulfill forecast or
minimum purchase requirements. Conversely, if we underestimate demand, we may not have sufficient inventory to meet end-customer demand, and we may lose market share, damage relationships with our distributors and end customers
and forgo potential revenue opportunities. Obtaining additional supply in the face of product shortages may be costly or impossible, particularly in the event of supply chain disruptions and our outsourced manufacturing processes, which
could prevent us from fulfilling orders in a timely and cost-efficient manner or at all. In addition, if we overestimate our production requirements, our contract manufacturers may purchase excess components and build excess inventory. If our
contract manufacturers, at our request, purchase excess components that are unique to our products and are unable to recoup the costs of such excess through resale or return or build excess products, we could be required to pay for these
excess parts or products and recognize related inventory write-downs.
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In addition, we plan our operating expenses, including research and development expenses, hiring needs and inventory investments, in part on our estimates of customer demand and future revenue. If customer demand or revenue
for a particular period is lower than we expect, we may not be able to proportionately reduce our fixed operating expenses for that period, which would harm our operating results for that period.

A drop in the retail price of electricity derived from the utility grid or from alternative energy sources, or a change in utility pricing structures, may harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We believe that a system owner’s decision to purchase a solar PV system is strongly influenced by the cost of electricity generated by solar PV installations relative to the retail price of electricity from the utility grid and the cost of
other renewable energy sources, including electricity from solar PV installations using central inverters. Decreases in the retail prices of electricity from the utility grid would make it more difficult for all solar PV systems to compete. In
particular, growth in unconventional natural gas production and an increase in global liquefied natural gas capacity are expected to keep natural gas prices relatively low for the foreseeable future. Persistent low natural gas prices, lower
prices of electricity produced from other energy sources, such as nuclear power or coal-fired plants, or improvements to the utility infrastructure could reduce the retail price of electricity from the utility grid, making the purchase of solar PV
systems less economically attractive and depressing sales of our products. In addition, energy conservation technologies and public initiatives to reduce demand for electricity also could cause a fall in the retail price of electricity from the
utility grid.

Moreover, technological developments by our competitors in the solar industry, including manufacturers of central inverters and DC-to-DC optimizers, could allow these competitors or their partners to offer electricity at costs lower
than those that can be achieved from solar PV installations based on our product platform, which could result in reduced demand for our products. Additionally, as increasing adoption of distributed generation places pressure on traditional
utility business models or utility infrastructure, utilities may change their pricing structures to increase the cost of installation or operation of solar distributed generation. Such measures can include grid access fees, costly or lengthy
interconnection studies, limitations on distributed generation penetration levels, or other measures. If the cost of electricity generated by solar PV installations incorporating our solutions is high relative to the cost of electricity from other
sources, our business, financial condition and results of operations may be harmed.

Our portfolio of marketable securities is subject to market, interest and credit risk that may reduce its value.

As of December 31, 2024, we had approximately $1,253.5 million in debt security investments. These investments consisted primarily of money market funds, U.S. Treasuries, U.S. government securities, commercial paper and debt
securities of corporations. We currently do not use derivative financial instruments to adjust our investment portfolio risk or income profile. These investments, as well as any cash deposited in bank accounts, are subject to general credit,
liquidity, market and interest rate risks, which may be exacerbated by unusual events, such as the COVID-19 pandemic and the U.S. debt ceiling crisis, which affected various sectors of the financial markets and led to global credit and
liquidity issues. If the global credit market experiences volatility or deteriorates, our investment portfolio may be impacted and some or all of our investments may experience other-than-temporary impairment, which could adversely impact
our operating results and position.

Risks Related to our Acquisition Activity

We have made and expect to continue to make acquisitions. If we fail to successfully select, execute or integrate our acquisitions, then our business and operating results could be harmed and our stock price could
decline.

From time to time, we will undertake acquisitions to add new product lines and technologies, gain new sales channels or enter new sales territories. For example, in 2021, we acquired Sofdesk, the solar design business of DIN, 365
Pronto, and ClipperCreek, Inc., and in 2022, we acquired SolarLeadFactory, LLC and GreenCom Networks AG. Acquisitions involve numerous risks and challenges, including but not limited to the following:

• integrating the companies, assets, systems, products, sales channels and personnel that we acquire;

• higher than anticipated acquisition and integration costs and expenses;

• reliance on third parties to provide transition services for a period of time after closing to ensure an orderly transition of the business;

• growing or maintaining revenues to justify the purchase price and the increased expenses associated with acquisitions;
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• entering into territories or markets with which we have limited or no prior experience;

• establishing or maintaining business relationships with customers, vendors and suppliers who may be new to us;

• overcoming the employee, customer, vendor and supplier turnover that may occur as a result of the acquisition;

• disruption of, and demands on, our ongoing business as a result of integration activities including diversion of management's time and attention from running the day to day operations of our business;

• inability to implement uniform standards, disclosure controls and procedures, internal controls over financial reporting and other procedures and policies in a timely manner;

• inability to realize the anticipated benefits of or successfully integrate with our existing business the businesses, products, technologies or personnel that we acquire; and

• potential post-closing disputes.

As part of undertaking an acquisition, we may also significantly revise our capital structure or operational budget, such as issuing common stock that would dilute the ownership percentage of our stockholders, assuming liabilities or
debt, utilizing a substantial portion of our cash resources to pay for the acquisition or significantly increasing operating expenses. Our acquisitions have resulted and may in the future result in charges being taken in an individual quarter as
well as future periods, which results in variability in our quarterly earnings. In addition, our effective tax rate in any particular quarter may also be impacted by acquisitions. Following the closing of an acquisition, we may also have disputes
with the seller regarding contractual requirements and covenants, purchase price adjustments, contingent payments or for indemnifiable losses. Any such disputes may be time consuming and distract management from other aspects of our
business. In addition, if we increase the pace or size of acquisitions, we will have to expend significant management time and effort into the transactions and integrations, and we may not have the proper human resources bandwidth to
ensure successful integrations and accordingly, our business could be harmed or the benefits of our acquisitions may not be realized.

As part of the terms of an acquisition, we may commit to pay additional contingent consideration if certain revenue or other performance milestones are met. We are required to evaluate the fair value of such commitments at each
reporting date and adjust the amount recorded if there are changes to the fair value.

We cannot ensure that we will be successful in selecting, executing and integrating acquisitions. Failure to manage and successfully integrate acquisitions could materially harm our business and operating results. In addition, if stock
market analysts or our stockholders do not support or believe in the value of the acquisitions that we choose to undertake, our stock price may decline.

We invest in companies for both strategic and financial reasons but may not realize a return on our investments.

We have made, and continue to seek to make, investments in companies around the world to further our strategic objectives and support our key business initiatives. These investments may include equity or debt instruments of public
or private companies and may be non-marketable at the time of our initial investment. We do not restrict the types of companies in which we seek to invest. These companies may range from early-stage companies that are often still
defining their strategic direction to more mature companies with established revenue streams and business models. If any company in which we invest fails, we could lose all or part of our investment in that company. If we determine that an
other-than-temporary decline in the fair value exists for an equity or debt investment in a public or private company in which we have invested, we will have to write down the investment to its fair value and recognize the related write-down
as an investment loss. The performance of any of these investments could result in significant impairment charges and gains (losses) on other equity investments. For example, we recorded an impairment charge of $23.0 million within
“Other income, net” on the consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2024 as we determined that the carrying values of two investments were not recoverable. We must also analyze accounting and legal issues
when making these investments. If we do not structure these investments properly, we may be subject to certain unfavorable accounting impact, such as potential consolidation of financial results.

Furthermore, if the strategic objectives of an investment have been achieved, or if the investment or business diverges from our strategic objectives, we may seek to dispose of the investment. Our non-marketable equity
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investments in private companies are not liquid, and we may not be able to dispose of these investments on favorable terms or at all. The occurrence of any of these events could harm our results. Gains or losses from equity securities could
vary from expectations depending on gains or losses realized on the sale or exchange of securities and impairment charges related to debt instruments as well as equity and other investments.

An impairment in the carrying value of goodwill or other intangible and long-lived assets could negatively affect our operating results.

We record goodwill from the purchase consideration paid in excess of the fair value of the net assets recorded in connection with a business acquisition. We may not realize all the economic benefit from our business acquisitions,
which could result in an impairment of goodwill or intangible assets. As of December 31, 2024, goodwill and intangible assets, net, were approximately $211.6 million and $42.4 million, respectively. We test goodwill and intangible assets,
net, for impairment at least annually during the fourth quarter of each fiscal year or between annual tests if an event occurs or circumstances change that would indicate the carrying amount may be impaired. Goodwill is tested at the
reporting unit level, which we have determined to be the same as the entity as a whole (entity level). We first perform a qualitative assessment to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of our reporting unit is less than
its carrying value. If, after assessing the qualitative factors, we determine that it is more likely than not that the fair value of our reporting unit is less than it’s carrying value, an impairment analysis will be performed. For example, we
recorded an impairment charge of $3.5 million and $3.8 million in the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, as management has evaluated that the carrying amount of certain intangible assets were not recoverable.

Qualitative factors include industry and market consideration, overall financial performance, share price trends and market capitalization and company-specific events. We may be required to record a significant charge in our financial
statements during the period in which any impairment of our goodwill or amortizable intangible assets is determined, which would negatively impact our operating results.

Risks Related to our Debt and Equity Securities

Our financial results may vary significantly from quarter to quarter due to a number of factors, which may lead to volatility in our stock price.

Our quarterly revenue and results of operations have varied in the past and may continue to vary significantly from quarter to quarter. As a result, the trading price of our common stock has been, and is likely to continue to be, volatile
and could be subject to wide fluctuations in response to various factors, some of which are beyond our control. We have been subject to securities class action litigation as a result of our stock price volatility, which could result in substantial
cost and diversion of our management’s attention from other business concerns, which could seriously harm our business. In addition, the trading prices of the securities of solar companies in general have been highly volatile, and the
volatility in market price and trading volume of securities is often unrelated or disproportionate to the financial performance of the companies issuing the securities.

Other factors affecting the market price of our common stock, some of which are beyond our control, include:

• seasonal and other fluctuations in demand for our products;

• the timing, volume and product mix of sales of our products, which may have different ASPs or profit margins;

• changes in our pricing and sales policies or the pricing and sales policies of our competitors;

• changes in laws, regulations and policies applicable to our business and products, particularly those relating to government incentives for solar energy applications;

• our ability to design, manufacture and deliver products to our customers in a timely and cost-effective manner and that meet customer requirements;

• our ability to manage our relationships with our contract manufacturers, customers and suppliers;

• quality control or yield problems in our manufacturing operations;

• the impact of supply chain disruptions on our business, sales and results of operations;

• the anticipation, announcement or introductions of new or enhanced products by our competitors and ourselves;
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• reductions in the retail price of electricity;

• our exposure to the credit risks of our customers, particularly in light of the fact that some of our customers are relatively new entrants to the solar market without long operating or credit histories, and the impact of inflation and
higher interest rates;

•  the failure by any major customer to pay for orders, whether due to liquidity issues, bankruptcy or otherwise;

• the impact of tariffs on the solar industry in general and our products in particular;

• the amount and timing of operating costs and capital expenditures related to the maintenance and expansion of our business operations;

• the impact of government-sponsored programs on our customers;

• our ability to estimate future warranty obligations due to product failure rates, claim rates or replacement costs;

• our ability to forecast our customer demand and manufacturing requirements, and manage our inventory;

• fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates;

• announcement of acquisitions or dispositions of our assets or business operations;

• issuances of our common stock or equity-linked securities such as the Convertible Notes;

• changes in our management;

• technical factors in the public trading market for our common stock that may produce price movements that may or may not comport to macro, industry or company-specific fundamentals, including, without limitation, the sentiment of
retail investors (including as may be expressed on financial trading and other social media sites), the amount and status of short interest in our securities, rising interest rates, inflation, access to margin debt, trading in options and
other derivatives on our common stock and any related hedging or other technical trading factors; and

• general social, geopolitical, environmental or health factors, including pandemics or widespread health epidemics such as the COVID-19 pandemic.

The above factors are difficult to forecast, and these, as well as other factors, could materially and adversely affect our quarterly and annual results of operations. Any failure to adjust spending quickly enough to compensate for a
revenue shortfall could magnify the adverse impact of this revenue shortfall on our results of operations. Moreover, our results of operations may not meet our announced guidance or the expectations of research analysts or investors, in
which case the price of our common stock could decrease significantly. There can be no assurance that we will be able to successfully address these risks.

Conversion of our Convertible Notes may dilute the ownership interest of existing stockholders or may otherwise depress the price of our common stock, adversely affect our financial condition and operating results.

In March 2021, we issued and sold a total of $575.0 million aggregate principal amount of our 0.0% convertible senior notes due 2028 (the “Notes due 2028”) and $632.5 million aggregate principal amount of our 0.0% convertible
senior notes due 2026 (the “Notes due 2026”).

In March 2020, we issued and sold a total of $320.0 million aggregate principal amount of our 0.25% convertible senior notes due 2025 (the “Notes due 2025”).

The conversion of some or all of the Convertible Notes may dilute the ownership interests of existing stockholders. Any sales in the public market of the common stock issuable upon such conversion could adversely affect prevailing
market prices of our common stock. In addition, the existence of the Convertible Notes may encourage short selling by market participants because the conversion of the Convertible Notes could be used to satisfy short positions. In addition,
the anticipated conversion of the Convertible Notes into shares of our common stock could depress the price of our common stock.
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Servicing our debts requires a significant amount of cash, and we may not have sufficient cash flow from our business to pay our debts.

Our ability to make scheduled payments of the principal of, to pay interest on or to refinance our indebtedness, including the Convertible Notes, depends on our future performance, which is subject to economic, financial, competitive
and other factors beyond our control. Our business may not continue to generate cash flow from operations in the future sufficient to service our debts, including the Convertible Notes, and make necessary capital expenditures. If we are
unable to generate cash flow, we may be required to adopt one or more alternatives, such as selling assets, restructuring debt or obtaining additional equity capital on terms that may be onerous or highly dilutive. Our ability to refinance our
indebtedness, including the Convertible Notes, will depend on the capital markets and our financial condition at such time. We may not be able to engage in any of those activities or engage in these activities on desirable terms, which could
result in a default on our debt obligations, including our obligations under the Convertible Notes.

We may not have the ability to raise the funds necessary to settle conversions of the Convertible Notes or repurchase the Convertible Note upon a fundamental change, and our future debt may contain limitations on our
ability to pay cash upon conversion or repurchase of the Convertible Notes.

Holders of our Convertible Notes will have the right to require us to repurchase their Convertible Notes upon the occurrence of a fundamental change at a fundamental change repurchase price equal to 100% of the principal amount of
the Convertible Notes to be repurchased, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any. Fundamental change is defined in the Convertible Notes Indenture entered into in connection with the financing and consists of events such as an
acquisition of a majority of our outstanding common stock, an acquisition of our company or substantially all of our assets, the approval by our stockholders of a plan of liquidation or dissolution, or our common stock no longer being listed on
the Nasdaq Global Select Market or the Nasdaq Global Market. Upon conversion of the Convertible Notes, unless we elect to deliver solely shares of our common stock to settle such conversion (other than paying cash in lieu of delivering
any fractional share), we will be required to make cash payments in respect of the Convertible Notes being converted. However, we may not have enough available cash or be able to obtain financing at the time we are required to make
such repurchase of the Convertible Notes. In addition, our ability to repurchase the Convertible Notes or to pay cash upon conversion of the Convertible Notes may be limited by law, by regulatory authority or by agreements governing our
future indebtedness. Our failure to repurchase notes at a time when the repurchase is required by the relevant indenture or to pay any cash payable on future conversions of the notes as required by the relevant indenture would constitute a
default under the relevant indenture. A default under the indenture or a fundamental change itself could also lead to a default under agreements governing our future indebtedness. If the repayment of the related indebtedness were to be
accelerated after any applicable notice or grace periods, we may not have sufficient funds to repay the indebtedness and repurchase the Convertible Notes or make cash payments upon conversion of the Convertible Notes.

The convertible note hedge and warrant transactions and/or their early termination may affect the value of our common stock.

In connection with the offering of the Notes due 2028, Notes due 2026 and Notes due 2025, we entered into privately negotiated convertible note hedge transactions pursuant to which we have the option to purchase approximately
the same number of shares of our common stock initially issuable upon conversion of the Notes due 2028, Notes due 2026 and Notes due 2025, at a price approximately the same as the initial conversion price of the Notes due 2028, Notes
due 2026 and Notes due 2025. These transactions are expected to reduce the potential dilution with respect to our common stock upon conversion of the Notes due 2028, Notes due 2026 and Notes due 2025. Separately, we also entered
into privately negotiated warrant transactions to acquire the same number of shares of our common stock initially issuable upon conversion of the Notes due 2028, Notes due 2026 and Notes due 2025 (subject to customary anti-dilution
adjustments) at an initial strike price of approximately $370.33, $397.91 and $106.94 per share for Notes due 2028, Notes due 2026 and Notes due 2025, respectively. If the market value per share of our common stock, as measured under
the warrants, exceeds the strike price of the warrants, the warrants will have a dilutive effect on the ownership interests of existing stockholders and on our earnings per share, unless we elect, subject to certain conditions, to settle the
warrants in cash. However, we may not have enough available cash or be able to obtain financing at the time of settlement.

In addition, the existence of the convertible note hedge and warrant transactions may encourage purchasing and selling share of our common stock, or other of our securities and instruments, in open market and/or privately negotiated
transactions in order to modify hedge positions. Any of these activities could adversely affect the value of our common stock and the value of the Notes due 2028, Notes due 2026 and Notes due 2025.
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Changes in current accounting methods, standards, or regulations applicable to the Convertible Notes due 2028 , Notes due 2026 and Notes due 2025 could have a material impact on our reported financial results, future
financial results, future cash flows, and/or our stock price.

Under Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 470-20, “Debt with Conversion and Other Options,” an entity must separately account for the host contract and conversion option associated with convertible debt instruments, such
as the Notes due 2025, that may be settled entirely or partially in cash upon conversion, in a manner that reflects the issuer’s economic interest cost. We are required to amortize the debt discount as non-cash interest expense over the term
of the Notes due 2025, which could adversely affect our reported or future financial results or the trading price of our common stock.

In August 2020, the FASB issued Account Standard Update (“ASU”) 2020-06, “Debt - Debt with Conversion and Other Options (subtopic 470-20),” effective January 1, 2022, the Notes due 2028 and the Notes due 2026 were
accounted for as a single liability measured at its amortized cost. Interest expense associated with the Notes due 2028 and the Notes due 2026 recorded in the consolidated statements of operations is close to the coupon rate interest
expense. Further, for the diluted earnings per share calculation, treasury stock method is no longer permitted for the Notes due 2028, Notes due 2026 and Notes due 2025. The if-converted method is used for the calculation of the diluted
earnings per share calculation, when accounting for the shares issuable upon conversion of the Notes due 2028, Notes due 2026 and Notes due 2025, which will adversely affect our diluted earnings per share. However, if the principal
amount of the Notes due 2028, Notes due 2026 and Notes due 2025 being converted is required to be paid in cash and only the excess is permitted to be settled in shares, the if-converted method will produce a similar result as the
“treasury stock” method which was applied prior to the adoption of ASU 2020-06.

ASU 2016-15, “Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230): Classification of Certain Cash Receipts and Cash Payments,” clarifies how certain cash receipts and payments should be classified in the statement of cash flows, including the
cash settlement for the Notes due 2025. Upon cash settlement, repayment of the principal amount of the Notes due 2025 will be bifurcated between cash outflows for operating activities for the portion related to accreted interest attributable
to debt discounts arising from the difference between the coupon interest rate and the effective interest rate, and financing activities for the remainder. This will require us to classify remainder of the debt discount of $5.6 million for the
Notes due 2025 of accreted interest as cash used in operating activities in our consolidated statement of cash flows upon cash settlement, which could adversely affect our future cash flow from operations.

We may not be able to raise additional capital to execute on our current or future business opportunities on favorable terms, if at all, or without dilution to our stockholders.

We believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents and cash flows from our operating activities will be sufficient to meet our anticipated cash needs for at least the next 12 months. However, we may need to raise additional capital
or debt financing to execute on our current or future business strategies, including to:

• provide additional cash reserves to support our operations;

• invest in our research and development efforts;

• expand our operations into new product markets and new geographies;

• acquire complementary businesses, products, services or technologies; or

• otherwise pursue our strategic plans and respond to competitive pressures, including adjustments to our business to mitigate the effects of any tariffs that might apply to us or our industry.

We do not know what forms of financing, if any, will be available to us. If financing is not available on acceptable terms, if and when needed, our ability to fund our operations, enhance our research and development and sales and
marketing functions, develop and enhance our products, respond to unanticipated events and opportunities, or otherwise respond to competitive pressures would be significantly limited. In any such event, our business, financial condition
and results of operations could be materially harmed, and we may be unable to continue our operations. Moreover, if we raise additional funds through the issuance of equity or convertible debt securities, the percentage ownership of our
stockholders could be significantly diluted, and these newly issued securities may have rights, preferences or privileges senior to those of existing stockholders.
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We currently do not intend to pay dividends on our common stock and, consequently, your only opportunity to achieve a return on your investment is if the price of our common stock appreciates.

We have never declared or paid any dividends on our common stock. We do not anticipate paying cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Consequently, an investor’s only opportunity to achieve a return on its investment in our
company will be if the market price of our common stock appreciates and the investor sells its shares at a profit.

General Risk Factors

Natural disasters, public health events, significant disruptions of information technology systems, data security breaches, or other catastrophic events could adversely affect our operations.

Our worldwide operations could be subject to natural disasters (including as a result of climate change), public health events, significant disruptions of information technology systems, data security breaches and other catastrophic
business disruptions, which could harm our future revenue and financial condition and increase our costs and expenses. For example, our corporate headquarters in Fremont, California is located near major earthquake fault lines and our
Petaluma, California facility is near fault lines and the sites of recent catastrophic wildfires. We rely on third-party manufacturing facilities, including for all product assembly and final testing of our products, which are performed at third-party
manufacturing facilities, in China, Mexico and India. There may be conflict or uncertainty in the countries in which we operate, including public health issues (for example, an outbreak of contagious diseases or health epidemics, such as
COVID-19), safety issues, natural disasters, fire, disruptions of service from utilities, nuclear power plant accidents, regional wars, or general economic or political factors. Such risks could result in an increase in the cost of components,
production delays, general business interruptions, delays from difficulties in obtaining export licenses for certain technology, tariffs and other barriers and restrictions, longer payment cycles, increased taxes, restrictions on the repatriation of
funds and the burdens of complying with a variety of foreign laws, any of which could ultimately have a material adverse effect on our business.

In the event that natural disasters (including as a result of climate change), public health epidemics or technical catastrophes were to damage or destroy any part of our facilities or those of our contract manufacturer, destroy or disrupt
vital infrastructure systems or interrupt our operations or services for any extended period of time, our business, financial condition and results of operations would be materially and adversely affected.

If we fail to maintain an effective system of internal controls or are unable to remediate any deficiencies in our internal controls, we might not be able to report our financial results accurately or prevent fraud; in that case,
our stockholders could lose confidence in our financial reporting, which would harm our business and could negatively impact the price of our stock.

Effective internal controls are necessary for us to provide reliable financial reports and prevent fraud. In addition, Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as amended (the “Sarbanes-Oxley Act”), requires us to establish and
maintain internal control over financial reporting and disclosure controls procedures. The process of implementing our internal controls and complying with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act has required, and will continue to require,
significant attention of management. If we or our independent registered public accounting firm discover a material weakness in our internal controls over financial reporting, the disclosure of that fact, even if quickly remedied, could reduce
the market’s confidence in our financial statements and harm our stock price. To the extent any material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting are identified, we could be required to expend significant management time
and financial resources to correct such material weaknesses or to respond to any resulting regulatory investigations or proceedings.
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Our business is subject to tax liabilities.

We are subject to income tax, indirect tax or other tax claims by tax agencies in jurisdictions in which we conduct business. Significant judgment is required in determining our worldwide provision for income taxes. Tax laws are
dynamic and subject to change as new laws are passed and new interpretations of the law are issued or applied. The IRA included significant changes to the U.S. federal income tax laws, the consequences of which could increase our
future U.S. income tax expense. As additional guidance is issued by the applicable taxing authorities and as new accounting treatment is clarified, we may report additional adjustments in the period if new information becomes available. We
have deferred tax assets related to net operating losses or tax credits that could be subject to limitations under IRS Code Sections 382 or 383, and State separate return limitation year rules. The limitations could reduce our ability to utilize
our net operating losses or tax credits before the expiration of the tax attributes. Tax law changes or the limitations could be material and could materially affect our tax obligations and effective tax rate.

In the ordinary course of our business, there are many transactions and calculations where the ultimate income tax, indirect tax, or other tax determination is uncertain. Although we believe our tax estimates are reasonable, we cannot
be certain that the final determination of our tax audits and litigation will not be materially different from that which is reflected in historical tax provisions and accruals. Should additional taxes be assessed as a result of an audit, assessment
or litigation, there could be a material adverse effect on our cash, tax provisions and net income in the period or periods for which that determination is made.

Our charter documents and Delaware law could prevent a takeover that stockholders consider favorable and could also reduce the market price of our stock.

Our certificate of incorporation and our bylaws contain provisions that could delay or prevent a change in control of our company. These provisions could also make it more difficult for stockholders to elect directors and take other
corporate actions, including effecting changes in our management. These provisions include:

• providing for a classified board of directors with staggered, three-year terms, which could delay the ability of stockholders to change the membership of a majority of our board of directors;

• not providing for cumulative voting in the election of directors, which limits the ability of minority stockholders to elect director candidates;

• authorizing our board of directors to issue, without stockholder approval, preferred stock rights senior to those of common stock, which could be used to significantly dilute the ownership of a hostile acquiror;

• prohibiting stockholder action by written consent, which forces stockholder action to be taken at an annual or special meeting of our stockholders;

• requiring the affirmative vote of holders of at least 66 2/3% of the voting power of all of the then outstanding shares of voting stock, voting as a single class, to amend provisions of our certificate of incorporation relating to the
management of our business, our board of directors, stockholder action by written consent, advance notification of stockholder nominations and proposals, forum selection and the liability of our directors, or to amend our bylaws,
which may inhibit the ability of stockholders or an acquiror to effect such amendments to facilitate changes in management or an unsolicited takeover attempt;

• requiring special meetings of stockholders may only be called by our chairman of the board, if any, our chief executive officer, our president or a majority of our board of directors, which could delay the ability of our stockholders to
force consideration of a proposal or to take action, including the removal of directors; and

• requiring advance notification of stockholder nominations and proposals, which may discourage or deter a potential acquiror from conducting a solicitation of proxies to elect the acquiror’s own slate of directors or otherwise
attempting to obtain control of us.

In addition, the provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporate Law may prohibit large stockholders, in particular those owning 15% or more of our outstanding common stock, from engaging in certain business
combinations, without approval of substantially all of our stockholders, for a certain period of time.

These provisions in our certificate of incorporation, our bylaws and under Delaware law could discourage potential takeover attempts, reduce the price that investors might be willing to pay for shares of our common stock in the future
and result in the market price being lower than it would be without these provisions.
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Item 1B.    Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 1C.    Cybersecurity

Risk management and Strategy

We rely on information technology and data to operate our business and develop, market and deliver our products and services to our customers. Our critical information technology includes certain computer networks, third-party
hosted services, communications systems, software, personal computers and servers (collectively, “Information Technology"), and our critical data includes certain confidential, personal, proprietary and sensitive data (collectively
“Confidential Data”). Accordingly, we maintain risk assessment processes designed to identify cybersecurity threats relating to such Information Technology and Confidential Data, and assess potential material impact to our business that
may result from such threats. Based on our assessment, we implement and maintain risk management processes designed to protect the confidentiality, integrity and availability of our Information Technology and Confidential Data and
mitigate material harm to our business.

We identify such threats by, among other methods, monitoring the threat environment using manual and automated tools, subscribing to reports and services that identify cybersecurity threats, analyzing reports of threats and actors,
conducting scans of the threat environment, evaluating our and our industry’s risk profile, evaluating threats reported to us, conducting threat assessments for internal and external threats, and conducting vulnerability assessments.

In the event a threat results in a cybersecurity incident, we have a process for escalating certain cybersecurity incidents from our security team up through our security leadership and ultimately to management.

Based on our risk assessment process, we implement and maintain various technical, physical and organizational processes designed to manage and mitigate cybersecurity risks that could affect our Information Technology and
Confidential Data, and potential material impacts that may result from such risks. We have implemented measures designed to prevent, detect, respond to, mitigate and recover from identified and significant cybersecurity threats. The
cybersecurity risk management processes we maintain for our Information Technology and Confidential Data, depending on the particular environment and system processes, are designed to address cybersecurity threats; incident
response; vulnerability management; business continuity; incident detection and response; internal and external evaluations to assess our exposure to cybersecurity threats, environment, compliance with risk mitigation procedures, and
effectiveness of relevant controls; documented risk assessments; encryption of data; network security; threat modeling; physical and electronic access; physical security; asset management, tracking and disposal; systems monitoring;
vendor risk management; employee security training; penetration testing; cyber insurance; and the maintenance of a dedicated cybersecurity team.

To operate our business, we utilize certain third-party service providers to perform a variety of functions and provide certain security-related services, such as outsourced business critical functions, professional services, SaaS
platforms, managed services, cloud-based infrastructure, data center facilities, content delivery to customers, encryption and authentication technology, corporate productivity services, and other functions; as well as third parties that assist
us to identify, assess and manage cybersecurity risks, including professional services firms, threat intelligence service providers, cybersecurity software providers, penetration testing firms and other vendors that help to identify, assess or
manage cybersecurity risks. For certain vendors , our vendor management process includes evaluating the cybersecurity practices of such provider and contractually imposing obligations on the provider related to the services they provide
and/or the information they process.

For a description of the risks from cybersecurity threats that may materially affect the company and how those risks may affect the company, please refer to Part I, Item 1A. Risk Factors—Risks Related to our Intellectual Property and
Technology of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information about cybersecurity-related risks.

Governance

Our board of directors oversees our overall risk management strategy. The Audit Committee has general oversight with respect to cybersecurity risk. The Audit Committee has established a cybersecurity subcommittee to discuss
issues and risks related to cybersecurity, and it includes one of our board members with cybersecurity experience, and holds regular meetings. This subcommittee has a dedicated agenda during such meetings that are designed to assist
the Audit Committee with its cybersecurity oversight and allow it to report to the full Board if
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necessary. The meetings involve presentations and reports from our management, security leadership and information security team, including updates on relevant cybersecurity threats faced by the company and steps we are taking to
address them.

Our management team is involved with our efforts to prevent, detect, and mitigate cybersecurity incidents by overseeing the implementation and maintenance of our cybersecurity policies and procedures and activities carried out in
furtherance of those policies and procedures. The Senior Vice President of Security leads our cybersecurity risk management efforts and helps us assess cybersecurity risks, establish priorities, and determine the scope and details of our
cybersecurity program. We have identified certain members of management and relevant employees to oversee our cybersecurity incident response and vulnerability management processes.

Item 2.    Properties

The table below presents details for each of our principal properties:

Facility Location Held Approximate Square Footage Lease end term

Corporate headquarters Fremont, U.S. Leased 40,446 Aug-2032

Customer service support Boise, U.S. Leased 24,688 Jan-2027

Administrative office and R&D facility Petaluma, U.S. Leased 75,334 Aug-2032

Administrative office and R&D facility Austin, U.S. Leased 40,082 Oct-2034

Marketing and sales support, and R&D facility Germany Leased 15,081 May-2034

Global support office Bengaluru, India Leased 173,292 May-2027

R&D facility Christchurch, New Zealand Leased 66,881 Aug-2031

Marketing and sales support Melbourne, Australia Leased 4,478 Jul-2026

Marketing and sales support s-Hertogenbosch, Netherlands Leased 6,997 Jan-2026

Administrative office and R&D facility Puerto Rico Leased 7,874 Jun-2029

Item 3.    Legal Proceedings

From time to time, we might be subject to various legal proceedings relating to claims arising out of our operations. The outcome of litigation is inherently uncertain. If one or more legal matters were resolved against us in a reporting
period for amounts above management’s expectations, our business, results of operations, financial position and cash flows for that reporting period could be materially adversely affected. Except as described in this Item 3, we are not
currently involved in any material legal proceedings, the ultimate disposition of which could have a material adverse effect on our operations, financial condition or cash flows.

Securities Class Action Lawsuits

On May 29, 2024, a putative securities class action complaint was filed against us, our chief executive officer and our chief financial officer (collectively, the "Defendants") in the United States District Court for the Northern District of
California, captioned Bialic v. Enphase Energy, Inc ., Case No. 3:24-cv-03216-BLF (the “Bialic Action”), purportedly on behalf of a class of individuals who purchased or otherwise acquired our common stock between February 7, 2023 and
April 25, 2023.

On July 15, 2024, a second putative class action complaint was filed naming the same Defendants in the United States District Court for the Northern District of California, captioned Hayes v. Enphase Energy, Inc. , Case No. 3:24-cv-
04249 (the “Hayes Action” and with the Bialic Action, the “Securities Class Action”), purportedly on behalf of a class of individuals who purchased or otherwise acquired our common stock between December 12, 2022 and April 25, 2023.
Both the Bialic Action and the Hayes Actions allege that Defendants made false and/or misleading statements in violation of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder. Both plaintiffs seek
unspecified monetary damages and other relief.

On or about July 23, 2024, the plaintiff in the Bialic Action voluntarily dismissed the case.

On or about July 29, 2024, six additional stockholders filed motions to be appointed lead plaintiff and have their selection of counsel appointed as lead counsel. The Court held a hearing on the lead plaintiff motions on
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September 5, 2024, but has not yet issued a decision. Once a lead plaintiff and lead counsel are appointed, the parties will negotiate a schedule for an anticipated amended complaint and motion to dismiss.

On December 13, 2024, a third putative class action complaint was filed naming us, our chief executive officer and our chief products officer (collectively, “Defendants II”) in the United States District Court for the Northern District of
California, captioned Trustees of the Welfare and Pension Funds of Local 464A v. Enphase Energy, Inc., Case No. 3:24-cv-09038 (the “Pension Fund Action”), purportedly on behalf of a class of individuals who purchased or otherwise
acquired our common stock between April 25, 2023 and October 22, 2024. The Pension Fund Action alleges that Defendants II made false and/or misleading statements in violation of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act and Rule
10b-5 promulgated thereunder. The plaintiff seeks unspecified monetary damages and other relief.

We dispute the allegations in each of the above-referenced lawsuits and intend to defend the matters vigorously.

Shareholder Derivative Lawsuits

On July 16, 2024, a shareholder derivative lawsuit was filed purportedly on our behalf against the Defendants, our non-employee directors and us (as nominal defendant) in the United States District Court for the Northern District of
California, captioned Ibarra v. Kothandaraman, et al ., Case No. 3:24-cv-04278 (the “Ibarra Action”). The Ibarra Action asserts claims for breaches of fiduciary duty, unjust enrichment, abuse of control, gross mismanagement, waste of
corporate assets, and violations of Sections 14(a), 10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act, and contribution under Sections 10(b) and 21D of the Exchange Act based on the purported dissemination of substantially the same allegedly false and
misleading statements asserted in the Securities Class Action. The Ibarra Action is seeking unspecified damages and other relief, including reforms and improvements to our corporate governance and internal procedures.

On September 5, 2024, another shareholder derivative lawsuit was filed purportedly on our behalf against the Defendants, our non-employee directors and us (as nominal defendant) in the United States District Court for the Northern
District of California, captioned Isaac v. Kothandaraman, et al., Case No. 4:24-cv-06257-KAW (the “Isaac Action” and with the Ibarra Action, the "Derivative Action"), containing substantially the same allegations as those in the Ibarra Action.
On September 20, 2024, the Court consolidated the Isaac and Ibarra Actions.

On October 11, 2024, the Court granted the parties’ stipulation to stay the Derivative Action until all motions to dismiss the Securities Class Action are decided.

On December 31, 2024, a shareholder derivative lawsuit was filed purportedly on our behalf against Defendants II, our non-employee directors and us (as nominal defendant) in the United States District Court for the Northern District
of California, captioned Hirani v. Kothandaraman, et al., Case No. 4:24-cv-09532 (the “Hirani Action”). The Hirani Action asserts claims for breaches of fiduciary duty, unjust enrichment, abuse of control, gross mismanagement, waste of
corporate assets, and violations of Sections 14(a), 10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act, and contribution under Sections 10(b) and 21D of the Exchange Act based on the purported dissemination of substantially the same allegedly false and
misleading statements asserted in the Pension Fund Action. The Hirani Action is seeking unspecified damages and other relief, including reforms and improvements to our corporate governance and internal procedures.

On January 17, 2025, a shareholder derivative lawsuit was filed purportedly on our behalf against Defendants II, our non-employee directors and us (as nominal defendant) in the United States District Court for the Northern District of
California, captioned Hanowski v. Kothandaraman, et al., Case No. 3:25-cv-000652 (the “Hanowski Action”). The Hanowski Action asserts claims substantially similar to those asserted in the Hirani Action, also based on the same allegedly
false and misleading statements asserted in the Pension Fund Action. The Hanowski Action is seeking unspecified damages and other relief, including reforms and improvements to our corporate governance and internal procedures.

On January 31, 2025, the plaintiffs in the Hirani and Hanowski Actions filed a motion to relate their actions to the Pension Fund Action.

We dispute the allegations in each of the above-referenced lawsuits and intend to defend the matters vigorously.

The pending lawsuits and any other related lawsuits are subject to inherent uncertainties, and the actual defense and disposition costs will depend upon many unknown factors. We could be forced to expend significant
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resources in the defense of the pending lawsuits and any additional lawsuits, and we may not prevail. In addition, we may incur substantial legal fees and costs in connection with such lawsuits.

Zola Electric International, Ltd. v. Enphase Energy, Inc.

On July 17, 2024, Zola Electric International, Ltd. (“Zola”) filed a complaint in the United States District Court for the Northern District of California against us, alleging breach of contract and breach of the covenant of good faith and fair
dealing related to a joint development agreement and master supply agreement between Zola and us. On September 19, 2024, we filed a motion to dismiss the complaint, and all briefing papers were filed with the Court on or before
November 8, 2024. We entered into a settlement and mutual release agreement with Zola on November 25, 2024 and Zola filed a stipulation of dismissal with prejudice on December 3, 2024, which was entered by the Court on December
4, 2024.

Item 4.    Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.

PART II

Item 5.    Market for the Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Common Stock

Our common stock, $0.00001 par value per share, has traded on The Nasdaq Global Market under the stock symbol “ENPH” since March 30, 2012.

Holders

As of February 3, 2025, there were approximately 16 holders of record of our common stock, one of which was Cede & Co., a nominee for Depository Trust Company (“DTC”). All of the shares of our common stock held by brokerage
firms, banks and other financial institutions as nominees for beneficial owners are deposited into participant accounts at DTC and are therefore considered to be held of record by Cede & Co. as one stockholder.

Dividend Policy

We have never paid any cash dividends on our common stock. We currently anticipate that we will retain any available funds to invest in the growth and operation of our business and we do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in
the foreseeable future.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

None, except as previously disclosed.

Issuer Repurchases of Securities

In July 2023, our board of directors authorized the 2023 Repurchase Program (the “2023 Repurchase Program”) pursuant to which we may repurchase up to an aggregate of $1.0 billion of our common stock. As of December 31,
2024, we have approximately $398.6 million remaining for repurchase of shares under the 2023 Repurchase Program. Purchases may be completed from time to time in the open market or privately negotiated transactions, including
through Rule 10b5-1 plans. The program may be discontinued or amended at any time and expires on July 26, 2026.
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The following table provides information about our repurchases of our common stock during the three months ended December 31, 2024 (in thousands, except per share amounts):

Period Ended Total Number of Shares Purchased Average Price Paid per Share Total Number of Shares Purchased as Part of
Publicly Announced Program

Approximate Dollar Value of Shares that
May Yet Be Purchased Under the Program

October 2024 485,168 $ 82.39 485,168 $ 558,333 

November 2024 2,398,270 $ 66.59 2,398,270 $ 398,638 

December 2024 — $ — — $ 398,638 

Total 2,883,438 2,883,438 

(1)     Average price paid per share includes brokerage commissions

(2)     During the three months ended December 31, 2024, we repurchased 2,883,438 shares of our common stock at a weighted average price of $69.25 per share for an aggregate amount of $199.7 million

Stock Performance Graph

This section is not “soliciting material” and is not deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act or otherwise subject to the liabilities of that section, nor shall it be deemed incorporated by reference in any filing under
the Securities Act or the Exchange Act, as amended, regardless of any general incorporation language in such filing.

The graph depicted below shows a comparison of cumulative total stockholder returns for our common stock, the S&P 500 Index and the Invesco Solar ETF for the period from December 31, 2019 to December 31, 2024. An
investment of $100 is assumed to have been made in our common stock and in each index on December 31, 2019, all dividends were reinvested, and the relative performance of the investments are tracked through December 31, 2024.
The information shown is historical and stockholder returns over the indicated period should not be considered indicative of future stockholder returns or future performance.

December 31, 2019 December 31, 2020 December 31, 2021 December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024

Enphase Energy, Inc. $ 100 $ 672 $ 700 $ 1,014 $ 506 $ 263 

S&P 500 Index $ 100 $ 116 $ 148 $ 119 $ 148 $ 182 

Invesco Solar ETF $ 100 $ 334 $ 250 $ 237 $ 173 $ 108 

(1)

(2)
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Item 6.    [Reserved]

Item 7.    Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following section generally discusses 2024 results compared to 2023 results. Discussion of 2023 results compared to 2022 results to the extent not included in this report can be found in Part II, Item 7 of our Annual Report on Form 10-
K for the year ended December 31, 2023.

Business Overview and 2024 Highlights

We are a global energy technology company. We deliver smart, easy-to-use solutions that manage solar generation, storage and communication on one platform. Our intelligent microinverters work with virtually every solar panel
made, and when paired with our smart technology, result in one of the industry’s best-performing clean energy systems. As of December 31, 2024, we have shipped approximately 80.0 million microinverters, and approximately
4.7 million Enphase residential and commercial systems have been deployed in more than 160 countries.

We sell primarily to solar distributors who combine our products with others, including solar module products and racking systems, and resell to installers in each target region. In addition to our solar distributors, we sell directly to
select large installers, OEMs and strategic partners. Our OEM customers include solar module manufacturers who integrate our microinverters with their solar module products and resell to both distributors and installers. Strategic partners
include providers of solar financing solutions. We also sell certain products and services to homeowners primarily in support of our warranty services and legacy product upgrade programs, via our online store.

During the fiscal year 2024, our priorities included providing great customer service, scaling business processes, increasing efficiencies, reducing operating costs and the ongoing development of hardware and software to enhance
our Enphase Energy System offering. Quality, customer service and innovation are cornerstones of our strategy, and we believe our focus on these priorities will continue to help drive our success going forward.

To reduce supply chain risk and take advantage of new incentives for domestic manufacturing, we expanded our operations with contract manufacturers in the United States with a capacity to produce five million microinverters per
quarter. Beginning in the second half of 2024, we began shipping residential and commercial microinverters, and batteries, with higher domestic content from our U.S. contract manufacturers, which are expected to help certain solar and
battery projects qualify for the domestic content bonus tax credit. The domestic content bonus tax credit is only available to commercial asset owners, which includes commercial businesses adding solar and PPA/lease providers who own
residential solar projects.

We also expanded deployments of our IQ8 series Microinverters into many new regions globally, including shipments of IQ8 Microinverters with higher peak output AC power to support newer, high-powered solar modules. We began
shipping our third-generation Enphase Energy System with IQ Battery 5P in several new markets globally. We also launched IQ Battery 5P in India with the IQ System Controller, enabling backup power in a region with frequent outages.

Global Events Affecting our Business and Operations

As we have a growing global footprint, we are subject to risk and exposure from the evolving macroeconomic environment, including the effects of increased global inflationary pressures, tariffs and interest rates, fluctuations in foreign
currency exchange rates, potential economic slowdowns or recessions, geopolitical pressures and potential regulatory changes, including the unknown impacts of current and future trade regulations. We continuously monitor the direct and
indirect impacts of these circumstances on our business and financial results.

Demand for Products. The demand environment for our products experienced a broad-based slowdown beginning in the second quarter of 2023 in the United States and in the third quarter of 2023 in Europe that continued into 2024.
This demand environment has negatively impacted several distributors and installers, resulting in reduced liquidity, bankruptcy and business closures, which has affected our revenue and profitability, days sales outstanding and allowances
for credit losses. The slower demand environment also resulted in elevated inventory with distributors and installers in late 2023 and the first half of 2024, and as a result we sold fewer microinverters to distributors and installers during the
year ended December 31, 2024 compared to the same period in 2023.
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In the United States, this slowdown was primarily the result of higher interest rates, high channel inventory and the transition from NEM 2.0 to NEM 3.0 in California. Higher interest rates resulted in larger monthly costs and longer
pay-back periods for those customers who financed their systems. In Europe, this slowdown was primarily driven by a softer customer demand as utility rates dropped and policy changes were implemented. This resulted in oversupply,
financial stresses throughout the industry and the resulting channel inventory correction. In addition, there has been increased uncertainty in NEM policies and solar export penalties in a key European market. The phase out of NEM in that
market was ultimately not approved but solar export penalties are still causing uncertainty among consumers. While we believe we have made the appropriate corrections to our channel inventory, some of the foregoing trends in the United
States and Europe could continue to have an adverse effect on our results of operations in 2025.

Components of Consolidated Statements of Operations

Net Revenues

We generate revenue from sale of our various solutions, which include microinverter units and related accessories, IQ Battery and related accessories, IQ PowerPack 1500 and related accessories, IQ Gateway and IQ Energy Router,
cloud-based monitoring services, EV charging solutions, design, proposal, permitting, installation and lead generation services, as well as a platform matching cleantech asset owners to a local and on-demand workforce of service providers,
distributors, large installers, OEMs and strategic partners.

Our revenue is affected by changes in the volume and average selling prices (“ASPs”) of our various solutions and related accessories, supply and demand, sales incentives, government incentives and competitive product offerings.
Our revenue growth is dependent on our ability to compete effectively in the marketplace by remaining cost competitive, macroeconomic conditions, favorable regulatory environment, developing and introducing new products that meet the
changing technology, and performance requirements of our customers, the diversification and expansion of our revenue base, and our ability to market our products in a manner that increases awareness for microinverter technology and
differentiates us in the marketplace.

Cost of Revenues and Gross Profit

Cost of revenues is comprised primarily of product costs, warranty, manufacturing and installation services support personnel, logistics costs, freight costs, inventory write-downs, hosting services costs related to our cloud-based
monitoring services, depreciation of manufacturing test equipment, amortization of capitalized software development costs related to our cloud-based monitoring services, lead acquisition costs and design and proposal services, employee-
related expenses associated with proposal and permitting services and design and proposal service customer support. AMPTC earned under the IRA for U.S. manufactured microinverters shipped to customers in the years ended
December 31, 2024 and 2023 are treated as a reduction to cost of revenues.

Our product costs are impacted by technological innovations, such as advances in semiconductor integration and new product introductions, economies of scale resulting in lower component costs, and improvements in production
processes and automation. Certain costs, primarily personnel and depreciation and amortization of test equipment and capitalized software development costs, are not directly affected by sales volume.

We outsource our manufacturing to third-party contract manufacturers and generally negotiate product pricing with them on a quarterly basis. We believe our contract manufacturing partners have sufficient production capacity to meet
the anticipated demand for our products for the foreseeable future. However, shortages in the supply of certain key raw materials could adversely affect our ability to meet customer demand for our products. We contract with third parties,
including one of our contract manufacturers, to serve as our logistics providers by warehousing and delivering our products in the United States, Canada, Mexico, Europe, Australia, New Zealand, India, Brazil, the Philippines, Thailand,
South Africa, and certain other Central American and Asian countries.

Gross profit may vary from quarter to quarter and is primarily affected by our ASPs, product cost, product mix, customer mix, AMPTC, shipping costs, warranty costs and sales volume fluctuations.

Operating Expenses

Operating expenses consist of research and development, sales and marketing, general and administrative and restructuring and asset impairment charges. Personnel-related costs are the most significant component of each of these
expense categories, other than restructuring and asset impairment charges, and include salaries, benefits, payroll taxes, sales commissions, incentive compensation, post-combination expense and stock-based compensation.
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Research and development expense includes personnel-related expenses, third-party design and development costs, testing and evaluation costs, depreciation expense and other indirect costs. Research and development
employees are primarily engaged in the design and development of power electronics, semiconductors, powerline communications, networking and software functionality, and storage. We devote substantial resources to research and
development programs that focus on enhancements to, and cost efficiencies in, our existing products and timely development of new products that utilize technological innovation to drive down product costs, improve functionality, and
enhance reliability. We intend to continue to invest appropriate resources in our research and development efforts because we believe they are critical to maintaining our competitive position.

Sales and marketing expense includes personnel-related expenses, travel, trade shows, marketing, customer support and other indirect costs. We expect to continue to make the necessary investments to enable us to execute our
strategy to increase our market penetration geographically and enter into new markets by expanding our customer base of distributors, large installers, OEMs and strategic partners. We currently offer solutions targeting the residential and
commercial markets in the United States, Canada, Mexico, Europe, Australia, New Zealand, India, Brazil, the Philippines, Thailand, South Africa, Central America, the Caribbean and certain Asian countries. We expect to continue to expand
the geographic reach of our product offerings and explore new sales channels in addressable markets in the future.

General and administrative expense includes personnel-related expenses for our executive, finance, human resources, information technology and legal organizations, facilities costs, and fees for professional services. Fees for
professional services consist primarily of outside legal, accounting and information technology consulting costs.

Restructuring and asset impairment charges are the net charges resulting from restructuring initiatives implemented in 2022, 2023 and 2024 to increase operational efficiencies and execution, reduce operating costs, and better align
our workforce and cost structure with current market conditions, as well as reflect our business needs, strategic priorities and ongoing commitment to profitable growth. Charges from the restructuring initiatives primarily consisted of
employee severance and one-time benefits, workforce reorganization charges, contract termination charges, and asset impairment charges. Refer to Note 12. “Restructuring and Asset Impairment Charges,” of the notes to consolidated
financial statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information.

Other Income, Net

Other income, net primarily consists of interest income on our cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and marketable securities, amortization of discount or premium on purchase of cash equivalents and marketable securities, gains or
losses upon conversion of foreign currency transactions into U.S. dollars, interest expense, changes in fair value of contingent consideration, non-cash interest expense related to the accretion of debt discount and amortization of deferred
financing costs, non-cash charges recognized for loss on partial settlement of convertible notes, and the change in fair value of our debt securities.

Income Tax Provision

We are subject to income taxes in the countries where we sell our products. Historically, we have primarily been subject to taxation in the United States because we have sold the majority of our products to customers in the United
States. As we have expanded our global footprint for the sale of products to customers outside the United States, we have become subject to taxation based on the foreign statutory rates in the countries where these sales took place. As
sales in foreign jurisdictions increase in the future, our effective tax rate may fluctuate accordingly. We regularly assess the ability to realize deferred tax assets based on the weight of all available evidence, including such factors as the
history of recent earnings and expected future taxable income on a jurisdiction by jurisdiction basis.
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Summary Consolidated Statements of Operations

The following table sets forth a summary of our consolidated statements of operations for the periods presented:

Years Ended December 31,

(In thousands)

2024 2023 2022

Net revenues $ 1,330,383 $ 2,290,786 $ 2,330,853 

Cost of revenues 701,245 1,232,398 1,356,258 

Gross profit 629,138 1,058,388 974,595 

Operating expenses:

Research and development 201,315 227,336 168,846 

Sales and marketing 206,552 231,792 215,102 

General and administrative 130,825 137,835 140,002 

Restructuring and asset impairment charges 13,154 15,684 2,384 

Total operating expenses 551,846 612,647 526,334 

Income from operations 77,292 445,741 448,261 

Other income, net

Interest income 77,306 69,728 13,656 

Interest expense (8,905) (8,839) (9,438)

Other income (expense), net (25,534) 6,509 (431)

Total other income, net 42,867 67,398 3,787 

Income before income taxes 120,159 513,139 452,048 

Income tax provision (17,501) (74,203) (54,686)

Net income $ 102,658 $ 438,936 $ 397,362 
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Results of Operations

Net Revenues 

Years Ended December 31, Change in

2024 2023 $ %

(In thousands, except percentages)

Net revenues $ 1,330,383 $ 2,290,786 $ (960,403) (42)%

Net revenues decreased by $960.4 million, or 42%, in the year ended December 31, 2024, as compared to the same period in 2023, driven primarily by a 58% decrease in microinverter units shipped, partially offset by an increase in
ASP for our microinverters as we sold more IQ8 microinverters relative to IQ7 microinverters. During the year ended December 31, 2024, we sold approximately 6.5 million microinverter units, as compared to approximately 15.5 million
microinverter units in the year ended December 31, 2023. The decrease in net revenues was also partially offset by a 48% increase in IQ Batteries MWh shipped. During the year ended December 31, 2024, we shipped 521.0 MWh of IQ
Batteries, as compared to 351.6 MWh shipped in the year ended December 31, 2023.

The overall decrease in net revenues during the year ended December 31, 2024, as compared to the same period in 2023, was due to a broad-based slowdown that began in 2023 in both the United States and Europe. This resulted
in elevated inventory with distributors and installers, and as a result we sold fewer microinverters to distributors and installers during the year ended December 31, 2024 to normalize channel inventory, as compared to the same period in
2023. In the United States, this slowdown was primarily the result of higher interest rates, high channel inventory and the transition from NEM 2.0 to NEM 3.0 in California. Higher interest rates resulted in larger monthly costs and longer pay-
back periods for those customers who financed their systems. In Europe, this slowdown was primarily driven by a softer customer demand as utility rates dropped and policy changes were implemented. This resulted in oversupply, financial
stresses throughout the industry and the resulting channel inventory correction.

Cost of Revenues and Gross Margin

Years Ended December 31, Change in

2024 2023 $ %

(In thousands, except percentages)

Cost of revenues $ 701,245 $ 1,232,398 $ (531,153) (43)%

Gross profit 629,138 1,058,388 (429,250) (41)%

Gross margin 47.3 % 46.2 %

Cost of revenues decreased by $531.2 million, or 43%, in the year ended December 31, 2024, as compared to the same period in 2023, primarily due to the lower volume of microinverter units sold, as well as from the benefit
recognized from tax credits of $157.5 million under the AMPTC for U.S. manufactured microinverters shipped to customers in the year ended December 31, 2024, as compared to cost of revenues of $53.5 million in the same period in 2023.
The benefit recognized from the AMPTC was partially offset by $38.3 million and $11.6 million of incremental cost for manufacturing in the United States in the year ended December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively, thereby
providing a Net IRA benefit of $119.2 million and $41.9 million, respectively.

Gross margin increased by 1.1 percentage points in the year ended December 31, 2024, as compared to the same period in 2023. The increase was primarily due to recognition of a 9.0 percentage point of Net IRA benefit in the year
ended December 31, 2024, as compared to a 1.8 percentage point Net IRA benefit in the same period in 2023, and an increase in ASP for microinverters, partially offset by product mix and relatively higher fixed overhead costs.
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Research and Development

Years Ended December 31, Change in

2024 2023 $ %

(In thousands, except percentages)

Research and development $ 201,315 $ 227,336 $ (26,021) (11)%

Percentage of net revenues 15 % 10 %

Research and development expense decreased by $26.0 million, or 11%, in the year ended December 31, 2024, as compared to the same period in 2023. The decrease was primarily due to actions implemented in connection with
the restructuring initiatives implemented in 2023 and 2024 that lowered personnel-related expenses by $16.2 million due to a reduction in headcount and lowered equipment and professional services costs by $9.8 million. The amount of
research and development expenses may fluctuate from period to period due to the differing levels and stages of development activity for our products.

Sales and Marketing

Years Ended December 31, Change in

2024 2023 $ %

(In thousands, except percentages)

Sales and marketing $ 206,552 $ 231,792 $ (25,240) (11)%

Percentage of net revenues 16 % 10 %

Sales and marketing expense decreased by $25.2 million, or 11%, in the year ended December 31, 2024, as compared to the same period in 2023. The decrease was primarily due to actions implemented in connection with the
restructuring initiatives implemented in 2023 and 2024 that lowered professional services and advertising costs by $14.6 million and personnel-related expenses by $10.6 million due to a reduction in headcount.

General and Administrative

Years Ended December 31, Change in

2024 2023 $ %

(In thousands, except percentages)

General and administrative $ 130,825 $ 137,835 $ (7,010) (5)%

Percentage of net revenues 10 % 6 %

General and administrative expense decreased by $7.0 million, or 5%, in the year ended December 31, 2024, as compared to the same period in 2023. The decrease was primarily due to actions implemented in connection with the
restructuring initiatives implemented in 2023 and 2024 that lowered professional services and facilities expense by $4.8 million and lowered personnel-related costs by $2.2 million due to a reduction in headcount.
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Restructuring and Asset Impairment Charges

Years Ended December 31, Change in

2024 2023 $ %

(In thousands, except percentages)

Restructuring and asset impairment charges $ 13,154 $ 15,684 $ (2,530) (16) %

Percentage of net revenues 1.0 % 0.7 %

Restructuring and asset impairment charges are the net charges resulting from restructuring initiatives implemented in 2023 and 2024 to increase operational efficiencies, reduce operating costs, and to better align our workforce and
cost structure with current market conditions, our business needs, and strategic priorities. Restructuring charges of $13.2 million in the year ended December 31, 2024, primarily consisted of $6.4 million of employee severance, one-time
benefits and other employee related expenses, $2.0 million of contract termination charges and $4.8 million of asset impairment charges. Restructuring charges of $15.7 million in the year ended December 31, 2023, primarily consisted of
$9.8 million of asset impairment charges, $3.7 million of contract termination charges, $1.4 million of employee severance and one-time benefits, and $0.8 million of other restructuring charges.

Other Income, Net

Years Ended December 31, Change in

2024 2023 $ %

(In thousands, except percentages)

Interest income $ 77,306 $ 69,728 $ 7,578 11 %

Interest expense (8,905) (8,839) (66) 1 %

Other income (expense), net (25,534) 6,509 (32,043) (492)%

Total other income, net $ 42,867 $ 67,398 $ (24,531) (36)%

Interest income of $77.3 million increased in the year ended December 31, 2024, as compared to $69.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, primarily due to higher interest rates.

Interest expense of $8.9 million in the year ended December 31, 2024, primarily included $8.9 million for the coupon interest, debt discount amortization with the Notes due 2025, and amortization of debt issuance costs with the
Notes due 2025, Notes due 2026 and Notes due 2028. Interest expense of $8.8 million in the year ended December 31, 2023, primarily related to $8.4 million for the coupon interest, debt discount amortization with the Notes due 2025 and
amortization of debt issuance costs with the $65.0 million aggregate principal amount of our 4.0% convertible senior notes due 2023 (the “Notes due 2023”), Notes due 2025, Notes due 2026 and Notes due 2028, and $0.4 million interest
incurred with the Notes due 2025 and Notes due 2023.

Other expense, net, of $25.5 million in the year ended December 31, 2024, primarily related to $23.0 million impairment of investments in private companies, $5.0 million net loss due to foreign currency denominated monetary assets
and liabilities partially offset by a $2.0 million non-cash net gain related to change in the fair value of debt securities, $0.3 million of miscellaneous other income and $0.2 million realized gain from sale of marketable securities. Other income,
net, of $6.5 million in the year ended December 31, 2023, primarily related to a $8.7 million non-cash net gain related to change in the fair value of debt securities, partially offset by a $2.1 million net loss due to foreign currency denominated
monetary assets and liabilities and $0.1 million in realized loss on investments.
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Income Tax Provision

Years Ended December 31, Change in

2024 2023 $ %

(In thousands, except percentages)

Income tax provision $ (17,501) $ (74,203) $ 56,702 (76)%

The income tax provision was $17.5 million in the year ended December 31, 2024, as compared to an income tax provision of $74.2 million in the same period in 2023. The decrease was primarily due to lower projected tax expense
as our operations in U.S. and foreign jurisdictions were less profitable in 2024 as compared to the same period in 2023, partially offset by an increase in tax expense from equity compensation shortfalls in 2024 as compared to the same
period in 2023.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Sources of Liquidity

As of December 31, 2024, we had $1.7 billion in net working capital, including cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and marketable securities, of which approximately $1.6 billion were held in the United States. Our cash, cash
equivalents, restricted cash and marketable securities primarily consist of U.S. Government agency securities and treasuries, money market mutual funds, corporate notes, commercial paper and bonds, and both interest-bearing and non-
interest-bearing deposits, with the remainder held in various foreign subsidiaries. We consider amounts held outside the United States to be accessible and have provided for the estimated withholding tax liability on the repatriation of our
foreign earnings.

Years Ended December 31, Change in

2024 2023 $ %

(In thousands, except percentages)

Cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and marketable securities $ 1,717,596 $ 1,695,034 $ 22,562 1 %

Total Debt $ 1,302,380 $ 1,293,738 $ 8,642 0.7 %

Our cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and marketable securities increased by $22.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, as compared to the same period in 2023, primarily due to cash generated from operations of
$513.7 million, partially offset by $391.4 million in repurchases of common stock pursuant to the 2023 Repurchase Program and $78.8 million in payments of withholding taxes related to net share settlement of employee equity awards.

Total carrying amount of debt increased by $8.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, as compared to the same period in 2023, primarily due to accretion of debt discount and issuance costs.

We expect that our principal short-term (over the next 12 months) cash needs related to our operations will be to fund working capital, strategic investments, acquisitions, repurchases of common stock and payments of withholding
taxes for net share settlement of employee equity awards, payments on our outstanding debt and purchases of property and equipment. We plan to fund any cash requirements for the next 12 months from our existing cash, cash
equivalents and marketable securities on hand, and cash generated from operations. For the long-term period (beyond 12 months), we aim to continue growing cash flows from operations to support our ongoing business operations and
strategic investment plans. We regularly evaluate our liquidity position, debt obligations and expected cash requirements. As part of this ongoing assessment, we may pursue additional financing through the issuance of equity or the debt
financing, as necessary, to meet our operational and investment needs. We anticipate that access to the debt market will be more limited compared to prior years as interest rates have increased and are expected to remain high. Our ability
to obtain debt or any other additional financing that we may choose to, or need to, obtain will depend on, among other things, our development efforts, business plans, operating performance and the condition of the capital markets at the
time we seek financing.
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Repurchase of Common Stock . In July 2023, our board of directors authorized the 2023 Repurchase Program pursuant to which we were authorized to repurchase up to $1.0 billion of our common stock. The repurchases could be
funded from available working capital and could be executed from time to time, subject to general business and market conditions and other investment opportunities, through open market purchases or privately negotiated transactions,
including through Rule 10b5-1 plans. The program may be discontinued or amended at any time and expires on July 26, 2026. During the year ended December 31, 2024, we repurchased 4,543,016 shares, for an aggregate amount of
$391.4 million. Refer to Note 15. “Stockholders’ Equity,” in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for more information on our repurchase of common stock.

Convertible Notes. As of December 31, 2024, our aggregate principal convertible notes obligations were $1,309.7 million, which primarily consisted of the Notes due 2028 of $575.0 million, Notes due 2026 of $632.5 million and Notes
due 2025 of $102.2 million. Upon conversion of the Notes due 2026 and Notes due 2028, we expect to pay cash equal to the aggregate principal amount of the Notes of such series to be converted, and, at our election, will pay or deliver
cash and/or shares of our common stock for the amount of our conversion obligation in excess of the aggregate principal amount of the Notes of such series. Holders of Notes due 2025 may now convert their notes at any time until the close
of business on the second scheduled trading day immediately preceding the maturity date of March 1, 2025. These conversions will be settled in a combination settlement method with the principal value settled in cash and the remaining
value in shares of our common stock. Refer to Note 13. “Debt,” in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for more information on our outstanding convertible notes.

Operating Leases. We have entered into various non-cancelable operating leases primarily for our facilities with original lease periods expiring through the year 2033, with the most significant leases relating to our offices in Petaluma,
California and Bengaluru, India. As of December 31, 2024, we had total operating lease obligations of $28.9 million recorded on our consolidated balance sheet.

Other Material Cash Requirements. As of December 31, 2024, we had open purchase obligations of $130.9 million related to component inventory that our primary contract manufacturers procure on our behalf in accordance with our
production forecast as well as other inventory related purchase commitments. The timing of purchases in future periods could differ materially from estimates presented above due to fluctuations in demand requirements related to varying
sales levels as well as changes in economic conditions.

Cash Flows. The following table summarizes our cash flows for the periods presented:

Years Ended December 31,

2024 2023

(In thousands)

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 513,693 $ 696,780 

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 128,267 (366,355)

Net cash used in financing activities (460,269) (516,774)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash (6,323) 1,853 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash $ 175,368 $ (184,496)
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Cash from operations could be affected by various risks and uncertainties, including, but not limited to, the broad-based slowdown in demand for our products, new regulations and other risk factors discussed in Part I, Item IA, Risk Factors
of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Cash flows from operating activities consisted of our net income adjusted for certain non-cash reconciling items, such as stock-based compensation expense, non-cash interest expense, change in the fair value of debt securities,
deferred income taxes, asset impairment, depreciation and amortization, and changes in our operating assets and liabilities. Net cash provided by operating activities decreased by $183.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, as
compared to the same period in 2023, primarily due to lower net revenues.

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

For the year ended December 31, 2024, net cash provided by investing activities of $128.3 million was primarily from the sales and maturities of marketable securities of $161.9 million, net of purchases, partially offset by $33.6 million
used in purchases of test and assembly equipment for U.S. manufacturing, related facility improvements and information technology enhancements, including capitalized costs related to internal-use software.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, net cash used in investing activities of $366.4 million was primarily from the purchase of $241.0 million of marketable securities, net of sale and maturities, $110.4 million used in purchases of
test and assembly equipment to expand our supply capacity, related facility improvements and information technology enhancements, including capitalized costs related to internal-use software, and $15.0 million used in the investment of a
private company.

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

For the year ended December 31, 2024, net cash used in financing activities of approximately $460.3 million was primarily from $391.4 million used to repurchase our common stock, payment of $78.8 million in employee withholding
taxes related to net share settlement of employee equity awards, payment of $2.8 million in excise tax for net stock repurchases, and less than $0.1 million from the partial settlement of the Notes due 2025, partially offset by $12.7 million
net proceeds from employee stock option exercises and purchases under our employee stock purchase plan.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, net cash used in financing activities of approximately $516.8 million was primarily from $410.0 million used to repurchase our common stock and the payment of $120.6 million in employee
withholding taxes related to net share settlement of employee equity awards, partially offset by $13.9 million net proceeds from employee stock option exercises and purchases under our employee stock purchase plan.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of our consolidated financial statements and related notes requires us to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses, fair value of acquired
intangible assets and goodwill, useful lives of acquired intangible assets and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. The SEC has defined a company’s critical accounting policies as the ones that are most important to the
portrayal of a company’s financial condition and results of operations, and which require a company to make its most difficult and subjective judgments. Based on this definition, we have identified the critical accounting policies and
judgments addressed below.
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We have based our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates due to risks and uncertainties, including uncertainty in the current economic environment due to inflation, interest rates
fluctuations and new regulations. As of the date of issuance of these financial statements, we are not aware of any specific event or circumstance that would require us to update our estimates, judgments or revise the carrying value of our
assets or liabilities. For a description of our significant accounting policies, refer to Note 2. “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies,” of the notes to consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K. An accounting policy is considered to be critical if it requires an accounting estimate to be made based on assumptions about matters that are highly uncertain at the time the estimate is made, and if different estimates that
reasonably could have been used, or changes in the accounting estimates that are reasonably likely to occur periodically, could materially impact the consolidated financial statements. We believe the following critical accounting policies
reflect the more significant estimates and assumptions used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements.

Revenue Recognition

We generate revenues from sales of our solutions, which include microinverter units and related accessories, IQ Battery and related accessories, IQ PowerPack 1500 and related accessories, IQ Combiner, IQ Gateway, and IQ Energy
Router, our cloud-based monitoring services, EV charging solutions, design, proposal, permitting, installation and lead generation services, as well as a platform matching cleantech asset owners to a local and on-demand workforce of
service providers, distributors, large installers, OEMs and strategic partners.

We generally sell our products to our customers pursuant to a customer’s standard purchase order and our customary terms and conditions. We do not offer rights to return our products other than for normal warranty conditions, and
as such, revenue is recognized based on the transfer of control. We evaluate the creditworthiness of our customers to determine appropriate credit limits prior to the acceptance and shipment of an order. A description of principal activities
from which we generate revenues are as follows.

• Products Delivered at a Point in Time. We sell our products and professional services to customers in accordance with the terms of the related customer contracts. We generate revenues from sales of our solutions, which include
microinverter units and related accessories, storage solutions, EV charging solutions, design, proposal, permitting, installation and lead generation services, as well as a platform matching cleantech asset owners to a local and on-
demand workforce of service providers to distributors, large installers, OEMs and strategic partners. Microinverter units, microinverter accessories, storage and EV solutions, design proposal, permitting, installation and lead
generation services, as well as completed work orders on our platform matching cleantech asset owners to a local and on-demand workforce of service providers, are delivered to customers at a point in time, and we recognize
revenue for these products or professional services when we transfer control of the product or professional services to the customer, which is generally upon product shipment or service delivery, respectively.

• Products Delivered Over Time. The sale of IQ Gateway and IQ Energy Router includes our cloud-based monitoring services. The full consideration for these products represents a single performance obligation and is deferred at the
sale date and recognized over the estimated service period of 7 years. We also sell certain communication accessories that contain a service performance obligation to be delivered over time. The revenue from these products is
recognized over the related service period, which is typically 5 years. The subscription services revenue generated from each customer’s subscription to our design and proposal service is recognized on a ratable basis over the
contract term beginning on the date that our service is made available to the customer. The subscription contracts are generally 3 to 12 months in length and billed in advance.

When we sell a product with more than one performance obligation, such as our IQ Combiner, which includes both hardware and the IQ Gateway, the total consideration is allocated to these performance obligations based on their
relative standalone selling prices.

Provisions for rebates, sales incentives and discounts are estimated based on promotions offered to customers, customer specific experience and historical product ASPs. We record such revenue promotions as variable
consideration and recognize these promotions as a reduction in revenue at the time the related revenue is recorded.
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We record upfront contract acquisition costs, such as sales commissions, to be capitalized and amortized over the estimated life of the asset. For contracts that have a duration of less than one year, we follow the Topic 606 practical
expedient and expense these costs when incurred. Commissions related to the sale of monitoring hardware and services are capitalized and amortized over the period of the associated revenue.

Refer to Note 3. “Revenue Recognition,” of the notes to consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information related to revenue recognition.

Inventory

Inventory is valued at the lower of cost or market. Market is current replacement cost (by purchase or by reproduction, dependent on the type of inventory). In cases where market exceeds net realizable value ( i.e., estimated selling
price less reasonably predictable costs of completion and disposal), inventories are stated at net realizable value. Market is not considered to be less than net realizable value reduced by an allowance for an approximately normal profit
margin. We determine cost on a first-in first-out basis. Certain factors could affect the realizable value of its inventory, including customer demand and market conditions. Management assesses the valuation on a quarterly basis and writes
down the value for any excess and obsolete inventory based upon expected demand, anticipated sales price, effect of new product introductions, product obsolescence, customer concentrations, product merchantability and other factors.
Inventory write-downs are equal to the difference between the cost of inventories and market.

Government Grants

Government grants represent benefits provided by federal, state or local governments that are not subject to the scope of ASC 740. We recognize a grant when we have reasonable assurance that we will comply with the grant’s
conditions and that the grant will be received. Government grants that are not related to long-lived assets are considered income-based grants, which are recognized as a reduction to the related cost of activities that generated the benefit.

We recognized credits under the AMPTC as a reduction to cost of revenues in the consolidated statement of operations for the microinverters manufactured in the United States and sold to customers in the year ended December 31,
2024 and 2023. Such credit is also reflected as an increase to prepaid income tax within prepaid expenses and other current assets and reduction of income tax payable within accrued liabilities on our consolidated balance sheets within
accrued liabilities. There are currently several critical and complex aspects of the IRA that could affect the estimated benefits we have recognized and expect to recognize from the AMPTC. Any modifications to the law or its effects arising,
for example, through (i) technical guidance and regulations from the IRS and U.S. Treasury Department, (ii) subsequent amendments to or interpretations of the law, and/or (iii) future laws or regulations rendering certain provisions of the
IRA less effective or ineffective, in whole or in part, could result in material adverse changes to the benefits we have recognized and expect to recognize.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments 

The fair value of a financial instrument is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. We have investments in debt
securities categorized as level three in the fair value hierarchy based on inputs that are unobservable and significant to the overall fair value measurement totaling $64.8 million and $79.9 million as of December 31, 2024 and 2023,
respectively, which is included in “Other assets” in the consolidated balance sheets.

The carrying amounts of our cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximate fair value because of the short maturity of those instruments. Equity investments with
readily determinable fair value are carried at fair value based on quoted market prices or estimated based on market conditions and risks existing at each balance sheet date. Equity investments without readily determinable fair value are
measured at cost less impairment, and are adjusted for observable price changes in orderly transactions for an identical or similar investment of the same issuer.

Warranty Obligations

Our warranty accrual provides for the replacement of microinverter units, AC Battery storage solutions and related accessories, EV Chargers, IQ Gateway units and IQ Energy Router units that fail during the product’s warranty term.
The warranty term related to microinverter units is 15 years for first and second generation microinverters and up to 25 years for subsequent generation microinverters. The warranty term for AC Battery
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storage solutions is 10 to 15 years depending on the generation and 5 years for IQ PowerPack 1500. The warranty term for the IQ Gateway and IQ Energy Router is 5 years, while the warranty term for EV Chargers is 1 to 5 years
depending on the product. On a quarterly basis, we employ a consistent, systematic and rational methodology to assess the adequacy of our warranty liability. This assessment includes updating all key estimates and assumptions for each
generation of product, based on historical results, trends and the most current data available as of the filing date. The key estimates and assumptions used in the warranty liability are thoroughly reviewed by management on a quarterly
basis. The key estimates used by us to estimate our warranty liability are: (1) the number of units expected to fail and repaired or returned for replacement over time (i.e., return rate); and (2) the per unit cost of repair or replacement of units,
including outbound shipping and limited labor costs, expected to be incurred to replace failed units over time (i.e., replacement cost).

Estimated Return Rates — Our Quality and Reliability department has primary responsibility to determine the estimated return rates for each generation of product. To establish initial return rate estimates for each generation of
product, our quality engineers use a combination of industry standard mean time between failure estimates for individual components contained in that generation of product, third-party data collected on similar equipment deployed in
outdoor environments similar to those in which our product are installed, and rigorous long term reliability and accelerated life cycle testing which simulates the service life of the product in a short period of time. As units are deployed into
operating environments, we continue to monitor product performance through our cloud-based monitoring services. It typically takes three to nine months between the date of sale and date of end-user installation. Consequently, our ability
to monitor actual failures of units sold similarly lags by three to nine months. When a product fails and is returned, we perform diagnostic root cause failure analysis to understand and isolate the underlying mechanism(s) causing the failure.
We then use the results of this analysis (combined with the actual, cumulative performance data collected on those units prior to failure) to draw conclusions with respect to how or if the identified failure mechanism(s) will impact the
remaining units deployed in the installed base.

As the vast majority of our microinverters have been sold to end users for residential applications, we believe that warranty return rates will be affected by changes over time in residential home ownership because we expect that
subsequent homeowners are less likely to file a return than the homeowners who originally purchased the microinverters.

Estimated Replacement Costs — Three factors are considered in our analysis of estimated replacement cost: (1) the estimated cost of replacement products; (2) the estimated cost to ship replacement products to end users; and
(3) the estimated labor reimbursement expected to be paid to third-party installers, or estimated labor cost expected to be incurred for field service technicians, performing replacement services for the end user. Because our warranty
provides for the replacement of defective products over long periods of time (typically between 5 to 25 years, depending on the product and the generation of that product purchased), the estimated per unit cost of current and future product
generations is considered in the estimated replacement cost. Estimated costs to ship replacement units are based on observable, market-based shipping costs paid by us to third-party freight carriers. We have a separate program that
allows third-party installers to claim fixed-dollar reimbursements for labor costs they incur to replace failed units for a limited time from the date of original installation. Included in our estimated replacement cost is an analysis of the number
of fixed-dollar labor reimbursements expected to be claimed by third-party installers over the limited offering period.

In addition to the key estimates noted above, we also compare actual warranty results to expected results and evaluate any significant differences. We may make additional adjustments to the warranty provision based on performance
trends or other qualitative factors. If actual return rates, or replacement costs differ from our estimates in future periods, changes to these estimates may be required, resulting in increases or decreases in our warranty obligations. Such
increases or decreases could be material.

Fair Value Option for Microinverters and Other Products Sold Since January 1, 2014

Our warranty obligations related to products sold since January 1, 2014 provide us the right, but not the requirement, to assign our warranty obligations to a third party. Under Accounting Standards Codification 825, “Financial
Instruments” (also referred to as the “fair value option”), an entity may choose to elect the fair value option for such warranties at the time it first recognizes the eligible item. We made an irrevocable election to account for all eligible warranty
obligations associated with products sold since January 1, 2014 at fair value. This election was made to reflect the underlying economics of the time value of money for an obligation that will be settled over an extended period of up to 25
years.
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We estimate the fair value of warranty obligations by calculating the warranty obligations in the same manner as for sales prior to January 1, 2014 and applying an expected present value technique to that result. The expected present
value technique, an income approach, converts future amounts into a single current discounted amount. In addition to the key estimates of return rates, and replacement costs, we used certain inputs that are unobservable and significant to
the overall fair value measurement. Such additional assumptions included compensation comprised of a profit element and risk premium required of a market participant to assume the obligation and a discount rate based on our credit-
adjusted risk-free rate. Refer to Note 11. “Fair Value Measurements,” of the notes to consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information.

Income Taxes

We record income taxes using the asset and liability method, which requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected tax consequences of temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and amounts recognized for income tax purposes. In estimating future tax consequences, generally all expected future events other than enactments or changes in the tax law or rates are
considered. Valuation allowances are provided when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount expected to be realized.

We assess the realizability of the deferred tax assets to determine release of valuation allowance as necessary. In the event we determine that it is more likely than not that we would be able to realize deferred tax assets in the future
in excess of our net recorded amount, an adjustment to the valuation allowance for the deferred tax asset would increase income in the period such determination was made. Likewise, should it be determined that additional amounts of the
net deferred tax asset will not be realized in the future, an adjustment to increase the deferred tax asset valuation allowance will be charged to income in the period such determination is made.

We operate in various tax jurisdictions and are subject to audit by various tax authorities. We follow accounting for uncertainty in income taxes, which requires that the tax effects of a position be recognized only if it is “more likely than
not” to be sustained based solely on its technical merits as of the reporting date. We consider many factors when evaluating and estimating our tax positions and tax benefits, which may require periodic adjustments, and which may not
accurately anticipate actual outcomes.

Item 7A.    Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

We operate and conduct business in foreign countries where our foreign entities use the local currency as their respective functional currency and, as a result, are exposed to movements in foreign currency exchange rates. More
specifically, we face foreign currency exposure primarily from the effect of fluctuating exchange rates on payables and receivables relating to transactions that are denominated in euros, the Indian Rupee, Brazilian real, Mexican peso and
the Australian, Canadian and New Zealand dollars. These payables and receivables primarily arise from sales to customers and intercompany transactions. We also face currency exposure that arises from translating the results of our
European, Indian, Brazilian, Mexican, Australian, Canadian and New Zealand operations, including sales and marketing and research and development expenses, to the U.S. dollar at exchange rates that have fluctuated from the beginning
of a reporting period. We are a net receiver of euros, and therefore negatively affected by a strengthening of the U.S. dollar relative to the euro and, conversely benefit from a weakening of the U.S. dollar relative to the euro. Sales
denominated in the euro as a percentage of net revenues was 21%, 28% and 17% during the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

The effect of a hypothetical 10% adverse change in foreign exchange rates on monetary assets and liabilities on December 31, 2024 would not be material to our financial condition or results of operations. To date, foreign currency
transaction gains and losses and exchange rate fluctuations have not been material to our financial statements, and we have not engaged in any foreign currency hedging transactions.

We do not enter into derivative financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes. We did not enter into any foreign currency forward contracts during 2024, 2023 and 2022. Any foreign currency forward contracts entered in the
future will be accounted for as derivatives whereby the fair value of the contracts would be reported as other current assets or current liabilities, and gains and losses resulting from changes in the fair value would be reported in other
income (expense), net, in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.
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Credit Risk

Financial instruments that subject us to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash, cash equivalents, marketable securities and accounts receivable. We maintain a substantial portion of our cash balances in non-interest-
bearing and interest-bearing marketable securities and money market accounts. We mitigate this credit risk by transacting with major financial institutions with high credit ratings. We are not required to pledge, and are not entitled to receive,
cash collateral related to these derivative instruments. We do not enter into derivative contracts for trading or speculative purposes. Our net revenues are primarily concentrated among a limited number of customers. We monitor the
financial condition of our customers and perform credit evaluations whenever considered necessary and maintain an allowance for credit losses for estimated potential credit losses.

Interest Rate Risk

We had cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and marketable securities of $1,717.6 million and $1,695.0 million as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, consisting of both non-interest bearing and interest-bearing
marketable securities and money market accounts. Such interest-earning instruments carry a degree of interest rate risk, but the risk is limited due to the duration of our short term investments. To date, fluctuations in interest income have
not been significant. We do not enter into investments for trading or speculative purposes and have not used any derivative financial instruments to manage our interest rate risk exposure. We have not been exposed to, nor do we anticipate
being exposed to, material risks due to changes in interest rates with regard to our cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and marketable securities.

Our cash flow exposure due to changes in interest rates related to our debt is limited, as the Notes due 2025 have a fixed interest rate of 0.25%. Additionally, the Notes due 2028 and Notes due 2026 carry a fixed interest rate of 0%.
The fair value of these convertible notes may increase or decrease for various reasons, including fluctuations in the market price of our common stock, fluctuations in market interest rates and fluctuations in general economic conditions.
Based upon the quoted market price as of December 31, 2024, the fair value of the Notes due 2028, Notes due 2026 and Notes due 2025 was $472.9 million, $593.8 million and $106.1 million, respectively.

A hypothetical 10% change in interest rates during any of the periods presented would not have had a material impact on our financial statements.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the stockholders and the Board of Directors of Enphase Energy, Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Enphase Energy, Inc. and subsidiaries (the "Company") as of December 31, 2024, and 2023, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive
income, stockholders' equity, and cash flows, for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2024, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the "financial statements"). In our opinion, the financial statements present
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2024, and 2023, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2024, in conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on
criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated February 7, 2025, expressed an unqualified opinion on the
Company's internal control over financial reporting.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with
the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those
risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current-period audit of the financial statements that was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (1) relates to accounts
or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of a critical audit matter does not alter in any way our opinion on the financial
statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

Warranty Obligations - Refer to Notes 2, 10 and 11 to the consolidated financial statements

Critical Audit Matter Description

The Company’s warranty obligation provides for the repair or replacement of microinverter and storage products that fail during the product’s warranty term, generally of 10 to 25 years. The estimated warranty liability is developed for
each generation of product and requires management to estimate, among other factors, (1) the number of units expected to be claimed under the Company’s warranty over time (i.e., return rate); and (2) the per unit cost of repair or
replacement of units, including outbound shipping and labor costs, expected to be incurred to repair or replace failed units over time (i.e., replacement cost), all of which consider historical results, trends and the most current data available
when the financial statements are available to be issued. The Company’s warranty liability for all microinverter and storage products sold after January 1, 2014, is measured at fair value which incorporates a discount rate based on the
Company’s credit adjusted risk free rate.

Given the subjectivity of (1) estimating the number of units expected to be claimed under the Company’s warranty over time; (2) the estimated cost to repair or replace such products, and (3) the specialized valuation skills
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required in evaluating discount rates, performing audit procedures to evaluate whether the estimated return rates, repair or replacement costs and discount rate were appropriately determined as of December 31, 2024, required a high
degree of auditor judgment and an increased extent of effort.

How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit

Our audit procedures related to the estimated warranty return rates, estimated repair or replacement costs and discount rate used in determining the warranty obligation included the following, among others:

– We tested the effectiveness of controls utilized in the review of the warranty obligation calculation, including controls over the determination of estimated warranty return rates, estimated repair or replacement costs and discount rate.

– We evaluated the methods and assumptions used by management to estimate warranty return rates, estimated repair or replacement costs and discount rate used as part of the calculation of the warranty obligation by:

• Testing the underlying data that served as the basis for the Company’s estimated warranty return rates analysis, which include historical warranty returns and historical product sales, in order to evaluate the various
assumptions and historical data consisting of failure of individual components contained in its microinverters and storage products.

• Comparing management’s prior-year assumptions of estimated warranty return rates to actual warranty returns received during the current year to identify potential bias in the determination of the estimated warranty return
rates used in the warranty obligation recorded.

• Testing the relevant inputs into the Company’s per unit repair or replacement costs, including third party vendor quotes.

• Testing the discount rate used in the Company’s warranty obligation, utilizing internal fair value specialists.

/s/  DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

San Jose, California

February 7, 2025

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2010.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the stockholders and the Board of Directors of Enphase Energy, Inc.

Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of Enphase Energy, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2024, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013)  issued
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on
criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013)  issued by COSO.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2024, of the
Company and our report dated February 7, 2025, expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying
Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the
PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting
was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating
effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect
the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely
detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

San Jose, California

February 7, 2025
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ENPHASE ENERGY, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except par value)

As of

December 31,
2024

December 31,
2023

ASSETS

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 369,110  $ 288,748  

Restricted cash 95,006  —  

Marketable securities 1,253,480  1,406,286  

Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $ 7,788 and $ 2,502 at December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively 223,749  445,959  

Inventory 165,004  213,595  

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 220,735  88,930  

Total current assets 2,327,084  2,443,518  

Property and equipment, net 147,514  168,244  

Operating lease, right of use asset, net 24,617  19,887  

Intangible assets, net 42,398  68,536  

Goodwill 211,571  214,562  

Other assets 180,925  215,895  

Deferred tax assets, net 315,567  252,370  

Total assets $ 3,249,676  $ 3,383,012  

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Current liabilities:

Accounts payable $ 90,032  $ 116,164  

Accrued liabilities 196,887  261,919  

Deferred revenues, current 237,225  118,300  

Warranty obligations, current 34,656  36,066  

Debt, current 101,291  —  

Total current liabilities 660,091  532,449  

Long-term liabilities:

Deferred revenues, non-current 341,982  369,172  

Warranty obligations, non-current 158,233  153,021  

Other liabilities 55,265  51,008  

Debt, non-current 1,201,089  1,293,738  

Total liabilities 2,416,660  2,399,388  

Commitments and contingencies (Note 14)

Stockholders’ equity:

Common stock, $ 0.00001 par value, 300,000 shares authorized; and 132,448 shares and 135,722 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023,
respectively 1  1  

Additional paid-in capital 1,084,573  939,338  

Accumulated earnings (deficit) ( 245,206 ) 46,273  

Accumulated other comprehensive loss ( 6,352 ) ( 1,988 )

Total stockholders’ equity 833,016  983,624  

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 3,249,676  $ 3,383,012  

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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ENPHASE ENERGY, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands, except per share data)

Years Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022

Net revenues $ 1,330,383  $ 2,290,786  $ 2,330,853  

Cost of revenues 701,245  1,232,398  1,356,258  

Gross profit 629,138  1,058,388  974,595  

Operating expenses:

Research and development 201,315  227,336  168,846  

Sales and marketing 206,552  231,792  215,102  

General and administrative 130,825  137,835  140,002  

Restructuring and asset impairment charges 13,154  15,684  2,384  

Total operating expenses 551,846  612,647  526,334  

Income from operations 77,292  445,741  448,261  

Other income, net

Interest income 77,306  69,728  13,656  

Interest expense ( 8,905 ) ( 8,839 ) ( 9,438 )

Other income (expense), net ( 25,534 ) 6,509  ( 431 )

Total other income, net 42,867  67,398  3,787  

Income before income taxes 120,159  513,139  452,048  

Income tax provision ( 17,501 ) ( 74,203 ) ( 54,686 )

Net income $ 102,658  $ 438,936  $ 397,362  

Net income per share

Basic $ 0.76  $ 3.22  $ 2.94  

Diluted $ 0.75  $ 3.08  $ 2.77  

Shares used in per share calculation:

Basic 135,167  136,376  135,349  

Diluted 140,004  143,290  144,390  

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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ENPHASE ENERGY, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(In thousands)

Years Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022

Net income $ 102,658  $ 438,936  $ 397,362  

Other comprehensive income:

Foreign currency translation adjustments ( 4,715 ) 1,190  ( 3,185 )

Marketable securities

Change in net unrealized gain (loss), net of income tax benefit (provision) of $ 115 , $ 2,468 , and $( 1,993 ) for the year ended December 31, 2024,
2023, and 2022, respectively.

351  7,704  ( 5,677 )

Comprehensive income $ 98,294  $ 447,830  $ 388,500  

    

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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ENPHASE ENERGY, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(In thousands)

Common Stock Additional
Paid-In 
Capital

Accumulated
Earnings (Deficit)

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Loss

Total
Stockholders’

EquityShares Amount

Balance at December 31, 2021 133,894  $ 1  $ 837,924  $ ( 405,737 ) $ ( 2,020 ) $ 430,168  

Cumulative-effect adjustment to accumulated deficit related to the adoption of ASU
2020-06 — — ( 207,967 ) 25,710  — ( 182,257 )

Issuance of common stock from exercise of equity awards and employee stock
purchase plan 2,547  — 10,370  — — 10,370  

Payment of withholding taxes related to net share settlement of equity awards — — ( 27,496 ) — — ( 27,496 )

Deferred tax impact on equity component of partial settlement of convertible notes — — ( 1,837 ) — — ( 1,837 )

Stock-based compensation — — 208,125  — — 208,125  

Net income — — — 397,362  — 397,362  

Foreign currency translation adjustments — — — — ( 3,185 ) ( 3,185 )

Change in net unrealized loss on marketable securities, net of tax — — — — ( 5,677 ) ( 5,677 )

Balance at December 31, 2022 136,441  $ 1  $ 819,119  $ 17,335  $ ( 10,882 ) $ 825,573  

Issuance of common stock from exercise of equity awards and employee stock
purchase plan 1,613  — 13,870  — — 13,870  

Issuance of common stock related to 365 Pronto, Inc. post combination expense 52  — 10,307  — — 10,307  

Payment of withholding taxes related to net share settlement of equity awards — — ( 120,646 ) — — ( 120,646 )

Settlement of convertible notes due 2023 900  — 5,000  — — 5,000  

Stock-based compensation — — 211,688  — — 211,688  

Net income — — — 438,936  — 438,936  

Repurchase of common stock ( 3,284 ) — — ( 409,998 ) — ( 409,998 )

Foreign currency translation adjustment — — — — 1,190  1,190  

Change in net unrealized gain on marketable securities, net of tax — — — — 7,704  7,704  

Balance at December 31, 2023 135,722  $ 1  $ 939,338  $ 46,273  $ ( 1,988 ) $ 983,624  

Issuance of common stock from exercise of equity awards and employee stock
purchase plan 1,269  — 12,688  — — 12,688  

Payment of withholding taxes related to net share settlement of equity awards — — ( 78,813 ) — — ( 78,813 )

Stock-based compensation — — 211,360  — — 211,360  

Net income — — — 102,658  — 102,658  

Repurchase of common stock ( 4,543 ) — — ( 391,364 ) — ( 391,364 )

Excise tax on net stock repurchases — — — ( 2,773 ) — ( 2,773 )
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Common Stock Additional
Paid-In 
Capital

Accumulated
Earnings (Deficit)

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Loss

Total
Stockholders’

EquityShares Amount

Foreign currency translation adjustment — — — — ( 4,715 ) ( 4,715 )

Change in net unrealized gain on marketable securities, net of tax — — — — 351  351  

Balance at December 31, 2024 132,448  $ 1  $ 1,084,573  $ ( 245,206 ) $ ( 6,352 ) $ 833,016  

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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ENPHASE ENERGY, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)

Years Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022

Cash flows from operating activities:

Net income $ 102,658  $ 438,936  397,362  

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 81,389  74,708  58,775  

Net accretion of discount on marketable securities ( 8,599 ) ( 15,561 ) ( 2,632 )

Provision for credit losses 6,677  1,153  119  

Asset impairment 28,843  10,603  1,200  

Non-cash interest expense 8,650  8,380  8,167  

Net gain from change in fair value of debt securities ( 1,967 ) ( 8,078 ) ( 735 )

Stock-based compensation 211,360  212,857  216,802  

Deferred income taxes ( 58,319 ) ( 43,348 ) 3,633  

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable 211,640  ( 12,478 ) ( 107,556 )

Inventory 48,591  ( 63,887 ) ( 75,273 )

Prepaid expenses and other assets ( 134,343 ) ( 59,777 ) ( 68,423 )

Accounts payable, accrued and other liabilities ( 85,536 ) ( 22,149 ) 133,416  

Warranty obligations 3,802  57,641  57,773  

Deferred revenues 98,847  117,780  122,189  

Net cash provided by operating activities 513,693  696,780  744,817  

Cash flows from investing activities:

Purchases of property and equipment ( 33,604 ) ( 110,401 ) ( 46,443 )

Investments in private companies —  ( 15,000 ) ( 16,000 )

Business acquisitions, net of cash acquired —  —  ( 62,162 )

Purchases of marketable securities ( 1,184,649 ) ( 2,081,431 ) ( 907,430 )

Maturities and sale of marketable securities 1,346,520  1,840,477  660,129  

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 128,267  ( 366,355 ) ( 371,906 )

Cash flows from financing activities:

Partial settlement of convertible notes ( 7 ) —  —  

Proceeds from issuance of common stock under employee equity plans 12,688  13,870  10,370  

Payment of withholding taxes related to net share settlement of equity awards ( 78,813 ) ( 120,646 ) ( 27,496 )

Repurchase of common stock ( 391,364 ) ( 409,998 ) —  

Payment of excise tax on net stock repurchases ( 2,773 ) —  —  

Net cash used in financing activities ( 460,269 ) ( 516,774 ) ( 17,126 )

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash ( 6,323 ) 1,853  ( 1,857 )

Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 175,368  ( 184,496 ) 353,928  

Cash and cash equivalents—Beginning of period 288,748  473,244  119,316  

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash—End of period $ 464,116  $ 288,748  $ 473,244  
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Years Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022

Reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash to the consolidated balance sheets

Cash and cash equivalents 369,110  288,748  473,244  

Restricted cash 95,006  —  —  

Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash $ 464,116  $ 288,748  $ 473,244  

Supplemental cash flow disclosure:

Cash paid for interest $ 255  $ 455  $ 455  

Cash paid for income taxes $ 32,660  $ 74,706  $ 33,168  

Supplemental disclosures of non-cash investing and financing activities:

Purchases of property and equipment included in accounts payable $ 11,188  $ 10,141  $ 17,396  

Purchases of property and equipment through tenant improvement allowance $ —  $ —  $ 748  

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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ENPHASE ENERGY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1.     DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION

Description of Business

Enphase Energy, Inc. (the “Company”) is a global energy technology company. The Company delivers smart, easy-to-use solutions that manage solar generation, storage and communication on one platform.

Basis of Presentation and Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements are presented in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“U.S. GAAP”). The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the
Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at
the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of income and expenses during the reporting period. Significant estimates and assumptions reflected in the financial statements include revenue recognition, allowance for credit
losses, stock-based compensation, deferred compensation arrangements, income tax provision, inventory valuation, government grants, accrued warranty obligations, fair value of investments, convertible notes, fair value of acquired
intangible assets and goodwill, useful lives of acquired intangible assets and property and equipment, incremental borrowing rate for right-of-use assets and lease liability. These estimates are based on information available as of the date of
the financial statements; therefore, actual results could differ materially from those estimates due to risks and uncertainties .

2.     SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Revenue Recognition

The Company generates revenue from sales of its solutions, which include microinverter units and related accessories, IQ Battery and related accessories, IQ PowerPack 1500 and related accessories, IQ Gateway, and IQ Energy
Router, cloud-based monitoring services, Electric Vehicle (“EV”) charging solutions, design, proposal, permitting, installation and lead generation services, as well as a platform matching cleantech asset owners to a local and on-demand
workforce of service providers, distributors, large installers, original equipment manufacturers (“OEMs”) and strategic partners.

Revenues are recognized when control of the promised goods or services are transferred to the Company’s customers in an amount that reflects the consideration that is expected to be received in exchange for those goods or
services. The Company generates all of its revenues from contracts with its customers. A description of principal activities from which the Company generates revenues follows.

• Products Delivered at a Point in Time. The Company sells its products and professional services to customers in accordance with the terms of the related customer contracts. The Company generates revenues from sales of its
solutions, which include microinverter units and related accessories, storage solutions, EV charging solutions, design, proposal, permitting, installation and lead generation services, as well as a platform matching cleantech asset
owners to a local and on-demand workforce of service providers to distributors, large installers, OEMs and strategic partners. Microinverter units, microinverter accessories, storage and EV solutions, design, proposal, permitting,
installation and lead generation services, as well as completed work orders on a platform matching cleantech asset owners to a local and on-demand workforce of service providers, are delivered to customers at a point in time, and
the Company recognizes revenue for these products or professional services when the Company transfers control of the product or professional services to the customer, which is generally upon product shipment or service
delivery, respectively.
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ENPHASE ENERGY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

• Products Delivered Over Time. The sale of IQ Gateway and IQ Energy Router products includes the Company’s cloud-based monitoring service. The full consideration for these products represents a single performance obligation
and is deferred at the sale date and recognized over the estimated service period of 7 years. The Company also sells certain communication accessories that contain a service performance obligation to be delivered over time. The
revenue from these products is recognized over the related service period, which is typically 5 years. The subscription services revenue generated from each customer’s subscription to the Company’s design and proposal software
is recognized on a ratable basis over the contract term beginning on the date that the Company’s service is made available to the customer. The subscription contracts are generally 3 to 12 months in length and billed in advance.

When the Company sells a product with more than one performance obligation, such as the IQ Combiner, which includes both hardware and IQ Gateway, the total consideration is allocated to these performance obligations based on
their relative standalone selling prices.

The Company estimates and records certain revenue promotions as variable consideration and recognizes these promotions as a reduction in revenue at the time the related revenue is recorded.

The Company records upfront contract acquisition costs, such as sales commissions, to be capitalized and amortized over the estimated life of the asset. For contracts that have a duration of less than one year, the Company follows
the Topic 606 practical expedient and expenses these costs when incurred. Commissions related to the Company’s sale of monitoring hardware and service are capitalized and amortized over the period of the associated revenue, which is
5 years to 7 years.

Refer to Note 3. “Revenue Recognition,” for additional information related to revenue recognition.

Cost of Revenues

The Company includes the following in cost of revenues: product costs, warranty, manufacturing and installation services personnel, logistics costs, freight costs, inventory write-downs, hosting services costs related to the Company’s
cloud-based services, credits recognized from the advanced manufacturing production tax credit (“AMPTC”), depreciation of manufacturing test equipment, and amortization of capitalized software development costs related to the
Company’s cloud-based services, lead acquisition costs, design and proposal services, and employee-related expenses associated with proposal and permitting services and design and proposal service customer support. A description of
principal activities from which the Company recognizes cost of revenue is as follows:

• Products Delivered at a Point in Time. Cost of revenue from these products is recognized when the Company transfers control of the product to the customer, which is generally upon shipment or service delivery.

• Products Delivered Over Time. Cost of revenue from these products is recognized over the related service period.

Government Grants

Government grants represent benefits provided by federal, state, or local governments that are not subject to the scope of Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 740. The Company recognizes a grant when it has reasonable
assurance that it will comply with the grant’s conditions and that the grant will be received. Government grants that are not related to long-lived assets are considered income-based grants, which are recognized as a reduction to the related
cost of activities that generated the benefit.

In August 2022, the U.S. enacted the Inflation Reduction Act of 2022 (“IRA”), which includes extension of the investment tax credit as well as credits under the AMPTC, to incentivize clean energy component sourcing and production,
including for the production of microinverters. The IRA provides for an AMPTC on microinverters of 11 cents per alternating current watt basis. The AMPTC on microinverters decreases by 25% each year beginning in 2030 and ending after
2032. The Company recognized credits under AMPTC as a reduction to cost of revenues in the consolidated statement of operations for the microinverters manufactured in the United States and sold to customers during the years ended
December 31, 2024 and 2023. Such credit is also reflected as an increase to prepaid income tax and a reduction of income tax payable on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets within
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prepaid expenses and other current assets and accrued liabilities, respectively, for the years ended December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively. For the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, benefits recognized from
AMPTC of $ 157.5  million and $ 53.5  million, respectively, were recorded as a prepaid income tax of $ 94.9  million (included in Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets) and reduction of income tax payable of $ 62.7  million on the
consolidated balance sheet for the year ended December 31, 2024, reduction to income tax payable of $ 53.5  million (included in Accrued Liabilities) on the consolidated balance sheet for the year ended December 31, 2023, and as a
reduction to cost of revenues of $ 157.5  million and $ 53.5  million on the consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. Amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements
are based on management’s judgement and interpretation of the most current guidance.

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Marketable Securities

The Company classifies investments in marketable securities as available-for-sale investments and records these marketable securities at fair value. The Company determines the appropriate classification of marketable securities at
the time of purchase and reevaluates such designation at each balance sheet date. All highly liquid investments with original maturities of 90 days or less from the date of purchase are classified as cash equivalents, while all others are
presented within current assets since these investments represent funds available for current operations and the Company has the ability and intent, if necessary, to liquidate any of these investments within one year in order to meet liquidity
needs or to grow the business, including for potential business acquisitions or other strategic transactions.

Marketable securities are recorded at fair value, with the unrealized gains or losses unrelated to credit loss factors included in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax. Realized gains and losses and declines in
value determined to be other than temporary based on the specific identification method are reported in other income (expense), net in the consolidated statements of operations.

The Company periodically reviews whether the securities may be other-than-temporarily impaired, including whether or not (i) the Company has the intent to sell the security or (ii) it is more likely than not that the Company will be
required to sell the security before its anticipated recovery. If one of these factors is met, the Company records an impairment loss associated with the impaired investment. The impairment loss will be recorded as a write-down of
investments in the consolidated balance sheets and a realized loss within other income (expense), net in the consolidated statements of operations. There were no credit-related impairments recognized on the Company’s investments in
marketable securities during the periods presented.

For purposes of identifying and measuring impairment, the policy election was made to exclude the applicable accrued interest from both the fair value and amortized cost basis. Applicable accrued interest of $ 10.1  million and $ 7.6
 million, net of the allowance for credit losses, if any, is recorded in prepaid expenses and other current assets  on the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Restricted Cash

Restricted cash represents cash held as certificates of deposit collateralized under a letter of credit issued to a customer. The letter of credit is required as a performance security in a face amount equal to the aggregate purchase price
of the executed sales agreement. The letter of credit was issued per the terms of the executed sales agreement and the Company has collateralized certificates of deposit under this letter of credit in an amount of $ 95.0 million, which was
reflected as restricted cash on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2024.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments 

The fair value of a financial instrument is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The carrying amounts of the
Company’s cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximate fair value because of the short maturity of those instruments. Equity investments with readily
determinable fair value are carried at fair value based on quoted market prices or estimated based on market conditions and risks existing at each balance sheet date. Equity investments without readily determinable fair value
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are measured at cost, less impairment and are adjusted for observable price changes in orderly transactions for an identical or similar investment of the same issuer.

Accounts Receivables and Contract Assets

The Company receives payments from customers based upon contractual payment terms. Accounts receivable are recorded when the right to consideration becomes unconditional. Contract assets recorded in prepaid assets and
other current assets on the consolidated balance sheet include deferred product costs and commissions associated with the deferred revenue and will be amortized along with the associated revenue.

Allowance for Credit Losses

The Company maintains allowances for credit losses for uncollectible accounts receivable. Management estimates anticipated credit losses based on days past due, customer specific experience, collection history, the financial health
of customers including from the impacts of the broad-based slowdown beginning in the second quarter of 2023 in the United States and in the third quarter of 2023 in Europe, among other factors. Accounts receivables are recorded net of
allowance for credit losses totaling $ 7.8  million and $ 2.5  million as of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively. The $ 7.8  million allowance for credit losses as of December 31, 2024 includes $ 6.2  million related to a
customer that filed for bankruptcy under Chapter 11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code (“Chapter 11 bankruptcy”) during the year ended December 31, 2024. Management will continue to monitor certain customers experiencing
considerable financial difficulties to perform collectability assessment and evaluate the impact to the Company's revenue recognition and allowance for credit losses on its financial statements. Accounts receivable are recorded net of
allowance for credit losses. The following table sets forth activities in the allowance for credit losses for the periods indicated.

December 31,

2024 2023 2022

(In thousands)

Balance, at beginning of year $ 2,502  $ 979  $ 1,590  

Net charges to revenue 4,828  —  —  

Net charges to expense 1,849  1,388  ( 119 )

Write-offs, net of recoveries ( 1,391 ) 135  ( 492 )

Balance, at end of year $ 7,788  $ 2,502  $ 979  

Inventory

Inventory is valued at the lower of cost or market. Market is current replacement cost (by purchase or by reproduction, dependent on the type of inventory). In cases where market exceeds net realizable value ( i.e., estimated selling
price less reasonably predictable costs of completion and disposal), inventories are stated at net realizable value. Market is not considered to be less than net realizable value reduced by an allowance for an approximately normal profit
margin. The Company determines cost on a first-in first-out basis. Certain factors could affect the realizable value of its inventory, including customer demand and market conditions. Management assesses the valuation on a quarterly basis
and writes down the value for any excess and obsolete inventory based upon expected demand, anticipated sales price, effect of new product introductions, product obsolescence, customer concentrations, product merchantability and other
factors. Inventory write-downs are equal to the difference between the cost of inventories and market.

Long-Lived Assets

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Cost includes amounts paid to acquire or construct the asset as well as any expenditure that substantially adds to the value of or significantly extends the
useful life of an existing asset. Repair and maintenance costs are expensed as incurred. Depreciation and amortization are computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets, which range from 3 to 10
years. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of the lease term or expected useful life of the improvements.
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Internal-use software, whether purchased or developed, is capitalized at cost and amortized on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful life. Costs associated with internally developed software are expensed until the point at
which the project has reached the development stage. Subsequent additions, modifications or upgrades to internal-use software are capitalized only to the extent that they provide additional functionality. Software maintenance and training
costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. The capitalization of internal-use software requires judgment in determining when a project has reached the development stage and the period over which the Company expects
to benefit from the use of that software. Capitalized costs are recorded as part of property and equipment in the consolidated balance sheets. Capitalized internal-use software is amortized on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful
life, which is generally three years , and is recorded as cost of revenue in the consolidated statements of operations.

The Company capitalizes implementation costs related to cloud computing ( i.e., hosting) arrangements that are accounted for as a service contract that meets the accounting requirement for capitalization as such implementation
costs were incurred to develop or utilize internal-use software hosted by a third-party vendor. The capitalized implementation costs are recorded as part of “Other assets” on the consolidated balance sheets and is amortized over the length
of the service contract.

Property and equipment, including internal-use software, and capitalized implementation costs related to cloud computing arrangements, are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of an asset group may not be recoverable. An impairment loss would be recognized when the carrying amount of an asset group exceeds the estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to result from the use of the
asset group and its eventual disposition. The amount of the impairment loss to be recorded is calculated by the excess of the asset group’s carrying value over its fair value. Fair value is generally determined using an undiscounted cash
flow analysis. The Company recorded asset impairment charges of $ 2.3  million, $ 5.7  million and zero in the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively, associated with property and equipment, net. There were no
events or changes in circumstances that may indicate the carrying amount of the remaining long-lived assets is not recoverable.

Leases

The Company determines if an arrangement is or contains a lease at inception. Operating lease assets represent the Company’s right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and lease liabilities represent the Company’s
obligation to make lease payments over the lease term.

The Company does not have any finance leases. Operating lease assets and liabilities are recognized based on the present value of the remaining lease payments over the lease term, discounted using the Company’s incremental
borrowing rate. Operating lease assets also include initial direct costs incurred and prepaid lease payments, minus any lease incentives. The Company’s lease terms include options to extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably
certain that the Company will exercise that option. Lease expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Leases with an initial term of one year or less are considered short-term leases and are not recognized as lease
assets and liabilities. The Company recognizes the cost of such short-term leases on a straight-line basis over the term of the underlying agreement. The Company combines the lease and non-lease components in determining the
operating lease assets and liabilities.

An impairment loss would be recognized when the carrying amount of an asset group exceeds the estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to result from the use of the asset group. The Company recorded right of use
asset impairment charges of less than $ 0.1  million, $ 1.1 million and $ 1.2  million in the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Business Combinations

Assets acquired and liabilities assumed as part of a business acquisition are generally recorded at their fair value at the date of acquisition. The excess of purchase price over the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed is
recorded as goodwill. Determining fair value of identifiable assets, particularly intangibles, and liabilities acquired also requires the Company to make estimates, which are based on all available information and in some cases assumptions
with respect to the timing and amount of future revenues and expenses associated with an asset. Accounting for business acquisitions requires the Company to make judgments as to whether a purchase transaction is a multiple element
contract, meaning that it includes other transaction components. This judgment
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and determination affect the amount of consideration paid that is allocable to assets and liabilities acquired in the business purchase transaction. Additional information existing as of the acquisition date but unknown to the Company may
become known during the remainder of the measurement period, not to exceed 12 months from the acquisition date, which may result in changes to the amounts and allocations recorded.

Goodwill

Goodwill results from the purchase consideration paid in excess of the fair value of the net assets recorded in connection with business acquisitions. Goodwill is not amortized but is assessed for potential impairment at least annually
during the fourth quarter of each fiscal year or between annual tests if an event occurs or circumstances change that would indicate the carrying amount may be impaired. Goodwill is tested at the reporting unit level, which the Company
has determined to be the same as the entity as a whole (entity level). The Company first performs qualitative assessment to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of the Company’s reporting unit is less than its
carrying value. If, after assessing the qualitative factors, the Company determines that it is more likely than not that the fair value of its reporting unit is less than its carrying value, an impairment analysis will be performed.

Qualitative factors include industry and market consideration, overall financial performance, share price trends and market capitalization and Company-specific events. The Company determined, after performing a qualitative review of
its one reporting unit, that it is more likely than not that the fair value of its reporting unit exceeds its carrying value. Accordingly, there was no indication of impairment in the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 and no
quantitative goodwill impairment test was performed.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets include patents and other purchased intangible assets. Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized on a straight-line basis, with estimated useful lives ranging from 5 to 9 years. Indefinite-lived intangible assets
are tested for impairment annually and are also tested for impairment between annual tests if an event occurs or circumstances change that would indicate that the carrying amount may be impaired. Intangible assets with finite lives are
tested for impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset group may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized when the carrying amount of an asset group exceeds the estimated
undiscounted cash flows used in determining the fair value of the asset group. The amount of the impairment loss to be recorded is calculated by the excess of the asset group’s carrying value over its fair value. Fair value is generally
determined using a discounted cash flow analysis. The Company recorded asset impairment charges of $ 3.5  million, $ 3.8  million and zero in the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively, associated with the
developed technology and customer relationship intangible asset. There were no events or changes in circumstances that may indicate the carrying amount of remaining assets is not recoverable.

Contract Liabilities

Contract liabilities are recorded as deferred revenue on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and include payments received in advance of performance obligations under the contract and are realized when the associated
revenue is recognized under the contract.

Warranty Obligations

The Company’s warranty accrual provides for the replacement of microinverter units, AC Battery storage solutions and accessories, EV Chargers, IQ Gateway and IQ Energy Router units that fail during the product’s warranty term.
The warranty term related to microinverter units is typically 15 years for first and second generation microinverters and up to 25 years for subsequent generation microinverters. The warranty term for AC Battery storage solutions is 10 to 15
years for IQ Battery depending on the generation and 5 years for IQ PowerPack 1500. The warranty term for the IQ Gateway and IQ Energy Router is 5 years, while the warranty term for EV Chargers is 1 to 5 years depending on the
product. On a quarterly basis, the Company employs a consistent, systematic and rational methodology to assess the adequacy of its warranty liability. This assessment includes updating all key estimates and assumptions for each
generation of product, based on historical results, trends and the most current data available as of the filing date. The key estimates and assumptions used in the warranty liability are thoroughly reviewed by management on a quarterly
basis. The key estimates used by the Company to estimate its warranty liability are: (1) the number of units expected to fail and be repaired or returned for replacement over time
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(i.e., return rate); and (2) the per unit cost of repair or replacement of units, including outbound shipping and labor costs, expected to be incurred to replace failed units over time ( i.e., replacement cost).

Estimated Return Rates — The Company’s Quality and Reliability department has primary responsibility to determine the estimated return rates for each generation of product. To establish initial return rate estimates for each
generation of product, the Company’s quality engineers use a combination of industry standard mean time between failure estimates for individual components contained in its product, third-party data collected on similar equipment
deployed in outdoor environments similar to those in which the Company’s products are installed, and rigorous long term reliability and accelerated life cycle testing which simulates the service life of the product in a short period of time. As
units are deployed into operating environments, the Company continues to monitor product performance through its cloud-based monitoring services. It typically takes three to nine months between the date of sale and date of end-user
installation. Consequently, the Company’s ability to monitor actual failures of units sold similarly lags by three to nine months . When a product fails and is returned, the Company performs diagnostic root cause failure analysis to understand
and isolate the underlying mechanism(s) causing the failure. The Company then uses the results of this analysis (combined with the actual, cumulative performance data collected on those units prior to failure through the Company’s cloud-
based monitoring services) to draw conclusions with respect to how or if the identified failure mechanism(s) will impact the remaining units deployed in the installed base.

As the vast majority of the Company’s microinverters have been sold to end users for residential applications, the Company believes that warranty return rates will be affected by changes over time in residential home ownership
because the Company expects that subsequent homeowners are less likely to file returns than the homeowners who originally purchase the microinverters.

Estimated Replacement Costs — Three factors are considered in the Company’s analysis of estimated replacement cost: (1) the estimated cost of replacement products; (2) the estimated cost to ship replacement products to end
users; and (3) the estimated labor reimbursement expected to be paid to third-party installers, or estimated labor cost expected to be incurred for field service technicians, performing replacement services for the end user. Because the
Company’s warranty provides for the replacement of defective microinverters or other products over long periods of time (between 5 years to 25 years, depending on the product and the generation of that product purchased), the estimated
per unit cost of current and future product generations is considered in the estimated replacement cost. Estimated costs to ship replacement units are based on observable, market-based shipping costs paid by the Company to third-party
freight carriers. The Company has a separate program that allows third-party installers to claim fixed-dollar reimbursements for labor costs they incur to replace failed products for a limited time from the date of original installation. Included
in the Company’s estimated replacement cost is an analysis of the number of fixed-dollar labor reimbursements expected to be claimed by third-party installers over the limited offering period.

In addition to the key estimates noted above, the Company also compares actual warranty results to expected results and evaluates any significant differences. Management may make additional adjustments to the warranty provision
based on performance trends or other qualitative factors. If actual return rates or replacement costs differ from the Company’s estimates in future periods, changes to these estimates may be required, resulting in increases or decreases in
the Company’s warranty obligations. Such increases or decreases could be material.

Fair Value Option for Microinverters and Other Products Sold Since January 1, 2014

The Company’s warranty obligations related to products sold since January 1, 2014 provide the Company the right, but not the requirement, to assign its warranty obligations to a third party. Under ASC 825, “Financial Instruments”
(also referred to as “fair value option”), an entity may choose to elect the fair value option for such warranties at the time it first recognizes the eligible item. The Company made an irrevocable election to account for all eligible warranty
obligations associated with products sold since January 1, 2014 at fair value. This election was made to reflect the underlying economics of the time value of money for an obligation that will be settled over an extended period of up to 25
years.
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The Company estimates the fair value of warranty obligations by calculating the warranty obligations in the same manner as for sales prior to January 1, 2014 and applying an expected present value technique to that result. The
expected present value technique, an income approach, converts future amounts into a single current discounted amount. In addition to the key estimates of return rates and replacement costs, the Company used certain inputs that are
unobservable and significant to the overall fair value measurement. Such additional assumptions included compensation comprised of a profit element and risk premium required of a market participant to assume the obligation and a
discount rate based on the Company’s credit-adjusted risk-free rate. Refer to Note 11. “Fair Value Measurements,” for additional information.

Warranty obligations initially recorded at fair value at the time of sale will be subsequently re-measured to fair value at each reporting date. In addition, the fair value of the liability will be accreted over the corresponding term of the
warranty of up to 25 years using the effective interest method.

Commitments and Contingencies

In the normal course of business, the Company is subject to loss contingencies and loss recoveries, such as legal proceedings and claims arising out of its business as well as tariff refunds. An accrual for a loss contingency or loss
recovery is recognized when it is probable and the amount of loss or recovery can be reasonably estimated.

Common Stock Repurchase

The Company accounts for repurchase of common stock under ASC 505 and charges the entire cost of repurchase including excise tax accrued pursuant to the repurchase to the accumulated earnings (deficit).

Advertising Costs

Advertising costs, which are expensed and included in sales and marketing expense when incurred, were $ 1.7 million, $ 3.8 million and $ 3.8 million during the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Research and Development Costs

The Company expenses research and development costs as incurred. Research and development expense consists primarily of expensed equipment for product development, personnel costs, including salaries, benefits and stock-
based compensation, other professional costs and allocated facilities costs.

Stock-Based Compensation

Share-based payments are required to be recognized in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations based on their fair values and the estimated number of shares expected to vest. The Company measures stock-based
compensation expense for all share-based payment awards made to employees and directors, based on the estimated fair values on the date of the grant. The fair value of restricted stock units (“RSUs”) granted is determined based on the
price of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant. The fair value of non-market‑based performance stock units (“PSUs”) granted is determined based on the date of grant or when achievement of performance is probable. The fair
value of market‑based performance stock units granted is determined using a Monte‑Carlo model based on the date of grant or when achievement of performance is probable.

Stock-based compensation for RSUs is recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period. Stock-based compensation for PSUs without market conditions is recognized when the performance condition is probable of
being achieved, and then on a graded basis over the requisite service period. Stock-based compensation for PSUs with market conditions is recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period. Additionally, the Company
estimates its forfeiture rate annually based on historical experience and revises the estimates of forfeiture in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates.

Foreign Currency Translation

The Company and most of its subsidiaries use their respective local currency as their functional currency. Accordingly, foreign currency assets and liabilities are translated using exchange rates in effect at the end of the period.
Aggregate exchange gains and losses arising from the translation of foreign assets and liabilities are included in accumulated other comprehensive loss in stockholders' equity. Foreign subsidiaries that use the U.S.
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dollar as their functional currency remeasure monetary assets and liabilities using exchange rates in effect at the end of the period. In addition, transactions that are denominated in non-functional currency are remeasured using exchange
rates in effect at the end of the period. Exchange gains and losses arising from the remeasurement of monetary assets and liabilities are included in other income (expense), net, in the consolidated statements of operations. Non-monetary
assets and liabilities are carried at their historical values.

Comprehensive Income

Comprehensive income consists of two components, net income and other comprehensive income. Other comprehensive income refers to gains and losses that are recorded as an element of stockholders’ equity but are excluded
from net income. The Company’s other comprehensive income consists of foreign currency translation adjustments and changes in net unrealized gain (loss) on marketable securities, net of tax.

Income Taxes

The Company records income taxes using the asset and liability method, which requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected tax consequences of temporary differences between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and amounts recognized for income tax purposes. In estimating future tax consequences, generally all expected future events other than enactments or changes in the tax law or rates are
considered. Valuation allowances are provided when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount expected to be realized.

The Company assesses the realizability of the deferred tax assets to determine release of valuation allowance as necessary. In the event the Company determines that it is more likely than not that the Company would be able to
realize deferred tax assets in the future in excess of its net recorded amount, an adjustment to the valuation allowance for the deferred tax asset would increase income in the period such determination was made. Likewise, should it be
determined that additional amounts of the net deferred tax asset will not be realized in the future, an adjustment to increase the deferred tax asset valuation allowance will reduce income in the period such determination is made.

The Company operates in various tax jurisdictions and is subject to audit by various tax authorities. The Company follows accounting for uncertainty in income taxes which requires that the tax effects of a position be recognized only if
it is “more likely than not” to be sustained based solely on its technical merits as of the reporting date. The Company considers many factors when evaluating and estimating its tax positions and tax benefits, which may require periodic
adjustments, and which may not accurately anticipate actual outcomes.

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In November 2023, the Financial Accounting Standard Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2023-07, “Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures” (“ASU 2023-07”).
ASU 2023-07 requires additional disclosures for segment reporting, including disclosure of the title and position of the Chief Operating Decision Maker and requires a public entity that has a single reportable segment to provide all the
disclosures required by the amendments in ASU 2023-07, and all existing segment disclosures in Topic 280. ASU 2023-07 is effective for fiscal periods beginning after December 15, 2023, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning
after December 15, 2024. The Company adopted ASU 2023-07 effective for its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024 and subsequent interim periods. Since ASU 2023-07 addresses only disclosures, the
adoption of ASU 2023-07 did not have a significant impact on its consolidated financial statements.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

Not Yet Effective

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, “Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures” (“ASU 2023-09”). ASU 2023-09 requires that an entity disclose specific categories in the effective tax rate
reconciliation as well as provide additional information for reconciling items that meet a quantitative threshold, certain disclosures of state versus federal income tax expenses and taxes paid. ASU 2023-09 is effective for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2024. The Company does not expect the adoption of ASU 2023-09 to have a significant impact on its consolidated financial statements and will adopt the standard effective January 1, 2025.
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In November 2024, the FASB issued ASU 2024-03, “Income Statement-Reporting Comprehensive Income-Expense Disaggregation Disclosures” (“ASU 2024-03”), which requires additional disclosure of certain costs and expenses
within the notes to the financial statements. ASU 2024-03 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2026, and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2027. Early adoption is permitted. The Company is currently
evaluating the impact from ASU 2024-03 on its consolidated financial statements disclosures.

3.     REVENUE RECOGNITION

Disaggregated Revenue

The Company has one major business activity, which is the design, manufacture and sale of solutions for the solar photovoltaic (“PV”) industry. Disaggregated revenue by primary geographical market and timing of revenue
recognition for the Company’s single product line are as follows:

Years Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022

(In thousands)

Primary geographical markets:

United States $ 934,690  $ 1,469,108  $ 1,761,846  

International 395,693  821,678  569,007  

Total $ 1,330,383  $ 2,290,786  $ 2,330,853  

Timing of revenue recognition:

Products delivered at a point in time $ 1,204,367  $ 2,181,099  $ 2,253,645  

Products and services delivered over time 126,016  109,687  77,208  

Total $ 1,330,383  $ 2,290,786  $ 2,330,853  

(1)    Our revenues generated from France has represented 10.6 %, less than 10 % and less than 10 % of our net revenues for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Our net revenues generated from the Netherlands has
represented less than 10 %, 15.3 %, and less than 10 % of our net revenues for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Contract Balances

Accounts receivables, and contract assets and contract liabilities from contracts with customers, are as follows:

December 31,
2024

December 31,
2023

(In thousands)

Accounts receivables $ 223,749  $ 445,959  

Short-term contract assets (Prepaid expenses and other current assets) 42,001  40,241  

Long-term contract assets (Other assets) 110,954  124,190  

Short-term contract liabilities (Deferred revenues, current) 237,225  118,300  

Long-term contract liabilities (Deferred revenues, non-current) 341,982  369,172  

The Company receives payments from customers based upon contractual payment terms. Accounts receivables are recorded in an amount that reflects the consideration that is expected to be received in exchange for those goods or
services when the right to consideration becomes unconditional.

Contract assets include deferred product costs and commissions associated with the deferred revenue and will be amortized along with the associated revenue. The Company had no asset impairment charges related to contract
assets for the year ended December 31, 2024.

(1)
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Significant changes in the balances of contract assets (prepaid expenses and other current assets) as of December 31, 2024 are as follows (in thousands):

Contract Assets

Contract Assets, beginning of period $ 164,431  

Amount recognized ( 48,837 )

Increased due to billings 37,361  

Contract Assets, end of period $ 152,955  

Contract liabilities are recorded as deferred revenue on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and include payments received in advance of performance obligations under the contract and are realized when the associated
revenue is recognized under the contract.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, contract liabilities included $ 110.3  million of cash prepayments from its customers for products to be delivered in 2025, which represents the amount equal to the aggregate purchase price of
the executed sales agreements.

contract liabilities (deferred revenues) as of December 31, 2024 are as follows (in thousands):

Contract Liabilities

Contract Liabilities, beginning of period $ 487,472  

Revenue recognized ( 126,015 )

Increased due to billings 107,477  

Increased due to customer deposits 110,273  

Contract Liabilities, end of period $ 579,207  

Remaining Performance Obligations

Estimated revenue expected to be recognized in future periods related to performance obligations that are unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

December 31,
2024

(In thousands)

Fiscal year:

2025 $ 237,207  

2026 109,619  

2027 89,633  

2028 68,480  

2029 44,332  

Thereafter 29,936  

Total $ 579,207  

4.     INVENTORY

Inventory consists of the following:

December 31,
2024

December 31,
2023

(In thousands)

Raw materials $ 38,740  $ 30,849  

Finished goods 126,264  182,746  

Total inventory $ 165,004  $ 213,595  
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5.     PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET

Property and equipment, net consist of the following:

Estimated Useful 
Life

December 31,

2024 2023

(Years) (In thousands)

Equipment and machinery 3 - 10 $ 207,300  $ 186,298  

Furniture and fixtures 5 - 10 3,341  3,222  

Computer equipment 3 - 5 7,241  7,744  

Capitalized software costs 3 - 5 74,558  61,577  

Building and leasehold improvements 3 - 10 19,047  17,058  

Construction in process 19,305  29,752  

Total 330,792  305,651  

Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization ( 183,278 ) ( 137,407 )

Property and equipment, net $ 147,514  $ 168,244  

Depreciation expense for property and equipment, net, for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 was $ 51.5  million, $ 40.7  million and $ 27.7  million, respectively.

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, unamortized capitalized software costs were $ 22.6  million and $ 25.2  million, respectively.

During the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company determined that a triggering event had occurred as a result of changes to the Company’s long-term projections, accordingly, the Company recorded an impairment
charge for the property and equipment, net asset of $ 2.3  million and $ 5.7  million, respectively, within “Restructuring and asset impairment charges” on the consolidated statement of operations .

6.     BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

Acquisition of GreenCom Networks AG (“GreenCom”)

On October 10, 2022, the Company completed the acquisition of GreenCom, a privately-held company, for paid cash consideration of approximately $ 34.9 million. GreenCom provided Internet of Things (IoT) software solutions for
customers to connect and manage a wide range of distributed energy devices within the home. This acquisition added headcount to the Company’s engineering team in Europe to introduce the IQ Energy Router family of devices in
Germany and Austria beginning in June 2023, which are designed to allow the integration of select third-party EV chargers and heat pumps into the Company’s solar and battery systems.

The acquisition has been accounted for as a business combination under the acquisition method, and accordingly, the approximately $ 34.9 million purchase price is allocated to the tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired
and liabilities assumed based on their respective fair values on the acquisition date.

The following table summarizes the estimated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date (in thousands):

Net tangible liabilities acquired $ ( 118 )

Intangible assets 13,900  

Deferred tax asset, net 4,578  

Goodwill 16,536  

Net assets acquired $ 34,896  

The excess of the consideration paid over the fair values assigned to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed represents the goodwill resulting from the acquisition. Goodwill is primarily attributable to expected synergies in the
Company’s solar offerings and cross-selling opportunities. None of the goodwill is expected to be deductible for German income tax purposes.
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Intangible assets consist primarily of developed technology and customer relationships. Developed technology includes a combination of unpatented technology, trade secrets, computer software and research processes that
facilitates home energy management through integration of existing and planned new products in renewable energy sector. Customer relationships relate to GreenCom’s ability to sell current and future offerings, as well as products built
around the current offering, to its existing customers.

The following table shows the fair value of the separately identifiable intangible assets at the time of acquisition and the period over which each intangible asset will be amortized:

Fair Value Useful Life

(In thousands) (Years)

Developed technology $ 8,000  5

Customer relationships 5,900  5

Total identifiable intangible assets $ 13,900  

The results of GreenCom have been included in the Company’s consolidated statement of operation since the acquisition date and are not material. Pro forma financial information has not been presented for the GreenCom
acquisition as the impact to the Company’s consolidated financial statements was not material.

The Company incurred and accrued costs related to acquisition of $ 1.8  million that were recorded in general and administrative expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations for the year ended December 31,
2022.

Acquisition of SolarLeadFactory, LLC. (“SolarLeadFactory”)

On March 14, 2022, the Company completed the acquisition of SolarLeadFactory, a privately-held company. SolarLeadFactory provided high quality leads to solar installers. As part of the purchase price, the Company paid
approximately $ 26.1  million in cash on March 14, 2022.

The acquisition has been accounted for as a business combination under the acquisition method, and accordingly, the total purchase price is allocated to the tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed
based on their respective fair values on the acquisition date.

The following table summarizes the estimated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date (in thousands):

Net tangible assets acquired $ 2,239  

Intangible assets 11,200  

Goodwill 12,612  

Net assets acquired $ 26,051  

The excess of the consideration paid over the fair values assigned to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed represents the goodwill resulting from the acquisition. Goodwill is primarily attributable to expected synergies in the
Company’s solar offerings and cross-selling opportunities. The entire goodwill amount is expected to be deductible for U.S. federal income tax purposes over 15 years.

Intangible assets consist primarily of developed technology and customer relationships. Developed technology includes a combination of unpatented technology, trade secrets, computer software and research processes that
represent the foundation for the existing and planned new products to facilitate the generation of
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new content. Customer relationships relate to SolarLeadFactory’s ability to sell current and future offerings, as well as products built around the current offering, to its existing customers.

The following table shows the fair value of the separately identifiable intangible assets at the time of acquisition and the period over which each intangible asset will be amortized:

Fair Value Useful Life

(In thousands) (Years)

Developed technology $ 3,600  5

Customer relationships 7,600  5

Total identifiable intangible assets $ 11,200  

The results of SolarLeadFactory have been included in the Company’s consolidated statement of operations since the acquisition date and are not material. Pro forma financial information has not been presented for the
SolarLeadFactory acquisition as the impact to the Company’s consolidated financial statements was not material.

The Company incurred and accrued costs related to acquisition of $ 0.4  million that were recorded in general and administrative expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations for the year ended December 31,
2022 .

7.     GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The Company’s goodwill as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 was as follows:

Goodwill
December 31,

2024
December 31,

2023

(In thousands)

Goodwill, beginning of period $ 214,562  $ 213,559  

Currency translation adjustment ( 2,991 ) 1,003  

Goodwill, end of period $ 211,571  $ 214,562  

The Company’s purchased intangible assets as of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023 were as follows:

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023

Gross Accumulated Amortization Impairment Net Gross Accumulated Amortization Impairment Net

(In thousands)

Intangible assets:

Indefinite-lived intangibles $ 286  $ — $ — $ 286  $ 286  $ — $ — $ 286  

Intangible assets with finite lives:

 Developed technology 51,054  ( 35,903 ) ( 3,351 ) 11,800  51,044  ( 27,093 ) —  23,951  

 Customer relationships 51,306  ( 35,804 ) ( 177 ) 15,325  55,106  ( 29,527 ) ( 3,807 ) 21,772  

 Trade names 37,700  ( 22,713 ) —  14,987  37,700  ( 15,173 ) —  22,527  

Total purchased intangible assets $ 140,346  $ ( 94,420 ) $ ( 3,528 ) $ 42,398  $ 144,136  $ ( 71,793 ) $ ( 3,807 ) $ 68,536  
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During the year ended December 31, 2024, intangible assets decreased by less than $ 0.1  million due to the impact of foreign currency translation.

Amortization expense related to finite-lived intangible assets were as follows:

Years Ended December 31,

2024 2023

(In thousands)

Developed technology $ 8,780  $ 9,832  

Customer relationships 6,254  9,826  

Trade-names 7,540  7,540  

Total amortization expense $ 22,574  $ 27,198  

Amortization of developed technology is recorded to cost of revenues, amortization of customer relationships and trade-names are recorded to sales and marketing expense, and amortization of certain customer relationships is
recorded as a reduction to revenue.

The expected future amortization expense of intangible assets as of December 31, 2024 is presented below:

December 31,
2024

(In thousands)

Fiscal year:

2025 $ 19,960  

2026 17,771  

2027 4,381  

2028 —  

Total $ 42,112  

During the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company determined that a triggering event had occurred as a result of changes to the Company’s long-term projections and performed additional analysis on the valuation
of the certain acquired intangible assets and concluded that the fair value was below its carrying amount. Accordingly, the Company recorded a $ 3.5  million impairment charge for the developed technology and customer relationships for
the year ended December 31, 2024 and $ 3.8  million of impairment for customer relationship for the year ended December 31, 2023, in “Restructuring and asset impairment charges” in the consolidated statements of operations.

8.     CASH EQUIVALENTS, RESTRICTED CASH AND MARKETABLE SECURITIES

The cash equivalents, restricted cash and marketable securities consist of the following:

As of December 31, 2024

Amortized Cost Gross Unrealized Gains Gross Unrealized Losses Fair Value Cash Equivalents Marketable Securities Restricted Cash

(In thousands)

Money market funds $ 191,410  $ —  $ —  $ 191,410  $ 191,410  $ —  $ —  

Certificates of deposit 125,087  13  ( 8 ) 125,092  —  30,092  95,000  

Commercial paper 30,681  40  ( 8 ) 30,713  —  30,713  —  

Corporate notes and bonds 449,612  1,115  ( 1,157 ) 449,570  —  449,570  —  

U.S. Treasuries 111,606  42  ( 36 ) 111,612  —  111,612  —  

U.S. Government agency securities 631,389  1,241  ( 1,137 ) 631,493  —  631,493  —  

Total $ 1,539,785  $ 2,451  $ ( 2,346 ) $ 1,539,890  $ 191,410  $ 1,253,480  $ 95,000  
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As of December 31, 2023

Amortized Cost Gross Unrealized Gains Gross Unrealized Losses Fair Value Cash Equivalents Marketable Securities

(In thousands)

Money market funds $ 132,037  $ —  $ —  $ 132,037  $ 132,037  $ —  

Certificates of deposit 55,863  58  ( 9 ) 55,912  750  55,162  

Commercial paper 71,427  29  ( 19 ) 71,437  1,694  69,743  

Corporate notes and bonds 406,093  934  ( 931 ) 406,096  462  405,634  

U.S. Treasuries 327,773  152  ( 34 ) 327,891  —  327,891  

U.S. Government agency securities 548,391  690  ( 1,225 ) 547,856  —  547,856  

Total $ 1,541,584  $ 1,863  $ ( 2,218 ) $ 1,541,229  $ 134,943  $ 1,406,286  

The following table summarizes the contractual maturities of the Company’s cash equivalents, restricted cash and marketable securities as of December 31, 2024:

Amortized Cost Fair Value

(In thousands)

Due within one year $ 1,095,355  $ 1,096,565  

Due within one to three years 444,430  443,325  

Total $ 1,539,785  $ 1,539,890  

9.      ACCRUED LIABILITIES

Accrued liabilities consist of the following:

December 31,
2024

December 31,
2023

(In thousands)

Customer rebates and sales incentives $ 96,324  $ 158,338  

Liability due to supply agreements 42,745  32,973  

Freight 7,497  19,262  

Salaries, commissions, incentive compensation and benefits 11,956  10,316  

Income tax payable 3,540  8,531  

Operating lease liabilities, current 5,815  5,220  

VAT payable 1,472  3,243  

Liabilities related to restructuring accruals 3,262  3,104  

Other 24,276  20,932  

Total accrued liabilities $ 196,887  $ 261,919  

10.     WARRANTY OBLIGATIONS
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The Company’s warranty obligation activities were as follows:

Years Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022

(In thousands)

Warranty obligations, beginning of period $ 189,087  $ 131,446  $ 73,377  

Accruals for warranties issued during period 27,544  51,866  48,703  

Expense (benefit) from changes in estimates 1,082  ( 19,176 ) 29,275  

Settlements ( 27,611 ) ( 27,216 ) ( 26,257 )

Increase due to accretion expense 11,010  13,821  9,631  

Change in discount rate ( 459 ) 44,422  ( 9,609 )

Other ( 7,764 ) ( 6,076 ) 6,326  

Warranty obligations, end of period 192,889  189,087  131,446  

Less: warranty obligations, current ( 34,656 ) ( 36,066 ) ( 35,556 )

Warranty obligations, non-current $ 158,233  $ 153,021  $ 95,890  

(1)    Refer to Note 11, “Fair Value Measurements” for additional information about the monetary impact for changes in the discount rate.

Changes in Estimates

On a quarterly basis, the Company uses the best and most complete underlying information available, following a consistent, systematic and rational methodology to determine its warranty obligations. The Company considers all
available evidence to assess the reasonableness of all key assumptions underlying its estimated warranty obligations for each generation of microinverter. The changes in estimates discussed below resulted from consideration of new or
additional information becoming available and subsequent developments. Changes in estimates included in the table above were comprised of the following:

2024

In 2024, the Company recorded $ 1.1 million in warranty expense from changes in estimates, of which $ 10.2  million related to the Company proactively addressing certain component defects in a specific population of products that
did not meet the Company’s high quality standards, $ 6.0  million for continuing analysis of field performance data and diagnostic root-cause failure analysis primarily related to prior generation products, $ 5.8  million from increase in
product replacement costs due to increase in freight costs as well as $ 0.5  million related to increasing the warranty term to 20 years for microinverter units sold in Mexico, Columbia, Panama, Costa Rica and nine Caribbean countries. This
expense was partially offset by a benefit from $ 17.0  million related to a decrease in product replacement costs primarily associated with Enphase IQ Battery storage systems and related accessories as the Company expanded its network
of field service technicians in the United States, Europe and Australia to provide direct homeowner assistance, and $ 4.4  million related to continuing analysis of field performance data and diagnostic root-cause failure analysis for early
generations of the IQ Battery.

2023

In 2023, the Company recorded $ 19.2 million in warranty benefit from changes in estimates, of which $ 27.3  million related to a decrease in product replacement costs related to Enphase IQ Battery storage systems and accessories
as the Company expanded its network of field service technicians in the United States, Europe and Australia to provide direct homeowner assistance, and $ 8.8  million related to a decrease in product replacement costs for all other
products. This benefit was partially offset by $ 8.6  million related to the Company proactively addressing certain component defects in a specific population of products that did not meet the Company's high quality standards as well as
continuing analysis of field performance data and diagnostic root-cause failure analysis primarily for prior generation products and $ 8.3  million for increasing the warranty period for the IQ Battery from 10 years to 15 years.

(1)
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2022

In 2022, the Company recorded $ 29.3 million in warranty expense from changes in estimates, of which $ 18.3  million related to continuing analysis of field performance data and diagnostic root-cause failure analysis, primarily for IQ
Battery storage systems and prior generation products, $ 7.0  million related to an increase in expedited freight costs and replacement costs, and $ 4.0  million due to an increase in labor reimbursement rates.

11.     FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The accounting guidance defines fair value as the price that would be received from selling an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. When determining the
fair value measurements for assets and liabilities recorded at fair value, the Company considers the principal or most advantageous market in which it would transact and considers assumptions that market participants would use when
pricing the asset or liability, such as inherent risk, transfer restrictions, and risk of nonperformance.

The fair value hierarchy requires an entity to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair value. An asset’s or liability’s categorization within the fair value hierarchy is based
upon the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. Three levels of inputs may be used to measure fair value:

• Level 1 - Valuations based on quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Company is able to access. Since valuations are based on quoted prices that are readily and regularly available in an active
market, valuation of such assets or liabilities do not entail a significant degree of judgment.

• Level 2 - Valuations based on one or more quoted prices in markets that are not active or for which all significant inputs are observable, either directly or indirectly.

• Level 3 - Valuations based on inputs that are unobservable and significant to the overall fair value measurement.
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The following table presents assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis using the above input categories:

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023

(In thousands)

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Assets:

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash:

Money market funds $ 191,410  $ —  $ —  $ 132,037  $ —  $ —  

Certificates of deposit 95,000  —  —  —  750  —  

Commercial paper —  —  —  —  1,694  —  

Corporate notes and bonds —  —  —  462  —  

Marketable securities:

Certificates of deposit —  30,092  —  —  55,162  —  

Commercial paper —  30,713  —  —  69,743  —  

Corporate notes and bonds —  449,570  —  —  405,634  —  

U.S. Treasuries —  111,612  —  —  327,891  —  

U.S. Government agency securities —  631,493  —  —  547,856  —  

Other assets:

Investments in debt securities —  —  64,834  —  —  79,855  

Total assets measured at fair value $ 286,410  $ 1,253,480  $ 64,834  $ 132,037  $ 1,409,192  $ 79,855  

Liabilities:

Warranty obligations:

Current $ —  $ —  $ 27,173  $ —  $ —  $ 28,667  

Non-current —  —  143,743  —  —  133,126  

Total warranty obligations measured at fair value —  —  170,916  —  —  161,793  

Total liabilities measured at fair value $ —  $ —  $ 170,916  $ —  $ —  $ 161,793  

Notes due 2028, Notes due 2026 and Notes due 2025

The Company carries the Notes due 2028 (as defined in Note 13, “Debt”) and Notes due 2026 (as defined in Note 13, “Debt”) at face value less unamortized debt issuance costs on its consolidated balance sheets. The Company
carries the Notes due 2025 (as defined in Note 13, “Debt”) at face value less unamortized debt discount and issuance costs on its consolidated balance sheets. As of December 31, 2024, the fair value of the Notes due 2028, Notes due
2026 and Notes due 2025 was $ 472.9 million, $ 593.8 million and $ 106.1 million, respectively. The fair value as of December 31, 2024 was determined based on the closing trading price per $100 principal amount as of the last day of
trading for the period. The Company considers the fair value of the Notes due 2028, Notes due 2026 and Notes due 2025 to be a Level 2 measurement as they are not actively traded.

Equity investments without readily determinable fair value

The Company had previously invested $ 6.0  million in a privately-held company without a readily determinable fair value, which is included in “Other assets” in the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2023. During the
year ended December 31, 2024, the Company determined that the carrying value of the investment was not recoverable. Accordingly, the Company recorded an impairment charge of $ 6.0  million within “Other income, net” on the
consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2024.

Investments in debt securities

The Company had previously taken a non-voting participating interest of approximately $ 15.0  million in a loan held by a privately-held company, which is included in “Other assets” in the consolidated balance sheet as of
December 31, 2023. As of December 31, 2024, the Company accreted interest of approximately $ 2.0  million in “Other income (expense), net” in the consolidated statement of operations. The Company determined that the
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carrying value of the investment was not recoverable as the privately-held company filed for Chapter 11 bankruptcy during the year ended December 31, 2024. Accordingly, the Company recorded an impairment charge of $ 17.0  million
within “Other income, net” on the consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2024.

In July 2023, the Company invested approximately $ 15.0  million in a secured convertible promissory note issued by the stockholders of a privately-held company. The investment qualified as an investment in a debt security and will
accrete interest. The principal plus accrued interest is payable upon maturity unless it is converted to equity at a pre-determined price. As the investment includes a conversion option, the Company has elected to account for this investment
under the fair value option and any changes in fair value of the investment is recognized in “Other income (expense), net” in the Company’s consolidated statement of operations for that period. Principal plus accrued interest receivable of
the investment approximates the fair value.

Investment in debt securities is recorded in “Other assets” on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023. The changes in the balance in investments in debt securities during the
period were as follows:

Years Ended December 31,

2024 2023

(In thousands)

Balance at beginning of period $ 79,855  $ 56,777  

Investment —  15,000  

Fair value adjustments included in other income, net 1,967  8,078  

Impairment ( 16,988 ) —  

Balance at end of period $ 64,834  $ 79,855  

Warranty obligations

Fair Value Option for Warranty Obligations Related to Products Sold Since January 1, 2014

The Company estimates the fair value of warranty obligations by calculating the warranty obligations in the same manner as for sales prior to January 1, 2014 and applying an expected present value technique to that result. The
expected present value technique, an income approach, converts future amounts into a single current discounted amount. In addition to the key estimates of return rates and replacement costs, the Company used certain Level 3 inputs,
which are unobservable and significant to the overall fair value measurement. Such additional assumptions are based on the Company’s credit-adjusted risk-free rate (“discount rate”) and compensation comprised of a profit element and
risk premium required of a market participant to assume the obligation.
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The following table provides information regarding changes in nonfinancial liabilities related to the Company’s warranty obligations measured at fair value on a recurring basis using significant unobservable inputs designated as Level
3 for the periods indicated:

Years Ended December 31,

2024 2023

(In thousands)

Balance at beginning of period $ 161,793  $ 106,489  

Accruals for warranties issued during period 27,500  51,716  

Changes in estimates 625  ( 22,557 )

Settlements ( 21,789 ) ( 26,022 )

Increase due to accretion expense 11,010  13,821  

Change in discount rate ( 459 ) 44,422  

Other ( 7,764 ) ( 6,076 )

Balance at end of period $ 170,916  $ 161,793  

Quantitative and Qualitative Information about Level 3 Fair Value Measurements

As of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, the significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement of the Company’s liabilities designated as Level 3 were as follows, of which the monetary impact for change
in discount rate is captured in “Change in discount rate” in the table above:

Percent Used
(Weighted Average)

Item Measured at Fair Value Valuation Technique Description of Significant Unobservable Input
December 31,

2024
December 31,

2023

Warranty obligations for products sold since January 1, 2014 Discounted cash flows
Profit element and risk premium 16.8 % 16.8 %

Credit-adjusted risk-free rate 7.2 % 7.2 %

Sensitivity of Level 3 Inputs - Warranty Obligations

Each of the significant unobservable inputs is independent of the other. The profit element and risk premium are estimated based on the requirements of a third-party participant willing to assume the Company’s warranty obligations.
The discount rate is determined by reference to the Company’s own credit standing at the fair value measurement date, which insignificantly declined during the year December 31, 2024 contributing to a $ 0.5  million warranty benefit, as
compared to same period in 2023 when it improved contributing to the $ 44.4 million warranty expense, both captured in “Change in discount rate” in the table above. Under the expected present value technique, increasing the profit
element and risk premium input by 100 basis points would result in a $ 1.2  million increase to the liability. Decreasing the profit element and risk premium by 100 basis points would result in a $ 1.2  million reduction to the liability. Increasing
the discount rate by 100 basis points would result in a $ 11.6  million decrease to the liability. Decreasing the discount rate by 100 basis points would result in a $ 13.1  million increase to the liability.

12.     RESTRUCTURING AND ASSET IMPAIRMENT CHARGES

Restructuring and asset impairment charges consist of the following:
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Years Ended December 31,

2024 2023

(In thousands)

Employee severance and benefits $ 6,380  $ 2,155  

Contract termination charges 1,991  3,700  

Asset impairment 4,783  9,829  

Total restructuring and asset impairment charges $ 13,154  $ 15,684  

2022 Restructuring

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company implemented restructuring actions to reorganize the global workforce, consolidate facilities and eliminate non-core projects, which was completed in the second quarter of
2023. The Company incurred restructuring costs of $ 2.4  million and $ 0.8  million in the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2023, respectively.

2023 Restructuring Plan

In the fourth quarter of 2023, the Company implemented a restructuring plan (the “2023 Restructuring Plan”) designed to increase operational efficiencies and execution, reduce operating costs, and better align the Company’s
workforce and cost structure with current market conditions, and the Company’s business needs, strategic priorities and ongoing commitment to profitable growth. The Company completed its restructuring activities under the 2023
Restructuring Plan in the fourth quarter of 2024.

The following table presents the details of the Company’s restructuring and asset impairment charges under the 2023 Restructuring Plan for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023:

Years Ended December 31,

2024 2023

(In thousands)

Employee severance and benefits $ 1,219  $ 1,374  

Contract termination charges 1,225  3,700  

Asset impairment 881  9,829  

Total restructuring and asset impairment charges $ 3,325  $ 14,903  

The following table provides information regarding changes in the Company’s accrued restructuring balances under the 2023 Restructuring Plan for the periods indicated:

Employee Severance and Benefits Contract Termination Charges Asset Impairment Total

(In thousands)

Balance as of December 31, 2022 $ —  $ —  $ —  $ —  

Charges 1,374  3,700  9,829  14,903  

Cash payments ( 70 ) ( 1,900 ) —  ( 1,970 )

Non-cash settlement and other —  —  ( 9,829 ) ( 9,829 )

Balance as of December 31, 2023 $ 1,304  $ 1,800  $ —  $ 3,104  

Charges 1,219  1,225  881  3,325  

Cash payments ( 1,955 ) ( 2,132 ) —  ( 4,087 )

Non-cash settlement and other ( 292 ) ( 893 ) ( 881 ) ( 2,066 )

Balance as of December 31, 2024 $ 276  $ —  $ —  $ 276  
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2024 Restructuring Plan

In the fourth quarter of 2024, the Company implemented a restructuring plan (the “2024 Restructuring Plan”) designed to better align its workforce and cost structure with the Company’s business needs, strategic priorities and
ongoing commitment to profitable growth, while increasing operational efficiencies and reducing operating cost. The Company plans to complete its restructuring activities under the 2024 Restructuring Plan by June 30, 2025.

The following table presents the details of the Company’s restructuring and asset impairment charges under the 2024 Restructuring Plan for the year ended December 31, 2024:

Year Ended December 31,

2024

(In thousands)

Employee severance and benefits $ 5,161  

Contract termination charges 766  

Asset impairment 3,902  

Total restructuring and asset impairment charges $ 9,829  

The following table provides information regarding changes in the Company’s accrued restructuring balances under the 2024 Restructuring Plan for the periods indicated:

Employee Severance and Benefits Contract Termination Charges Asset Impairment Total

(In thousands)

Balance as of December 31, 2023 $ —  $ —  $ —  $ —  

Charges 5,161  766  3,902  9,829  

Cash payments ( 2,941 ) —  —  ( 2,941 )

Non-cash settlement and other —  —  ( 3,902 ) ( 3,902 )

Balance as of December 31, 2024 $ 2,220  $ 766  $ —  $ 2,986  
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13.     DEBT

The following table provides information regarding the Company’s debt:

December 31,
2024

December 31,
2023

(In thousands)

Convertible notes

Notes due 2028 $ 575,000  $ 575,000  

Less: unamortized debt issuance costs ( 4,102 ) ( 5,408 )

Carrying amount of Notes due 2028 570,898  569,592  

Notes due 2026 632,500  632,500  

Less: unamortized debt issuance costs ( 2,309 ) ( 4,317 )

Carrying amount of Notes due 2026 630,191  628,183  

Notes due 2025 102,168  102,175  

Less: unamortized debt discount ( 803 ) ( 5,644 )

Less: unamortized debt issuance costs ( 74 ) ( 568 )

Carrying amount of Notes due 2025 101,291  95,963  

Total carrying amount of debt 1,302,380  1,293,738  

Less: debt, current ( 101,291 ) —  

Debt, non-current $ 1,201,089  $ 1,293,738  

The following tables present the total amount of interest cost recognized in the consolidated statement of operations relating to the Notes:

Years Ended December 31,

2024 2023

Notes due 2028 Notes due 2026 Notes due 2025 Notes due 2028 Notes due 2026 Notes due 2025
Convertible Senior Notes due
2023 (the “Notes due 2023”)

(In thousands)

Contractual interest expense $ —  $ —  $ 256  $ —  $ —  $ 256  $ 117  

Amortization of debt discount —  —  4,841  —  —  4,585  —  

Amortization of debt issuance costs 1,308  2,006  490  1,297  1,990  486  23  

Total interest cost recognized $ 1,308  $ 2,006  $ 5,587  $ 1,297  $ 1,990  $ 5,327  $ 140  

Convertible Senior Notes due 2028

On March 1, 2021, the Company issued $ 575.0 million aggregate principal amount of its 0.0 % convertible senior notes due 2028 (the “Notes due 2028”). The Notes due 2028 will not bear regular interest, and the principal amount of
the Notes due 2028 will not accrete. The Notes due 2028 are general unsecured obligations and are governed by an indenture between the Company and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee. The Notes due 2028 will mature on
March 1, 2028, unless earlier repurchased by the Company or converted at the option of the holders. The Company received approximately $ 566.4 million in net proceeds, after deducting the initial purchasers’ discount, from the issuance
of the Notes due 2028.
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The initial conversion rate for the Notes due 2028 is 3.5104 shares of common stock per $1,000 principal amount of the Notes due 2028 (which represents an initial conversion price of approximately $ 284.87 per share). Upon
conversion, the Company will settle conversions of the Notes due 2028 through payment or delivery, as the case may be, of cash, shares of its common stock or a combination of cash and shares of its common stock, at the Company’s
election.

The Company may redeem for cash all or any portion of the Notes due 2028, at the Company’s election, on or after September 6, 2024, if the last reported sale price of the Company’s common stock has been greater than or equal to
130 % of the conversion price then in effect for the Notes due 2028 ( i.e., $ 370.33 , which is 130 % of the current conversion price for the Notes due 2028) for at least 20 trading days (whether or not consecutive) during any 30 consecutive
trading day period ending on, and including, the trading day immediately preceding the date on which the Company provides notice of redemption. The redemption price will equal 100 % of the principal amount of the Notes due 2028 to be
redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid special interest, if any to, but excluding, the relevant redemption date. No sinking fund is provided for the Notes due 2028.

The Notes due 2028 may be converted on any day prior to the close of business on the business day immediately preceding September 1, 2027, in multiples of $1,000 principal amount, at the option of the holder only under any of
the following circumstances: (1) during any calendar quarter commencing after the calendar quarter ending on June 30, 2021 (and only during such calendar quarter), if the last reported sale price of the Company’s common stock for at
least 20 trading days (whether or not consecutive) during a period of 30 consecutive trading days ending on, and including, the last trading day of the immediately preceding calendar quarter is greater than or equal to 130 % of the
conversion price for the Notes due 2028 on each applicable trading day; (2) during the five business day period after any five consecutive trading day period (the “Measurement Period”) in which the “trading price” (as defined in the relevant
indenture) per $1,000 principal amount of notes for each trading day of the Measurement Period was less than 98 % of the product of the last reported sale price of the Company’s common stock and the conversion rate for the Notes due
2028 on each such trading day; (3) if the Company calls any or all of the Notes due 2028 for redemption, at any time prior to the close of business on the scheduled trading day immediately preceding the redemption date; or (4) upon the
occurrence of specified corporate events. On and after September 1, 2027 until the close of business on the second scheduled trading day immediately preceding the maturity date of March 1, 2028, holders of the Notes due 2028 may
convert their notes at any time, regardless of the foregoing circumstances. Upon the occurrence of a fundamental change (as defined in the relevant indenture), holders may require the Company to repurchase all or a portion of their Notes
due 2028 for cash at a price equal to 100 % of the principal amount of the notes to be repurchased plus any accrued and unpaid special interest, if any, to, but excluding, the fundamental change repurchase date.

As of December 31, 2024, the sales price of the Company’s common stock was not greater than or equal to $ 370.33 ( 130 % of the notes conversion price) for at least 20 trading days (whether consecutive or not) during a period of
30 consecutive trading days preceding the quarter-ended December 31, 2024. As a result, the Notes due 2028 are not convertible at the holders’ option through December 31, 2024. Accordingly, the Company classified the net carrying
amount of the Notes due 2028 of $ 570.9 million as Debt, non-current on the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2024. As of December 31, 2024, the unamortized deferred issuance cost for the Notes due 2028 was $ 4.1
 million on the consolidated balance sheet.

Notes due 2028 Hedge and Warrant Transactions

In connection with the offering of the Notes due 2028, the Company entered into privately-negotiated convertible note hedge transactions (“Notes due 2028 Hedge”) pursuant to which the Company has the option to purchase a total
of approximately 2.0  million shares of its common stock (subject to anti-dilution adjustments), which is the same number of shares initially issuable upon conversion of the Notes due 2028, at a price of $ 284.87  per share. The total cost of
the convertible note hedge transactions was approximately $ 161.6  million. The convertible note hedge transactions are expected generally to reduce potential dilution to the Company’s common stock upon any conversion of the Notes due
2028 and/or offset any cash payments the Company is required to make in excess of the principal amount of converted notes, as the case may be.

Additionally, the Company separately entered into privately-negotiated warrant transactions (the “2028 Warrants”) whereby the Company sold warrants to acquire approximately 2.0  million shares of the Company’s common stock
(subject to anti-dilution adjustments) at an initial strike price of $ 397.91 per share. The Company
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received aggregate proceeds of approximately $ 123.4  million from the sale of the 2028 Warrants. If the market value per share of the Company’s common stock, as measured under the 2028 Warrants, exceeds the strike price of the 2028
Warrants, the 2028 Warrants will have a dilutive effect on the Company’s earnings per share, unless the Company elects, subject to certain conditions, to settle the 2028 Warrants in cash. Taken together, the purchase of the Notes due
2028 Hedge and the sale of the 2028 Warrants are intended to reduce potential dilution from the conversion of the Notes due 2028 and to effectively increase the overall conversion price from $ 284.87 to $ 397.91 per share. The 2028
Warrants are only exercisable on the applicable expiration dates in accordance with the Notes due 2028 Hedge. Subject to the other terms of the 2028 Warrants, the first expiration date applicable to the Notes due 2028 Hedge is June 1,
2028, and the final expiration date applicable to the Notes due 2028 Hedge is July 27, 2028.

Given that the transactions meet certain accounting criteria, the Notes due 2028 Hedge and the 2028 Warrants transactions are recorded in stockholders’ equity, and they are not accounted for as derivatives and are not remeasured
each reporting period.

Convertible Senior Notes due 2026

On March 1, 2021, the Company issued $ 575.0  million aggregate principal amount of 0.0 % convertible senior notes due 2026 (the “Notes due 2026”). In addition, on March 12, 2021, the Company issued an additional $ 57.5  million
aggregate principal amount of the Notes due 2026 pursuant to the initial purchasers’ full exercise of the over-allotment option for additional Notes due 2026. The Notes due 2026 will not bear regular interest, and the principal amount of the
Notes due 2026 will not accrete. The Notes due 2026 are general unsecured obligations and are governed by an indenture between the Company and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee. The Notes due 2026 will mature on March 1,
2026, unless repurchased earlier by the Company or converted at the option of the holders. The Company received approximately $ 623.0  million in net proceeds, after deducting the initial purchasers’ discount, from the issuance of the
Notes due 2026.

The initial conversion rate for the Notes due 2026 is 3.2523 shares of common stock per $1,000 principal amount of the Notes due 2026 (which represents an initial conversion price of approximately $ 307.47  per share). Upon
conversion, the Company will settle conversions of Notes due 2026 through payment or delivery, as the case may be, of cash, shares of its common stock or a combination of cash and shares of its common stock, at the Company’s
election.

The Company may redeem for cash all or any portion of the Notes due 2026, at the Company’s election, on or after September 6, 2023, if the last reported sale price of the Company’s common stock has been greater than or equal to
130 % of the conversion price then in effect for the Notes due 2026 ( i.e., $ 399.71 , which is 130 % of the current conversion price for the Notes due 2026) for at least 20 trading days (whether or not consecutive) during a period of 30
consecutive trading day period ending on, and including, the trading day immediately preceding the date on which the Company provides notice of redemption. The redemption price will equal 100 % of the principal amount of the Notes due
2026 to be redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid special interest, if any, to, but excluding, the relevant redemption date for the Notes due 2026. The redemption price will be increased as described in the relevant indentures by a number of
additional shares of the Company in connection with such optional redemption by the Company. No sinking fund is provided for the Notes due 2026.

The Notes due 2026 may be converted on any day prior to the close of business on the business day immediately preceding September 1, 2025, in multiples of $1,000 principal amount, at the option of the holder only under any of
the following circumstances: (1) during any calendar quarter commencing after the calendar quarter ending on June 30, 2021 (and only during such calendar quarter), if the last reported sale price of the Company’s common stock for at
least 20 trading days (whether or not consecutive) during a period of 30 consecutive trading days ending on, and including, the last trading day of the immediately preceding calendar quarter is greater than or equal to 130 % of the
conversion price of the Notes due 2026 on each applicable trading day; (2) during the five business day period after any five consecutive trading day period (the “measurement period”) in which the “trading price” (as defined in the relevant
indenture) per $1,000 principal amount of notes for each trading day of the measurement period was less than 98 % of the product of the last reported sale price of the Company’s common stock and the conversion rate for Notes due 2026
on each such trading day; (3) if the Company calls any or all of the Notes due 2026 for redemption, at any time prior to the close of business on the scheduled trading day immediately preceding the redemption date; or (4) upon the
occurrence of specified corporate events. On and after
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September 1, 2025 until the close of business on the second scheduled trading day immediately preceding the maturity date of March 1, 2026, holders of the Notes due 2026 may convert their notes at any time, regardless of the foregoing
circumstances. Upon the occurrence of a fundamental change (as defined in the relevant indenture), holders may require the Company to repurchase all or a portion of their Notes due 2026 for cash at a price equal to 100 % of the principal
amount of the notes to be repurchased plus any accrued and unpaid special interest, if any, to, but excluding, the fundamental change repurchase date.

As of December 31, 2024, the sale price of the Company’s common stock was not greater than or equal to $ 399.71 ( 130 % of the notes conversion price) for at least 20 trading days (whether consecutive or not) during a period of 30
consecutive trading days preceding the quarter-ended December 31, 2024. As a result, the Notes due 2026 are not convertible at the holders’ option through December 31, 2024. Accordingly, the Company classified the net carrying
amount of the Notes due 2026 of $ 630.2 million as Debt, non-current on the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2024. As of December 31, 2024, the unamortized deferred issuance cost for the Notes due 2026 was $ 2.3
 million on the consolidated balance sheet.

Notes due 2026 Hedge and Warrant Transactions

In connection with the offering of the Notes due 2026 (including in connection with the issuance of additional Notes due 2026 upon the initial purchasers’ exercise of their over-allotment option), the Company entered into privately-
negotiated convertible note hedge transactions (the “Notes due 2026 Hedge”) pursuant to which the Company has the option to purchase a total of approximately 2.1  million shares of its common stock (subject to anti-dilution adjustments),
which is the same number of shares initially issuable upon conversion of the Notes due 2026, at a price of $ 307.47  per share, which is the initial conversion price of the Notes due 2026. The total cost of the Notes due 2026 Hedge was
approximately $ 124.6  million. The Notes due 2026 Hedge are expected generally to reduce potential dilution to the Company’s common stock upon any conversion of the Notes due 2026 and/or offset any cash payments the Company is
required to make in excess of the principal amount of converted notes, as the case may be.

Additionally, the Company separately entered into privately-negotiated warrant transactions, including in connection with the issuance of additional Notes due 2026 upon the initial purchasers’ exercise of their over-allotment option
(the “2026 Warrants”), whereby the Company sold warrants to acquire approximately 2.1  million shares of the Company’s common stock (subject to anti-dilution adjustments) at an initial strike price of $ 397.91 per share. The Company
received aggregate proceeds of approximately $ 97.4  million from the sale of the 2026 Warrants. If the market value per share of the Company’s common stock, as measured under the 2026 Warrants, exceeds the strike price of the 2026
Warrants, the 2026 Warrants will have a dilutive effect on the Company’s earnings per share, unless the Company elects, subject to certain conditions, to settle the 2026 Warrants in cash. Taken together, the purchase of the Notes due
2026 Hedge and the sale of the 2026 Warrants are intended to reduce potential dilution from the conversion of the Notes due 2026 and to effectively increase the overall conversion price from $ 307.47 to $ 397.91 per share. The 2026
Warrants are only exercisable on the applicable expiration dates in accordance with the 2026 Warrants. Subject to the other terms of the 2026 Warrants, the first expiration date applicable to the Warrants is June 1, 2026, and the final
expiration date applicable to the 2026 Warrants is July 27, 2026.

Given that the transactions meet certain accounting criteria, the Notes due 2026 Hedge and the 2026 Warrants transactions are recorded in stockholders’ equity, and they are not accounted for as derivatives and are not remeasured
each reporting period.

Convertible Senior Notes due 2025

On March 9, 2020, the Company issued $ 320.0  million aggregate principal amount of its 0.25 % convertible senior notes due 2025 (the “Notes due 2025”). The Notes due 2025 are general unsecured obligations and bear interest at
an annual rate of  0.25 % per year, payable semi-annually on March 1 and September 1 of each year. The Notes due 2025 are governed by an indenture between the Company and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee. The Notes
due 2025 will mature on March 1, 2025, unless earlier repurchased by the Company or converted at the option of the holders. The Company may not redeem the notes prior to the maturity date, and no sinking fund is provided for the notes.
The Notes due 2025 may be converted, under certain circumstances as described below, based on an initial conversion rate of 12.2637 shares of common stock per $1,000 principal amount (which represents an initial conversion price of $
81.54  per share). The conversion rate for the Notes due
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2025 will be subject to adjustment upon the occurrence of certain specified events but will not be adjusted for accrued and unpaid interest. In addition, upon the occurrence of a make-whole fundamental change (as defined in the relevant
indenture), the Company will, in certain circumstances, increase the conversion rate by a number of additional shares for a holder that elects to convert its notes in connection with such make-whole fundamental change. The Company
received approximately $ 313.0  million in net proceeds, after deducting the initial purchasers’ discount, from the issuance of the Notes due 2025.

The Notes due 2025 may be converted prior to the close of business on the business day immediately preceding September 1, 2024, in multiples of $1,000 principal amount, at the option of the holder only under the following
circumstances: (1) during any calendar quarter commencing after the calendar quarter ending on June 30, 2020 (and only during such calendar quarter), if the last reported sale price of the Company’s common stock for at least 20 trading
days (whether or not consecutive) during a period of 30 consecutive trading days ending on, and including, the last trading day of the immediately preceding calendar quarter is greater than or equal to 130 % of the conversion price on each
applicable trading day; (2) during the five business day period after any five consecutive trading day period (the “measurement period”) in which the “trading price” (as defined in the relevant indenture) per $1,000 principal amount of notes
for each trading day of the measurement period was less than 98 % of the product of the last reported sale price of the Company’s common stock and the conversion rate on each such trading day; or (3) upon the occurrence of specified
corporate events. On and after September 1, 2024 until the close of business on the second scheduled trading day immediately preceding the maturity date of March 1, 2025, holders may convert their notes at any time, regardless of the
foregoing circumstances. These conversions will be settled in a combination settlement method with the principal value settled in cash and the remaining value in shares of the Company’s common stock. Upon the occurrence of a
fundamental change (as defined in the relevant indenture), holders may require the Company to repurchase all or a portion of their Notes due 2025 for cash at a price equal to 100 % of the principal amount of the notes to be repurchased
plus any accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, the fundamental change repurchase date.

As the Notes due 2025 mature in less than a year, the Company classified the net carrying amount of the Notes due 2025 of $ 101.3 million as Debt, current on the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2024.

Partial repurchase of Notes due 2025

On June 5, 2024, the Company received a request for conversion of $ 5,000 in the principal amount of the Notes due 2025. In July 2024, the principal amount of the converted Notes due 2025 was repaid in cash. In connection with
the conversion, the Company also issued 16 shares of its common stock to the holders of the converted Notes due 2025, with an aggregate fair value of less than $ 0.1  million, representing the conversion value in excess of the principal
amount of the Notes due 2025. These shares were offset by 14 shares the Company received from the corresponding exercise of the notes hedge.

On December 29, 2023, the Company received a request for conversion of $ 2,000 in the principal amount of the Notes due 2025. In February 2024, the principal amount of the converted Notes due 2025 was repaid in cash. In
connection with the conversion, the Company also issued six shares of its common stock to the holders of the converted Notes due 2025, with an aggregate fair value of less than $ 0.1  million, representing the conversion value in excess
of the principal amount of the Notes due 2025. Following the repurchase combined with repurchase in previous years, as of December 31, 2023, $ 102.2  million aggregate principal amount of the Notes due 2025 remained outstanding.

The derived effective interest rate on the Notes due 2025 host contract was determined to be 5.18 %, which remains unchanged from the date of issuance. The remaining unamortized debt discount was $ 0.8 million as of
December 31, 2024, and will be amortized over approximately 0.2 years from December 31, 2024.

Notes due 2025 Hedge and Warrant Transactions

In connection with the offering of the Notes due 2025, the Company entered into privately-negotiated convertible note hedge transactions (the “Notes due 2025 Hedge”) pursuant to which the Company has the option to purchase a
total of approximately 3.9  million shares of its common stock (subject to anti-dilution adjustments), which is the same number of shares initially issuable upon conversion of the notes, at a price of $ 81.54  per share, which is the initial
conversion price of the Notes due 2025. The total cost of the convertible note hedge transactions was approximately $ 89.1  million. The convertible note hedge transactions are expected generally to reduce
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potential dilution to the Company’s common stock upon any conversion of the Notes due 2025 and/or offset any cash payments the Company is required to make in excess of the principal amount of converted notes, as the case may be.

Additionally, the Company separately entered into privately-negotiated warrant transactions in connection with the offering of the Notes due 2025 whereby the Company sold the 2025 Warrants to acquire approximately 3.9  million
shares of the Company’s common stock (subject to anti-dilution adjustments) at an initial strike price of $ 106.94 per share. The Company received aggregate proceeds of approximately $ 71.6  million from the sale of the 2025 Warrants. If
the market value per share of the Company’s common stock, as measured under the 2025 Warrants, exceeds the strike price of the 2025 Warrants, the 2025 Warrants will have a dilutive effect on the Company’s earnings per share, unless
the Company elects, subject to certain conditions, to settle the 2025 Warrants in cash. Taken together, the purchase of the convertible note hedges in connection with the Notes due 2025 Hedge and the sale of the 2025 Warrants are
intended to reduce potential dilution from the conversion of the Notes due 2025 and to effectively increase the overall conversion price from $ 81.54 to $ 106.94 per share. The 2025 Warrants are only exercisable on the applicable expiration
dates in accordance with the agreements relating to each of the 2025 Warrants. Subject to the other terms of the 2025 Warrants, the first expiration date applicable to the 2025 Warrants is June 1, 2025, and the final expiration date
applicable to the 2025 Warrants is September 23, 2025.

As of December 31, 2024, options to purchase approximately 1.3  million shares of common stock remained outstanding under the Notes due 2025 Hedge, and 2025 Warrants exercisable to purchase approximately 1.3  million shares
remained outstanding.

Given that the transactions meet certain accounting criteria, the Notes due 2025 Hedge and the 2025 Warrants transactions are recorded in stockholders’ equity, and they are not accounted for as derivatives and are not remeasured
each reporting period.

14.     COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Operating Leases

The Company leases office facilities under noncancellable operating leases that expire on various dates through 2034, some of which may include options to extend the leases for up to 12 years.

The components of lease expense are presented as follows:

Years Ended December 31,

2024 2023

(In thousands)

Operating lease costs $ 11,047  $ 10,406  

The components of lease liabilities are presented as follows:

December 31,
2024

December 31,
2023

(In thousands except years and percentage data)

Operating lease liabilities, current (Accrued liabilities) $ 5,815  $ 5,220  

Operating lease liabilities, non-current (Other liabilities) 23,044  18,802  

Total operating lease liabilities $ 28,859  $ 24,022  

Supplemental lease information:

Weighted average remaining lease term 5.9 years 5.8 years

Weighted average discount rate 6.7 % 7.0 %
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Supplemental cash flow and other information related to operating leases were as follows:

Years Ended December 31,

2024 2023

(In thousands)

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:

Operating cash flows from operating leases $ 7,641  $ 7,225  

Non-cash investing activities:

Lease liabilities arising from obtaining right-of-use assets $ 12,687  $ 5,005  

Undiscounted cash flows of operating lease liabilities as of December 31, 2024 were as follows:

Lease Amounts

(In thousands)

Year:

2025 $ 7,629  

2026 7,067  

2027 4,690  

2028 3,688  

2029 3,603  

Thereafter 9,061  

Total lease payments 35,738  

Less: imputed lease interest ( 6,879 )

Total lease liabilities $ 28,859  

Purchase Obligations

The Company has contractual obligations related to component inventory that its contract manufacturers procure on its behalf in accordance with its production forecast as well as other inventory related purchase commitments. As of
December 31, 2024, these purchase obligations totaled approximately $ 130.9  million.

Litigation

The Company is subject to various legal proceedings and claims that have arisen in the ordinary course of business and that have not been fully resolved. An accrual for a loss contingency or loss recovery is recognized when it is
probable and the amount of loss or recovery can be reasonably estimated. The outcome of litigation is inherently uncertain. If one or more legal matters were resolved against the Company in a reporting period for amounts above
management’s expectations, the Company’s business, results of operations, financial position and cash flows for that reporting period could be materially adversely affected. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, in the opinion of
management, there was not at least a reasonable possibility the Company may have incurred a material loss, or a material loss greater than a recorded accrual, concerning loss contingencies for asserted legal and other claims.

On July 17, 2024, Zola Electric International, Ltd. (“Zola”) filed a complaint in the United States District Court for the Northern District of California against us, alleging breach of contract and breach of the covenant of good faith and fair
dealing related to a joint development agreement and master supply agreement between Zola and the Company. On September 19, 2024, the Company filed a motion to dismiss the complaint, and all briefing papers were filed with the
Court on or before November 8, 2024. The Company entered into a settlement and mutual release agreement with Zola on November 25, 2024 and Zola filed a stipulation of dismissal with prejudice on December 3, 2024, which was
entered by the Court on December 4, 2024.
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15.     STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

In May 2021, the board of directors authorized a share repurchase program (the “2021 Repurchase Program”) pursuant to which the Company was authorized to repurchase up to $ 500.0  million of the Company’s common stock,
from time to time in the open market or through structured repurchase agreements with third parties. During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company repurchased and subsequently retired 1,254,474 shares of common stock from
the open market at an average cost of $ 159.43 per share for a total of $ 200.0  million. As of December 31, 2024, no amount remains available for share repurchase under the 2021 Repurchase Program.

In July 2023, the board of directors authorized a share repurchase program (the “2023 Repurchase Program”) pursuant to which the Company was authorized to repurchase up to $ 1.0  billion of the Company’s common stock. The
Company may repurchase shares of common stock from time to time through solicited or unsolicited transactions in the open market, in privately negotiated transactions or pursuant to a Rule 10b5-1 plan. During the years ended
December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company repurchased and subsequently retired 4,543,016 and 2,029,894 shares, respectively, of common stock from the open market at an average cost of $ 86.15 and $ 103.45 per share, respectively,
for a total of $ 391.4  million and $ 210.0  million, respectively. As of December 31, 2024, $ 398.6  million remains available for repurchase of shares under the 2023 Repurchase Program.

16.     STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

2011 Plan

Under the 2011 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2011 Plan”), the Company could initially issue up to 2,643,171  shares of its common stock pursuant to stock options, stock appreciation rights (“SARS”), restricted stock awards (“RSA”),
RSUs, PSUs, and other forms of equity compensation, or collectively, stock awards, all of which may be granted to employees, including officers, and to non-employee directors and consultants. Options granted under the 2011 Plan before
August 1, 2012 generally expire 10 years after the grant date and options granted thereafter generally expire seven years after the grant date. Equity awards granted under the 2011 Plan generally vested over a four year period from the
date of grant based on continued service to the Company. As of May 19, 2021, no further stock options or other stock awards may be granted under the 2011 Plan.

2021 Plan

On May 19, 2021, at the 2021 annual meeting of stockholders of the Company, the stockholders approved the 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2021 Plan”), as the successor to the 2011 Plan. The 2021 Plan provides for the grant of
incentive stock options, SARS, RSAs, RSUs, PSUs and other forms of equity compensation. Eligible participants under the 2021 Plan include Company’s employees, directors and consultants. The 2021 Plan provides, among other things,
that the number of shares of the Company’s common stock, $ 0.00001 par value per share, reserved for issuance under the 2021 Plan (subject to adjustment for certain changes in the Company’s capitalization) is equal to: (A) the sum of
(i) 9,100,456 newly reserved shares of the Company’s common stock and (ii) 5,256,517 Returning Shares (as defined below) as such shares become available from time to time as set forth in the 2021 Plan. “Returning Shares” means
shares subject to any outstanding award granted under the 2011 Plan (“Prior Plan Award”) that are (i) not issued because such Prior Plan Award or any portion thereof expires or otherwise terminates without all of the shares covered by
such Prior Plan Award having been issued, or is settled in cash; (ii) forfeited back to or repurchased by the Company because of a failure to vest; or (iii) reacquired or withheld (or not issued) by the Company to satisfy the purchase price of,
or a tax withholding obligation in connection with, a Prior Plan Award that is a Full Value Award (as defined in the 2021 Plan). As of December 31, 2024, 4,908,854  shares remained available for issuance under the 2021 Plan.

2011 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The 2011 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”) became effective immediately upon the execution and delivery of the underwriting agreement for the Company’s initial public offering on March 29, 2012. The ESPP authorized the
issuance of 669,603  shares of the Company’s common stock pursuant to purchase rights granted to employees. The number of shares of common stock reserved for issuance will automatically increase, on each January 1, by a lesser of
(i)  700,000  shares of the Company’s common stock or (ii)  1.0 % of the total number of shares of the Company’s common stock outstanding on December 31 of the preceding calendar year, as determined by the Company’s board of
directors. In 2022, the Company’s board of directors waived the automatic increase of 700,000 shares that were to be added on January 1, 2023 for issuance under the 2011 ESPP plan and
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no additional shares were added to the plan on January 1, 2023. As of December 31, 2024, 2,352,769  shares remained available for future issuance under the ESPP. On January 1, 2025, the shares available for issuance under the ESPP
automatically increased by 700,000 shares.

The ESPP is implemented by concurrent offering periods and each offering period may contain up to four  interim purchase periods. In general, offering periods consist of the 24-month periods commencing on each May 15 and
November 15 of a calendar year.

Generally, all full-time employees in the United States and certain other countries in which the Company operates, including executive officers, are eligible to participate in the ESPP. The ESPP permits eligible employees to purchase
the Company’s common stock through payroll deductions, which may not exceed 15 % of the employee’s total compensation subject to certain limits. Stock may be purchased under the plan at a price equal to 85 % of the fair market value
of the Company’s common stock on either the date of purchase or the first day of an offering period, whichever is lower. A two‑year look-back feature in the Company’s ESPP causes an offering period to reset if the fair value of the
Company’s common stock on a purchase date is less than that on the initial offering date for that offering period. The reset feature, when triggered, will be accounted for as a modification to the original offering, resulting in additional
expense to be recognized over the 24-month period of the new offering. During any calendar year, participants may not purchase shares of the Company’s common stock having a value greater than $ 25,000 , based on the fair market
value per share of the Company’s common stock at the beginning of an offering period.

Valuation of Equity Awards

Stock Options

No stock options were granted during the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022.

Restricted Stock Units

The fair value of the Company’s RSU awards granted is based upon the closing price of the Company’s stock price on the date of grant.

Performance Stock Units

The fair value of the Company’s non-market PSU awards granted was based upon the closing price of the Company’s stock price on the date of grant. The fair value of awards of the Company’s PSU awards containing market
conditions was determined using a Monte Carlo simulation model based upon the terms of the conditions, the expected volatility of the underlying security, and other relevant factors.

Stock-based Compensation Expense

Stock-based compensation expense for all stock-based awards, which includes shares purchased under the Company’s ESPP, RSUs and PSUs, expected to vest is measured at fair value on the date of grant and recognized ratably
over the requisite service period.

In addition, as part of certain business acquisitions, the Company was obligated to issue shares of common stock of the Company as payment subject to achievement of certain targets. For such payments, the Company recorded
stock-based compensation classified as post-combination expense recognized ratably over the measurement period presuming the targets will be met.

The following table summarizes the components of total stock-based compensation expense included in the consolidated statements of operations for the periods presented:
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Years Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022

(In thousands)

Cost of revenues $ 14,538  $ 13,357  $ 13,097  

Research and development 85,501  88,367  69,082  

Sales and marketing 65,092  65,703  78,819  

General and administrative 45,962  45,430  55,804  

Restructuring 267  —  —  

Total $ 211,360  $ 212,857  $ 216,802  

Income tax benefit (expense) included in the provision for income tax $ ( 17,958 ) $ 20,558  $ 45,066  

The following table summarizes the various types of stock-based compensation expense for the periods presented:

Years Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022

(In thousands)

RSUs and PSUs $ 205,453  $ 204,238  $ 200,295  

Employee stock purchase plan 5,907  7,450  5,475  

Post combination expense —  1,169  11,032  

Total $ 211,360  $ 212,857  $ 216,802  

As of December 31, 2024, there was approximately $ 400.2  million of total unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to unvested equity awards, which are expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of
2.6 years.

Equity Awards Activity

Stock Options

The following table summarizes stock option activity:

Number of
Shares

Outstanding

Weighted-
Average

Exercise Price
per Share

Weighted-
Average

Remaining
Contractual

Term

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value 

(In thousands) (Years) (In thousands)

Outstanding at December 31, 2021 2,264  $ 1.90  

Exercised ( 799 ) 2.02  $ 197,334  

Canceled ( 1 ) 8.82  

Outstanding at December 31, 2022 1,464  $ 1.83  

Exercised ( 772 ) 1.68  $ 100,390  

Canceled —  —  

Outstanding at December 31, 2023 692  $ 2.01  

Exercised ( 687 ) 1.79  $ 82,677  

Canceled —  —  

Outstanding at December 31, 2024 5  $ 32.80  1.2 $ 182  

Vested and expected to vest at December 31, 2024 5  $ 32.80  1.2 $ 182  

Exercisable at December 31, 2024 5  $ 32.80  1.2 $ 182  

(1)
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(1)    The intrinsic value of options exercised is based upon the value of the Company’s stock at exercise. The intrinsic value of options outstanding, vested and expected to vest, and exercisable as of December 31, 2024 is based on the closing price of the last
trading day during the year ended December 31, 2024. The Company’s stock fair value used in this computation was $ 68.68 per share.

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at December 31, 2024:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Range of Exercise Prices
Number of

Shares

Weighted-
Average

Remaining
Life

Weighted-
Average
Exercise

Price
Number of

Shares

Weighted-
Average
Exercise

Price

(In thousands) (Years) (In thousands)

$ 2.76 —– $ 2.76 2,585  0.1 $ 2.76  2,585  $ 2.76  

$ 64.17 —– $ 64.17 2,475  2.3 64.17  2,475  64.17  

Total 5,060  1.2 $ 32.80  5,060  $ 32.80  

Restricted Stock Units

The following table summarizes RSU activity:

Number of
Shares

Outstanding

Weighted-
Average

Fair Value
per Share at
Grant Date

Weighted-
Average

Remaining
Contractual

Term

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value 

(In thousands) (Years) (In thousands)

Outstanding at December 31, 2021 2,786  $ 100.73  

Granted 1,159  228.88  

Vested ( 1,500 ) 72.87  $ 321,274  

Canceled ( 192 ) 150.02  

Outstanding at December 31, 2022 2,253  $ 181.01  

Granted 1,409  154.63  

Vested ( 1,061 ) 152.47  $ 185,078  

Canceled ( 269 ) 184.66  

Outstanding at December 31, 2023 2,332  $ 177.64  

Granted 1,309  101.53  

Vested ( 977 ) 171.88  $ 107,116  

Canceled ( 381 ) 160.77  

Outstanding at December 31, 2024 2,283  $ 139.27  1.4 $ 156,758  

Expected to vest at December 31, 2024 2,279  $ 139.25  1.4 $ 156,586  

(1)    The intrinsic value of RSUs vested is based upon the value of the Company’s stock when vested. The intrinsic value of RSUs outstanding and expected to vest as of December 31, 2024 is based on the closing price of the last trading day during the year
ended December 31, 2024. The Company’s stock fair value used in this computation was $ 68.68 per share.

(1)

Enphase Energy, Inc. | 2024 Form 10-K | 108



Table of Contents

ENPHASE ENERGY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Performance Stock Units

The following summarizes PSU activity:

Number of
Shares

Outstanding

Weighted-
Average

Fair Value
per Share at
Grant Date

Weighted-
Average

Remaining
Contractual

Term

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value 

(In thousands) (Years) (In thousands)

Outstanding at December 31, 2021 445  $ 169.82  

Granted 413  195.29  

Vested ( 303 ) 168.88  $ 51,393  

Canceled ( 179 ) 171.32  

Outstanding at December 31, 2022 376  $ 197.82  

Granted 422  233.90  

Vested ( 380 ) 196.24  $ 80,113  

Canceled ( 22 ) 229.11  

Outstanding at December 31, 2023 396  $ 235.99  

Granted 724  127.06  

Vested ( 100 ) 214.91  $ 12,958  

Canceled ( 121 ) 205.51  

Outstanding at December 31, 2024 899  $ 154.67  1.2 $ 61,725  

Expected to vest at December 31, 2024 899  $ 154.67  1.2 $ 61,725  

(1)    The intrinsic value of PSUs vested is based upon the value of the Company’s stock when vested. The intrinsic value of PSUs outstanding and expected to vest as of December 31, 2024 is based on the closing price of the last trading day during the year
ended December 31, 2024. The Company’s stock fair value used in this computation was $ 68.68 per share.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

A summary of ESPP activity for the years presented is as follows (in thousands, except per share data):

Years Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022

Proceeds from common stock issued under ESPP $ 11,773  $ 12,897  $ 9,570  

Shares of common stock issued 185  133  90  

Weighted-average price per share $ 63.54  $ 97.05  $ 106.32  

17.     INCOME TAXES

The domestic and foreign components of income before income taxes consisted of the following:

Years Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022

(In thousands)

United States $ 80,903  $ 465,463  $ 417,636  

Foreign 39,256  47,676  34,412  

Income before income taxes $ 120,159  $ 513,139  $ 452,048  

(1)
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The income tax provision the years presented is as follows:

Years Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022

(In thousands)

Current:

Federal $ 61,256  $ 96,151  $ 34,499  

State 6,319  13,937  9,719  

Foreign 11,137  11,303  10,605  

78,712  121,391  54,823  

Deferred:

Federal ( 58,588 ) ( 50,211 ) ( 6,245 )

State ( 4,535 ) 1,287  3,803  

Foreign 1,912  1,736  2,305  

( 61,211 ) ( 47,188 ) ( 137 )

Income tax provision $ 17,501  $ 74,203  $ 54,686  

A reconciliation of the income tax provision and the amount computed by applying the statutory federal income tax rate of 21% to income before income taxes for the years presented is as follows:

Years Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022

(In thousands)

Income tax provision at statutory federal rate $ 25,233  $ 107,760  $ 94,926  

State taxes, net of federal benefit 7,406  18,107  9,980  

Change in valuation allowance 1,973  —  —  

Foreign tax rate and tax law differential 6,502  5,965  4,905  

Tax credits ( 7,598 ) ( 29,229 ) ( 19,864 )

Non-taxable income related to Section 45X tax credits ( 33,083 ) ( 11,229 ) —  

Stock-based compensation 13,408  ( 13,969 ) ( 45,551 )

Other permanent items 335  ( 964 ) 4,149  

Other nondeductible/nontaxable items ( 219 ) ( 73 ) 69  

Uncertain tax positions 2,746  8,432  6,073  

Foreign-derived intangible income deduction ( 5,188 ) ( 15,391 ) ( 9,161 )

GILTI and other foreign inclusions 9,101  —  —  

Section 162(m) 4,618  5,445  9,291  

Unremitted foreign earnings 1,654  1,829  1,837  

Prior year changes in estimates ( 9,387 ) ( 2,480 ) ( 1,968 )

Income tax provision $ 17,501  $ 74,203  $ 54,686  
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A summary of significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 is as follows:

December 31,

2024 2023

(In thousands)

Deferred tax assets:

Allowances and reserves $ 56,819  $ 53,066  

Accrued liabilities 30,230  1,957  

Net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards 17,945  23,267  

Stock-based compensation 17,504  15,811  

Deferred revenue 66,353  53,656  

Fixed assets and intangibles 1,670  —  

Convertible notes and related hedges 27,053  38,773  

Capitalized research and development expense 104,002  83,098  

Capitalized inventory 13,865  7,916  

Other 8,496  5,441  

Gross deferred tax assets 343,937  282,985  

Less valuation allowance ( 1,973 ) —  

Total deferred tax assets 341,964  282,985  

Deferred tax liabilities:

Fixed assets and intangibles —  ( 2,833 )

Unremitted foreign earnings ( 6,800 ) ( 5,189 )

Deferred cost of goods sold ( 26,397 ) ( 27,782 )

Other ( 208 ) —  

Total deferred tax liabilities ( 33,405 ) ( 35,804 )

Net deferred tax asset $ 308,559  $ 247,181  

As of December 31, 2024, the Company recorded a valuation allowance of $ 2.0  million against certain of its net operating losses on one of its foreign operations, as it is more likely than not that such amounts will not be fully realized.

The Company's accounting for deferred taxes involves the evaluation of a number of factors concerning the realizability of the Company's deferred tax assets. Assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets is dependent upon
several factors, including the likelihood and amount, if any, of future taxable income in relevant jurisdictions during the periods in which those temporary differences become deductible. The Company's management forecasts taxable income
by considering all available positive and negative evidence including its history of operating income or losses and its financial plans and estimates which are used to manage the business. These assumptions require significant judgment
about future taxable income. The amount of deferred tax assets considered realizable is subject to adjustment in future periods if estimates of future taxable income are reduced.

Years Ended December 31,

2024 2023

(In thousands)

Valuation allowance, beginning of period $ —  $ —  

Additions 1,973  —  

Reversals —  —  

Valuation allowance, end of period $ 1,973  $ —  

Enphase Energy, Inc. | 2024 Form 10-K | 111



Table of Contents

ENPHASE ENERGY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

As of December 31, 2024, the Company evaluated its undistributed foreign earnings and identified $ 79.2  million in earnings that it does not consider to be permanently reinvested that may be subject to withholding taxes in local
jurisdictions when they are distributed. The Company has recorded a provision of approximately $ 6.8  million for the taxes that would fall due when such earnings are repatriated.

The Company has approximately $ 6.0  million of federal tax credit and $ 10.3  million of state tax credit carryforwards. The federal credits begin to expire in 2031 and the state credits can be carried forward indefinitely. As of
December 31, 2024, the Company has foreign net operating losses of $ 5.3  million from the acquisition of GreenCom, which can be carried over indefinitely.

Utilization of some of the federal credit carryforwards and state net operating loss and credit carryforwards are subject to annual limitations due to the “change in ownership” provisions of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended (the “Code”), and similar state provisions. The Company believes that no such change has occurred through December 31, 2024.

Accounting for uncertain tax positions prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. The
Company is required to recognize in the financial statements the impact of a tax position, if that position is more-likely than-not of being sustained on audit, based on the technical merits of the position. The Company recorded a net charge
for unrecognized tax benefits in 2024 of $ 0.4  million.

The Company does not have any tax positions for which it is reasonably possible the total amount of gross unrecognized tax benefits will increase or decrease over the next year. The unrecognized tax benefits may increase or
change during the next year for items that arise in the ordinary course of business.

As of December 31, 2024, the total amount of gross unrecognized tax benefits was $ 27.7  million, of which $ 26.0  million, if recognized, would impact the Company’s effective tax rate.

A tabular reconciliation of the total amounts of unrecognized tax benefits for the years presented is as follows (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022

Unrecognized tax benefits—at beginning of year $ 27,218  $ 21,768  $ 20,904  

Decreases in balances related to tax positions taken in prior years ( 702 ) ( 417 ) ( 4,786 )

Increases in balances related to tax positions taken in current year 1,490  5,985  6,562  

Settlements —  —  ( 657 )

Lapses in statutes of limitations ( 346 ) ( 118 ) ( 255 )

Unrecognized tax benefits—at end of year $ 27,660  $ 27,218  $ 21,768  

The Company includes interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits within the income tax provision. In the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, the total amount of gross interest and penalties accrued was
$ 6.1  million, $ 2.9  million and $ 0.8  million, respectively. Both the unrecognized tax benefits and the associated interest and penalties that are not expected to result in payment or receipt of cash within one year are classified as other
non-current liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets. In connection with tax matters, the Company’s interest and penalty expense recognized in 2024, 2023 and 2022 in the consolidated statements of operations was $ 2.3  million, $ 3.8
 million and $ 0.9  million, respectively.

The Company’s tax returns continue to remain effectively subject to examination by U.S. federal authorities for the years 2006 and onwards and by California state authorities for the years 2006 and onwards due to use and carryovers
of net operating losses and tax credits. The Company is currently under audit in India and it is reasonably possible that its existing gross unrecognized tax benefits may be reduced by up to $ 5.1  million within the next 12 months.

In August 2022, the U.S. enacted the IRA, which included revisions to the Code. The IRA introduced a 15% corporate alternative minimum income tax (“CAMT”) for corporations whose average adjusted financial income for any
consecutive three-year period ending after December 31, 2021, exceeds $1.0 billion. Further, the IRA also extended the investment tax credits for clean energy and expanded the incentives to clean energy manufacturing.
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For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company is not subject to the CAMT based on its current operating results and interpretations of the latest IRA guidance. For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, benefits recognized
from the AMPTC of $ 157.5  million and $ 53.5  million, respectively, were recorded as a prepaid income tax of $ 94.9  million (included in Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets) and reduction of income tax payable of $ 62.7  million
on the consolidated balance sheet for the year ended December 31, 2024, reduction to income tax payable of $ 53.5  million (included in Accrued Liabilities) on the consolidated balance sheet for the year ended December 31, 2023, and as
a reduction to cost of revenues of $ 157.5  million and $ 53.5  million on the consolidated statement of operations for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

In December 2021, the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development Inclusive Framework on Base Erosion Profit Shifting released Model Global Anti-Base Erosion rules (“Model Rules”) under Pillar Two. The Model
Rules set forth the “common approach” for a Global Minimum Tax at 15 percent for multinational enterprises with a turnover of more than 750 million euros. Rules under Pillar Two were effective from January 1, 2024. The adoption of Pillar
Two rules did not have a significant impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements in 2024.

18.     CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK AND MAJOR CUSTOMERS

The Company is potentially subject to financial instrument concentration of credit risk through its cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash, marketable securities and accounts receivable. The Company places its cash, cash equivalents,
restricted cash and marketable securities with high quality institutions and performs periodic evaluations of their relative credit standing.

Accounts receivable can be potentially exposed to a concentration of credit risk with its major customers. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, amounts due from one customer represented approximately 43 % and 40 %, respectively,
of the total accounts receivable balance.

In the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, one customer accounted for approximately 48 %, 40 % and 37 %, respectively, of our net revenues.

19.     NET INCOME PER SHARE

Basic net income per share is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the period. Diluted net income per share is computed in a similar manner, but it also
includes the effect of potential common shares outstanding during the period, when dilutive.
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The following table presents the computation of basic and diluted net income per share for the periods presented:

Years Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022

(In thousands, except per share data)

Numerator:

Net income $ 102,658  $ 438,936  $ 397,362  

Convertible senior notes interest and financing costs, net of tax 2,486  2,573  2,629  

Adjusted net income $ 105,144  $ 441,509  $ 399,991  

Denominator:

Shares used in basic per share amounts:

Weighted average common shares outstanding 135,167  136,376  135,349  

Shares used in diluted per share amounts:

Weighted average common shares outstanding used for basic calculation 135,167  136,376  135,349  

Effect of dilutive securities:

Employee stock-based awards 474  1,782  3,407  

Notes due 2023 —  638  900  

Notes due 2025 288  —  —  

2025 Warrants —  419  659  

Notes due 2026 2,057  2,057  2,057  

Notes due 2028 2,018  2,018  2,018  

Weighted average common shares outstanding for diluted calculation 140,004  143,290  144,390  

Basic and diluted net income per share

Net income per share, basic $ 0.76  $ 3.22  $ 2.94  

Net income per share, diluted $ 0.75  $ 3.08  $ 2.77  

Diluted earnings per share for the year ended December 31, 2024 includes the dilutive effect of potentially dilutive common shares by application of the treasury stock method for stock options, RSUs, PSUs, ESPP, Notes due 2025,
and includes potentially dilutive common shares by application of the if-converted method for the Notes due 2026 and Notes due 2028. Potentially dilutive common shares for the year ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 include stock
options, RSUs, PSUs, ESPP, Notes due 2023, Notes due 2025, Notes due 2026, Notes due 2028 and the 2025 Warrants. To the extent these potential common shares are antidilutive, they are excluded from the calculation of diluted net
income per share.

Further, the Company under the relevant sections of the indentures, irrevocably may elect to settle principal in cash and any excess in cash or shares of the Company’s common stock for the Notes due 2026 and Notes due 2028. If
and when the Company makes such election, there will be no adjustment to the net income and the Company will use the average share price for the period to determine the potential number of shares to be issued based upon assumed
conversion to be included in the diluted share count.

Holders of the Notes due 2025 may now convert their notes at any time until the close of business on the second scheduled trading day immediately preceding the maturity date of March 1, 2025. These conversions will be settled in a
combination settlement method with the principal value settled in cash and the remaining value in shares of the Company’s common stock, as a result there was no adjustment to the net income for the year ended December 31, 2024, and
the Company used the average share price for the period to determine the potential number of shares that will be issued and included in the diluted share count for the year ended December 31, 2024.
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The following outstanding shares of common stock equivalents were excluded from the calculation of the diluted net income per share attributable to common stockholders because their effect would have been antidilutive:

Years Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022

(In thousands)

Employee stock-based awards 1,359  1,113  135  

Notes due 2025 —  1,253  1,253  

2026 Warrants 5,673  3,038  1,577  

2028 Warrants 5,566  2,981  1,547  

Total 12,598  8,385  4,512  

20.     SEGMENT AND GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION

The Company’s chief operating decision maker is the Chief Executive Officer (the “CEO”). The Company has one business activity, which entails the design, development, manufacture and sale of solutions for the solar PV industry.
There are no segment managers who are held accountable for operations, operating results or plans for levels or components below the consolidated unit level. Accordingly, management has determined that the Company has a single
operating and reportable segment. The accounting policies related to operating and reportable segments are the same as those described in Note 2, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies”. The primary measure of segment profit or
loss is consolidated net income as presented below and is used the by CEO for the purpose of evaluating segment performance and allocation of budget to support business expansion, new product development and operational
efficiencies.

Years Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022

(In thousands)

Net revenues $ 1,330,383  $ 2,290,786  $ 2,330,853  

Less:

Other cost of revenues 798,425  1,253,328  1,336,837  

Income-based government grants ( 157,538 ) ( 53,470 ) —  

Incremental cost for manufacturing in the United States 38,351  11,603  —  

Stock-based compensation expense 211,360  212,857  216,802  

Acquisition related amortization 20,380  22,897  22,845  

Other restructuring and asset impairment charges 12,887  15,684  2,384  

Other research and development 115,814  138,969  99,764  

Other sales and marketing 128,549  150,772  119,762  

Other general and administrative 84,863  92,405  84,198  

Income from operations 77,292  445,741  448,261  

Total other income, net 42,867  67,398  3,787  

Income from income taxes 120,159  513,139  452,048  

Income tax provision ( 17,501 ) ( 74,203 ) ( 54,686 )

Net Income $ 102,658  $ 438,936  $ 397,362  

(1)    Represents consolidated cost of revenue, excluding stock-based compensation, acquisition related amortization, income-based government grants and incremental costs for manufacturing in the United States.

(2)    Represents the incremental manufacturing cost incurred in the U.S. relative to manufacturing in India. This is calculated based on the difference in product cost for manufacturing the product in the U.S. as compared to India for the same or

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

(6)
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similar products. It also includes the portion of the income-based government grants earned that the Company remits to its contract manufacturers.

(3)    Represents consolidated restructuring and asset impairment charges, excluding stock-based compensation.

(4)    Represents consolidated research and development, excluding stock-based compensation.

(5)    Represents consolidated sales and marketing, excluding stock-based compensation and acquisition related amortization.

(6)    Represents consolidated general and administrative, excluding stock-based compensation.

See Note 3. “Revenue Recognition,” for the table presenting net revenues (based on the destination of shipments). The following table presents long-lived assets by geographic region as of the periods presented:

Long-Lived Assets

December 31,

2024 2023

(In thousands)

United States $ 103,823  $ 107,448  

India 18,153  22,978  

China 11,619  12,883  

New Zealand 6,775  8,959  

Mexico 4,418  6,028  

Romania —  5,280  

Others 2,726  4,668  

Total $ 147,514  $ 168,244  

The segment assets are not reviewed by the CODM at a different asset level or category and is reviewed at the consolidated level.
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Item 9.    Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A.    Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We carried out an evaluation required by the Exchange Act, under the supervision and with the participation of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our
disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) of the Exchange Act, as of December 31, 2024. Based on this evaluation, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer concluded that our disclosure controls
and procedures were effective to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time
periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms and to provide reasonable assurance that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, as
appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting in providing reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) of the Exchange Act. Management has assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on
criteria set forth in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013). As a result of this assessment, management concluded that, as of December 31, 2024,
our internal control over financial reporting was effective. Our independent registered public accounting firm, Deloitte & Touche LLP, has issued an audit report on our internal control over financial reporting, which appears in Part II, Item 8
of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the most recent year ended December 31, 2024 that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over
financial reporting.

Limitations on Controls

Our disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting are designed to provide reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives as specified above. Management does not expect, however, that our
disclosure controls and procedures or our internal control over financial reporting will prevent or detect all errors and fraud. Any control system, no matter how well designed and operated, is based upon certain assumptions and can provide
only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that its objectives will be met. Further, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that misstatements due to error or fraud will not occur or that all control issues and instances of fraud,
if any, have been detected by us.

Item 9B.    Other Information

Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plans

Not applicable .

Item 9C.    Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections

Not applicable.
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PART III

Item 10.    Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information required regarding our directors is incorporated by reference from the information contained in the section entitled “Election of Directors” in our definitive Proxy Statement for the 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders
(our “Proxy Statement”), a copy of which will be filed with the SEC on or before April 30, 2025.

The information required regarding our executive officers is incorporated by reference from the information contained in the section entitled “Management” in our Proxy Statement.

The information required regarding Section 16(a) beneficial ownership reporting compliance is incorporated by reference from the information contained in the section entitled “Delinquent Section 16(a) Reports” in our Proxy
Statement.

The information required with respect to procedures by which security holders may recommend nominees to our board of directors, and the composition of our Audit Committee, and whether we have an “audit committee financial
expert,” is incorporated by reference from the information contained in the section entitled “Information Regarding Committees of the Board” in our Proxy Statement.

Insider Trading Policy

We have adopted a Policy Against Trading on the Basis of Inside Information governing the purchase, sale and/or other dispositions of our securities by our directors, officers and employees. A copy of this policy is filed as an exhibit to
this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The information required regarding our insider trading policies and procedures is incorporated by reference from the information contained in the section entitled “Insider Trading Policy” in our Proxy
Statement.

Code of Conduct

We have a written code of conduct that applies to all our executive officers, directors and employees. Our Code of Conduct is available on our website at http://investor.enphase.com/corporate-governance. A copy of our Code of
Conduct may also be obtained free of charge by writing to our Secretary, Enphase Energy, Inc., 47281 Bayside Parkway, Fremont, CA 94538. If we make any substantive amendments to our Code of Conduct or grant any waiver from a
provision of the Code of Conduct to any executive officer or director, we intend to promptly disclose the nature of the amendment or waiver on our website.

Item 11.    Executive Compensation

The information required regarding the compensation of our directors and executive officers is incorporated by reference from the information contained in the sections entitled “Executive Compensation,” “Director Compensation,”
“Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation” and “Compensation Committee Report” in our Proxy Statement.

Item 12.    Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required regarding security ownership of our 5% or greater stockholders and of our directors and executive officers is incorporated by reference from the information contained in the section entitled “Security
Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” in our Proxy Statement.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The information required regarding securities authorized for issuance under our equity compensation plans is incorporated by reference from the information contained in the section entitled “Equity Compensation Plan Information” in
our Proxy Statement.

Item 13.    Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The information required regarding related transactions is incorporated herein by reference from the information contained in the section entitled “Transactions With Related Persons” and, with respect to director independence, the
section entitled “Election of Directors” in our Proxy Statement.
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Item 14.    Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required is incorporated by reference from the information contained in the sections entitled “Principal Accountant Fees and Services” and “Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures” in the Proposal entitled “Ratification of
Selection of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm” in our Proxy Statement.
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PART IV

Item 15.    Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

Consolidated Financial Statements

The information concerning our consolidated financial statements, and Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm required by this Item is incorporated by reference herein to the section of this Annual Report on Form
10-K in Part II, Item 8, Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

No schedules are provided because they are not applicable, not required under the instructions, or the requested information is shown in the financial statements or related notes thereto.

Exhibits

The exhibits listed below are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K or incorporated herein by reference, in each case as indicated below.

Incorporation by Reference

Exhibit Number Exhibit Description Form SEC File No. Exhibit Filing Date Filed Herewith

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Enphase Energy, Inc. 8-K 001-35480 3.1 4/6/2012

3.2 Certificate of Amendment of the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Enphase Energy, Inc. 10-Q 001-35480 3.1 8/9/2017

3.3 Certificate of Amendment of the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Enphase Energy, Inc. 10-Q 001-35480 2.1 8/6/2018

3.4 Certificate of Amendment of the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Enphase Energy, Inc. 8-K 001-35480 3.1 5/27/2020

3.5 Certificate of Amendment of the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Enphase Energy, Inc. S-8 333-256290 4.5 5/19/2021

3.6 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Enphase Energy, Inc. 8-K 001-35480 3.1 4/8/2022

4.1 Specimen Common Stock Certificate of Enphase Energy, Inc. X

4.2 Indenture, dated March 9, 2020, between Enphase Energy, Inc. and U.S. Bank National Association. 8-K 001-35480 4.1 3/9/2020

4.3 Form of 0.25% Convertible Senior Note due 2025 (included in Exhibit 4.2). 8-K 001-35480 4.1 3/9/2020

4.4 Indenture, dated March 1, 2021, between Enphase Energy, Inc. and U.S. Bank National Association. 8-K 001-35480 4.1 3/1/2021

4.5 Indenture, dated March 1, 2021, between Enphase Energy, Inc. and U.S. Bank National Association. 8-K 001-35480 4.2 3/1/2021

4.6 Form of 0% Convertible Senior Note due 2026 (included in Exhibit 4.4). 8-K 001-35480 4.1 3/1/2021

4.7 Form of 0% Convertible Senior Note due 2028 (included in Exhibit 4.5). 8-K 001-35480 4.2 3/1/2021

4.8
Description of Registrant’s Securities Registered Pursuant to Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as

amended.
10-K 001-35480 4.11 2/11/2022

10.1 Form of Indemnification Agreement by and between Enphase Energy, Inc. and each of its directors and officers. S-1/A 333-174925 10.1 8/24/2011

10.2 2021 Equity Incentive Plan and forms of agreement thereunder. S-8 333-181382 99.1 5/19/2021

10.3 2011 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended, and forms of agreement thereunder. DEF 14A 001-35480 Appendix A 3/18/2016

10.4 2011 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amended. DEF 14A 001-35480 Appendix A 3/31/2017

10.5
Flextronics Logistics Services Agreement by and between Enphase Energy, Inc. and Flextronics America, LLC, dated

May 1, 2009.
X

+

+

+

+

#
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https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1463101/000119312512153425/d330683dex31.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1463101/000119312512153425/d330683dex31.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1463101/000146310117000091/a2017q210-qexx31certificat.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1463101/000146310117000091/a2017q210-qexx31certificat.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1463101/000146310118000075/a2018q210-qexx33.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1463101/000146310118000075/a2018q210-qexx33.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1463101/000146310120000075/a20208-kexx31.htm
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https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1463101/000146310122000037/enphaseamendedandrestatedb.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1463101/000146310122000037/enphaseamendedandrestatedb.htm
file:///tmp/T1390/f20e4a27-bdc1-4cce-9886-b022090b7094/ex41_formofspecimenstock.htm
file:///tmp/T1390/f20e4a27-bdc1-4cce-9886-b022090b7094/ex41_formofspecimenstock.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1463101/000110465920030834/tm2011387d2_ex4-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1463101/000110465920030834/tm2011387d2_ex4-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1463101/000110465920030834/tm2011387d2_ex4-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1463101/000110465920030834/tm2011387d2_ex4-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1463101/000110465921030148/tm214853d3_ex4-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1463101/000110465921030148/tm214853d3_ex4-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1463101/000110465921030148/tm214853d3_ex4-2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1463101/000110465921030148/tm214853d3_ex4-2.htm
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https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1463101/000110465921030148/tm214853d3_ex4-2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1463101/000146310122000016/a2021q410-kexx411.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1463101/000146310122000016/a2021q410-kexx411.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1463101/000119312511230109/dex101.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1463101/000119312511230109/dex101.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1463101/000146310121000078/ex9912021equityincentivepl.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1463101/000146310121000078/ex9912021equityincentivepl.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1463101/000119312516510308/d277611ddef14a.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1463101/000119312516510308/d277611ddef14a.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1463101/000146310117000036/enphase2017definitiveproxy.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1463101/000146310117000036/enphase2017definitiveproxy.htm
file:///tmp/T1390/f20e4a27-bdc1-4cce-9886-b022090b7094/exhibit105-flextronicsamer.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1463101/000146310123000025/exhibit108-amendmenttoflex.htm
file:///tmp/T1390/f20e4a27-bdc1-4cce-9886-b022090b7094/exhibit105-flextronicsamer.htm
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10.6
Amendment #1 to the Flextronics Logistics Services Agreement, by and between Enphase Energy, Inc. and Flextronics

America, LLC, dated July 28, 2016.
10-Q 001-35480 10.4 11/2/2016

10.7
Flextronics Manufacturing Services Agreement by and between Enphase Energy, Inc. and Flextronics Industrial, Ltd.,

dated March 1, 2009, as amended.
X

10.8
Amendment to Flextronics Manufacturing Services Agreement by and between Enphase Energy, Inc. and Flextronics

Industrial, Ltd., dated August 22, 2018.
10-K 001-35480 10.8 2/13/2023

10.9
Amendment No. 2 to Flextronics Manufacturing Services Agreement by and between Enphase Energy, Inc. and

Flextronics Industrial, Ltd., dated March 30, 2022.
10-Q 001-35480 10.3 4/26/2022

10.10
Amendment No. 3 to Flextronics Manufacturing Services Agreement by and between Enphase Energy, Inc. and

Flextronics Industrial, Ltd., dated as of June 22, 2023.
10-Q 001-35480 10.1 7/27/2023

10.11
Amendment No. 4 to Flextronics Manufacturing Services Agreements by and between Enphase Energy, Inc. and

Flextronics Industrial , Ltd., dated as of July 30, 2024
X

10.12 Non-employee Director Compensation Policy. 10-K 001-35480 10.11 2/16/2021

10.13 Offer Letter by and between Enphase Energy, Inc. and David Ranhoff, dated December 1, 2017. 8-K 001-35480 10.1 12/5/2017

10.14 Severance and Change in Control Benefit Plan. 10-Q 001-35480 10.5 5/8/2013

10.15 Performance Bonus Program Summary. X

10.16 Master Supply Agreement, dated August 9, 2018, between Enphase Energy, Inc. and SunPower Corporation. 10-K 001-35480 10.16 2/9/2024

10.17
Amendment No. 1 to Master Supply Agreement, dated December 10, 2018, by and between Enphase Energy, Inc. and

SunPower Corporation.
10-K 001-35480 10.17 2/9/2024

10.18
Amendment No. 2 to Master Supply Agreement, dated June 12, 2018, by and between Enphase Energy, Inc. and

SunPower Corporation.
10-K 001-35480 10.21 2/16/2021

10.19
Amendment No. 3 to Master Supply Agreement, dated June 12, 2018, by and between Enphase Energy, Inc. and

SunPower Corporation.
10-K 001-35480 10.22 2/16/2021

10.20
Amendment No. 4 to Master Supply Agreement, dated January 4, 2021, by and between Enphase Energy, Inc. and

SunPower Corporation.
10-Q 001-35480 10.1 7/26/2022

10.21
Amendment No. 5 to Master Supply Agreement, dated July 6, 2022, by and between Enphase Energy, Inc. and SunPower

Corporation.
10-Q 001-35480 10.2 7/26/2022

10.22
Amendment No. 6 to Master Supply Agreement, dated July 27, 2022, by and between Enphase Energy, Inc. and

SunPower Corporation.
10-K 001-35480 10.24 2/13/2023

10.23
Salcomp Manufacturing Services Agreement by and between Enphase Energy, Inc. and Salcomp Manufacturing India

Private Ltd., dated October 1, 2019.
10-K 001-35480 10.24 2/16/2021

10.24 Bayside Parkway Lease by and between Enphase Energy, Inc. and Dollinger Bayside Associates, dated April 12, 2018. 10-K 001-35480 10.45 3/15/2019

10.25
Bayside Parkway Lease by and between Enphase Energy, Inc. and Dollinger Bayside Associates, amendment dated

March 17, 2020.
10-K 001-35480 10.26 2/16/2021

10.26
Bayside Parkway Lease by and between Enphase Energy, Inc. and Dollinger Bayside Associates, amendment dated May

9, 2020.
10-K 001-35480 10.27 2/16/2021

10.27
Bayside Parkway Lease by and between Enphase Energy, Inc. and Dollinger Bayside Associates, amendment dated

August 12, 2024.
X

#

#

#

+

+

+

+

#

#

#

#

#

#
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file:///tmp/T1390/f20e4a27-bdc1-4cce-9886-b022090b7094/exhibit107-flextronicsindu.htm
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https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1463101/000146310122000053/ex-103flextronicsxamendmen.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1463101/000146310122000053/ex-103flextronicsxamendmen.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1463101/000146310123000140/exhibit101-amendmenttoflex.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1463101/000146310123000140/exhibit101-amendmenttoflex.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1463101/000146310123000140/exhibit101-amendmenttoflex.htm
file:///tmp/T1390/f20e4a27-bdc1-4cce-9886-b022090b7094/exhibit1011_amendmentno4to.htm
file:///tmp/T1390/f20e4a27-bdc1-4cce-9886-b022090b7094/exhibit1011_amendmentno4to.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1463101/000146310121000016/ex1011non-employeedirector.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1463101/000146310121000016/ex1011non-employeedirector.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1463101/000146310117000119/ex101enphcco8-k12052017.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1463101/000146310117000119/ex101enphcco8-k12052017.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1463101/000146310113000006/enph03312013ex1050.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1463101/000146310113000006/enph03312013ex1050.htm
file:///tmp/T1390/f20e4a27-bdc1-4cce-9886-b022090b7094/exhibit1015-summaryofbonus.htm
file:///tmp/T1390/f20e4a27-bdc1-4cce-9886-b022090b7094/exhibit1015-summaryofbonus.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1463101/000146310124000024/exhibit1016_sunpower-maste.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1463101/000146310124000024/exhibit1016_sunpower-maste.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1463101/000146310124000024/exhibit1017_amendmentno120.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1463101/000146310124000024/exhibit1017_amendmentno120.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1463101/000146310121000016/ex1021amendmentno2tomsawit.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1463101/000146310121000016/ex1021amendmentno2tomsawit.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1463101/000146310121000016/ex1022amendmentno3tomsawit.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1463101/000146310121000016/ex1022amendmentno3tomsawit.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1463101/000146310122000094/exhibit101-sunpoweramendme.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1463101/000146310122000094/exhibit101-sunpoweramendme.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1463101/000146310122000094/exhibit102-sunpoweramendme.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1463101/000146310122000094/exhibit102-sunpoweramendme.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1463101/000146310123000025/exhibit1024-amendment6sunp.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1463101/000146310123000025/exhibit1024-amendment6sunp.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1463101/000146310121000016/ex1024salcompmanufacturing.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1463101/000146310121000016/ex1024salcompmanufacturing.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1463101/000146310119000033/ex1045baysideparkwayfrem.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1463101/000146310119000033/ex1045baysideparkwayfrem.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1463101/000146310121000016/ex1026fremontleaseamendm.htm
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10.28 Form of Convertible Note Hedge Transaction Confirmation (2020). 8-K 001-35480 10.2 3/9/2020

10.29 Form of Warrant Confirmation (2020). 8-K 001-35480 10.3 3/9/2020

10.30 Form of Convertible Note Hedge Transaction Confirmation (2021). 8-K 001-35480 10.2 3/1/2021

10.31 Form of Warrant Confirmation (2021). 8-K 001-35480 10.3 3/1/2021

10.32 Additional Call Option Transaction Confirmation (2021). 8-K 001-35480 10.1 3/15/2021

10.33 Additional Warrant Confirmations (2021). 8-K 001-35480 10.2 3/15/2021

10.34 Purchase Agreement, dated March 4, 2020 by and among the Registrant and Barclays Capital Inc. 8-K 001-35480 10.1 3/9/2020

10.35 Form of Exchange Agreement for the 2025 Notes. 8-K 001-35480 10.5 3/1/2021

10.36

Partial Unwind Agreements for Base Call Option Confirmations dated May 30, 2019 and Additional Call Option

Confirmations dated June 4, 2019, made as of February 24, 2021, between Enphase Energy, Inc. and Barclays Capital

Inc. and between Enphase Energy, Inc. and Credit Suisse Capital LLC.

8-K 001-35480 10.6 3/1/2021

10.37

Partial Unwind Agreements for Base Warrants Confirmations dated May 30, 2019 and Additional Warrants Confirmations

dated June 4, 2019, made as of February 24, 2021, between Enphase Energy, Inc. and Barclays Capital Inc. and between

Enphase Energy, Inc. and Credit Suisse Capital LLC.

8-K 001-35480 10.7 3/1/2021

10.38

Partial Unwind Agreements for Base Call Option Confirmations dated March 4, 2020, made as of February 24, 2021,

between Enphase Energy, Inc. and Barclays Capital Inc., between Enphase Energy, Inc. and Credit Suisse Capital LLC,

and between Enphase Energy, Inc. and Goldman Sachs & Co. LLC.

8-K 001-35480 10.8 3/1/2021

10.39

Partial Unwind Agreements for Base Warrants Confirmations dated March 4, 2020, made as of February 24, 2021,

between Enphase Energy, Inc. and Barclays Capital Inc., between Enphase Energy, Inc. and Credit Suisse Capital LLC,

and between Enphase Energy, Inc. and Goldman Sachs & Co. LLC.

8-K 001-35480 10.9 3/1/2021

10.40
Partial Unwind Agreement for Base Call Option Confirmations dated May 30, 2019 and Additional Warrants Confirmation

dated June 4, 2019, made as of March 4, 2021, between Enphase Energy, Inc. and Barclays Bank PLC.
8-K 001-35480 10.1 3/8/2021

10.41 Offer Letter, by and between Enphase Energy, Inc. and Mandy Yang, effective February 15, 2022. 10-Q 001-35480 10.1 4/26/2022

10.42#
Manufacturing Services Agreement, dated June 22, 2023, by and between Enphase Energy, Inc. and Salcomp

Manufacturing USA Corp.
10-K 001-35480 10.42 2/9/2024

19.1 Policy Against Trading on the Basis of Inside Information. X

21.1 List of Subsidiaries of the Registrant. X

23.1 Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm. X

24.1 Power of Attorney (incorporated by reference to the signature page of this Annual Report on Form 10-K). X

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a). X

31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a). X

+
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32.1*
Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as Adopted

Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as amended.
X

97.1 Incentive Compensation Recoupment Policy. 10-K 001-35480 97.1 2/9/2024

101.INS XBRL Instance Document. X

101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document. X

101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document. X

101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document. X

101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document. X

101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Document. X

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibits 101). X

+ Management compensatory plan or arrangement.

# Pursuant to Item 601(b)(10) of Regulation S-K, certain portions of this exhibit have been omitted by means of     marking such portions with asterisks because we have determined that the information is both not material and is the type
that we treat as private or confidential.

* The certifications attached as Exhibit 32.1 accompany this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, and shall not be deemed “filed” by Enphase
Energy, Inc. for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, nor shall they be deemed incorporated by reference in any filing.
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Item 16.    Form 10-K Summary

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized on February 7, 2025.

Enphase Energy, Inc.

By: /s/ BADRINARAYANAN KOTHANDARAMAN

Badrinarayanan Kothandaraman

President and Chief Executive Officer
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POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS,  that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Badrinarayanan Kothandaraman and Mandy Yang, jointly and severally, as his or her true and lawful
attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him or her and in his or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K and to file
the same, with all exhibits thereto, and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents full power and authority to do and perform each and every act
and thing requisite or necessary to be done in and about the premises hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents, or his or her substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

/s/ BADRINARAYANAN KOTHANDARAMAN President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

February 7, 2025

Badrinarayanan Kothandaraman

/s/ MANDY YANG Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 
(Principal Financial Officer)

February 7, 2025

Mandy Yang

/s/ MARY ERGINSOY Vice President and Chief Accounting Officer 
(Principal Accounting Officer)

February 7, 2025

Mary Erginsoy

/s/ STEVEN J. GOMO Director February 7, 2025

Steven J. Gomo

/s/ JAMIE HAENGGI Director February 7, 2025

Jamie Haenggi

/s/ BENJAMIN KORTLANG Director February 7, 2025

Benjamin Kortlang

/s/ JOESEPH MALCHOW Director February 7, 2025

Joseph Malchow

/s/ RICHARD MORA Director February 7, 2025

Richard Mora

/s/ THURMAN JOHN RODGERS Director February 7, 2025

Thurman John Rodgers
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SEE REVERSE FOR CERTAIN DEFINITIONS CUSIP 29355A 10 7 THIS CERTIFIES THAT is the record holder of FULLY PAID AND NONASSESSABLE SHARES OF COMMON STOCK, $0.00001 PAR VALUE PER SHARE, OF ENPHASE ENERGY, INC. transferable on the books of the Corporation in person or by duly authorized attorney upon surrender of the Certificate properly endorsed. This Certificate is not valid unless countersigned by the Transfer Agent and registered by the Registrar. WITNESS the facsimile signatures of the Corporation’s duly authorized officers. Dated: COMMON STOCK ENPHASE ENERGY, INC. NUMBER SHARES C O U N TE R S IG N E D A N D R E G IS TE R E D : E Q U IN ITI TR U S T C O M P A N Y , LLC TR A N S FE R A G E N T A N D R E G IS TR A R B Y A U TH O R IZ E D S IG N A TU R E INCORPORATED UNDER THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF DELAWARE PRESIDENT AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER SECRETARY



 

The following abbreviations, when used in the inscription on the face of this certificate, shall be construed as though they were written out in full according to applicable laws or regulations: TEN COM – as tenants in common UNIF GIFT MIN ACT – ______________ Custodian ______________ (Cust) (Minor) TEN ENT – as tenants by the entireties under Uniform Gifts to Minors JT TEN – as joint tenants with right of survivorship Act ___________________________________ and not as tenants in common (State) COM PROP – as community property UNIF TRF MIN ACT – ______________ Custodian (until age _______) (Cust) ________________under Uniform Transfers (Minor) to Minors Act __________________________ (State) Additional abbreviations may also be used though not in the above list. For Value Received, ___________________ ______________ hereby sell(s), assign(s) and transfer(s) unto (PLEASE PRINT OR TYPEWRITE NAME AND ADDRESS, INCLUDING ZIP CODE, OF ASSIGNEE) shares of the common stock represented by the within Certificate, and do(es) hereby irrevocably constitute and appoint Attorney to transfer the said stock on the books of the within-named Corporation with full power of substitution in the premises. Dated ___________________________________ NOTICE: THE SIGNATURE TO THIS ASSIGNMENT MUST CORRESPOND WITH THE NAME AS WRITTEN UPON THE FACE OF THE CERTIFICATE IN EVERY PARTICULAR, WITHOUT ALTERATION OR ENLARGEMENT OR ANY CHANGE WHATSOEVER. Signature Guaranteed ____________________________________________ THE SIGNATURE(S) MUST BE GUARANTEED BY AN ELIGIBLE GUARANTOR INSTITUTION (BANKS, STOCKBROKERS, SAVINGS AND LOAN ASSOCIATIONS AND CREDIT UNIONS WITH MEMBERSHIP IN AN APPROVED SIGNATURE GUARANTEE MEDALLION PROGRAM), PURSUANT TO SEC RULE 17Ad-15. KEEP THIS CERTIFICATE IN A SAFE PLACE. IF IT IS LOST, STOLEN, OR DESTROYED THE CORPORATION WILL REQUIRE A BOND OF INDEMNITY AS A CONDITION TO THE ISSUANCE OF A REPLACEMENT CERTIFICATE. PLEASE INSERT SOCIAL SECURITY OR OTHER IDENTIFYING NUMBER OF ASSIGNEE



 



 

Certain confidential portions of this exhibit have been omitted and replaced with "[***]", such identified information has been excluded from this exhibit because it is (i) not material and (ii) is
the type that the registrant customarily and actually treats as private or confidential.

Exhibit 10.5

Flextronics Logistics Services Agreement

This Logistics Services Agreement ("Agreement") is entered into this 1st day of May 2009 (the "Effective Date"), by and between Enphase Energy, Inc. having its place of business at 201 1" Street,
Suite 300, Petaluma, CA 94952 ("Customer") and Flextronics America, LLC having a place of business at 260 South Milpitas Blvd, Milpitas, California 95035 ("Flextronics").

The Customer has entered into an ongoing sales agreement with its customers (the "Purchaser") for the sale by Customer of certain goods. Flextronics has developed processes and practices for the
purchasing, receipt, kitting, storage, and movement including the management of transportation of goods and the provision of visibility into the status of the supply of such goods through electronic
communications and otherwise. The Customer desires to engage Flextronics to perform logistics services, including storing Customer's goods and value-added logistics services at locations managed by
Flextronics (the "Services"). Customer acknowledges that Flextronics's expertise is in providing these Services and that Flextronics's responsibility related to the Customer's goods is limited to this extent.

1. SERVICES

Flextronics will perform the SeNices as set forth in Exhibit A to this Agreement with regard to the goods identified on Exhibit B to this Agreement (the "Goods"). Any Services related to the
management and storage of Goods will be provided at Flextronics facilities situated at the locations identified in Exhibit A (each a "Flextronics Facility"). Flextronics shall perform the SeNices in a
professional manner in accordance with the Customer's instructions, using a commercially reasonable degree of diligence, care and skill.

2. TERM AND TERMINATION

2.1. Term. The term of this Agreement shall commence on the Effective Date and shall continue for one (I) year thereafter until terminated as provided in Section 2.2 or 8.8. After the expiration of
the initial term hereunder (unless this Agreement has been terminated), this Agreement shall be automatically renewed for separate but successive one-year terms unless either party provides written
notice to the other prior to the date that is ninety (90) days prior to the end of any term that it does not intend to renew this Agreement.

2.2. Termination. This Agreement may be terminated by either party (a) for any reason upon ninety (90) days written notice lo the other party, or (b) if the other party defaults in the performance
of any material term or condition of this Agreement (including defaulting in any payment due) and such default continues unresolved for a period of thirty (30) days after the delivery of written notice
thereof by the terminating party to the other party, or (c} pursuant to Section 8.8 below. Expiration or termination of this Agreement under any of the foregoing provisions shall not affect the amounts due
under this Agreement by either party that exist as of the date of expiration or termination. Except as provided in Section 7, termination of this Agreement and settling of accounts shall be the exclusive
remedy of the parties for breach of this Agreement.
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2.3. Consequences of Termination. Upon payment of all sums due under this specific agreement, the Customer shall remove the Goods from the Facility within five (5) business days of the
date of termination. Notwithstanding termination or expiration of this Agreement, Sections 2.3, 3.4(b) and (c), 7 and 8 shall survive the termination or expiration of this Agreement. In addition, the
obligation to pay any amounts due or which may become due as a result of termination shall survive.

3. CHARGES AND PAYMENT TERMS

3.1. Charges. In consideration for the Services, Customer will pay Flextronics the charges set forth in Exhibit C. The charges may be increased or decreased by Flextronics as part of the
quarterly cost review if (a) the market price of equipment, labor or other costs related to the provision of the Services, increase or decrease beyond normal variations in pricing as demonstrated by
Flextronics or identified during the quarterly cost review, and (b) the

parties agree to the increase or decrease. At either party's request, the parties will meet and review the charges. Any changes to the charges, including the effective date such changes, shall be
agreed to in writing by the parties.

3.2. Taxes and Duties. Unless otherwise agreed to by the parties in Exhibit C all charges quoted are exclusive of federal, state and local excise, sales, use and similar taxes, and any duties, and
Customer shall be responsible for all such items.

3.3. Payment. Payment for any charges or other cost to be paid by Customer hereunder is due [***] days net from the date of invoice and shall be made in lawful U.S. currency. Customer agrees
to pay one and one​half percent (1.5%) monthly interest on all late payments. All payments shall be made without any deductions or set​ off of any amounts due.

3.4. Additional Terms Related to Payment.

a Prepayment: Stop Work. If Customer is late with payments under this specific agreement, or Flextronics has reasonable cause to believe Customer may not be able to pay, Flextronics may
require prepayment or delay shipments or suspend work until assurances of payment satisfactory to Flextronics are received. Customer agrees to provide all necessary financial information required by
Flextronics from time to time in order to make a proper assessment of the creditworthiness of Customer.

b Retention and Lien Rights. In addition to (a) above, Flextronics shall have the right without prejudice to its other rights and remedies against the Customer to retain, as of the date of the written
notice, to retain the Goods the wholesale value of which is roughly equivalent to the amount of all sums due from Customer under this specific agreement, at the Customer's expense and risk. Prior to
exercising these retention and lien rights, Flextronics will notify Customer that it has exercised these rights and that Customer has thirty (30) days from date of the notice to pay the outstanding amounts.
Any storage charges described in Exhibit C shall continue to accrue on any Goods detained in accordance with this subsection (b). Flextronics will release the retained Goods immediately upon receipt of
the amounts due if Customer makes payment within the thirty (30) day period. If Customer does not pay within the thirty (30) day period, Flextronics, without prejudice to its other rights and remedies
against the Customer, shall be entitled to sell or otherwise dispose of the retained goods at the Customer's sole risk and expense by a commercially reasonable method, and the proceeds of any sale or
disposal shall be remitted to the Customer after deduction there from of all expenses and all amounts due to Flextronics from Customer on any account.

c Letter of Credit. Within forty-five (45) days of Flextronics's request during the term of this Agreement, Customer agrees to obtain and maintain a stand-by letter of credit (LOC) on
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behalf of Flextronics to minimize the financial risk to Flextronics for its performance of the Services under this Agreement The LOC shall be for a minimum period of time of three (3) months and shall be
for a total amount that is equal to the total value of the risks associated with the accounts receivable from Customer for this specific agreement. The calculation shall be based upon the average monthly
Customer accounts receivable for the prior three (3) months. The drawdown procedures under the LOC shall be determined solely by Flextronics. Flextronics will, in good faith, review Customer's
creditworthiness periodically and may provide more favorable terms once it feels it is prudent to do so. In addition, Flextronics agrees that no letter of credit shall be required from Customer as long as
Customer has promptly paid all invoices in accordance with section 3.3 above.

4. TITLE TO GOODS AND RISK OF LOSS: INSPECTION

Unless otherwise mutually agreed to by the parties in writing, Flextronics shall never take title to the Goods. Flextronics's sole liability for risk of loss is as set forth in Section 7.1 below. Customer will hold
title to the Goods and shall bear risk of loss while the Goods are under Flextronics's care. control and custody. Upon twenty-four (24) hours' prior notice, Customer will have the right to enter and access
any Flextronics Facility where the Goods are located during normal business hours to verify Flextronics' compliance with this Agreement. Customer may perform an inspection, inventory, or quality review
of the Goods at the Flextronics Facility. No charge will be made for any such visits.

5. INSURANCE

5.1. Customer's Obligations. Customer will insure the full value of the Goods against all risks while they are under Flextronics's care, control and custody.

5.2. Flextronics's Obligations. Flextronics shall, at its own expense, provide and keep in full force and effect during the term of this Agreement at least the following kinds of insurance covering
the Services: Worker's Compensation Insurance; Commercial General Liability Insurance; Comprehensive Automobile Liability Insurance (including, property damage for owned, non-owned, and hired
vehicles used by Flextronics while performing the Services in connection with this Agreement. Flextronics will not provide, or obtain on behalf of Customer, any insurance on the Goods. Flextronics shall
be liable, however, for any damage to the Goods caused by Flextronics's employees' negligence in handling.

6. WARRANTIES

6.1 Owner of the Goods. The Customer warrants that it is either the owner or the authorized agent of the owner of the Goods and that it is accepting the terms and conditions of this Agreement
for itself and as agent for and on behalf of the owner.

6.2. Description of the Goods. The Customer warrants that the description and particulars of any goods furnished by or on behalf of the Customer to Flextronics are true, correct and complete.

6.3. Condition of the Goods. Flextronics warrants that it will properly inspect the shipment (outer boxes and pallets only) of all Goods, whether manufactured by Flextronics or a third party, upon
arrival and verify that it is in suitable condition for storage at Flextronics's facility and shipment to Customer or Customer's customers. Flextronics will perform inspection of the non-PCBA product as
agreed to by the parties. If Goods are damaged or otherwise not shippable, Flextronics shall immediately notify Customer. If Flextronics finds damage to a Good that is manufactured by Flextronics, then
Flextronics shall notify its manufacturing facility of such damage, in writing. Flextronics shall also ensure that Goods are securely and properly stowed, labeled and/or marked, and that the preparation,
packing, stowage, labeling and marking are appropriate to any operations or transactions affecting the Goods and the characteristics of the
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Goods, in compliance with any statutory regulations or official or recognized standards and in such condition as not to cause damage or injury or the likelihood of damage or injury to the Facility or other
property (real or personal) of Flextronics or to any other goods, whether by spreading of damp, infestation, leakage or the escape of fumes or substances or otherwise.

6.4. Special Precautions. The Customer warrants that before presentation of any Customer supplied Goods to Flextronics (or its subcontractor) for warehousing or for collection, the Customer
will inform Flextronics in writing of any special precautions necessitated by the nature, weight or condition of the Goods and of any statutory duties specific to the Goods with which Flextronics may need to
comply. In addition, The Customer warrants that unless prior to receipt of the Goods by Flextronics, Flextronics receives written notice containing all appropriate information, none of the Goods are or
contain substances the storage which would require the obtaining of any consent or license or which, if they escaped from their packaging, would or may cause pollution of the environment or harm to
human health.

6.5. Flextronics Warranties. Flextronics warrants that (i) Flextronics will warehouse, store, and handle the Goods in a safe and secure storage area with due care; (ii) all Services will be
performed promptly, in a competent and professional manner in accordance with industry standards; and (iii) Flextronics will use commercially reasonable efforts to prevent any theft or damage to the
Goods.

7.1 LIABlLITY AND INDEMNIFICATION

7.1    Flextronics's Liability end Indemnification of Customer.

a Flextronics Liability and Certain Limitations. Except as described below in Section 7. l.b through 7.1.d, Flextronics shall not be liable for any loss or damage which is discovered after
Customer has accepted the Goods without noting tampering, damage or loss nor shall Flextronics be liable for any loss or damage to the Goods while they are under Flextronics's care, custody and control,
including without limitation any deterioration of the Goods, any delay or any failure to comply with Customer's instructions, however caused.

b Flextronics will maintain a minimum of [***] inventory accuracy (by dollar value of inventory). Any shortages beyond [***] in any given period shall be the responsibility of Flextronics
unless the shortages are the direct result of actions of the Customer. Shortages up to [***] will be the responsibility of the Customer except to the extent that such shortages arise as a result of Flextronics
negligence or willful misconduct or breach of this Agreement.

c Any claims made to Flextronics as a result of inventory losses in any given twelve month period may not exceed the total amount invoiced to Customer by Flextronics during that same
period unless such claims arise as a result of Flextronics gross negligence or willful misconduct.

d Any presumption of conversion imposed by law shall not apply to such loss, and a claim by Customer of conversion must be established by affirmative evidence that Flextronics
converted the Goods to Flextronics's own use.

e Procedure for Making Claims Against Flextronics.

(i). Any claim by Customer against Flextronics arising in respect of any Service provided for Customer or with respect to which Flextronics has undertaken to provide, shall be
made in writing and notified to Flextronics within thirty (30) days of the date upon which the Customer became or should have become aware of the event or occurrence alleged to give rise to such claim,
or of the date upon which the Goods have been delivered to or to the use of the Customer, whichever is later. Any claim not made and notified as described herein shall be deemed to be waived and
absolutely barred except where the Customer can show
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that it was impossible for it to comply with this time limit and that it has made the claim as soon as it was reasonably possible for it to do so.

(ii). Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection (i) above, Flextronics shall in any event be discharged of all liability whatsoever howsoever arising in respect of any Service
provided for the Customer or which Flextronics has undertaken to provide unless suit be brought and written notice thereof given to Flextronics within nine (9) months from the date of the event or
occurrence alleged to give rise to a cause of action against Flextronics.

f Special Goods.

(i). Except following instructions previously received in writing and accepted by Flextronics, Flextronics will not accept or deal with goods of a dangerous or damaging nature, nor
with goods likely to harbor or encourage vermin or other pests, nor with goods liable to taint or affect other goods ("Special Goods"). Should the Customer nevertheless deliver any such goods to
Flextronics or cause Flextronics to handle or deal with any such goods otherwise than under special arrangements previously made in writing, Flextronics shall be under no liability whatsoever for or in
connection with such goods howsoever arising.

(ii). If Flextronics accepts Special Goods pursuant to a special arrangement and then in the opinion of Flextronics they constitute a risk to other goods, property, life or health,
Flextronics shall where reasonably practicable contact Customer, but reserves the right at the expense of the Customer to remove or otherwise deal with such Special Goods.

(iii). Flextronics may at any time waive its rights and exemptions from liability under subsection (i) above in respect of any one or more of the categories of Special Goods mentioned
herein or of any part of any category. If such waiver is not in writing, the onus of proving such waiver shall be on the Customer.

7.2    Customer's Liability and Indemnification of Flextronics.

a Customer's Liability and Certain Limitations. Except as expressly set forth in Section 7.1 or in this Section 7.2, Customer shall bear all risk of loss or damage to the Goods and any
liability for any delay, non-delivery or other failure associated with the activities that are the subject of this Agreement. In addition, where loss or damage occurs to Goods, for which Flextronics is not liable,
the Customer shall be responsible for the cost of removing and disposing of such Goods (including, without limitation any associated environmental clean up or site remediation costs).

b Customer's Indemnification Obligation. Customer shall defend, indemnify and hold Flextronics, its affiliated companies, officers, directors, employees, and agents ("Flextronics
Indemnified Parties") harmless from any obligations, costs, claims, judgments, losses, expenses and liabilities (including without limitation, reasonable attorney’s fees, duties, taxes, fines, penalties,
imposts, levies, deposits and outlays of any nature levied by any authority in relation to the Goods) incurred in connection with any claim or alleged claim by any third party arising as a result of (i)
Flextronics acting in accordance with the Customer's instructions; (ii) Customer's breach of any warranty contained in this Agreement; or (iii) Customer's negligence or willful misconduct.

7.3    Indemnification Procedure. In the case of a claim for indemnification pursuant to Section 7, the indemnified party shall notify the indemnitor promptly in writing of any claim and, at the
indemnitor's expense, reasonably cooperate with the indemnitor in the defense and/or settlement of any such claim.

7 .4    NO OTHER LIABILITIES. IN NO EVENT SHALL EITHER PARTY BE LIABLE TO THE OTHER FOR ANY INCIDENTAL, CONSEQUENTIAL, SPECIAL OR PUNITIVE DAMAGES OF
ANY KIND OR NATURE ARISING OUT OF THIS AGREEMENT OR THE SALE OF PRODUCTS, WHETHER SUCH LIABILITY IS
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ASSERTED ON THE BASIS OF CONTRACT, TORT (INCLUDING THE POSSIBILITY OF NEGLIGENCE OR STRICT LIABILITY), OR OTHERWISE, EVEN IF THE PARTY HAS BEEN WARNED OF
THE POSSIBILITY OF ANY SUCH LOSS OR DAMAGE, AND EVEN IF ANY OF THE LIMITED REMEDIES IN THIS AGREEMENT FAIL OF THElR ESSENTIAL PURPOSE.

8.1 MISCELLANEOUS

8 . 1    Confidentiality. All written information and data exchanged between the parties for the purpose of enabling Flextronics to perform the Services under this Agreement that is marked
"Confidential" or the like, shall be deemed to be Confidential Information. The party that receives such Confidential Information agrees not to disclose it directly or indirectly to any third party without the
prior written consent of the disclosing party. Confidential Information disclosed pursuant to this Agreement shall be maintained confidential for a period of three (3) years after the disclosure thereof.

8.2    Entire Agreement.

a This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the Parties with respect to the transactions contemplated hereby and supersedes all prior agreements and understandings between
the parties relating to such transactions. Each party shall hold the existence and terms of this Agreement confidential, unless the other party obtains express written consent otherwise. In all respects, this
Agreement shall govern, and any other documents including, without limitation, preprinted terms and conditions on Customer's purchase orders shall be of no effect. This·Agreement will be deemed to
have been drafted by both parties.

b Notwithstanding the foregoing, either party may disclose the existence and terms of this Agreement if such information is required to be disclosed under applicable law, including without
limitation pursuant to the rules and regulations promulgated by the United States Securities and Exchange Commission. In addition, each party may disclose the existence and terms of this Agreement
solely for due diligence purposes to prospective investors or acquirers.

8.3    Amendments. This Agreement may be amended only by written consent of both parties.

8 . 4    Independent Contractor. Neither party shall, for any purpose, be deemed to be an agent of the other party, nor the relationship between the parties shall only be that of independent
contractors. Neither party shall have any right or authority to assume or create any obligations or to make any representations or warranties on behalf of any other party, whether express or implied, or to
bind the other party in any respect whatsoever.

8.5    Disputes Resolution; Waiver of Jury Trial.

(a)    Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, the following binding dispute resolution procedures shall be the exclusive means used by the parties to resolve all disputes, differences,
controversies and claims arising out of or relating to the Agreement or any other aspect of the relationship between Flextronics and Customer or their respective affiliates and subsidiaries (collectively,
"Disputes"). Either party may, by written notice to the other party, refer any Disputes for resolution in the manner set forth below. Either party's affiliates and subsidiaries are also intended beneficiaries of,
and may enforce, this dispute resolution procedure.

(b)    Any and all Disputes shall be referred to arbitration under the rules and procedures of Judicial Arbiter Group, Inc. ("JAG"), who shall act as the arbitration administrator (the "Arbitration
Administrator").
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(c)    The parties shall agree on a single arbitrator (the "Arbitrator"). The Arbitrator shall be a retired judge selected by the parties from a roster of arbitrators provided by the Arbitration
Administrator. If the parties cannot agree on an Arbitrator within seven (7) days of delivery of the demand for arbitration ("Demand") (or such other time period as the parties may agree), the Arbitration
Administrator shall deliver a roster often names to the parties. Within seven (7) calendar days of service upon the parties of the list of names, each party may strike three (3) names and shall rank the
remaining seven arbitrator candidates in order of preference, from least to most preferred. The Arbitration Administrator will then appoint the remaining candidate with the highest composite ranking as the
Arbitrator, or, in the event of a tie, the Arbitration Administrator will select an Arbitrator from among the tied candidates.

(d) Unless otherwise mutually agreed to by the parties, the place of arbitration shall be Denver, Colorado, although the arbitrators may be selected from rosters outside Denver.

(e) The Federal Arbitration Act shall govern the arbitration of all Disputes. The Federal Rules of Civil Procedure and the Federal Rules of Evidence (the "Federal Rules"), to the extent not
inconsistent with this Agreement, govern the conduct of the arbitration. To the extent that the Federal Arbitration Act and Federal Rules do not provide an applicable procedure, Colorado law shall govern
the procedures for arbitration and enforcement of an award, and then only to the extent not inconsistent with the terms of this Section 8.5. Disputes between the parties shall be subject to arbitration
notwithstanding that a party to this Agreement is also a party to a pending court action or special proceeding with a third party, arising out of the same transaction or series of related transactions and there
is a possibility of conflicting rulings on a common issue of law or fact.

(f) Unless otherwise mutually agreed to by the parties, each party shall allow and participate in discovery as follows:

(i) Non-Expert Discovery. Each party may (1) conduct three (3) non-expert depositions of no more than five (5) hours of testimony each, with any deponents employed by any party to
appear for deposition in Denver, Colorado; (2) propound a single set of requests for production of documents containing no more than twenty (20) individual requests; (3) propound up to
twenty written interrogatories; and (4) propound up to ten (10) requests for admission.

(ii) Expert Disclosure. If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the arbitrator, each party may select a single witness who is retained or specially employed to provide
such expert testimony. In addition, each party may select an additional retained or specially employed expert witness to testify with respect to damages issues, if any. Expert discovery
shall consist of the following: (1) the parties shall exchange complete reports on all information to be provided by the expert(s) at the hearing no later than thirty (30) days before the first
day of the hearing; (2) the parties shall produce complete rebuttal reports, if any, no later than ten (10) days before the first day of the hearing; and (3) the parties shall be required to
produce any and all documents reviewed by their expert(s) in performing work relating to the arbitration.

(iii)Additional Discovery. The Arbitrator may, on application by either party, authorize additional discovery only if deemed essential to avoid injustice. In the event that remote witnesses
might otherwise be unable to attend the arbitration, arrangements shall be made to allow their live testimony by video conference during the arbitration hearing.
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(g) The Arbitrator shall render an award within six (6) months after the date of appointment, and a condition of the arbitrator's appointment shall be commitment to comply with this six (6)
month period. This period may be extended by mutual agreement of the parties. The award shall be accompanied by a written opinion setting forth the findings off act; conclusions of law and reasoning
relied upon by the arbitrator in reaching his or her decision. The Arbitrator shall have authority to award compensatory damages only, and shall not award any punitive, exemplary, or multiple damages.
The award (subject to clarification or correction by the arbitrator as allowed by statute and/or the Federal Rules) shall be final and binding upon the parties, subject solely to the review procedures
provided in this Section 8.5.

(h) Either party may seek Arbitrator review of the award. Arbitrator review may be had as to any element of the award.

(i) This Agreement's arbitration provisions are to be performed in Denver, Colorado. Any judicial proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement or the relationship of the parties,
including without limitation any proceeding to enforce this section 8.5, to review or confirm the award in arbitration, or for preliminary injunctive relief as set forth in subsection (k), shall be brought
exclusively in a court of competent jurisdiction in the county of Denver, Colorado (the "Enforcing Court"). By execution and delivery of this Agreement, each party (i) accepts, generally and
unconditionally, the exclusive jurisdiction of the Enforcing Court and any related appellate court, and irrevocably agrees to be bound by any judgment rendered thereby in connection with this
Agreement, their relationship, or any arbitration relating thereto, (ii) irrevocably waives any objection it may now or hereafter have as to the venue of any such suit, action or proceeding brought in such
a court or that such court is an inconvenient forum, and (iii) waives personal service of process and consents to service of process upon it by certified or registered mail, return receipt requested, at its
address specified or determined in accordance with Section 8.5 hereof, and service so made shall be deemed completed on the third business day after such service is deposited in the mail. Nothing in
this Section 8.5 shall affect the right of any party hereto to serve process in any other manner permitted by applicable law.

(j)    Each party shall pay their own expenses in connection with the resolution of Disputes pursuant to this Section 8.5, including attorneys' fees. Notwithstanding the foregoing: (1) the fees and
expenses of the Arbitrator and Arbitration Administrator shall be (A) borne equally by Customer and Flextronics if and to the extent that the arbitration panel determines that such result would be fair
and equitable under the circumstances, or

(B) borne by Customer and/or Flextronics in inverse proportion to the amount that the arbitration panel's award in favor of Customer and/or Flextronics bears to the total amount of the items in dispute
(for illustration purposes for this Section 8.5 (i) only, (X) if the total amount of items in dispute is $1,000,000.00, and Customer prevails on $500,000.00 as determined by the Arbitrator, Flextronics and
Customer shall bear the arbitration panel's fees and expenses equally, or (Y) if the total amount of items in dispute is $1,000,000.00, and Customer prevails on $250,000.00 as determined by the
Arbitrator, Customer shall bear 75% and Flextronics shall bear 25% of the fees and expenses of the arbitrator and the Arbitration Administrator; and (2) the fees and expenses incurred by the prevailing
party to enforce this Section 8.5 or the enforcement of any award shall be paid by the other party.

(k) The parties agree that any breach of a party's confidentiality obligations set forth in this Agreement will result in irreparable injury to the other party for which there is no adequate remedy
at law. Therefore, in the event of any breach or threatened breach of such obligations, the non-breaching party will be entitled to seek preliminary injunctive relief in the Enforcing Court or in any Court
of competent jurisdiction in the location in which the breaching party conducts its business, without first pursuing such relief in arbitration.

Enphase Confidential



(l)    Notwithstanding anything contained in this Section 8.5 to the contrary, in the event of any Dispute, prior to referring such Dispute to arbitration pursuant to Section 8.5(b) hereof, Customer
and Flextronics shall attempt in good faith to resolve any and all controversies or claims relating to such Disputes promptly by negotiation commencing within ten (10) calendar days of the written notice
of such Disputes by either party, including referring such matter to Customer's then-current President and Flextronics's then current executive in charge of manufacturing operations in the region in
which the primary activities of this Agreement are performed by Flextronics. The representatives of the parties shall meet at a mutually acceptable time and place and thereafter as often as they
reasonably deem necessary to exchange relevant information and to attempt to resolve the Dispute for a period of four (4) weeks. In the event that the parties are unable to resolve such Dispute
pursuant to this Section 8.5 (1), the provisions of Section 8.5(a) through 0) hereof, inclusive, as well as Section 8.5 (n) shall apply.

(m) The parties agree that the existence, conduct and content of any arbitration pursuant to this Section 8.5 shall be kept confidential and no party shall disclose to any person any information
about such arbitration, except as may be required by law or by any governmental authority or for financial reporting purposes in each party's financial statements.

(n) IN THE EVENT OF ANY DISPUTE BETWEEN THE PARTIES, WHETHER IT RESULTS fN PROCEEDINGS IN ANY COURT IN ANY JURISDICTION OR IN ARBITRATION, THE
PARTIES HEREBY KNOWINGLY AND VOLUNTARILY, AND HAVING HAD AN OPPORTUNITY TO CONSULT WITH COUNSEL, WAIVE ALL RIGHTS TO TRIAL BY JURY, AND AGREE THAT
ANY AND ALL MATTERS SHALL BE DECIDED BY A JUDGE OR ARBITRATOR WITHOUT A JURY TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMISSIBLE UNDER APPLICABLE LAW.

(o) In the event of any lawsuit between the parties arising out of or related to this Agreement, the parties agree to prepare and to timely file in the applicable court a mutual consent to waive
any statutory or other requirements for a trial by jury.

8.6    Governing Law.

a. This Agreement shall be governed and construed in all respects in accordance with the domestic laws and regulations of the State of Colorado without regard to its conflicts of laws provisions;
except to the extent there may be any conflict between the law of the State of Colorado and the Incoterms of the International Chamber of Commerce, 2000 edition, in which case the Incoterrns shall be
controlling. The parties specifically agree that the 1980 United Nations Convention on Contracts for the International Sale of Goods, as may be amended from time to time, shall not apply to this
Agreement.

b. The parties acknowledge and confirm that they have selected the Jaws of the State of Colorado as the governing law for this Agreement in part because jury trial waivers are enforceable
under Colorado law. The parties further acknowledge and confirm that the selection of the governing law is a material term of this Agreement.

8 . 7    Successors, Assignment: Subcontractors. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors, assigns and legal
representatives. Neither party shall have the right to assign or otherwise transfer its rights or obligations under this Agreement except with the prior written consent of the other party, not to be
unreasonably withheld; provided, that Flextronics may assign this Agreement to any of its affiliated companies. Where necessary for the optimal performance of services, Flextronics shall be entitled to
sub-contract all or any part of the Services, including without limitation, the security, cleaning, maintenance, repair and other services and works at the Facility.
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Notwithstanding the foregoing, Flextronics may assign some or all of this Agreement to an affiliated Flextronics entity.

8.8    Force Majeure. In the event that either party is prevented from performing or is unable to perform any of its obligations under this Agreement (other than a payment obligation) due to any
Act of God, fire, casualty, flood, earthquake, war, strike, lockout, epidemic, destruction of production facilities, riot, insurrection, act of terrorism or any other cause beyond the reasonable control of the
party invoking this section, and if such party shall have used its commercially reasonable efforts to mitigate its effects, such party shall give prompt written notice to the other party, its performance shall
be excused, and the time for the performance shall be extended for the period of delay or inability to perform due to such occurrences. Regardless of the excuse of Force Majeure, if such party is not able
to perform within ninety (90) days after such event, the other party may terminate the Agreement.

8.9    Intellectual Property. Nothing in this Agreement grants either party any rights to use the other party's trademarks, trade - or corporate names, patents or other intellectual property rights,
directly or indirectly, in connection with any product, service, promotion or publication without the prior written approval of the intellectual property rights owner or, in the case of corporate names, of an
authorized officer of the other party.

8.10    Notices. All notices required or permitted under this Agreement will be in writing and will be deemed received (i) when delivered personally; (ii) when sent by confirmed facsimile; (iii) five
(5) days after having been sent by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid; or (iv) one (1) day after deposit with a commercial overnight carrier. All communications will be
sent to the addresses set forth above or to such other address as may be designated by a party by giving written notice to the other party pursuant lo his section.

If any legislation is compulsorily applicable to any business undertaken, this Agreement shall be read as subject to such legislation and nothing in this Agreement shall be construed as a surrender by
Flextronics of any of its rights or immunities or as an increase of any of its responsibilities or liabilities under such legislation and if any provision of this Agreement is inconsistent with a provision of any
statute or rule of law having compulsorily application to the Agreement then to the extent only of such inconsistency such statute or rule of law shall prevail.

THIS AGREEMENT MUST BE ACCEPTED WITHIN THIRTY (30) DAYS FROM THE PROPOSAL DATE BY SIGNATURE OF CUSTOMER. IN THE ABSENCE OF WRITTEN ACCEPTANCE, THE ACT
OF TENDERING GOODS DESCRIBED HEREIN FOR STORAGE OR OTHER SERVICES BY FLEXTRONICS WITHIN THIRTY (30) DAYS FROM THE PROPOSAL DATE SHALL CONSTITUTE
UNQUALIFIED ACCEPTANCE OF THESE TERMS AND CONDITIONS BY CUSTOMER.

ACCEPTED AND AGREED TO:

[CUSTOMER] [FLEXTRONICS]

/s/ Gregory S. Steele /s/ Thomas Wright

By: GREGORY S. STEELE By: THOMAS WRIGHT

Title: VP OF OPERATIONS Title: VP FGS
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Certain confidential portions of this exhibit have been omitted and replaced with "[***]", such identified information has been excluded from this exhibit because it is (i) not material and (ii) is
the type that the registrant customarily and actually treats as private or confidential.

Exhibit 10.7

Flextronics Manufacturing Services Agreement

This Flextronics Manufacturing Services Agreement ("Agreement") is entered into this 1st day of March 2009 by and between Enphase Energy, Inc. having its place of business at 201 1  Street, Suite 300, Petaluma, CA 94952
("Customer") and Flextronics Industrial, LTD, having its place of business at Level 3, Alexander House 35 Cybercity, Ebene Mauritius ("Flextronics").

Customer desires to engage Flextronics to perform manufacturing services as further set forth in this Agreement. The parties agree as follows:

I.    DEFINITIONS

Flextronics and Customer agree that capitalized terms shall have the meanings set forth in this Agreement and Exhibit 1

attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference.

2.    MANUFACTURING SERVICES

2.1.    Work. Customer hereby engages Flextronics to perform the work (hereinafter "Work"). "Work" shall mean to procure Materials and to manufacture, assemble, and test products (hereinafter "Product(s)") pursuant to
detailed written Specifications. The "Specifications" for each Product or revision thereof, shall include but are not limited to bill of materials, designs, schematics, assembly drawings, process documentation, test specifications, current
revision number, and Approved Vendor List. The Specifications as provided by Customer and included in Flextronics's production document management system and maintained in accordance with the terms of this Agreement are
incorporated herein by reference as Exhibit 2.1. This Agreement includes new product introduction (NPI) to the extent that the estimated pricing for pilot build quantities of 30 units is listed in Exhibit 3.4. Pricing for other pilot runs is
expected to be made using similar pricing methodologies.

2.2.    Engineering Changes. Customer may request that Flextronics incorporate engineering changes into the Product by providing Flextronics with a description of the proposed engineering change sufficient to permit
Flextronics to evaluate its feasibility and cost. Flextronics will proceed with engineering changes when the parties have agreed upon the changes to the Specifications, delivery schedule and Product pricing and the Customer has
issued a purchase order for the implementation costs. The Customer Focus Team will analyze and incorporate at [***] expense the [***] engineering changes per [***] affecting less than [***] of the product BOM except for the
following: new JCT fixtures & programs, tooling/equipment, etc. The CFT will provide an implementation quote for material E&O, direct labor and pilot build to validate the ECO change as warranted.

2.3.    Tooling; Non-Recurring Expenses; Software.  Customer shall pay for or obtain and consign to Flextronics any Product-specific tooling, equipment or software and other reasonably necessary non-recurring expenses,
to be set forth in Flextronics's quotation. All software that Customer provides to Flextronics or any test software that Customer engages Flextronics to develop is and shall remain the property of Customer. At the time of signing this
agreement, Customer consigned equipment shall include functional test sets, system test sets, Hi-Pot test equipment, a temperature chamber, 2 ENABLE servers, and a potting machine, as per the attached Exhibit 2.3.

2.4.    Cost Reduction Projects . Flextronics agrees to seek ways to reduce the cost of manufacturing Products by methods such as elimination of Materials, redefinition of Specifications, and re-design of assembly or test
methods. Upon implementation of such ways that have been initiated by Flextronics and approved by Customer, Flextronics will receive I00% of the demonstrated cost reduction for the balance of the quarter in which it is found.
Customer will receive l00% of the demonstrated cost reduction upon implementation of such ways initiated by Customer. Costs shall be formally evaluated at the end of each quarter and standards shall be adjusted based upon that
evaluation. [***] a costed BOM) shall be provided to Customer no later than 10 days before the end of the quarter. New standards will be effective for all shipments starting on the first day of each quarter. The parties shall mutually
agree upon non-binding cost reduction targets during their quarterly business reviews.

2.5.    Factory Access. Flextronics agrees to grant access as needed to the Canadian Standards Association (CSA) and other industry-standards entities for factory audits at no charge to Customer. It is anticipated that CSA
will visit the factory 4 times per year.

2.6.    IT Support . Customer requires a client-to-site connection to the Flextronics facility be available at all times to monitor production test equipment and to troubleshoot any potential problems. Flextronics shall provide a
static internet connection, through which Customer can tunnel via a secure protocol such as VPN. Enphase shall provide pre-configured equipment for installation at the Flextronics facilities.

st
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3.    FORECASTS; ORDERS; FEES; PAYMENT

3.1.    Forecast. Customer shall provide Flextronics. on a monthly basis, a rolling twelve (12) month forecast indicating Customer's monthly Product requirements. The first ninety (90) days of the forecast shall be in weekly
time buckets and will constitute Customer's written purchase order for all Work to be completed within the first ninety (90) day period. Such purchase orders will be issued in accordance with Section 3.2 below.

3 . 2 .    Purchase Orders; Precedence. Customer may use its standard purchase order form for any notice provided for hereunder; provided that all purchase orders must reference this Agreement and the applicable
Specifications. The parties agree that the terms and conditions contained in this Agreement shall prevail over any terms and conditions of any such purchase order. acknowledgment form or other instrument, unless specifically agreed
in writing by both parties.

3.3.    Purchase Order Acceptance. Purchase orders shall normally be deemed accepted by Flextronics. provided however that Flextronics may reject any purchase order: (a) that is an amended order in accordance with
Section 5.2 below because the purchase order is outside of the Flexibility Table; (b) if the fees reflected in the purchase order are inconsistent with the parties· agreement with respect to the fees; (c) if the purchase order represents a
significant deviation from the forecast for the same period, unless such deviation is within the parameters of the Flexibility Table; or (d) if a purchase order would extend Flextronics's liability beyond Customer's approved credit line.
Flextronics shall notify Customer of rejection of any purchase order within five (5) business days of receipt of such purchase order.

3.4.    Fees; Changes; Taxes.

(a)    The fees will be agreed by the parties and will be indicated on the purchase orders issued by Customer and accepted by Flextronics. The initial fees shall be as set forth on the Fee List attached hereto and incorporated
herein as Exhibit 3.4 (the "Fee List"). If a Fee List is not attached or completed, then the initial fees shall be as set forth in purchase orders issued by Customer and accepted by Flextronics in accordance with the terms of this
Agreement.

(b)    Customer is responsible for additional fees and costs due to: (a) changes to the Specifications except as permitted in Section 2.2; (b) failure of Customer or its subcontractor to timely provide sufficient quantities or a
reasonable quality level of Customer Controlled Materials where applicable to sustain the production schedule; and (c) any pre-approved expediting charges reasonably necessary because of a change in Customer's requirements.

(c)    All costs and fees will be evaluated quarterly during the quarterly business review . Any changes and timing of changes shall be agreed by the parties, such agreement not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed. By way
of example only. the fees may be increased if the market price of fuels, Materials. equipment. labor and other production costs. increase beyond normal variations in pricing or currency exchange rates as demonstrated by Flextronics.

(d)    All fees are exclusive of federal, state and local excise, sales, use, VAT, and similar transfer taxes, and any duties, and Customer shall be responsible for all such items. This subsection (d) does not apply to taxes on
Flextronics's net income.

(e)    The Fees List will be based on the exchange rate(s) for converting the purchase price for Inventory denominated in the Parts Purchase Currency(ies) into the Functional Currency. The fees will be adjusted, on a monthly
basis based on changes in the Exchange Rate(s) as reported on the last business day of each month, for the following month to the extent that such Exchange Rates change more than+ /- .75% from the prior month (the "Currency
Window"). "Exchange Rate(s)" is defined as the closing currency exchange rate(s) as reported on Reuters' page FIX on the last business day of the current month prior to the following month. "Functional Currency" means the currency
in which all payments are to be made pursuant to Section 3.5 below. "Parts Purchase Currency(ies)" means U.S. Dollars. Japanese Yen and /or Euros to the extent such currencies are different from the Functional Currency and are
used to purchase Inventory needed for the performance of the Work forecasted to be completed during the applicable month.

3.5.    Payment. Customer agrees to pay all invoices in U.S. Dollars within [***] days of the date of the invoice.

3.6.    Late Payment. Customer agrees to pay one and one-half percent (1.5%) monthly interest on all late

payments. Furthermore. if Customer is late with payments, or Flextronics has reasonable cause to believe Customer may not be able to pay. Flextronics may (a) stop all Work under this Agreement until assurances of payment
satisfactory to Flextronics are received or payment is received; (b) demand prepayment for purchase orders; and (c) delay shipments and (d) to the extent that Flextronics personnel cannot be reassigned to other billable work during
such stoppage and/or in the event restart cost are incurred, invoice Customer for additional fees before the Work can resume. Customer agrees to provide all necessary financial information required by Flextronics from time to time in
order to make a proper assessment of the creditworthiness of Customer.
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3.7.    Letter of Credit. Within forty-five (45) days of Flextronics's request made at any time during the term of this Agreement, Customer agrees to obtain and maintain a stand-by letter of credit or such other financial instrument
mutually agreed upon by the parties on behalf of Flextronics to support Customer's payment obligations set forth in this Agreement and to minimize the financial risk to Flextronics for its performance of the Work under this Agreement.
The stand-by letter of credit or other mutually agreed upon financial instrument shall be for a minimum period of time of three (3) months and shall be for a total amount that is equal to the total value of the risks associated with Inventory,
Special Inventory, and the accounts receivable from Customer. The calculation shall be based upon the forecast provided by Customer pursuant to Section 3.1. The draw down procedures under the stand-by letter of credit or other
mutually agreed upon financial instrument shall be determined solely by Flextronics. Flextronics will, in good faith, review Customer's creditworthiness periodically and may provide more favorable terms once it feels it is prudent to do so.
In addition, Flextronics agrees that no letter of credit shall be required from Customer as long as Customer has promptly paid all invoices in accordance with Section 3.5.

4.    MATERIALS PROCUREMENT; CUSTOMER RESPONSIBILITY FOR MATERIALS

4.1.    Authorization to Procure Materials, Inventory and Special Inventory.  Customer's accepted purchase orders and forecast will constitute authorization for Flextronics to procure, without Customer's prior approval, (a)
Inventory to manufacture the Products covered by such purchase orders based on the Lead Time and (b) certain Special Inventory based on Customer's purchase orders and forecast as follows: Long Lead-Time Materials as required
based on the Lead Time when such purchase orders are placed and Minimum Order Inventory as required by the supplier. Flextronics will only purchase Economic Order Inventory with the prior approval of Customer. Flextronics will
provide to Customer each quarter a list of all long lead time parts (greater than [***]) and the total quantity on order for each long lead time part.

4.2.    Customer Controlled Materials.  Customer may direct Flextronics to purchase Customer Controlled Materials in accordance with the Customer Controlled Materials Terms. Customer acknowledges that the Customer
Controlled Materials Terms will directly impact Flextronics's ability to perform under this Agreement and to provide Customer with the flexibility Customer is requiring pursuant to the terms of this Agreement. In the event that Flextronics
reasonably believes that Customer Controlled Materials Terms will create an additional cost that is not covered by this Agreement, then Flextronics will notify Customer and the parties will agree to either (a) compensate Flextronics for
such additional costs, (b) amend this Agreement to conform to the Customer Controlled Materials Terms or (c) amend the Customer Controlled Materials Terms to conform to this Agreement, in each case at no additional charge to
Flextronics. Customer agrees to provide copies to Flextronics of all Customer Controlled Materials Terms upon the execution of this Agreement and promptly upon execution of any new agreements with suppliers. Customer agrees not to
make any modifications or additions to the Customer Controlled Materials Terms or enter into new Customer Controlled Materials Terms with suppliers that will negatively impact Flextronics's procurement activities.

4.3.    Preferred Supplier. Customer shall provide to Flextronics and maintain an Approved Vendor List. Flextronics shall purchase from vendors on a current AVL the Materials required to manufacture the Product. Customer
shall give Flextronics an opportunity to be included on AVL's for Materials that Flextronics can supply, and if Flextronics is competitive with other suppliers with respect to reasonable and unbiased criteria for acceptance established by
Customer, Flextronics shall be included on such AVL's. If Flextronics is on an AVL and its prices and quality are competitive with other vendors, Customer will raise no objection to Flextronics sourcing Materials from itself. For purposes
of this Section 4.3 only, the term "Flextronics" includes any companies affiliated with Flextronics. For Flextronics sourced material, Flextronics must either provide a reasonable annual cost reduction based upon comparison to similar
commodities or provide proof of competitive bidding on the Flextronics sourced parts on an annual basis.

4.4.    Customer Responsibility for Inventory and Special Inventory . Customer is responsible under the conditions provided in this Agreement for all Materials, Inventory and Special Inventory purchased by Flextronics
under this Section 4.

4.5.    Materials Warranties. Flextronics shall use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain and pass through to Customer the following warranties with regard to the Materials (other than the Production Materials) i)
conformance of the Materials with the vendor's specifications and/or with the Specifications; (ii) that the Materials will be free from defects in workmanship; (iii) that the Materials will comply with Environmental Regulations; and (iv) that
the Materials will not infringe the intellectual property rights of third parties. Flextronics shall promptly inform Customer [***].

5.    SHIPMENTS, SCHEDULE CHANGE, CANCELLATION, STORAGE

5.1.    Shipments. All Products delivered pursuant to the terms of this Agreement shall be suitably packed for shipment in accordance with the Specifications and marked for shipment to Customer's destination specified in the
applicable purchase order. Shipments will be made [***], at which time risk of loss and title will pass to Customer. Notwithstanding the
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foregoing, Customer shall reimburse Flextronics for all actual costs incurred by Flextronics in shipping the Products [***], which may include, but not be limited to, freight, insurance and other shipping expenses, and any expenses
involved in the Customs clearance as well as any special packing expenses not included in the original quotation for the Products.

5.2.    Quantity Increases and Shipment Schedule Changes.

(a)    For any accepted purchase order, Customer may (i) increase the quantity of Products or (ii) reschedule the quantity of Products and their shipment date as provided in the flexibility table below (the "Flexibility
Table"):

Maximum Allowable Variance From Accepted Purchase Order Quantities/Shipment Dates

# of days before Shipment Date
on Purchase Order

Allowable Quantity Increases Maximum Reschedule Quantity Maximum Reschedule Period

0-14 0% 0% 0

15-30 [***] [***] [***]

31-60 [***] [***] [***]

61-90 [***] [***] [***]

Any decrease in quantity is considered a cancellation, unless the decreased quantity is rescheduled for delivery at a later date in accordance with the Flexibility Table. Quantity cancellations are governed by the terms of Section
5.3 below. Any purchase order quantities increased or rescheduled pursuant to this Section 5.2 (a) may not be subsequently increased or rescheduled, unless such subsequent increase or reschedule also conforms to the Flexibility
Table.

(b)    All reschedules to push out delivery dates outside of the table in subsection (a) require Flextronics's prior written approval, which, in its sole discretion, may or may not be granted. If Customer does not request prior
approval from Flextronics for such reschedules, or if Customer and Flextronics do not agree in writing to specific terms with respect to any approved reschedule, then Customer will pay Flextronics the Monthly Charges for any such
reschedule, calculated as of the first day after such reschedule for any Inventory and/or Special Inventory that was procured by Flextronics to support the original delivery schedule that is not used to manufacture Product pursuant to an
accepted purchase order within thirty (30) days of such reschedule. In addition, if Flextronics notifies Customer that such Inventory and/or Special Inventory has remained in Flextronics's possession for more than ninety (90) days since
such reschedule, then Customer agrees to immediately purchase any affected Inventory and/or Special Inventory upon receipt of the notice by paying the Affected Inventory Costs. In addition, any finished Products that have already
been manufactured to support the original delivery schedule will be treated as cancelled as provided in Sections 5.3 and 5.4 below.

(c)    Flextronics will use reasonable commercial efforts to meet any quantity increases, which are subject to Materials and capacity availability. All reschedules or quantity increases outside of the table in subsection (a) require
Flextronics's approval, which, in its sole discretion, may or may not be granted. If Flextronics agrees to accept a reschedule to pull in a delivery date or an increase in quantities in excess of the flexibility table in subsection (a) and if there
are extra costs to meet such reschedule or increase, Flextronics will inform Customer for its acceptance and approval in advance.

(d)    Any delays in the normal production or interruption in the workflow process caused by Customer's changes to the Specifications or failure to provide sufficient quantities or a reasonable quality level of Customer Controlled
Materials where applicable to sustain the production schedule, will be considered a reschedule of any affected purchase orders for purposes of this Section 5.2 for the period of such delay. In addition, Customer shall be responsible for
costs related to adjusting foreign currency hedging contracts due to changes in cash flows resulting from such delays.

(e)    For purposes of calculating the amount of Inventory and Special Inventory subject to subsection (b), the "Lead Time" shall be calculated as the Lead Time at the time of procurement of the Inventory and Special
Inventory.

5.3.    Cancellation of Orders and Customer Responsibility for Inventory.

(a)    Customer may not cancel all or any portion of Product quantity of an accepted purchase order without Flextronics 's prior written approval, which, in its sole discretion, may or may not be granted. If Customer does not
request prior approval, or if Customer and Flextronics do not agree in writing to specific terms with respect to any approved cancellation, then Customer will pay Flextronics Monthly Charges for any such cancellation, calculated as of the
first day after such cancellation for any Product or Inventory or Special Inventory procured by Flextronics to support the original delivery

schedule. In addition, if Flextronics notifies Customer that such Product, Inventory and/or Special Inventory has remained in Flextronics's possession for more than thirty (30) days since such cancellation, then Customer agrees to
immediately purchase from Flextronics, such Product, Inventory and/or Special Inventory by paying the Affected Inventory Costs. In addition, Flextronics shall calculate the cost or gain of unwinding any currency hedging contracts
entered into by Flextronics to support the cancelled purchase
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order(s). Should the unwinding result in a loss to Flextronics, Customer agrees to cover such loss amount for Flextronics immediately upon receipt of an invoice for such amount. Should the unwinding result in a gain to Flextronics, a
credit note will be immediately issued to Customer.

(b)    If the forecast for any period is less than the previous forecast supplied over the same period, that amount will be considered canceled and Customer will be responsible for any Special Inventory purchased or ordered by
Flextronics to support the forecast.

(c)    Products that have been ordered by Customer and that have not been picked up in accordance with the agreed upon shipment dates shall be considered cancelled and Customer will be responsible for such Products in
the same manner as set forth above in Section 5.3(a).

(d)    For purposes of calculating the amount of inventory and Special Inventory subject to subsection (a), the "Lead Time" shall be calculated as the Lead Time at the time of(i) procurement of the Inventory and Special
Inventory; (ii) cancellation of the purchase order or (iii) termination of this Agreement, whichever is longer.

5.4.    Mitigation of Inventory and Special Inventory. Prior to invoicing Customer for the amounts due pursuant to Sections 5.2 or 5.3, Flextronics will use reasonable commercial efforts for a period of thirty (30) days, to
return unused Inventory and Special Inventory and to cancel pending orders for such inventory, and to otherwise mitigate the amounts payable by Customer. Customer shall pay amounts due under this Section 5 within thirty (30) days
of receipt of an invoice. Flextronics will ship the Inventory and Special Inventory paid for by Customer under this Section 5.4 to Customer promptly upon said payment by Customer. In the event Customer does not pay within thirty (30)
days, Flextronics will be entitled to dispose of such Inventory and Special Inventory in a commercially reasonable manner and credit to Customer any monies received from third parties. Flextronics shall then submit an invoice for the
balance amount due and Customer agrees to pay said amount within thirty (30) days of its receipt of the invoice.

5.5.    No Waiver. For the avoidance of doubt, Flextronics's failure to invoice Customer for any of the charges set forth in this Section 5 does not constitute a waiver of Flextronics's right to charge Customer for the same event or
other similar events in the future.

5.6.    Delivery performance. On time delivery shall be measured and reported to Customer on a monthly basis. Orders shall be considered on time if they are shipped [***]. On-time delivery shall be the sole responsibility of
[***]. If [***].

6.    PRODUCT ACCEPTANCE AND EXPRESS LIMITED WARRANTY

6.1.    Product Acceptance. The Products delivered by Flextronics will be accepted upon delivery in accordance with section 5.1 of this Agreement. If Products do not comply with the express limited warranty set forth in
Section 6.2 below, Customer has the right to reject such Products during said period. Products not rejected during said period will be deemed accepted. Customer may return defective Products, freight collect, after obtaining a return
material authorization number from Flextronics to be displayed on the shipping container and completing a failure report. Rejected Products will be promptly repaired or replaced, at Flextronics's option, and returned freight pre-paid.
Customer shall bear all of the risk, and all costs and expenses, associated with Products that have been returned to Flextronics for which there is no defect found.

6.2.    Express Limited Warranty. This Section 6.2 sets forth Flextronics's sole and exclusive warranty and Customer's sole and exclusive remedies with respect to a breach by Flextronics of such warranty.

(a)    Flextronics warrants that the Products will have been manufactured in accordance with the applicable Specifications and will be free from defects in workmanship for a period of [***] from the date of shipment. In
addition, Flextronics warrants that (A) Production Materials shall be used in compliance with Environmental Regulations, (B) Flextronics will not manufacture Products using Materials from vendors that are not on the Approved
Vendor List, unless otherwise agreed in writing by Customer.

(b)    Notwithstanding anything else in this Agreement, this express limited warranty does not apply to, and Flextronics makes no representations or warranties whatsoever with respect to: (i) Materials and/or Customer Controlled
Materials; (ii) defects resulting from the Specifications or the design of the Products; (iii) Product that has been abused, damaged, altered or

misused by any person or entity after title passes to Customer; (iv) first articles, prototypes, pre-production units, test units or other similar Products; (v) defects resulting from tooling, designs or instructions produced or supplied by
Customer, or (vi) the compliance of Materials or Products with any Environmental Regulations. Customer shall be liable for costs or expenses incurred by Flextronics related to the foregoing exclusions to Flextronics's express limited
warranty.

(c)    Upon any failure of a Product to comply with this express limited warranty, Flextronics's sole obligation, and Customer's sole remedy, is for Flextronics, at its option, to promptly repair or replace such unit and return it to
Customer freight prepaid. Customer shall return Products covered by this warranty freight prepaid after completing a failure report and obtaining a return material authorization number from Flextronics to be displayed on the shipping
container. Customer shall bear all of the risk, and all costs and expenses, associated with Products that have been returned to Flextronics for which there is no defect found.
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(d)    Customer will provide its own warranties directly to any of its end users or other third parties. Customer will not pass through to end users or other third parties the warranties made by Flextronics under this Agreement.
Furthermore, Customer will not make any representations to end users or other third parties on behalf of Flextronics, and Customer will expressly indicate that the end users and third parties must look solely to Customer in connection
with any problems, warranty claim or other matters concerning the Product.

6.3.    No Representations or Other Warranties.  FLEXTRONICS MAKES NO REPRESENTATIONS AND NO OTHER WARRANTIES OR CONDITIONS ON THE PERFORMANCE OF THE WORK, OR THE PRODUCTS,
EXPRESS, IMPLIED, STATUTORY, OR IN ANY OTHER PROVISION OF THIS AGREEMENT OR COMMUNICATION WITH CUSTOMER, AND FLEXTRONICS SPECIFICALLY DISCLAIMS ANY IMPLIED WARRANTY OR
CONDITION OF MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE OR NON-INFRINGEMENT.

7.    INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY LICENSES

7.1.    Licenses. Customer hereby grants Flextronics a non-exclusive license during the term of this Agreement to use Customer's patents, trade secrets and other intellectual property as necessary to perform Flextronics's
obligations under this Agreement.

7.2.    No Other Licenses. Except as otherwise specifically provided in this Agreement, each party acknowledges and agrees that no licenses or rights under any of the intellectual property rights of the other party are given or
intended to be given to such other party.

8.    TERM AND TERMINATION

8.1.    Term. The term of this Agreement shall commence on the date hereof above and shall continue until March I, 20 IO until terminated as provided in Section 8.2 (Termination) or I0.8 (Force Majeure). After the expiration of
the initial term hereunder (unless this Agreement has been terminated), this Agreement shall be automatically renewed for separate but successive one-year term unless either party provides written notice to the other party that it does
not intend to renew this Agreement ninety (90) days or more prior to the end of any term.

8.2.    Termination. This Agreement may be terminated by either party (a) for convenience upon ninety (90) days written notice to the other party or (b) if the other party defaults in any payment to the terminating party and such
default continues without a cure for a period of fifteen (15) days after the delivery of written notice thereof by the terminating party to the other party, (c) if the other party defaults in the performance of any other material term or condition
of this Agreement and such default continues unremedied for a period of thirty (30) days after the delivery of written notice thereof by the terminating party to the other party, or (d) pursuant to Section 10.8 (Force Majeure).

8.3.    Effect of Expiration or Termination.  Expiration or termination of this Agreement under any of the foregoing provisions: (a) shall not affect the amounts due under this Agreement by either party that exist as of the date of
expiration or termination, and (b) as of such date the provisions of Sections 5.2, 5.3, and 5.4 shall apply with respect to payment and shipment to Customer of finished Products, Inventory, and Special Inventory in existence as of such
date, and (c) shall not affect Flextronics's express limited warranty in Section 6.2 above. Termination of this Agreement, settling of accounts in the manner set forth in the foregoing sentence shall be the exclusive remedy of the parties
for breach of this Agreement, except for breaches of Section 6.2, 9.1, 9.2, or IO.I. Sections I, 3.5, 3.6, 3.7, 4, 5.3, 5.4, 6.2, 6.3, 7, 8, 9, and I0 shall be the only terms that shall survive any termination or expiration of this Agreement.

9.    INDEMNIFICATION; LIABILITY LIMITATION
9.1.    Indemnification by Flextronics. Flextronics agrees to defend, indemnify and hold harmless, Customer and all directors, officers, employees, and agents (each, a "Customer Indemnitee") from and against all claims,

actions, losses, expenses, damages or other liabilities, including reasonable attorneys' fees (collectively, "Damages") incurred by or assessed against any of the foregoing, but solely to the extent the same arise out of third-party
claims relating to:

(a)    any actual or threatened injury or damage to any person or property caused, or alleged to be caused, by a Product sold by Flextronics to Customer hereunder, but solely to the extent such injury or damage has been
caused by the breach by Flextronics of its express limited warranties related to Flextronics's workmanship and manufacture in accordance with the Specifications only as further set forth in Section 6.2;

(b)    any infringement of the intellectual property rights of any third party but solely to the extent that such infringement is caused by a process that Flextronics uses to manufacture, assemble and/or test the Products;
provided that, Flextronics shall not have any obligation to indemnify Customer if such claim would not have arisen but for Flextronics's manufacture, assembly or test of the Product in accordance with the Specifications; or

(c)    noncompliance with any Environmental Regulations but solely to the extent that such non-compliance is caused by a process or Production Materials that Flextronics uses to manufacture the Products; provided that,
Flextronics shall not have any

Enphase Confidential
6



FLEXTRONICS CONFIDENTIAL

obligation to indemnify Customer if such claim would not have arisen but for Flextronics's manufacture of the Product in accordance with the Specifications.

9.2.    Indemnification by Customer. Customer agrees to defend, indemnify and hold harmless, Flextronics and its affiliates, and all directors, officers, employees and agents (each, a "Flextronics Indemnitee") from and
against all Damages incurred by or assessed against any of the foregoing to the extent the same arise out of, are in connection with, are caused by or are related to third-party claims relating to:

(a)    any failure of any Product (and Materials contained therein) sold by Flextronics hereunder to comply with any safety standards and/or Environmental Regulations to the extent that such failure has not been caused by
Flextronics's breach of its express limited warranties set forth in Section 6.2 hereof;

(b)    any actual or threatened injury or damage to any person or property caused, or alleged to be caused, by a Product, but only to the extent such injury or damage has not been caused by Flextronics's breach of its express
limited warranties related to Flextronics's workmanship and manufacture in accordance with the Specifications only as further set forth in Section
6.2 hereof; or

(c)    any infringement of the intellectual property rights of any third party by any Product except to the extent such infringement is the responsibility of Flextronics pursuant to Section 9.I(b) above.

9.3.    Procedures for Indemnification. With respect to any third-party claims, either party shall give the other party prompt notice of any third-party claim and cooperate with the indemnifying party at its expense. The
indemnifying party shall have the right to assume the defense (at its own expense) of any such claim through counsel of its own choosing by so notifying the party seeking indemnification within thirty (30) calendar days of the first
receipt of such notice. The party seeking indemnification shall have the right to participate in the defense thereof and to employ counsel, at its own expense, separate from the counsel employed by the indemnifying party. The
indemnifying party shall not, without the prior written consent of the indemnified party, agree to the settlement, compromise or discharge of such third-party claim.

9.4.    Sale of Products Enjoined . Should the use of any Products be enjoined for a cause stated in Section 9. l(b) or 9.2(c) above, or in the event the indemnifying party desires to minimize its liabilities under this Section 9, in
addition to its indemnification obligations set forth in this Section 9, the indemnifying party's sole responsibility is to either substitute a fully equivalent Product or process (as applicable) not subject to such injunction, modify such Product
or process (as applicable) so that it no longer is subject to such injunction, or obtain the right to continue using the enjoined process or Product (as applicable). In the event that any of the foregoing remedies cannot be effected on
commercially reasonable terms, then, all accepted purchase orders and the current forecast will be considered cancelled and Customer shall purchase all Products, Inventory and Special Inventory as provided in Sections 5.3 and 5.4
hereof. Any changes to any Products or process must be made in accordance with Section 2.2 above. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event that a third party makes an infringement claim, but does not obtain an injunction, the
indemnifying party shall not be required to substitute a fully equivalent Product or process (as applicable) or modify the Product or process (as applicable) if the indemnifying party obtains an opinion from competent patent counsel
reasonably acceptable to the other party that such Product or process is not infringing or that the patents alleged to have been infringed are invalid.

9.5.    No Other Liability. EXCEPT WITH REGARD TO A BREACH OF SECTIONS 9.1 AND 9.2 ABOVE OR SECTION 10.1 BELOW, IN NO EVENT SHALL EITHER PARTY BE LIABLE TO THE OTHER FOR ANY
"COVER" DAMAGES (INCLUDING INTERNAL COVER DAMAGES WHICH THE PARTIES AGREE MAY NOT BE CONSIDERED "DIRECT" DAMAGES), OR ANY INCIDENTAL, CONSEQUENTIAL, SPECIAL OR

Enphase Confidential
7



FLEXTRONICS CONFIDENTIAL

PUNITIVE DAMAGES OF ANY KIND OR NATURE ARISING OUT OF THIS AGREEMENT OR THE SALE OF PRODUCTS, WHETHER SUCH LIABILITY IS ASSERTED ON THE BASIS OF CONTRACT, TORT (INCLUDING THE
POSSIBILITY OF NEGLIGENCE OR STRICT LIABILITY), OR OTHERWISE, EVEN IF THE PARTY HAS BEEN WARNED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF ANY SUCH LOSS OR DAMAGE, AND EVEN IF ANY OF THE LIMITED
REMEDIES IN THIS AGREEMENT FAIL OF THEIR ESSENTIAL PURPOSE.

THE FOREGOING SECTION 9 STATES THE ENTIRE LIABILITY OF THE PARTIES TO EACH OTHER CONCERNING INFRINGEMENT OF PATENT, COPYRIGHT, TRADE SECRET OR OTHER INTELLECTUAL
PROPERTY RIGHTS.

10.    MISCELLANEOUS

10.1.    Confidentiality.

(a)    Each party shall refrain from using any and all Confidential Information of the disclosing party for any purposes or activities other than those specifically authorized in this Agreement. Except as otherwise specifically
permitted herein or pursuant to written permission of the party to this Agreement owning the Confidential Information, no party shall disclose or facilitate disclosure of Confidential Information of the disclosing party to anyone without the
prior written consent of the disclosing party, except to its employees, consultants, parent company, and subsidiaries of its parent company who need to know such information for carrying out the activities contemplated by this
Agreement and who have agreed in writing to confidentiality terms that are no less restrictive than the requirements of this Section. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the receiving party may disclose Confidential Information of the
disclosing party pursuant to a subpoena or other court process only (i) after having given the disclosing party prompt notice of the receiving party's receipt of such subpoena or other process and (ii) after the receiving party has given the
disclosing party a reasonable opportunity to oppose such subpoena or other process or to obtain a protective order. Confidential Information of the disclosing party in the custody or control of the receiving party shall be promptly
returned or destroyed upon the earlier of (i) the disclosing party's written request or (ii) termination of this Agreement. Confidential Information disclosed pursuant to this Agreement shall be maintained confidential for a period of three
(3) years after the disclosure thereof. The existence and terms of this Agreement shall be confidential in perpetuity.

(b)    Notwithstanding anything contained in this Section 10.1, a receiving Party may disclose the existence and terms of this Agreement if such information is required by Law to be disclosed under applicable law, including
without limitation pursuant to the rules and regulations promulgated by the United States Securities and Exchange Commission.

10.2.    Use of Flextronics Name is Prohibited.  The existence and terms of this Agreement are Confidential Information and protected pursuant to Section 10.1 above. Accordingly, Customer may not use Flextronics's name or
identity or any other Confidential Information in any advertising, promotion or other public announcement without the prior express written consent of Flextronics. Flextronics may not use Customer's name or identity or any other
Confidential Information in any advertising, promotion or other public announcement without the express written consent of Customer.

10.3.    Entire Agreement; Severability.  This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the Parties with respect to the transactions contemplated hereby and supersedes all prior agreements and understandings
between the parties relating to such transactions.    If the scope of any of the provisions of this Agreement is too broad in any respect whatsoever to permit enforcement to its full extent, then such provisions shall be enforced to the
maximum extent permitted by law, and the parties hereto consent and agree that such scope may be judicially modified accordingly and that the whole of such provisions of this Agreement shall not thereby fail, but that the scope of
such provisions shall be curtailed only to the extent necessary to conform to law.

10.4.    Amendments; Waiver. This Agreement may be amended only by written consent of both parties . The failure by either party to enforce any provision of this Agreement will not constitute a waiver of future enforcement
of that or any other provision. Neither party will be deemed to have waived any rights or remedies hereunder unless such waiver is in writing and signed by a duly authorized representative of the party against which such waiver is
asserted.

10.5.    Independent Contractor. Neither party shall, for any purpose, be deemed to be an agent of the other party and the relationship between the parties shall only be that of independent contractors. Neither party shall have
any right or authority to assume or create any obligations or to make any representations or warranties on behalf of any other party, whether express or implied, or to bind the other party in any respect whatsoever.

10.6.    Expenses. Each party shall pay their own expenses in connection with the negotiation of this Agreement. All fees and expenses incurred in connection with the resolution of Disputes shall be allocated as further
provided in Section I0.11 below.

10.7.    Insurance, Customer shall procure and/or maintain at its own expense the following insurance and will use commercially reasonable efforts to do so within sixty (60) days of the Effective Date: (i) commercial general liability insurance
(including coverage for
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bodily injury, personal injury, property damage, contractual liability, products and completed operations) in an amount not less than One Million Dollars ($1,000,000.00) per occurrence; (ii) umbrella excess liability insurance in an amount
not less than One Million Dollars ($1,000,000.00); and (iii) an errors and omissions insurance policy which covers Customer's obligations hereunder in an amount not less than One Million Dollars ($1,000,000.00). Such insurance shall
be written by an insurance company with a Best's rating of at least A-VIII who is licensed to do business in all states of the United States. Customer shall furnish certificates of insurance and such other appropriate documentation
(including evidence of renewal of insurance) evidencing all insurance coverage's set forth in this Section 10.6. Such certificates of insurance and other documentation shall name Flextronics and its officers, directors and employees as
additional insured. Such certificates of insurance and other documentation shall contain a broad form naming Flextronics and its officers, directors and employees as an additional insured. Customer will provide Flextronics with at least
thirty (30) days prior written notice of any cancellation or material alteration of the insurance coverage set forth in this Section 10.6. Failure by Flextronics to receive or request the aforementioned certificates of insurance and other
documentation shall not represent a waiver of the requirements for insurance coverage set forth in this Section 10.7

10.8.    Force Majeure. In the event that either party is prevented from performing or is unable to perform any of its obligations under this Agreement (other than a payment obligation) due to any act of God, acts or decrees of
governmental or military bodies, fire, casualty, flood, earthquake, war, strike, lockout, epidemic, destruction of production facilities, riot, insurrection, Materials unavailability, or any other cause beyond the reasonable control of the party
invoking this section (collectively, a "Force Majeure"), and if such party shall have used its commercially reasonable efforts to mitigate its effects, such party shall give prompt written notice to the other party, its performance shall be
excused, and the time for the performance shall be extended for the period of delay or inability to perform due to such occurrences. Regardless of the excuse of Force Majeure, if such party is not able to perform within ninety (90) days
after such event, the other party may terminate the Agreement.

10.9.    Successors, Assignment. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors, assigns and legal representatives. Neither party shall have the right to
assign or otherwise transfer its rights or obligations under this Agreement except with the prior written consent of the other party, not to be unreasonably withheld. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Flextronics may assign some or all of its
rights and obligations under this Agreement to an affiliated Flextronics entity.

I0.10.    Notices. All notices required or permitted under this Agreement will be in writing and will be deemed received (a) when delivered personally; (b) when sent by confirmed facsimile; (c) five (5) days after having
been sent by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid; or (d) one (1) day after deposit with a commercial overnight carrier. All communications will be sent to the addresses set forth above or to such
other address as may be designated by a party by giving written notice to the other party pursuant to this section.

I0.11.    Disputes Resolution; Waiver of Jury Trial.

(a)    Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, the following binding dispute resolution procedures shall be the exclusive means used by the parties to resolve all disputes, differences, controversies and claims arising out
of or relating to the Agreement or any other aspect of the relationship between Flextronics and Customer or their respective affiliates and subsidiaries (collectively, "Disputes"). Either party may, by written notice to the other party, refer
any Disputes for resolution in the manner set forth below.

(b)    Any and all Disputes shall be referred to arbitration under the rules and procedures of Judicial Arbiter Group, Inc.
("JAG"), who shall act as the arbitration administrator (the "Arbitration Administrator").

(c)    The parties shall agree on a single arbitrator (the "Arbitrator"). The Arbitrator shall be a retired judge selected by the parties from a roster of arbitrators provided by the Arbitration Administrator. If the parties cannot agree
on an Arbitrator within seven (7) days of delivery of the demand for arbitration ("Demand") (or such other time period as the parties may agree), the Arbitration Administrator will select an independent Arbitrator.

(d)    Unless otherwise mutually agreed to by the parties, the place of arbitration shall be Denver, Colorado , although the arbitrators may be selected from rosters outside Denver.

(e)    The Federal Arbitration Act shall govern the arbitrarily of all Disputes. The Federal Rules of Civil Procedure and the Federal Rules of Evidence (the "Federal Rules"), to the extent not inconsistent with this Agreement,
govern the conduct of the arbitration. To the extent that the Federal Arbitration Act and Federal Rules do not provide an applicable procedure, Colorado law shall govern the procedures for arbitration and enforcement of an award, and
then only to the extent not inconsistent with the terms of this Section. Disputes between the parties shall be subject to arbitration notwithstanding that a party to this Agreement is also a party to a pending court action or special
proceeding with a third party, arising out of the same transaction or series of related transactions and there is a possibility of conflicting rulings on a common issue of law or fact.

(f)    Unless otherwise mutually agreed to by the parties, each party shall allow and participate in discovery as follows:
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(i)    Non-Expert Discovery. Each party may (l) conduct three (3) non-expert depositions of no more than five (5) hours of testimony each, with any deponents employed by any party to appear for deposition in Denver,
Colorado; (2) propound a single set of requests for production of documents containing no more than twenty (20) individual requests; (3) propound up to twenty written interrogatories; and (4) propound up to ten (IO) requests for
admission.

(ii)    Expert Discovery. Each party may select a witness who is retained or specially employed to provide expert testimony and an additional expert witness to testify with respect to damages issues, if any. The parties shall
exchange expert reports and documents under the same requirements as Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 26(a)(2) &(4).

(iii)    Additional Discovery. The Arbitrator may, on application by either party, authorize additional discovery only if deemed essential to avoid injustice. In the event that remote witnesses might otherwise be unable to attend
the arbitration, arrangements shall be made to allow their live testimony by video conference during the arbitration hearing.

(g)    The Arbitrator shall render an award within six (6) months after the date of appointment, unless the parties agree to extend such time. The award shall be accompanied by a written opinion setting forth the findings of fact
and conclusions of law. The Arbitrator shall have authority to award compensatory damages only, and shall not award any punitive, exemplary, or multiple damages. The award (subject to clarification or correction by the arbitrator as
allowed by statute and/or the Federal Rules) shall be final and binding upon the parties, subject solely to the review procedures provided in this Section.

(h)    Either party may seek arbitral review of the award. Arbitral review may be had as to any element of the award.

(i)    This Agreement's arbitration provisions are to be performed in Denver, Colorado. Any judicial proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement or the relationship of the parties, including without limitation any
proceeding to enforce this Section, to review or confirm the award in arbitration, or for preliminary injunctive relief, shall be brought exclusively in a court of competent jurisdiction in the county of Denver, Colorado (the "Enforcing
Court"). By execution and delivery of this Agreement, each party accepts the jurisdiction of the Enforcing Court.

(j)    Each party shall pay their own expenses in connection with the resolution of Disputes pursuant to this Section, including attorneys' fees.

(k)    Notwithstanding anything contained in this Section to the contrary, in the event of any Dispute, prior to referring such Dispute to arbitration pursuant to Subsection (b) of this Section, Customer and Flextronics shall attempt
in good faith to resolve any and all controversies or claims relating to such Disputes promptly by negotiation commencing within ten (10) calendar days of the written notice of such Disputes by either party, including referring such matter
to Customer's then-current President and Flextronics's then current executive in charge of manufacturing operations in the region in which the primary activities of this Agreement are performed by Flextronics. The representatives of the
parties shall meet at a mutually acceptable time and place and thereafter as often as they reasonably deem necessary to exchange relevant information and to attempt to resolve the Dispute for a period of four (4) weeks. In the event
that the parties are unable to resolve such Dispute pursuant to this Subsection (k), the provisions of Subsections (a) through (j) of this Section, inclusive, as well as Subsections (]), (m) and (n) of this Section shall apply.

(I) The parties agree that the existence, conduct and content of any arbitration pursuant to this Section shall be kept confidential and no party shall disclose to any person any information about such arbitration, except as may be
required by law or by any governmental authority or for financial reporting purposes in each party's financial statements.

(m)    IN THE EVENT OF ANY DISPUTE BETWEEN THE PARTIES, WHETHER IT RESULTS IN PROCEEDINGS IN ANY COURT IN ANY JURISDICTION OR IN ARBITRATION, THE PARTIES HEREBY KNOWINGLY AND
VOLUNTARILY, AND HAYING HAD AN OPPORTUNITY TO CONSULT WITH COUNSEL, WAIVE ALL RIGHTS TO TRIAL BY JURY, AND AGREE THAT ANY AND ALL MATTERS SHALL BE DECIDED BY A JUDGE OR
ARBITRATOR WITHOUT A JURY TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMISSIBLE UNDER APPLICABLE LAW.

(n)    In the event of any lawsuit between the parties arising out of or related to this Agreement, the parties agree to prepare and to timely file in the applicable court a mutual consent to waive any statutory or other
requirements for a trial by jury.

10.12.    Even-Handed Construction. The terms and conditions as set forth in this Agreement have been arrived at after mutual negotiation, and it is the intention of the parties that its terms and conditions not be construed
against any party merely because it was prepared by one of the parties.

I0. 13.    Controlling Language. This Agreement is in English only, which language shall be controlling in all respects. All documents exchanged under this Agreement shall be in English.

Enphase Confidential
10
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10.14.    Controlling Law. This Agreement shall be governed and construed in all respects in accordance with the domestic laws and regulations of the State of Colorado, without regard to its conflicts of laws provisions; except
to the extent there may be any conflict between the law of the State of Colorado and the Incoterms of the International Chamber of Commerce, 2000 edition, in which case the Incoterms shall be controlling. The parties specifically agree
that the 1980 United Nations Convention on Contracts for the International Sale of Goods, as may be amended from time to time, shall not apply to this Agreement. The parties acknowledge and confirm that they have selected the laws
of the State of Colorado as the governing law for this Agreement in part because jury trial waivers are enforceable under Colorado law . The parties further acknowledge and confirm that the selection of the governing law is a material
term of this Agreement.

I0.15.    Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Agreement to be duly executed by their duly authorized representatives as of the Effective Date.

Enphase Energy, Inc. FLEXTRONICS INDUSTRIAL, LTD

/s/ illegible /s/ illegible

By: illegible By: illegible

Title: CEO Title: Director
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Exhibit 1

Definitions
"Affected Inventory Costs" shall mean: (i) [***] of the Cost of all affected Inventory and Special Inventory in Flextronics's possession and not returnable to the vendor or reasonably

usable for other customers, whether in raw form or work in process, less the salvage value thereof, (ii) [***] of the Cost of all affected Inventory and Special
Inventory on order and not cancellable, (iii) any vendor cancellation charges incurred with respect to the affected Inventory and Special Inventory accepted
for cancellation or return by the vendor, (iv) the then current fees for any affected Product, and (v) expenses incurred by Flextronics related to labor and
equipment specifically put in place to support the purchase orders and forecasts that are affected by such reschedule or cancellation (as applicable).

"Approved Vendor List"or"AVL" shall mean the list of suppliers currently approved to provide the Materials specified in the bill of materials for a Product

"Confidential Information" shall mean (a) the existence and terms of this Agreement and all information concerning the unit number and fees for Products and Inventory/Special
Inventory and (b) any other information that is marked "Confidential" or the like or, if delivered verbally, confirmed in writing to be "Confidential" within 30
days of the initial disclosure. Confidential Information does not include information that (i) the receiving party can prove it already knew at the time of
receipt from the disclosing party; or (ii) has come into the public domain without breach of confidence by the receiving party; (iii)was received from a third
party without restrictions on its use;
(iv) the receiving party can prove it independently developed without use of or reference to the disclosing party's data or information; or (v) the disclosing
party agrees in writing is free of such restrictions.

"Cost" shall mean the cost represented on the bill of materials supporting the most current fees for Products at the time of cancellation, expiration or termination,
as applicable.

"Customer Controlled Materials" shall mean those Materials provided by Customer or by suppliers with whom Customer has a commercial contractual or non​ contractual relationship.

"Customer Controlled Materials Terms" shall mean the terms and conditions that Customer has negotiated with its suppliers for the purchase of Customer Controlled Materials.

"Customer Indemnitees" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 9.1.

"Damages" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 9.1.

"Disputes" shall have the meaning set forth in Section l 0.11(a)

"Economic Order Inventory" shall mean Materials purchased in quantities, above the required amount for purchase orders, in order to achieve price targets for such Materials.

"Environmental Regulations" Shall mean any hazardous substance content laws and regulations including, without limitation, those related to the EU Directive 2002/95/EC about the
Restriction of Use of Hazardous Substances (RoHS).

"Fee List" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.4.

"Flexibility Table" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.2.

"Flextronics lndemnitee" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 9.2.

"Force Majeure" shall have the meaning set forth in Section I 0.8.

"Inventory" shall mean any Materials that are used to manufacture Products that are ordered pursuant to a purchase order from Customer.

"Lead Time(s)" shall mean the Materials Procurement Lead Time plus the manufacturing cycle time required from the delivery of the Materials at Flextronics's facility to the
completion of the manufacture, assembly and test processes.

"Long Lead Time shall mean Materials with Lead Times exceeding the period covered by the accepted purchase orders for the Products.

Materials" "Materials" shall mean components, parts and subassemblies that comprise the Product and that appear on the bill of materials for the Product.
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"Materials Procurement Lead Time" shall mean with respect to any particular item of Materials, the longer of (a) lead time to obtain such Materials as recorded on Flextronics's MRP system or
(b) the actual lead time, if a supplier has increased the lead time but Flextronics has not yet updated its MRP system.

"Minimum Order Inventory" shall mean Materials purchased in excess of requirements for purchase orders because of minimum lot sizes available from the supplier.

"Monthly Charges" shall mean a finance carrying charge of one and one-half of one percent (I .5%) and a storage and handling charge of one-half of one percent (0.5%), in
each case of the Cost of the Inventory and/or Special Inventory and/or of the fees for the Product affected by the reschedule or cancellation (as
applicable) per month until such lnventory and/or Special Inventory and/or Product is returned to the vendor, used to manufacture Product or is otherwise
purchased by Customer.

"Product" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.1.

"Production Materials" shall mean Materials that are consumed in the production processes to manufacture Products including without limitation, solder, epoxy, cleaner solvent,
labels, flux, and glue. Production Materials do not include any such production materials that have been specified by the Customer or any Customer
Controlled Materials

"Special Inventory" shall mean any Long Lead Time Materials and/or Minimum Order Inventory and/or Economic Order Inventory.

"Specifications" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.1.

"Work" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.1.

Enphase Confidential
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Exhibit 10.11

AMENDMENT NO. 4 TO FLEXTRONICS MANUFACTURING SERVICES AGREEMENT

THIS AMENDMENT NO. 4 TO FLEXTRONICS MANUFACTURING SERVICES AGREEMENT
(this “Amendment”), dated as of July 30, 2024 (the “ Amendment Effective Date”), is by and between Enphase Energy, Inc., a Delaware corporation having its business at 47281 Bayside Parkway, Fremont, California
94538 (“Enphase”) and Flextronics Industrial, Ltd., a Mauritius corporation having its place of business at Suite 402, St. James Court, St. Denis Street, Port Louis, Mauritius (“ Flextronics”). Capitalized terms not defined
herein will have the meaning given to them in the MSA (as defined below).

WHEREAS, Enphase and Flextronics are parties to a Flextronics Manufacturing Services Agreement dated as of March 1, 2009 (the “ MSA” or “Agreement”) (individually, Enphase and Flextronics are referred to
herein as a “Party” and together as the “ Parties”); and

WHEREAS, the Parties wish to amend the MSA as provided for herein.

NOW, THEREFORE, the Parties agree as follows:

1. Flextronics and Enphase have identified certain initial raw material inventory for disposition (“ Eligible Inventory”) in Attachment A (as may be modified or updated by the Parties in writing (email is
acceptable if confirmed by the other Party) as additional Eligible Inventory is identified). Flextronics shall provide monthly reports to Enphase detailing any additional inventory identified as Eligible Inventory to be
sold to Enphase.

2. Flextronics will promptly invoice Enphase for the Eligible Inventory in accordance with the payment terms set forth in the MSA. Enphase will promptly issue a Purchase Order to Flextronics for the value
of the standard material price for the Eligible Inventory.

3. Upon issuance of invoice to Enphase, Flextronics shall shift, segregate, and warehouse the Eligible Inventory in a Flextronics facility or at a third-party site as determined by the Parties. Enphase shall be
responsible for monthly storage and handling costs as mutually agreed between Enphase and the respective Flextronics site. Flextronics shall report the storage fee and handling fees as set forth above by the
tenth (10th) calendar day of each month and Enphase will issue a purchase order for the corresponding agreed fees within ten (10) calendar days after the receipt of Flextronics’s report, and with the fees
commencing thirty (30) calendar days after such Consigned Materials have been received in the Flex consignment warehouses.

4. At the point of the sale to Enphase, Flextronics has no obligation nor known intent to re-purchase any of the Eligible Inventory at any time.

5. If Flextronics later has demand or need for the same type of raw material as contemplated by this Amendment, then Flextronics shall give Enphase the first right of refusal to fulfill the needed quantities
before seeking such fulfillment from another supplier. Purchases will be through a purchase order placement from Flextronics to Enphase with a Net 45 payment terms.

6. Title and risk of loss (including market and demand risk) to the Eligible Inventory shall pass to Enphase upon payment of invoice to Flextronics. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Flextronics shall retain
physical risk of loss and damage of the Eligible Inventory while it is warehoused in Flextronics’s facility.

7. To the extent of a conflict between the MSA, other Amendments, other stand-alone agreements which are hereby incorporated herein by this reference, and this Amendment, the terms of this
Amendment shall prevail solely with regards to such conflict. The recitals form an integral part of this Amendment. For
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clarity, Section 10.1 (Confidentiality) of the MSA shall govern the use and disclosure of Confidential Information under this Amendment.

8. The recitals set forth above are incorporated herein by reference and are explicitly made a part of this Amendment.

9. This Amendment may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.

[SIGNATURES CONTINUED ON NEXT PAGE]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Amendment as of the Amendment Effective
Date.

ENPHASE ENERGY, INC. FLEXTRONICS INDUSTRIAL LTD.

By: /s/ Ron Swenson By: /s/ B. Vijayandram

Name: Ron Swenson Name: B.Vijayandram A/L S.' Balasingam

Title: Sr VP Operation Title: Director
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Exhibit 10.15

Summary of Bonus Program

The following is a summary description of the terms and conditions of the Bonus Program, under which quarterly bonuses may be paid to the “named executive officers” (as defined in Item 402(a)(3) of
Regulation S-K promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission) (“NEOs”) of Enphase Energy, Inc. (the “Company”) as determined by the Board of Directors (“Board”) or the Compensation
Committee of the Board (“Compensation Committee”). The Bonus Program is designed to align compensation with company and individual performance.

All Company employees, including NEOs, are eligible for quarterly performance bonuses under the Bonus Program, based on individual and company performance toward pre-approved goals. The quarterly
bonus payout for each eligible employee is determined on a quarterly basis based on the employee’s earned salary in such quarter, multiplied by their bonus target (as a % of base salary), multiplied by a
personal performance factor, multiplied by a company performance factor, multiplied by a funding factor (based on profit before taxes before bonus). The personal performance factor ranges from 0 to 1.2, the
company performance factor ranges from 0 to 1, and the funding factor ranges from 0 to 1.5. No quarterly bonuses are payable if any of the following occur: funding factor below zero; the company
performance factor falls below .65 in the quarter; or, on an individual basis, if an employee fails to set approved goals for the quarter or achieves a personal performance factor of 0.

The Compensation Committee retains final discretion over and must approve all payments under the Bonus Program. The Compensation Committee has the authority to make changes to the terms and
conditions of the Bonus Program at any time.



 

Exhibit 10.27

August 12, 2024

Enphase Energy, Inc. 47281 Bayside Parkway

Fremont, CA 94538 Dear Sir or Madam:

This letter when executed shall serve as an agreement modifying that certain lease dated April 12, 2018 and last modified May 9, 2020, by and between Dollinger Bayside Associates, a California limited partnership, as Landlord and
Enphase Energy, Inc., as Tenant, relating to the Premises at 47281-47341 Bayside Parkway, Fremont, CA 94538 (the “Original Premises” and the “Expansion Premises”).

IT IS AGREED THAT:

1) Effective upon full execution of this Letter Agreement, the term of the Lease shall be extended for six
(6) years and eleven (11) months, commencing October 1, 2025 and expiring August 31, 2032.

2) Base Monthly Rent for October 1, 2025 through December 31, 2025 shall be waived.

3) Effective January 1, 2026, the Base Monthly Rent shall be adjusted to $84,937.00/month.

4) Effective October 1, 2026, the Base Monthly Rent shall be adjusted to $87,485.00/month.

5) Effective October 1, 2027, the Base Monthly Rent shall be adjusted to $90,110.00/month.

6) Effective October 1, 2028, the Base Monthly Rent shall be adjusted to $92,813.00/month.

7) Effective October 1, 2029, the Base Monthly Rent shall be adjusted to $95,597.00/month.

8) Effective October 1, 2030, the Base Monthly Rent shall be adjusted to $98,465.00/month.

9) Effective October 1, 2031, the Base Monthly Rent shall be adjusted to $101,419.00/month.

10) Tenant Improvement Allowance. Tenant shall receive a Tenant Improvement Allowance in the amount of Four-Hundred Four Thousand Forty-Six Dollars ($404,460.00) which is equivalent to ten dollars and 00/100 per RSF
($10.00/RSF) (the “TIA”). The TIA shall be used to replace all HVAC units that are past their useful life (see Exhibit “A”), new caulking around the exterior, and other deferred building maintenance.

11) Option to Extend. Subject to the terms and conditions set forth below, Tenant may at its option extend the Terms of this Lease for One (1) period of Five (5) years. Such period is called the "Renewal Term." The Renewal Term
shall be upon the same terms contained in this Lease, except that (i) Landlord shall have no obligation to provide Tenant with any Tenant Improvement Allowance or demolition in connection with the Renewal Term, (ii) the Base
Rental during the Renewal Term shall be calculated as set forth below, and (iii) any reference in the Lease to the "Term" of the Lease shall be deemed to include the Renewal Term and apply thereto, unless it is expressly provided
otherwise. Tenant shall have no additional extension options. The Base Rent during the Renewal Term shall be 95% of the then fair market rate (defined hereinafter) for such space for a term commencing of the first day of the
Renewal Term. "Market Rate" shall mean the then prevailing market rate for a
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comparable term commencing on the first day of the Renewal Term for tenants of comparable size and creditworthiness for comparable space in the Building and other R&D/Office buildings in the Fremont Area. In no event shall the
rent be less than the Prior Month's rent and shall increase a

minimum of 3% per year. To exercise any option, Tenant must deliver a binding written notice to Landlord not sooner than twelve (12) months nor later than six (6) months prior to the expiration of the initial Term of this Lease.
Thereafter, the Market Rate for the Renewal Term shall be calculated pursuant to Subsection A above and Landlord shall inform Tenant of the Market Rate. If the parties cannot agree on the Market Rate, the parties shall each
appoint a real estate broker or appraiser (with at least 10 years’ experience in R&D leasing in Silicon Valley) to determine the Market Rate. If the lower of the two is within 90% of the higher of the two valuations, then the Market
Rent shall be the average of the two. If the lower of the two valuations is less than 90% of the higher valuation, then the two brokers/appraisers originally selected by the parties shall select a third broker/appraiser who shall present
their final determination of Market Rate to the third broker/appraiser, and the third broker/appraiser shall pick one of those two as being the Market Rate. The determination of the third broker/appraiser shall be binding on the parties.
Each party shall be responsible for the cost of their own broker/appraiser and if a third broker/appraiser is required, the cost shall be split between Landlord and Tenant. The market rent shall be determined within 60 days of the date
of Tenant’s exercise of its option. In no event shall the rent be less than the Prior Month's rent and shall increase by a minimum of 3% per year. If Tenant fails to timely give its notice of exercise, Tenant will be deemed to have
waived its option to extend.

12) This is notice that the Landlord has not inspected the premises. A Certified Access Specialist (CASp) can inspect the subject premises and determine whether the subject premises comply with all of the applicable construction-
related accessibility standards under state law. Although state law does not require a CASp inspection of the subject premises, the commercial property owner or Lessor may not prohibit the lessee or tenant from obtaining a CASp
inspection of the subject premises for the occupancy or potential occupancy of the lessee or tenant, if requested by the lessee or tenant. The parties shall mutually agree on the arrangements for the time and manner of the CASp
inspection, the payment of the fee for the CASp inspection, and the cost of making any repairs necessary to correct violations of construction-related accessibility standards within the premises.

13) Tenant represents and warrants to Landlord that Tenant is not a party with whom Landlord is prohibited from doing business pursuant to the regulations of the Office of Foreign Assets Control (“OFAC”) of the U.S. Department of the
Treasury, including those parties named on OFAC's Specially Designated Nationals and Blocked Persons List. Tenant is currently in compliance with and shall at all times during the lease term remain in compliance with, the
regulations of OFAC and any other governmental requirement relating thereto. In the event of any violation of this section, Landlord shall be entitled to immediately terminate this Lease and take such other actions as are permitted
or required to be taken under law or in equity. TENANT SHALL DEFEND, INDEMNIFY AND HOLD HARMLESS LANDLORD FROM AND AGAINST ANY AND ALL DAMAGES AND EXPENSES AWARDED IN A NON APEALABLE
JUDGMENT AS A RESULT OF THIRD PARTY CLAIMS INCURRED BY LANDLORD ARISING FROM OR RELATED TO ANY BREACH OF THE
FOREGOING CERTIFICATIONS. These indemnity obligations shall survive the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease.

14) All other terms and conditions of said Lease, shall remain unchanged and in full force and effect.
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Acknowledged and Agreed To: Sincerely,

Enphase Energy, Inc.
/s/ Badri Kothandaraman /s/ David Dollinger

By: Badri Kothandaraman By: David Dollinger

Title: President and CEO Title: Managing member
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ENPHASE ENERGY, INC.

POLICY AGAINST TRADING ON THE BASIS
OF INSIDE INFORMATION

Effective as of January 1, 2024

I. Introduction

    This policy against trading on the basis of inside information (the “Policy”) describes acceptable transactions in the securities of Enphase Energy, Inc. (“Enphase”) by our employees, directors, contractors
and consultants. During the course of your employment, directorship or other service with Enphase, you may receive material information that is not yet publicly available (“inside information”), about
Enphase or about other publicly-traded companies with which Enphase has business dealings. Because of your access to this inside information, you may be in a position to profit financially by buying or
selling, or in some other way dealing, in Enphase’s securities, or securities of another publicly-traded company, or to disclose such information to a third party (a “tippee”).

The prohibition against insider trading is absolute. It applies even if the decision to trade is not based on such inside information. It also applies to transactions that may seem necessary or justifiable
for independent reasons (such as the need to raise money for an emergency expenditure) and also to any transaction amount (no matter how small the transaction). All that matters under the U.S. federal
securities laws is whether you are aware of any inside information relating to Enphase at the time of the transaction.

The U.S. federal securities laws do not recognize any mitigating circumstances to insider trading. In addition, even the appearance of an improper transaction must be avoided to preserve Enphase’s
reputation for adhering to the highest standards of conduct. In some circumstances, you may need to forgo a planned transaction even if you planned it before becoming aware of the inside information. So,
even if you believe you may suffer an economic loss or sacrifice an anticipated profit by waiting to trade, you must wait.

II. Insider Trading Policy

A. Securities Transactions

Use of inside information by someone for personal gain, or to pass on, or “tip,” the inside information to someone who uses it for personal gain, is illegal, regardless of the quantity of shares, and is
therefore prohibited. You can be held liable both for your own transactions and for transactions effected by a tippee, or even a tippee of a tippee. Furthermore, it is important to avoid even the appearance of
insider trading in securities. The only exception is that transactions directly with Enphase, e.g., option exercises for cash or purchases under Enphase’s employee stock purchase plan, are permitted.
However, the subsequent sale (including the sale of shares in a cashless exercise program) or other disposition of such stock is fully subject to these restrictions.

B. Inside Information

As a practical matter, it is sometimes difficult to determine whether you possess inside information. The key to determining whether nonpublic information you possess about a public company is inside
information is whether dissemination of the information would likely affect the market price of Enphase’s stock or would likely be considered important, or “material,” by investors who are considering
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trading in that company’s stock. Certainly, if the information makes you want to trade, it would probably have the same effect on others. Remember, both positive and negative information can be material. If
you possess inside information, you may not trade in a company’s stock, advise anyone else to do so or communicate the information to anyone else until you know that the information has been publicly
disseminated. This means that in some circumstances, you may have to forego a proposed transaction in a company’s securities even if you planned to execute the transaction prior to learning of the inside
information and even though you believe you may suffer an economic loss or sacrifice an anticipated profit by waiting. “Trading” includes engaging in short sales, transactions in put or call options, hedging
transactions and other inherently speculative transactions.

Although by no means an all-inclusive list, information about the following items may be considered to be inside information until it is publicly disseminated:

(a) financial results or forecasts;

(b) major new products, features or processes;

(c) acquisitions or dispositions of assets, divisions, companies, etc.;

(d) pending public or private sales of debt or equity securities;

(e) declaration of stock splits, dividends or changes in dividend policy;

(f) the establishment of a repurchase program for Enphase’s securities;

(g) major contract awards or cancellations with customers, suppliers or vendors;

(h) top management or control changes;

(i) significant employee layoffs;

(j) a disruption in Enphase’s operations or breach or unauthorized access of its property or assets, including its facilities and information technology infrastructure;

(k) possible tender offers or proxy fights;

(l) significant writeoffs;

(m) significant litigation;

(n) impending bankruptcy;

(o) gain or loss of a significant license agreement or other material contracts with customers or suppliers;

(p) significant product recalls;

(q) significant pricing changes or discount policies;

(r) corporate partner relationships; and

(s) notice of issuance of patents.

    For information to be considered publicly disseminated, it must be widely disclosed through a press release or Securities and Exchange Commission filing, and a sufficient amount of time must have
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passed to allow the information to be fully disclosed. Generally speaking, information will be considered publicly disseminated after one full Trading Day has elapsed since the date of public disclosure of the
information. For example, if an announcement of inside information of which you were aware was made prior to commencement of trading on Wednesday, then you may execute a transaction in Enphase’s
securities on Thursday (assuming compliance with all other terms of this policy). As used herein, the term “Trading Day” shall mean a day on which the Nasdaq Stock Market is open for trading. A Trading
Day begins at the time that trading begins on such day.

C.    Placing Open Orders with Brokers

Except in accordance with an approved Trading Plan (as discussed below), you should exercise caution when placing open orders, such as limit orders or stop orders, particularly where the order is
likely to remain outstanding for an extended period of time. Open orders may result in the execution of a trade at a time when you may be aware of material nonpublic inside information or when you otherwise
may not be permitted to trade in Enphase securities, leading to inadvertent insider trading violations, violations of Section 16 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), and
Regulation BTR (Blackout Trading Restriction), violations under the Code of Federal Regulations (for directors and officers subject to Section 16), or violations of this Policy and unfavorable publicity for you
and Enphase. If you are a Covered Insider and subject to window periods or pre-clearance requirements, you should so inform any broker with whom you place any open order at the time it is placed. The
order should be limited to a short duration and the person using such standing order or limit order is required to cancel such instructions immediately in the event restrictions are imposed on their ability to
trade pursuant to the “Window Period” and the “Event Specific Trading Blackouts” provisions below.

III. Securities Trading by Officers, Directors and Certain Other Employees

    Because officers, directors and certain other employees are most likely to possess inside information about Enphase, we require them to do more than refrain from insider trading. We require that they limit
their transactions in Enphase’s securities to defined time periods following public dissemination of quarterly and annual financial results and notify, and receive approval from, Enphase’s Chief Financial
Officer, the General Counsel, or their delegate(s) (each, a “Clearing Officer”) prior to engaging in transactions in Enphase’s securities and observe other restrictions designed to minimize the risk of apparent
or actual insider trading.

A. Covered Insiders

    The provisions outlined in this policy apply to (i) all officers and directors of Enphase, (ii) all employees in Enphase’s finance and legal departments and (iii) such other employees of Enphase as a Clearing
Officer may designate from time to time because of their access to sensitive Enphase information. These persons are collectively referred to as “Covered Insiders”. Generally, any immediate family members,
persons with whom a Covered Insider shares a household, persons who are economic dependents of a Covered Insider, and any other entities or individuals whose trading activities are directed, controlled or
influenced by Covered Insiders (including, e.g., a venture or other investment fund, if a Covered Insider influences, directs or controls transactions by such fund) should be considered to be subject to the
same restrictions. The foregoing persons are referred to in this policy as “Related Persons.” Covered Insiders are responsible for making sure that their Related Persons comply with this policy.

B. Window Period

    Generally, except as set forth in paragraphs C, D and E of this policy, Covered Insiders may only engage in transactions in Enphase securities during a “window period” that opens after one full Trading
Day has elapsed after the public dissemination of Enphase’s annual or quarterly financial results and
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closes at the end of the fifteenth (15 ) day of the third month of the quarter. This window period may be closed early or may not open at all if, in the judgment of a Clearing Officer, there exists undisclosed
information that would make trades by members of Enphase’s Covered Insiders inappropriate. It is important to note that the fact that the window period has closed early or has not opened should itself be
considered inside information. Of course, even during an open trading window period, you may not (unless an exception applies) conduct any trades in Enphase’s securities if you are otherwise in possession
of inside information. A Covered Insider who believes that special circumstances require him or her to trade outside the window period should consult with a Clearing Officer. Permission to trade outside the
window period will be granted only by a Clearing Officer where the circumstances are extenuating, the Clearing Officer concludes that the person is not in fact aware of any inside information relating to
Enphase or its securities, and there appears to be no significant risk that the trade may subsequently be questioned.

C. Exceptions to Window Period

This policy does not apply in the following circumstances.

1. The exercise of stock options, restricted stock awards, RSUs, PSUs or stock appreciation rights issued or offered by Enphase. This policy does, however, apply to any sale of stock as
part of a broker-assisted cashless exercise or any other market sale, whether or not for the purpose of generating the cash needed to pay the exercise price for stock options or to pay taxes for all types of
awards.

2. The surrender of shares directly to Enphase to satisfy tax withholding obligations as a result of the issuance of shares upon vesting or exercise of RSUs, options or other equity awards
granted under Enphase’s equity compensation plans. Of course, any market sale of the stock received upon exercise or vesting of any such equity awards remains subject to all provisions of this policy
whether or not for the purpose of generating the cash needed to pay the exercise price or pay taxes.

3. Covered Insiders who are eligible to do so may participate in Enphase’s Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”), which provides for purchases of stock on periodic designated dates.
Covered Insiders may also exercise and hold options granted under Enphase’s stock option plans at any time. However, the subsequent sale of the stock (including sales of stock in a cashless exercise)
acquired upon the exercise of options or through the ESPP is subject to all provisions of this policy.

4. Transactions that involve merely a change in the form in which a Covered Insider owns securities. For example, a Covered Insider may transfer shares to an inter vivos trust of which he
or she is the sole beneficiary during the Covered Insider’s lifetime.

5. Transactions pursuant to an effective “trading plan,” as described in the section entitled “Rule 10b5-1 Trading Programs” below.

D. Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plans

Purchases or sales of Enphase securities made under, and in compliance with, a written plan established by a Covered Insider that meets the requirements of Rule 10b5-1 under the Exchange Act (a
“Trading Plan”). Purchase and sales of Enphase securities under an approved Trading Plan may occur outside the trading window and/or while the Covered Insider is otherwise in possession of inside
information. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Enphase reserves the right, at its discretion, to bar all trades in its securities, even pursuant to existing trading plans. For additional details on Trading Plans and
the minimum conditions to enter into a Trading Plan, please refer to the Enphase Energy, Inc. Rule 10b5-1

th
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Trading Plan Guidelines or contact the Legal Department. A copy of the Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan Guidelines can be find on the Legal SharePoint site.

E. Pre-Clearance

    In addition to the requirements of paragraph B above, Covered Insiders may not engage in any transaction in Enphase’s securities, including any purchase or sale in the open market, loan, pledge, or other
transfer of beneficial ownership, without first obtaining pre-clearance of the transaction from a Clearing Officer in advance of the proposed transaction. The Clearing Officer will determine whether the
transaction may proceed and, if so, will provide preclearance approval in writing for a period not to exceed ten trading days. Enphase may, at its discretion, shorten such period of time. Covered Insiders must
also obtain pre-clearance of any intended gifts of Enphase securities.

F. Margin Accounts and Pledges

    No Covered Insider may engage margin accounts or pledges with respect to Enphase’s stock at any time.

Notwithstanding the previous sentence, the Clearing Officer (with the approval of Enphase’s Chair of the Board of Directors, Chair of the Audit Committee, or the Board of Directors) may permit a
Covered Insider to use his or her Company securities as collateral to securitize a bona fide loan or to secure a margin account with a financial institution (for instance, when the Covered Insider clearly
demonstrates the financial ability to pay back the loan or fulfill margin calls). However, if such collateral securities ultimately become the subject of a foreclosure sale or a sale by the financial institution, that
sale, even though not initiated at the request of the Covered Insider, may still be considered a sale for his or her benefit. If such sale is made at a time when the Covered Insider was aware of material
nonpublic information or otherwise are not permitted to trade in Company securities, it may result in inadvertent insider trading violations, Section 16 violations, violations of this Policy, and unfavorable
publicity for such Covered Insider and Enphase. For these reasons, Covered Insiders should exercise caution when using Company securities as collateral to securitize a bona fide loan or to secure a margin
account.

G. Prohibition of Speculative or Short-term Trading

    No Covered Insider may engage in short sales, transactions in put or call options, hedging transactions, or other derivative securities on an exchange or in any other organized market, or in any other
inherently speculative transactions with respect to Enphase’s stock at any time. This paragraph shall not be deemed to restrict activities permitted under paragraph F above. Waivers of or exceptions to the
restrictions set forth in this paragraph G shall require the approval of the Board of Directors or the Audit Committee.

H. Short-Swing Trading/Control Stock/Section 16 Reports

    Covered Insiders subject to the reporting obligations under Section 16 of the Exchange Act should take care not to violate the prohibition on short-swing trading (Section 16(b) of the Exchange Act) and the
restrictions on sales by control persons (Rule 144 under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended), and should file all appropriate Section 16(a) reports (Forms 3, 4 and 5), which are enumerated and described
in Enphase’s Section 16 Compliance Program, and any notices of sale required by Rule 144.

I. Event Specific Blackout Periods

From time to time, an event may occur that is material to Enphase and is known by only a few directors, officers and/or employees. So long as the event remains material and nonpublic, persons
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designated by the Clearing Officer as knowing such event(s) may not trade in Enphase’s securities. In that situation, Enphase will notify the designated individuals that neither they nor their Related Persons
may trade in Enphase’s securities. The existence of an event-specific trading blackout should also be considered material nonpublic information and should not be communicated to any other person. Even if
you have not been designated as a person who should not trade due to an event-specific trading blackout, you should not trade while aware of material nonpublic information. Exceptions will not be granted
during an event-specific trading blackout.

IV. Potential Criminal and Civil Liability and/or Disciplinary Action

A. Liability for Insider Trading

As of the date of the most recent revision of this Policy, potential penalties for insider trading violations under U.S. federal securities laws include:

• damages in a private lawsuit;

• disgorging of any profits made or losses avoided;

• imprisonment for up to 20 years;

• criminal fines of up to $5 million for individuals and $25 million for entities;

• civil fines of up to three times the profit gained or loss avoided;

• a bar against serving as an officer or director of a public company; and

• an injunction against future violations.

In addition, Enphase, as well as individual directors, officers and other supervisory personnel, may be subject to liability as “controlling persons” for failure to take appropriate steps to prevent insider
trading by those under their supervision, influence or control.

The U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) has imposed large penalties even when the disclosing person did not profit from the trading. The SEC, the stock exchanges and the
Financial Industry Regulatory Authority use sophisticated electronic surveillance techniques to uncover insider trading.

B. Possible Disciplinary Actions

Employees of Enphase who violate this Policy shall also be subject to disciplinary action by Enphase, which may include ineligibility for future participation in Enphase’s equity incentive plans up to
termination of employment.

V. Applicability of Policy to Material Nonpublic Information Regarding Other Companies

This Policy and the guidelines described herein also apply to insider information relating to other companies, including Enphase’s customers, partners, subcontractors, resellers, vendors or suppliers
(“business partners”), when that information is obtained in the course of employment with, or other services performed on behalf of, Enphase. Civil and criminal penalties, and termination of employment,
may result from trading on inside information regarding Enphase’s business partners. You should treat any inside information about Enphase’s business partners with the same care required with respect to
any inside information related directly to Enphase.
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VI. Duration of Policy’s Applicability

    This Policy continues to apply to your transactions in Enphase’s securities or the securities of other public companies engaged in business transactions with Enphase even after your employment,
directorship or other service with Enphase has terminated. If you are in possession of inside information when your relationship with Enphase concludes, you may not trade in Enphase’s securities or the
securities of such other company until the information has been publicly disseminated or is no longer material. Further, if you leave Enphase during a trading blackout period, then you continue to be subject to
the trading blackout period and may not trade Enphase’s securities or the securities of such other company until the trading blackout period has ended.

Please direct questions as to any of the matters discussed in this Policy to the Clearing Officer or someone in the Legal Department. Enphase is committed to continuously reviewing and updating our
policies and procedures. Enphase therefore reserves the right to amend, alter or terminate this Policy at any time and for any reason, subject to applicable law. A current copy of Enphase’s policies regarding
insider trading will be posted on Enphase’s intranet or you may request a copy from the Legal Department.

VII. Reporting Responsibility

If you become aware that any person may be in violation of this Policy or applicable law, you must report it promptly. Reporting may be made to any of the following people:

• the Clearing Officer;

• the General Counsel or other attorney in the Legal Department;

• appropriate Human Resources personnel; or

• appropriate Internal Audit personnel.

If you prefer, you can report potential violations in accordance with the Enphase Code of Conduct through Enphase’s third-party confidential ethics and compliance hotline found at
Enphase.ethicspoint.com. Because the manner in which reports may be made varies from country to country, upon contacting the confidential ethics and compliance hotline you will receive further instructions
on how and to whom to report a particular concern.

If you are calling about a matter that should be handled locally in accordance with local legal requirements, the ethics and compliance hotline will direct you back to local management. The ethics and
compliance hotline is operated by an independent third party and is available 24 hours a day, 7 days a week.

It is Enphase’s policy to strictly prohibit retaliation against employees who make good faith reports of concerns or violations of any type. If you have other questions or problems concerning this Policy,
please contact Enphase’s Legal Department at Legal@enphaseenergy.com.
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Exhibit 21.1

SUBSIDIARIES OF REGISTRANT *

Legal Name Jurisdiction

Enphase Energy Australia Pty. Ltd. Australia

Enphase Energy S.A.S. France

Enphase Energy NL B.V. Netherlands

Enphase Energy New Zealand New Zealand

Enphase Energy International LLC Delaware

Enphase Solar Energy India Pvt. Limited India

Enphase Energy Mexico, S. DE R.L. DE C.V. Mexico

Enphase Energy S.r.l. Italy

Enphase Energy Canada Holdings, Inc. Canada

Enphase Service Company, LLC California

Enphase Capital, Inc. Delaware

Enphase Energy Technology (Shanghai) Co. Ltd. China

Enphase Energy Germany AG Germany

Enphase Brasil Energia Solar LTDA Brazil

Enphase Energy Spain, S.L. Spain

Enphase Energy Puerto Rico LLC Puerto Rico

*    All subsidiaries of Enphase Energy, Inc. are wholly owned, directly or indirectly, as of December 31, 2024.



 

Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement No. 333-273512, 333-230716, 333-228775, 333-228774, 333-224101, 333-216886, 333-209315 and 333-195694 on Form S-3 and Registration Statement Nos.
333-256290, 333-253228, 333-238997, 333-230314, 333-224103, 333-216986, 333-210037, 333-202630, 333-194749, 333-187057, and 333-181382 on Form S-8 of our reports dated February 7, 2025, relating to the financial statements
of Enphase Energy, Inc. and the effectiveness of Enphase Energy, Inc.'s internal control over financial reporting appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP 

San Jose, California

February 7, 2025



 

Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, Badrinarayanan Kothandaraman, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Form 10-K of Enphase Energy, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were
made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the
periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15(d)-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period
covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report)
that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or
persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and
report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 7, 2025

/s/ BADRINARAYANAN KOTHANDARAMAN

Badrinarayanan Kothandaraman

President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)



 

Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, Mandy Yang, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Form 10-K of Enphase Energy, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were
made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the
periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15(d)-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period
covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report)
that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or
persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and
report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 7, 2025

/s/ MANDY YANG

Mandy Yang

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 
(Principal Financial Officer)



 

Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION

Pursuant to the requirement set forth in Rule 13a-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code (18 U.S.C. §1350), Badrinarayanan
Kothandaraman, President and Chief Executive Officer of Enphase Energy, Inc. (the “Company”), and Mandy Yang, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company, each hereby certifies that, to the best of his or her
knowledge:

1. The Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the quarterly period ended December 31, 2024, to which this Certification is attached as Exhibit 32.1 (the “Periodic Report”), fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or
Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act; and

2. The information contained in the Periodic Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: February 7, 2025 February 7, 2025

/s/ BADRINARAYANAN KOTHANDARAMAN /s/ MANDY YANG

Badrinarayanan Kothandaraman Mandy Yang

President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 
(Principal Financial Officer)

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, or other document authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise adopting the signature that appears in typed form within the electronic
version of this written statement required by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, has been provided to Enphase Energy, Inc. and will be retained by it and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon
request.


